ISSN 1812-1853 (Print) ISSN 2411-5789 (Online)

Russian Psychological Society

RUSSIAN PSYCHOLOGICAL JOURNAL

Том 21 № 4

2024

V. A. Labunskaya (SFU, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation)

Russian Psychological Journal

Founder – Russian Psychological Society
Editor in Chief – Ju. P. Zinchenko (Lomonosov MSU, Moscow, Russian Federation)
Deputy Editor in Chief – P. N. Ermakov (SFU, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation)

Editorial Council

	N. N. Malopheyev (ICP RAE, Moscow, Russian Federation)
G. V. Akopov (SSUSSE, Samara, Russian Federation)	A. A. Rean (Higher School of Economics, Moscow, Russian Fed-
A. G. Asmolov (Lomonosov MSU, Moscow, Russian Federation)	eration)
V. V. Babenko (SFU, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation)	V. Ju. Ribnikov (RCERM, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation)
M. M. Bezrukikh (IDP RAE, Moscow, Russian Federation)	M. L. Skuratovskaya (DSTU, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation)
D. B. Bogoyavlenskaya (PI RAE, Moscow, Russian Federation)	A. Sh. Tkhostov (Lomonosov MSU, Moscow, Russian Federation)
P. E. Grigoriev (SEVSU, Sevastopol, Russian Federation)	O. D. Fedotova (DSTU, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation)
N. B. Karabushchenko (RUDN University, Moscow, Russian	A. M. Chernorizov (Lomonosov MSU, Moscow, Russian Federa-
Federation)	tion) M. C. Vanitalii (Kananana Chata Hairanaita Kananana Paraira
A. G. Karayani (Military University, Moscow, Russian Federation)	M. S. Yanitskii (Kemerovo State University, Kemerovo, Russian
	A Knowily (Institute of Coursemptory Weshington D.C. USA)
Editorial Board	A. A. KIOIIIK (IIIStitute of Causoinetry, Washington D.C., USA)
Editorial Board	I. V. Manzhelei (TSU, Tyumen, Russian Federation)
Yu. I. Alexandrov (HSE, Moscow, Russian Federation)	 A. R. Manzhelei (TSU, Tyumen, Russian Federation) A. R. Masalimova (Kazan University, Kazan, Russian Federation)
Editorial Board Yu. I. Alexandrov (HSE, Moscow, Russian Federation) V. P. Belianin (University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada)	 A. A. Monik (Institute of Causometry, Washington D.C., USA) I. V. Manzhelei (TSU, Tyumen, Russian Federation) A. R. Masalimova (Kazan University, Kazan, Russian Federation) V. D. Povzun (SurSU, Surgut, Russian Federation)
Editorial Board Yu. I. Alexandrov (HSE, Moscow, Russian Federation) V. P. Belianin (University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada) A. S. Berberian (RAU, Yerevan, Armenia)	 A. A. Kronik (Institute of Causoniety, Washington D.C., USA) I. V. Manzhelei (TSU, Tyumen, Russian Federation) A. R. Masalimova (Kazan University, Kazan, Russian Federation) V. D. Povzun (SurSU, Surgut, Russian Federation) S. A. Polevaia (Volga Research Medical University, Nizhny
 Editorial Board Yu. I. Alexandrov (HSE, Moscow, Russian Federation) V. P. Belianin (University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada) A. S. Berberian (RAU, Yerevan, Armenia) S. A Bogomaz (TSU, Tomsk, Russian Federation) 	 A. A. Kronik (Institute of Causometry, Washington D.C., USA) I. V. Manzhelei (TSU, Tyumen, Russian Federation) A. R. Masalimova (Kazan University, Kazan, Russian Federation) V. D. Povzun (SurSU, Surgut, Russian Federation) S. A. Polevaia (Volga Research Medical University, Nizhny Novgorod, Russian Federation)
 Editorial Board Yu. I. Alexandrov (HSE, Moscow, Russian Federation) V. P. Belianin (University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada) A. S. Berberian (RAU, Yerevan, Armenia) S. A Bogomaz (TSU, Tomsk, Russian Federation) R. M. Bernard (Concordia University, Montreal, Canada) 	 A. A. Kronik (Institute of Causoniety, Washington D.C., USA) I. V. Manzhelei (TSU, Tyumen, Russian Federation) A. R. Masalimova (Kazan University, Kazan, Russian Federation) V. D. Povzun (SurSU, Surgut, Russian Federation) S. A. Polevaia (Volga Research Medical University, Nizhny Novgorod, Russian Federation) H. Sequeira (Lille 1 University, Lille, France)
 Editorial Board Yu. I. Alexandrov (HSE, Moscow, Russian Federation) V. P. Belianin (University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada) A. S. Berberian (RAU, Yerevan, Armenia) S. A Bogomaz (TSU, Tomsk, Russian Federation) R. M. Bernard (Concordia University, Montreal, Canada) E. Borokhovski (Concordia University, Montreal, Canada) 	 A. A. Kronik (Institute of Causonietry, Washington D.C., USA) I. V. Manzhelei (TSU, Tyumen, Russian Federation) A. R. Masalimova (Kazan University, Kazan, Russian Federation) V. D. Povzun (SurSU, Surgut, Russian Federation) S. A. Polevaia (Volga Research Medical University, Nizhny Novgorod, Russian Federation) H. Sequeira (Lille 1 University, Lille, France) E. R. Khairullina (KNRTU, Kazan, Russian Federation)
 Editorial Board Yu. I. Alexandrov (HSE, Moscow, Russian Federation) V. P. Belianin (University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada) A. S. Berberian (RAU, Yerevan, Armenia) S. A Bogomaz (TSU, Tomsk, Russian Federation) R. M. Bernard (Concordia University, Montreal, Canada) E. Borokhovski (Concordia University, Montreal, Canada) B. M. Velichkovsky (TU, Dresden, Germany) 	 A. A. Kronik (Institute of Causonietry, Washington D.C., USA) I. V. Manzhelei (TSU, Tyumen, Russian Federation) A. R. Masalimova (Kazan University, Kazan, Russian Federation) V. D. Povzun (SurSU, Surgut, Russian Federation) S. A. Polevaia (Volga Research Medical University, Nizhny Novgorod, Russian Federation) H. Sequeira (Lille 1 University, Lille, France) E. R. Khairullina (KNRTU, Kazan, Russian Federation) V. Yu. Khotinets (UdSU, Izhevsk, Russian Federation)
 Yu. I. Alexandrov (HSE, Moscow, Russian Federation) V. P. Belianin (University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada) A. S. Berberian (RAU, Yerevan, Armenia) S. A Bogomaz (TSU, Tomsk, Russian Federation) R. M. Bernard (Concordia University, Montreal, Canada) E. Borokhovski (Concordia University, Montreal, Canada) B. M. Velichkovsky (TU, Dresden, Germany) E. V. Vorobyeva (DSTU, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation) 	 A. A. Kronik (Institute of Causonietry, Washington D.C., USA) I. V. Manzhelei (TSU, Tyumen, Russian Federation) A. R. Masalimova (Kazan University, Kazan, Russian Federation) V. D. Povzun (SurSU, Surgut, Russian Federation) S. A. Polevaia (Volga Research Medical University, Nizhny Novgorod, Russian Federation) H. Sequeira (Lille 1 University, Lille, France) E. R. Khairullina (KNRTU, Kazan, Russian Federation) V. Yu. Khotinets (UdSU, Izhevsk, Russian Federation) L. Stosic (College 'Dositej', Belgrad, Serbia)
 Yu. I. Alexandrov (HSE, Moscow, Russian Federation) V. P. Belianin (University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada) A. S. Berberian (RAU, Yerevan, Armenia) S. A Bogomaz (TSU, Tomsk, Russian Federation) R. M. Bernard (Concordia University, Montreal, Canada) E. Borokhovski (Concordia University, Montreal, Canada) B. M. Velichkovsky (TU, Dresden, Germany) E. V. Vorobyeva (DSTU, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation) V. I. Dolgova (SUSHPU, Chelyabinsk, Russian Federation) 	 A. A. Kronik (Institute of Causonietry, Washington D.C., USA) I. V. Manzhelei (TSU, Tyumen, Russian Federation) A. R. Masalimova (Kazan University, Kazan, Russian Federation) V. D. Povzun (SurSU, Surgut, Russian Federation) S. A. Polevaia (Volga Research Medical University, Nizhny Novgorod, Russian Federation) H. Sequeira (Lille 1 University, Lille, France) E. R. Khairullina (KNRTU, Kazan, Russian Federation) V. Yu. Khotinets (UdSU, Izhevsk, Russian Federation) L. Stosic (College 'Dositej', Belgrad, Serbia) L. A. Tsvetkova (SPSU, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation)

Literary editor – Victoria D. Voronaya **Executive editor** – Evgeny A. Pronenko **Executive secretary** – Elizaveta V. Naydenova

Editorial office:
of. 114, b. 140, Pushkinskaya
Str., Rostov-on-Don, Russian
Federation, 344006
E-mail: <u>editor@rpj.ru.com</u>

Publisher address (CREDO): b. 13, Yaroslavskaya Str., Moscow, Russian Federation, 129366 Tel./fax (495) 283–55-30 E-mail: <u>izd.kredo@gmail.com</u>

Founder address (Russian Psychological Society): b. 11/9, Mokhovaya Str., Moscow, Russian Federation, 125009 E-mail: <u>ruspsysoc@gmail.com</u>

ISSN 1812-1853 (Print) ISSN 2411-5789 (Online)

> © Russian Psychological Society, 2024 © CREDO, 2024 Website: <u>rpj.ru.com</u>

Russian Psychological Journal, 2024, T. 21, № 4 ISSN 1812-1853 (Print) ISSN 2411-5789 (Online)

Russian Psychological Journal

Russian Psychological Journal is a peer-reviewed open access journal that publishes original research papers on all aspects of psychology. It was founded by the Russian Psychological Society in 2004.

Russian Psychological Journal is published quarterly in both printed and online versions. English versions of metadata are available for all the full-text articles submitted in Russian. Since 2019, the journal publishes the full-text articles both in Russian and English.

All manuscripts submitted to the journal undergo a double-blind peer review process involving at least two experts.

The journal adheres to international standards of publishing ethics in accordance with the recommendations of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE).

Mission

The mission of Russian Psychological Journal is to advance knowledge and practice in all areas of psychology through publishing scholarly, research-based, peer-reviewed articles that meet quality standards and help test, expand, or build psychological theory and contribute to psychological practice.

Aims & Scope

The journal aims to promote international scientific collaboration and exchange of new knowledge and recent developments in areas related to psychology. It seeks to familiarize specialists and all interested readers with the latest achievements of Russian scholars in resolving issues in present-day psychology.

The ultimate objective is to create a novel forum for: (a) providing novice and experienced scholars with high quality scientific information; (b) rapid communication of new findings, ideas, or perspectives; (c) facilitating international collaboration between researchers and practitioners in the field of psychology and education; and (d) increasing citations, visibility, credibility, and authority of Russian scholarly researches through indexing in international databases.

Russian Psychological Journal accepts theoretical, methodological and empirical contributions relating to scientific research results and achievements in implementation of these results and other innovations in the field of psychology.

The scope of the journal covers all areas of experimental, applied, fundamental, and interdisciplinary psychological sciences and includes (but is not limited to): general psychology; personality psychology; history of psychology; psychophysiology; medical psychology; correctional psychology; legal psychology; social psychology; educational psychology; developmental psychology; acmeology; labor psychology.

Target Audience

The journal is intended not only for researches, scholars, students, and practitioners, but also for general readers with an interest in the state-of-the-art and most recent developments in psychology.

Russian Psychological Journal welcomes submissions from established researchers, young scholars, educators, and practitioners making significant contributions to thematic fields of the journal.

The journal is included in the current list of peer-reviewed scientific publications approved by the Higher Attestation Commission (VAK RF). It is also included in the Scopus, Ulrichsweb, ResearchBib, Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ) and other academic databases.

The journal is a member of the following associations: ANRI, EASE, and CrossRef.

The journal content is licensed to the scientific community under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International license (CC BY 4.0)

(CC) BY

Copyright © 2004–2024. 'Russian Psychological Journal'.

Contents
Clinical psychology
Pavel N. Ermakov, Lyudmila V. Zvereva, Ekaterina M. Kovsh, Alexey Yu. Maximov, Victoria D. Voronaya The Study of Personal Characteristics of Cancer Patients Who Have Had the Disease COVID-196–21
General psychology, personality psychology, philosophy and psychology
Nataliia I. Romanova-Afrikantova, Valeriia Yu. Karpinskaia, Vsevolod A. Lyakhovetskii Perceptual Set Effect in Preschool and Early School-Aged Children Shaped by the Ponzo and Müller-Lyer Illusions
Anzhelika I. Luchinkina, Tatyana V. Yudeeva, Liliya V. Zhikhareva, Irina S. Luchinkina, Alexander S. Andreyev Adolescent Deviance in Online Communities
Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society45–78
Elena A. Suroedova, Dmitri I. Popov, Ekaterina Y. Vertij Self-Regulation and Decision-Making in Students with Diverse Meaning- Transmission Styles
Psychogenetics
Pavel N. Ermakov, Ekaterina M. Kovsh, Anastasiya E. Voyarzh, Alexey Yu. Maximov, Inna I. Titova Is there a Connection Between Genetic Predictors and Psychological Characteristics With the Effectiveness of Psychotherapy?97–111
Psychophysiology
Elena A. Dorosheva Emotion Dysregulation and its Neurophysiological Basis in People with Autism Spectrum Disorders
Sofia A. Mironets, Alexander I. Kotyusov, Alexandra I. Kosachenko, Ilona V. Denisova, Yulia V. Kuzmina Eye-tracking for non-symbolic numerosity estimation: A systematic literature review
Evgeny Yu. Shelepin, Ksenia A. Skuratova, Polina A. Lekhnitskaya, Konstantin Yu. Shelepin
Eye Tracking as a Tool for Medical Diagnosis168–194

Educational psychology

Interdisciplinary research of cognitive processes

Valeria A. Gershkovich, Mariia Elena Zamkovaia, Nadezhda V. Moroshkina, Aleksandr V. Gulkin, Viktor M. Allakhverdov, Alexander D. Korotkov, Maxim V. Kireev, Tatiana V. Chernigovskaya **Does Implicit Response Competition Cause Aftereffects?.....212–232**

Medical psychology

Svetlana S. Kuzenko, Anastasia S. Bordonosenko Overcoming Difficult Life Situations in Alcohol-Dependent Men and Women: The Potential of Psychocorrectional Group Sessions......233–247

Labor psychology

Correctional psychology

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

Research article UDC 159.9.07 https://doi.org/10.21702/j10gqt63

The Study of Personal Characteristics of Cancer Patients Who Have Had the Disease COVID-19

Pavel N. Ermakov^{1®}, Lyudmila V. Zvereva^{1*®}, Ekaterina M. Kovsh^{1®}, Alexey Yu. Maximov^{2®}, Victoria D. Voronaya^{1®}

 ¹ Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation
 ² National Medical Research Center of Oncology of the Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation

*Corresponding author: lizvereva@sfedu.ru

Abstract

Introduction. Cancer patients in the context of the pandemic experienced additional distress. Their psychoemotional state was influenced by factors such as the threat of COVID-19 infection, delayed treatment, postponement of planned operations, deterioration of their condition against the background of comorbid pathology and chemotherapy. Due to the continuing threat of the emergence of new strains of coronavirus infection, the study of the psychological characteristics of patients with mono- and comorbid cancer does not lose relevance. The purpose of this study was to investigate the personal characteristics, value-semantic orientations and other psychological features reflecting psychological adaptation to prolonged distress in groups of cancer patients who have and have not had a coronavirus infection. Methods. The study was conducted on the basis of the Federal State Budgetary Institution "NMIC of Oncology" of the Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation (Rostov-on-Don) in the period from spring 2021 to autumn 2023; 112 cancer patients aged 18 to 62 years took part in it (the average age was 42 years, 64% of them were women, 36% were men), 48% of them suffered COVID-19. The following psychodiagnostic techniques were used: SCL-90-R, Lazarus coping test, 5PFQ, D.A. Leontiev's life sense orientations test, M. Rokich's "Value Orientations" technique, the WHO-100 scale. The one-way ANOVA (Analysis of Variance) and post-hock analysis (Tukey's test) were used for statistical processing of the obtained results. Results. The fact of the transferred disease COVID-19 is associated with a change in the hierarchy of values, the expression of volitional qualities and flexibility in solving life difficulties: in the group of cancer patients who suffered COVID-19, the values of "love",

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

"development", "breadth of views", "sensitivity" are significantly more pronounced; in the personal sphere, the poles of irresponsibility and practicality are expressed. **Discussion**. The results obtained complement the existing data on the features of the value-semantic and personal sphere of cancer patients with comorbid pathology. Conclusion. The conducted theoretical and empirical research can be useful for psychologists, medical and social workers who provide assistance to cancer patients and their families.

Keywords

cancer, comorbidity, pandemic, COVID-19, anxiety, distress, value-semantic sphere

Funding

The work was carried out with the financial support of the Russian Science Foundation (RSF) within the framework of scientific project No. 22-18-00543.

For citation

Ermakov, P. N., Zvereva, L.V., Kovsh, E. M., Maksimov, A. Yu., & Voronaya, V.D. (2024). The study of personal characteristics of cancer patients who have had the disease COVID-19. *Russian psychological journal, 21*(4), 6-21. https://doi.org/10.21702/j10gqt63

Introduction

In March 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak affected more than 200 countries and territories (Dai et al., 2020). The psychological consequences of COVID-19 for the general population and for cancer patients in particular were manifested in the high prevalence of symptoms of depression, anxiety and post-traumatic stress (Liu et al., 2020; Romito et al., 2020; Al-Shams et al., 2020; Acevedo-Ibarra et al., 2022).

The COVID-19 pandemic has led to severe distress with a high potential for traumatic effects. For many people, the pandemic and social isolation have provoked the activation of non-constructive behavioral reactions and psychological conditions, which is especially true for those who are vulnerable due to other biological or psychological problems, in particular, cancer. As has been demonstrated in a number of studies, these stressors are factors that increase the pre-existing burden of cancer (Yelnikova, 2020; Chia et al., 2021; Romito et al., 2020; Muls et al., 2022; Ostrovsky, Ivanova, 2020).

The survey results showed that cancer patients recognize the need for psychological help and support, but 75% did not apply for it until the time of the survey. Participation in socio-psychological research and surveys often initiated the subsequent referral of patients to specialists for advice and helped alleviate the psychological burden of cancer and stress (Romito et al., 2020).

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

The economic and political consequences of a pandemic can both accompany and displace the psychological problems of patients. There is no doubt that there is a need to develop clinical and psychological care services for vulnerable groups (Ibáñez-Vizoso et al., 2020). The underestimation of the problem, as well as the lack of resources to solve it, can subsequently lead to an even greater increase in the need for psychological and psychiatric care (Ho et al., 2020). In the case of cancer patients, lost time can significantly change the course of the disease and increase the severity of its burden, which may subsequently affect the quality and timing of remission.

According to a number of studies, in the context of a pandemic, on average 1 out of 7 cancer survivors and 1 out of 9 healthy people from the control group reported depressive symptoms, the intensity of which reached a borderline level; the severity of symptoms of depression and anxiety in cancer patients who had experience seeking psychiatric help before the pandemic was expected to be higher (Al-Shamsi et al., 2020; Caliandro et al., 2023; Ng et al., 2020). The factor that aggravated the anxiety-depressive symptoms, among others, was information about an increase in mortality from COVID-19 on the background of chemotherapy (Gregucci et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2020). After getting acquainted with such information, many patients refused treatment for the underlying disease, which significantly reduced their chances of achieving a relatively rapid and stable remission.

The causes of mental disorders in coronavirus include, among others, intoxication and oxygen starvation due to the development of pulmonary insufficiency (Seledtsov et al., 2020). The psychoemotional impact of the pandemic on cancer patients is diverse and is likely to have long-term consequences (Edge, 2021). Timely diagnosis and psychological help available at the time of severe negative experiences can help in the future to reduce the severity of symptoms and reduce the duration of their treatment. This can improve the quality of life for some patients, and save this life for others (Kadyrov et al., 2020).

Emotional and personal characteristics of cancer patients during the COVID-19 pandemic

The prevalence of anxiety-depressive symptoms in patients suffering from life-threatening diseases, which include cancer and COVID-19, is explained by a number of factors: personal predisposition, peculiarities of the belief system, physical resistance of the body to the effects of damaging factors, etc.

The personality traits of patients – a set of cognitive, emotional and behavioral patterns – influence adherence to treatment and focus on cooperation with medical staff; on the patient's ability to take on some responsibility for the recovery process, which means they can both help and hinder the treatment and recovery processes.

The level of psychological resources that a person can devote to adaptation to the disease and recovery is related to the type of response to the disease. A harmonious type of attitude to the disease is characterized by a higher level of emotional stability, a wider

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

range of stress coping strategies, as well as personal competencies that are significant in social life (Finagentova, 2010).

It is known that character accentuations exacerbate the perception of negative information (Laskov et al., 2017) and affect the orientation of a person towards recovery (Afanasyeva et al., 2009; Nikitina, 2021; Smulevich et al., 2014). The peculiarities of motivation allow a person to realize his inner potential, to be active, to go beyond the traumatic experience. The level of self-esteem affects the ability to believe in a good outcome and positive predictions. According to Kryukova et al., "people with low self-esteem are more likely to use such types of erroneous thinking as "Catastrophization" and "Exclusion of good" (2018, p. 63), which negatively affects the course and outcome of the disease, manifesting itself in the affective sphere in the form of the development of anxiety-depressive symptoms.

A study conducted by Bäuerle et al. (2021) in Germany demonstrated an increase in the incidence of major symptoms of depression in cancer patients after the outbreak of COVID-19 from 9.3% to 16.7%; an increase in the prevalence of severe generalized anxiety symptoms from 8.0% to 20.7%. 38% of the study participants reported distress before the pandemic, and 54.7% after its onset.

According to the results obtained by a group of scientists from the United States of America (Miaskowski et al., 2020), the statistics on the prevalence of clinically significant symptoms in patients with breast cancer in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic are as follows:

- depression 71.2%;
- alarm 78.0%;
- sleep disorders 78.0%;
- evening fatigue 55.9%;
- cognitive impairment 91.5%;
- Post-traumatic stress disorder 31.6%.

According to the results of a study by Wang et al (2020) conducted among 6213 patients of one of the largest cancer centers in China, 23.4% of respondents were diagnosed with depression, 17.7% with anxiety, 9.3% with post-traumatic stress disorder, and 13.5% with high hostility. The authors found that the most significant risk factors for the development of mental maladjustment of cancer patients against the background of a high risk of coronavirus infection are a history of mental health disorders, frequent episodes of excessive alcohol consumption, uncontrolled anxiety and depression associated with cancer treatment during COVID-19, high levels of fatigue and pain. Despite the widespread prevalence of problems related to mental maladaptation, only 1.6% of patients with these difficulties sought psychological help.

Similar data were obtained by a group of Italian scientists who studied the level of distress in patients with lymphoma during the pandemic. The majority of respondents

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

stated that their anxiety increased: 36% of them had high anxiety, 31% had high depression, 43% of respondents had super threshold values according to the integral indicator of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale HADS; 36% had symptoms corresponding to the diagnostic criteria of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). At the same time, the number of requests for psychological help during the COVID-19 pandemic increased more than 4 times (Romito et al., 2020; Caliandro et al., 2023).

Thus, an analysis of the results of international studies on the characteristics of personal response to the disease and the prevalence of anxiety and depressive symptoms in cancer patients during the COVID-19 pandemic showed the presence of common trends: increased affective symptoms, most pronounced in a group of people with a history of psychopathological symptoms and dominant maladaptive attitudes. The frequency of requests for psychological help from cancer patients differs from country to country and is presumably related to the general awareness of people about psychological support: low among respondents from China (Yang et al., 2023), high among respondents from Germany, Italy (Molinari et al., 2012; Sampogna et al., 2021), USA (O'hea et al., 2020), as well as the inclusion of psychological services in health insurance (many patients in need of psychological help cannot afford it for financial reasons).

Features of cancer patients' response to life-threatening diseases during the COVID-19 pandemic: post-traumatic stress disorder and posttraumatic growth

Cancer patients are considered to be more psychologically vulnerable to distress. On average, by the time they seek help from an oncologist again, most patients have high rates of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Bergfeld, 2017).

Symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder in the context of the pandemic of a new coronavirus infection, according to the results of a study conducted in Italy, were detected in 36% of patients with lymphoma; high levels of PTSD were recorded in the age group from 18 to 50 years, among women PTSD was more common than among men (Romito et al., 2020).

In a longitudinal study of the mental health of the Chinese population conducted during the coronavirus pandemic on a sample of 1,738 healthy participants, it was noted that, despite a significant decrease in the level of psychological tension recorded during repeated testing conducted 4 weeks after the outbreak of COVID-19, the average group results of respondents obtained in both surveys indicated severe symptoms of PTSD (Wang et al., 2020).

The traumatic nature of experiences in conditions of cancer is explained, among other things, by the prolongation of the fear of death. The latter acquires a "chronic character" due to the lack of connection with a "visible" danger or a certain event, unlike a situation of military operations or a catastrophe (Tarabrina et al., 2010).

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

According to Trusova A.D. and Faustova A.G., "comprehensive fear arising in conditions of man-made and biological natural disasters or due to deadly diseases can be designated as a specific category in the cluster of existential psychological traumas" (2021, p. 357).

Studies examining the condition of people affected by various epidemics in the preepidemic period show that the level of post-traumatic stress was higher in quarantined people compared to those who were not isolated (Brooks et al., 2020). The degree of manifestation of symptoms of post-traumatic stress depended on the duration of quarantine (Ostrovsky, Ivanova, 2020; Reynolds et al., 2008).

"... Mental post-stress disorders ... act as a trigger for a variety of somatic diseases, the growth of which is predicted in the coming years" (Aronov et al., 2021, p. 67). Researchers suggest that in the years following the end of the pandemic, people become aware of their traumatic experiences and may feel the depletion of psychological resources, which will lead to an increase in requests for psychological and medical help (Alekhin et al., 2021).

According to Vasilyeva et al., comorbid PTSD complicates the treatment and adaptation of patients (2020). Nikitina D.A. (2021), in her work on post-traumatic stress in people with a life-threatening disease, notes that the message of diagnosis itself is a high-intensity stressor, the occurrence of which is accompanied by an experience of fear of death, fear of the appearance of cognitive dysfunctions, identity disorders. Thus, cancer patients in the conditions of COVID-19 faced the fear of death twice: at the time of the announcement of the diagnosis and during the pandemic, which could lead to retraumatization. At the same time, life experience related to adaptation to an oncological diagnosis could contribute to the formation of optimal stress-coping behavior in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Experiencing distress and being in conditions of uncertainty have different effects on a person, depending on his general condition and the internal resources spent on adaptation. It is known that against the background of mortal danger, a maladaptive type of attitude towards the disease can form, accompanied by destructive forms of behavior (Yelnikova, 2020). At the same time, with sufficient resources (including psychosocial support), so-called post-traumatic growth is possible - positive personal changes associated with overcoming emotional and physical difficulties in the treatment of the disease, indicating an increase in psychological stability of the individual.

The absence of spiritual changes and low rates of autosympathy are associated with lower rates of post-traumatic growth (Darabos et al., 2021; Trusova and Faustova, 2021) and may also be symptoms of a patient's depressive state, indicating maladaptation (including the process of "freezing in trauma"). Awareness of new opportunities in life, high social status, as well as a change in self-perception contribute to post-traumatic growth: if the attitude towards illness as a severe ordeal changes by changing the focus of perception to "illness as a way of development", post-traumatic growth is possible (Yelnikova, 2020). Existential resources are also important in the process of post-traumatic

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

growth: the search for and finding meaning in life are important conditions for it (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004; Jaspers, 2013).

Distress can weaken a person's emotional and physical condition. At the same time, the idea of safety as the opposite of distress and a necessary factor of post-traumatic growth depends on the perception, characteristics and properties of a person, her moral values, rules of behavior and communication, as well as their assessment system (Pukhareva, 2016). The above indicates the need for an individual approach to the psychological support of cancer patients in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic and the effects of other additional traumatic factors.

For a more detailed study of the psychological characteristics of cancer patients, taking into account the fact of COVID-19 disease, we planned and conducted an empirical study.

Methods

In the period from spring 2021 to autumn 2023, a psychodiagnostic study of cancer patients was conducted on the basis of the National Research Institute of Oncology of the Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation (Rostov-on-Don); 112 respondents aged 18 to 62 years took part in it (the average age was 42 years, out of of these, 64% were women, 36% were men), 48% of them had suffered COVID–19, 52% denied the fact of coronavirus infection in the previous 6 months.

The following research methods were used: the SCL-90-R questionnaire, the R. Lazarus coping test, 5PFQ, the "Test of meaning-life orientations" by D.A. Leontiev, the M. Rokich "Value Orientations", the WHO–100 scale.

For statistical processing of the results obtained, one-factor ANOVA analysis of variance (categorization factor: COVID-19 in the anamnesis no earlier than 6 months relative to the time of psychodiagnostics), as well as a posteriori Tukey analysis for nonequilibrium sample sizes were used.

Results

According to the results obtained during the ANOVA univariate analysis of variance, there were no significant differences in quality of life indicators measured using the WHO-100 scale (F = 0.68, Effect_{df} = 25, Error_{df} = 43, p = 0.8), as well as in the severity of psychopathological symptoms, measured using the SCL-90 questionnaire, in cancer patients who had and had not had COVID-19 (F = 0.6, Effect_{df} = 16, Error_{df} = 43, p = 0.9). The lack of results can be explained by the presence of the influence on the quality of life of the main factor – cancer.

At the same time, during the a posteriori analysis of Tukey, the features of the value orientations of cancer patients who had and had not had COVID-19 were revealed.

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

In cancer patients who have had COVID-19 (M2), significantly higher positions in the hierarchy of terminal life values are occupied by love (spiritual and physical intimacy with a loved one; $M_1 = 8.8$, $M_2 = 6.6$, p = 0.045) and development (self-improvement, constant physical and spiritual improvement; $M_1 = 11.3$, $M_2 = 9.0$, p = 0.038), compared with cancer patients who did not have COVID-19 (M₁) (Fig. 1).

Figure 1

Results of variance and a posteriori analyses of the severity of terminal values in cancer patients who have and have not had COVID-19 disease (Tukey's Test for Post-Hoc Analysis after One-way ANOVA)



Note. Designations: 6 – value orientation "Love" (spiritual and physical intimacy with a loved one), 12 – value orientation "Development" (self-improvement, constant physical and spiritual improvement).

In the hierarchy of instrumental life values, cancer patients who have had COVID-19 have significantly higher positions in the value orientations of "Breadth of views" (the ability to understand someone else's point of view, respect other tastes, customs, habits); $(M_1 = 11.3, M_2 = 9.0, p = 0.042)$, as well as "Sensitivity" (caring) $(M_1 = 11.3, M_2 = 8.2, p = 0.007)$, compared with cancer patients who were not ill with COVID-19 (Fig. 2).

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

Figure 2

Results of variance and a posteriori analyses of the severity of instrumental values in cancer patients who have and have not had COVID-19 disease (Tukey's Test for Post-Hoc Analysis after One-way ANOVA).



Note. Designations: 15 – breadth of views (the ability to understand someone else's point of view, respect other tastes, customs, habits); 18 – sensitivity (caring).

A study of the personal characteristics of cancer patients demonstrated that the pole of irresponsibility is significantly more pronounced in cancer patients who have had covid; this result may be associated with a decrease in volitional qualities under the influence of two life-threatening diseases at once (MS = 55.0, F = 5.5, p = 0.02; M1 = 10.2, M2 = 8.5, p = 0.03) (Fig. 3).

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

Figure 3

Results of variance and a posteriori analyses of the severity of personality traits in cancer patients who have and have not had COVID-19 disease (Tukey's Test for Post-Hoc Analysis after One-way ANOVA).



Note. Designations: «отв – безотв» – pole "Responsibility – Irresponsibility"; «артист – неартист» – pole "Artistry – Inartistic" (according to the 5PFQ).

The pole of practicality (including the indicator "Inartistic"; $M_1 = 10.2$, $M_2 = 8.5$, p = 0.03), also more pronounced in patients with covid cancer, may be associated with their greater conservatism, less flexibility and greater adaptability to everyday life (MS = 664.3, F = 5.5, p = 0.02; $M_1 = 46.5$, $M_2 = 40.1$, p = 0.02) (Fig. 3).

There were no significant differences in the severity of life-meaning orientations (F = 0.2, Effect_{df} = 6, Error_{df} = 70, p = 0.9) and coping strategies (F = 0.9, Effect_{df} = 8, Error_{df} = 73, p = 0.48) depending on the transferre covid over the past 6 months.

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

Discussion

According to the results of the study, the following psychological characteristics of cancer patients who have and have not suffered from COVID-19 disease were revealed.

The value-semantic sphere of cancer patients who have had COVID-19, compared with cancer patients who have not had COVID-19, is characterized by dominance in the hierarchy ofterminal life values of "love" and "development"; in the hierarchy of instrumental values – "breadth of views" and "sensitivity". Their personal sphere is characterized by the dominance of the pole of irresponsibility, which may be associated with a decrease in volitional qualities under the influence of two life-threatening diseases at once, as well as the pole of practicality, which may indicate a more pronounced conservatism, rigidity in decision-making. Thus, the described characteristics are sensitive to the comorbidity of cancer and coronavirus infection.

There were no significant differences in the severity of coping strategies, life orientations, psychopathological symptoms and quality of life in patients, depending on the fact of COVID-19 disease.

There are not enough studies in the modern literature that could confirm or refute the observations we have received. There are known studies that have studied the differences between the described characteristics in conditions of exacerbation of life-threatening diseases and remission. In the work of Bergfeld A. Yu. (2017), it was shown that the level of neuropsychic resistance to stress is higher in women in remission, because They are characterized by using an effective way to deal with stress – they analyze a problematic situation and try to find the optimal solution, while avoiding analysis and distraction to external objects are not effective in dealing with stress. In the study of cancer-affected women in remission, "direct links of emotional intelligence and quality of life, feedback links of emotional intelligence and alexithymia, alexithymia and coping strategies, quality of life and coping strategies, and direct and feedback links of emotional intelligence and coping strategies were confirmed" (pp. 75-76). Nikitina (2021) showed that patients' belief in the value and importance of their Self is an important part of coping strategies with intense stress.

The scientific literature presents the results indicating an aggravation of psychopathological symptoms in conditions of comorbidity of cancer. According to the results of a study conducted by Ho et al. (2020), prolonged emotional stress during the pandemic could provoke psychopathological symptoms in people who do not suffer from psychiatric diseases and worsen the mental state of those who already had similar disorders. The researchers found that during the pandemic, psychiatric patients had significantly increased levels of anxiety, depression, stress, anger, impulsivity and suicidal thoughts; more than a third of the identified symptom complexes met the diagnostic criteria for PTSD.

The absence of significant differences in the severity of the characteristics studied by us in the groups of cancer patients who have and have not undergone coronavirus

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

infection may be due to the fact that they change in a similar way in the presence of one life-threatening disease, and remain stable under conditions of addition of a comorbid background. The results may also be influenced by the fact that the respondents stayed in the oncological hospital during the study period. The expectation of surgery, as well as the early postoperative period, create an additional background of psycho-emotional stress.

Thus, in order to increase the reliability of the results obtained, it is necessary to continue the study.

Conclusion

The novelty of the work consists in a broad overview of the problem: the description of emotional and personal characteristics, as well as the characteristics of the response of cancer patients to life-threatening diseases during the COVID-19 pandemic.

According to our results, the fact of COVID-19 disease is associated with a change in the hierarchy of values, the expression of volitional qualities and flexibility in solving life difficulties, the described characteristics are sensitive to the comorbidity of cancer and coronavirus infection.

The features of the quality of life, life-meaning orientations, the intensity of coping strategies, as well as the severity of psychopathological symptoms in cancer patients do not change significantly under the conditions of the addition of a comorbid background (COVID-19).

To date, there is no doubt that "with an increase in neuropsychiatric resistance to stress, the risk of continuing the disease decreases, and with a decrease in resistance to stress, it increases, i.e. the disease can become protracted (metastasis, relapse)" (Bergfeld, 2017, pp. 74-76). Thus, increasing the individual's resistance to the effects of distress should become one of the targets of psychological support for cancer patients in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic.

References

- Acevedo-Ibarra, J.N., Juárez-García, D.M., Espinoza-Velazco, A., Buenaventura- Cisneros, S., Téllez, A. (2022). Post-traumatic Stress Symptoms, Distress, and Optimism in Mexican Colorectal Cancer Patients. *Psychology in Russia: State of the Art, 15*(4), 127–139. <u>https:// doi.org/10.11621/ pir.2022.0408</u>
- Afanasyeva, Z. A., Sibgatullina, I. F. & Fedorenko, M. V. (2009). The importance of latent features of cancer patients in socio-psychological rehabilitation. *Education and Self-development*, *2*(12), 216–221.
- Alekhin, A. N., Leonenko, N. O., Kemstach, V. V. (2021). Clinical and psychological aspects of insomnia associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. *Arterial hypertension*, 27(1), 83–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.18705/1607-419X-2021-27-1-83-93</u>
- Al-Shamsi, H. O., Alhazzani, W., Alhuraiji, A., Coomes, E. A., Chemaly, R. F., Almuhanna, M., ... & Xie, C. (2020). A practical approach to the management of cancer patients during the novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic: an international collaborative group. *The oncologist*, 25(6), e936–e945 <u>https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2020-0213</u>

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

- Aronov, P. V., Belskaya, G. N., Nikiforov, I. A. (2021). Modern approaches to the diagnosis and treatment of anxiety disorders associated with a new coronavirus infection. *Medical Council*, (10), 66–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.21518/2079-701X-2021-10-66-79</u>
- Bäuerle, A., Musche, V., Schmidt, K., Schweda, A., Fink, M., Weismüller, B., ... & Teufel, M. (2021). Mental health burden of German cancer patients before and after the outbreak of COVID-19: predictors of mental health impairment. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 18(5), 2318. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18052318
- Bergfeld, A. Y. (2017). *Cancer as a psychosomatic problem*. Q: The Future of clinical Psychology 2017. Perm State National Research University.
- Brooks, S. K., Webster, R. K., Smith, L. E., Woodland, L., Wessely, S., Greenberg, N. & Rubin, G. J (2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. *The Lancet*, 395(10227), 912–920. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30460-8</u>
- Caliandro, M., Carbonara, R., Surgo, A., Ciliberti, M. P., Di Guglielmo, F. C., Bonaparte, I., ... & Fiorentino, A. (2023). The Role of Telemedicine for Psychological Support for Oncological Patients Who Have Received Radiotherapy. *Current Oncology*, 30(5), 5158–5167. <u>https:// doi.org/10.3390/curroncol30050390</u>
- Chia, J. M. X., Goh, Z. Z. S., Chua, Z. Y., Ng, K. Y. Y., Ishak, D., Fung, S. M., ... & Griva, K. (2021). Managing cancer in context of pandemic: a qualitative study to explore the emotional and behavioural responses of patients with cancer and their caregivers to COVID-19. *BMJ* open, 11(1), e041070. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-041070</u>
- Dai, M., Liu, D., Liu, M., Zhou, F., Li, G., Chen, Z., ... & Cai, H. (2020). Patients with cancer appear more vulnerable to SARS-CoV-2: a multicenter study during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Cancer discovery*, 10(6), 783–791. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-20-0422</u>
- Darabos, K., Renna, M. E., Wang, A. W., Zimmermann, C. F., & Hoyt, M. A. (2021). Emotional approach coping among young adults with cancer: Relationships with psychological distress, posttraumatic growth, and resilience. *Psycho-Oncology*, 30(5), 728–735. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1002/pon.5621</u>
- Edge, R., Mazariego, C., Li, Z., Canfell, K., Miller, A., Koczwara, B., ... & Taylor, N. (2021). Psychosocial impact of COVID-19 on cancer patients, survivors, and carers in Australia: a real-time assessment of cancer support services. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 29, 5463– 5473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-021-06101-3</u>
- Finagentova, N. V. (2010). Psychological resources in the prevention of relapses in cancer. Dissertation for the degree of Candidate of Psychological Sciences. Saint-Petersburg.
- Gregucci, F., Caliandro, M., Surgo, A., Carbonara, R., Bonaparte, I., & Fiorentino, A. (2020). Cancer patients in Covid-19 era: Swimming against the tide. *Radiotherapy and Oncology*, 149, 109–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radonc.2020.04.002</u>
- Ho, C. S., Chee, C. Y., & Ho, R. C. (2020). Mental health strategies to combat the psychological impact of COVID-19 beyond paranoia and panic. Ann Acad Med Singapore, 49(1), 1–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.47102/annals-acadmedsg.202043</u>
- Ibáñez-Vizoso, J. E., Alberdi-Páramo, Í., & Díaz-Marsá, M. (2020). International Mental Health perspectives on the novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. *Revista de psiquiatria y* salud mental, 13(2), 111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.rpsm.2020.04.002</u>
- Jaspers, K. (2013). Reason and existence (A. K. Sudakova, Trans.). ROOI "Rehabilitation".
- Kadyrov, R. V., Kapustina, T. V., Elsesser, A. S. (2020). Methodological foundations for the development of a systematic approach in the applied psychological diagnosis of patients with socially significant diseases. *Psychologist*, (5), 45–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.25136/2409-8701.2020.5.33729</u>

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

- Kryukova, T. L., Ekimchik, O. A., Khokhlova, Yu. A. & Kirpichnik, O. V. (2018). The phenomenon of cognitive distortions of subjective assessments of life phenomena and its measurement (primary Russian-language adaptation of the cognitive distortion scale - CDs). Bulletin of Kostroma State University. Series: Pedagogy. Psychology. Sociokinetics, 24(4), 61–67.
- Laskov, V. B., Tretyakova, E. E. & Logacheva, E. A. (2017). *Catastrophization of pain: neuropsychological aspects of delusions and iatrogenically conditioned psychogenies in clinical practice*. Psychology of health and disease: a clinical and psychological approach: proceedings of the VII All-Russian Conference with international participation. Kursk: KSMU.
- Lee, L. Y., Cazier, J. B., Angelis, V., Arnold, R., Bisht, V., Campton, N. A., ... & Middleton, G. (2020). COVID-19 mortality in patients with cancer on chemotherapy or other anticancer treatments: a prospective cohort study. *The Lancet*, 395(10241), 1919–1926. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31173-9</u>
- Liu, N., Zhang, F., Wei, C., Jia, Y., Shang, Z., Sun, L., ... & Liu, W. (2020). Prevalence and predictors of PTSS during COVID-19 outbreak in China hardest-hit areas: Gender differences matter. *Psychiatry research*, *287*, 112921. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112921</u>
- Miaskowski, C., Paul, S. M., Snowberg, K., Abbott, M., Borno, H., Chang, S., Chen, L. M., Cohen, B., Hammer, M. J., Kenfield, S. A., Kober, K. M., Levine, J. D., Pozzar, R., Rhoads, K. F., van Blarigan, E. L. & van Loon, K (2020). Stress and symptom burden in oncology patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 60(5), e25-e34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.08.037</u>
- Molinari, E., Pagnini, F., Castelnuovo, G., Lozza, E., & Bosio, C. A. (2012). A new approach for psychological consultation: the psychologist at the chemist's. *BMC public health*, *12*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-501
- Muls, A., Georgopoulou, S., Hainsworth, E., Hartley, B., O'Gara, G., Stapleton, S. & Cruickshank, S (2022). The psychosocial and emotional experiences of cancer patients during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review. *Seminars in Oncology*, 49(5), 371–382. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1053/j.seminoncol.2022.08.001</u>
- Ng, D. W. L., Chan, F. H. F., Barry, T. J., Lam, C., Chong, C. Y., Kok, H. C. S., Liao, Q., Fielding, R., & Lam, W. W. T. (2020). Psychological distress during the 2019 Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) pandemic among cancer survivors and healthy controls. *Psycho-Oncology*, 29(9), 1380–1383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.5437</u>
- Nikitina, D. A. (2021). *Post-traumatic stress in people of different ages with a life-threatening disease*. Dissertation for the degree of Candidate of Psychological Sciences. Moscow.
- O'Hea, E., Kroll-Desrosiers, A., Cutillo, A. S., Michalak, H. R., Barton, B. A., Harralson, T., ... & Boudreaux, E. D. (2020). Impact of the mental health and dynamic referral for oncology (MHADRO) program on oncology patient outcomes, health care utilization, and health provider behaviors: A multi-site randomized control trial. *Patient education and counseling*, 103(3), 607–616. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2019.10.006</u>
- Ostrovsky, D. I., Ivanova T. I. (2020). The impact of the new covid-19 coronavirus infection on human mental health (literature review). *Omsk Psychiatric Journal, 2-1S*(24), 4-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.24411/2412-8805-2020-10201</u>
- Pukhareva, T. S. (2016). Psychological safety and its role in the professional development of a person. *Psychologist*, (2), 9–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.7256/2409 87.01.2016.2.19195</u>
- Reynolds, D. L., Garay, J. R., Deamond, S. L., Moran, M. K., Gold, W. & Styra, R (2008). Understanding, compliance and psychological impact of the SARS quarantine experience. *Epidemiology & Infection*, 136(7), 997–1007. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268807009156</u>
- Romito, F., Dellino, M., Loseto, G., Opinto, G., Silvestris, E., Cormio, C., ... & Minoia, C. (2020). Psychological distress in outpatients with lymphoma during the COVID-19 pandemic.

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

Frontiers in oncology, 10, 1270. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2020.01270

- Sampogna, G., Del Vecchio, V., De Rosa, C., Giallonardo, V., Luciano, M., Palummo, C., ... & Fiorillo, A. (2021). Community Mental Health Services in Italy. *Consortium Psychiatricum*, 2(2), 86–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.17816/CP76</u>
- Seledtsov, A.M., Kirina, Yu. Yu. & Akimenko, G. V. (2020). Mental health problems in the context of a pandemic. *Journal of Science*, (8), 1–13.
- Smulevich, A. B., Ivanov, S. V., Samushia, M. A. (2014). Pathoharacterological predisposition and formation of nosogenic (somatic disease-provoked) mental disorders. *Mental disorders in* general medicine, (2), 7–13.
- Tarabrina, N. V., Vorona, O. A., Kurchakova, M. S., Padun, M. A., Shatalova, N. E. (2010). Oncopsychology: post-traumatic stress in breast cancer patients. Publishing house "Institute of Psychology of the Russian Academy of Sciences".
- Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (2004). Posttraumatic Growth: Conceptual Foundations and Empirical Evidence. *Psychological Inquiry*, *15*(1), 1–18. URL: <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/20447194</u>
- Trusova, A.D., Faustova, A. G. (2021). The influence of the genesis of psychological trauma on the manifestations of post-traumatic growth: a theoretical review. *Personality in a changing world: health, adaptation, development, 9*(4(35)), 355–365. <u>https://doi.org/10.23888/humJ20214355-365</u>
- Vasilyeva, A.V., Karavaeva, A. A., Mizinova, E. B., Lukoshkina, E. P. (2020). Targets of psychotherapy for comorbid post-traumatic stress disorder in cancer patients. Bulletin of St. Petersburg University. Psychology, 10(4), 402-416. <u>https://doi.org/10.21638.spbu16.2020.402</u>
- Wang, C., Pan, R., Wan, X., Tan, Y., Xu, L., McIntyre, R. S., & Ho, C. (2020). A longitudinal study on the mental health of general population during the COVID-19 epidemic in China. *Brain, behavior, and immunity, 87*, 40–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2020.04.028</u>
- Wang, Y., Duan, Z., Ma, Z., Mao, Y., Li, X., Wilson, A., ... & Chen, R. (2020). Epidemiology of mental health problems among patients with cancer during COVID-19 pandemic. *Translational psychiatry*, *10*(1), 263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-00950-y</u>
- Yang, J., Li, Y., Gao, R. et al. (2023). Relationship between mental health literacy and professional psychological help-seeking attitudes in China: a chain mediation model. *BMC Psychiatry*, 23, 956. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-023-05458-5</u>
- Yelnikova, O. E. (2020). The concept of "attitude to disease" as a scientific problem. Literature review. *Comprehensive Childhood Studies, 2*(4), 292–304. <u>https://doi.org/10.33910/2687-0223-2020-2-4-292-304</u>

Received: April 4, 2024 Revised: July 4, 2024 Accepted: August 8, 2024

Author Contributions

Pavel N. Ermakov – conceptualization, research planning, critical revision of the content of the article.

Lyudmila V. Zvereva – conducting empirical research, writing the text of the article.

Ekaterina M. Kovsh – statistical processing and analysis of the results obtained, writing the text of the article.

Alexey Yu. Maximov – conceptualization, planning, organization of research.

CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

Victoria D. Voronaya – participation in the preparation of the text of the article.

Author Details

Pavel N. Ermakov – Doctor of Biological Sciences, Professor, Head of the Department of Psychophysiology and Clinical Psychology, Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; WoS Researcher ID: B-3040-2016; Scopus Author ID: 6602450914; RSCI Author ID: 90844; SPIN code RSCI: 7706-9441; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8395-2426</u>; e-mail: <u>paver@sfedu.ru</u>

Lyudmila V. Zvereva – postgraduate student, Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia; Researcher ID: JJF-8175- 2023, Author ID: 1164871, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.</u> org/0000-0002 - 3948-2436; e-mail: <u>lzvereva@sfedu.ru</u>

Ekaterina M. Kovsh – Candidate of Psychological Sciences, Associate Professor of the Department of Psychophysiology and Clinical Psychology, Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; WoS Researcher ID: C-6951-2017; Scopus Author ID: 57202393992; RSCI Author ID: 774822; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5804-5688</u>; e-mail: <u>emkovsh@sfedu.ru</u>

Alexey Yu. Maximov – Doctor of Medical Sciences, Deputy Director, National Medical Research Center of Oncology of the Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation, Rostovon-Don, Russian Federation; Scopus Author ID: 56579049500; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1397-837X</u>; e-mail: <u>lesha.maks7414@mail.ru</u>

Victoria D. Voronaya – student, Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; Scopus Author ID: 58132287100; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9984-2245</u>; e-mail: <u>voronaya@sfedu.ru</u>

Conflict of Interest Information

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Nataliia I. Romanova-Afrikantova, Valeriia Yu. Karpinskaia, Vsevolod A. Lyakhovetskii Perceptual Set Effect in Preschool and Early School-Aged Children Shaped by the Ponzo and Müller-Lyer Illusions Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024 GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

> Research article UDC 159.9.072 https://doi.org/10.21702/qfdrp682

Perceptual Set Effect in Preschool and Early School-Aged Children Shaped by the Ponzo and Müller-Lyer Illusions

Nataliia I. Romanova-Afrikantova^{*®}, Valeriia Yu. Karpinskaia®, Vsevolod A. Lyakhovetskii®

St Petersburg University, Saint Petersburg, Russian Federation

*Corresponding author: romafkina@yandex.ru

Abstract

Introduction. A perceptual set is a specific psychological mechanism that shapes the perception of objects based on prior experience, current goals, and the conditions of perception. Previous studies have shown that both realistically different and illusorily distorted objects can create a perceptual set effect in adults. The aim of this study is to experimentally verify the formation of the perceptual set effect in children using the Müller-Lyer and Ponzo illusions, in comparison with the presentation of segments that differ in length. Methods. The sample consisted of 26 children with an average age of 6.45 years. The stimulus material was presented in three series: real-different segments (with actual size differences), the Ponzo illusion, and the Müller-Lyer illusion. Each series included 10 setup stimuli and 5 pairs of equal segments to assess the perceptual set effect. Prior to the main experiment, all children underwent diagnostics of visual perception maturity and were divided into two groups based on their level of visual perception constancy maturity. Results. Statistical analysis of the experimentally obtained data revealed a perceptual set effect in children with a high level of visual perception constancy maturity, observed in both the series with real-different segments and the Müller-Lyer illusion. Children with low constancy maturity did not exhibit a perceptual set effect. The Ponzo illusion did not produce a perceptual set effect in either group of children. Discussion. The results obtained should be regarded as new evidence supporting the idea that the Ponzo and Müller-Lyer illusions belong to distinct categories of illusions.

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Keywords

perceptual set effect, Müller-Lyer illusion, Ponzo illusion, visual perception constancy, size estimation

Funding

The study was carried out with the support of the RSF Russian Science Foundation (project No 22-18-00074 – «Psychological mechanisms of coordination of perception and action in illusory context»).

For citation

Romanova-Afrikantova, N. I., Karpinskaia, V. Yu., & Lyakhovetskii, V. A. (2024). Perceptual Set Effect in Preschool and Early School-Aged Children Shaped by the Ponzo and Müller-Lyer Illusions. *Russian Psychological Journal, 21*(4), 22–33. https://doi.org/10.21702/ qfdrp682

Introduction

The Perceptual Set Effect is commonly defined as the tendency of an individual to perceive and respond in a certain way (Uznadze, 2001; Uznadze, 1958; Bruner, 1957; Luchins & Luchins, 1970). The term "perceptual set" has evolved to encompass a variety of meanings. One approach to studying perceptual set focuses on its connections with activities, actions, and operations, and also allows for the differentiation of various types of sets, such as target set, operational set, and others (Asmolov, 1979; Arbekova & Gusev, 2017). The perceptual set effect refers to the inaccurate perception of physical properties of objects (such as size, length, weight, brightness, etc.) influenced by the subject's prior experience. In experiments, such prior experience is often induced by presenting a series of stimuli with a fixed physical parameter (for example, a large object on the right and a small one on the left, or a light object in the right hand and a heavy one in the left hand). In the critical trial, two equal objects are presented, and the assimilation or contrast effect is observed in the subjects. The prevalence of these effects depends on both the stimulus parameters and the subject (McKenna, 1984). However, the perceptual set effect does not always occur; in some cases, the set does not appear at all (Uznadze, 1961). The concept of perceptual set is described in various ways, but all approaches share the common idea of perceptual set as the result of cognitive activity (rather than merely receptor adaptation), involving operations such as comparison, generalization, and memorization of stimuli (Baindurashvili, 1986; Deco & Schürmann, 2000; Kostandov et al., 2009; Imedadze, 2023).

Perceptual similarity enhances the size contrast effect, as demonstrated by N. Bruno (2008) in his study of the Müller-Lyer illusion. Bruno proposed that perceptual set distortion is not only due to the characteristics of the visual system, as some researchers have suggested (Jahoda, 1971; Shoshina et al., 2010), but is also influenced by learning and attention processes (Bruno et al., 2008). Kappers and Bergmann Tiest (2014) replicated Bruno's findings, showing that variations in the stimulus set reduce the contrast effect. They argued that cognitive processes involving higher cortical areas play a key role in the formation of perceptual set. In the works of V. M. Allakhverdov, the perceptual set is proposed as a regularity in the functioning of consciousness mechanisms, reflecting a tendency to adhere to a chosen hypothesis (Allakhverdov, 2000). The introduction of irrelevant variables (such as the format in which information is presented) is known to diminish the effect of the set, both perceptually and in Luchins' tasks (Tukhtieva, 2011; Tukhtieva, 2014). The author attributes this result in Luchins' tasks to an increase in conscious control when parameters unrelated to the task are altered – such as changing colors and adding letters and numbers to circles of varying sizes in a series, where the primary distinction among the circles lies in their size.

A perceptual set can be formed not only through the use of genuinely different objects but also via illusions or by imagining such objects (Kostandov et al., 1998; Valerjev & Gulan, 2013; Karpinskaia et al., 2018; Grigolava, 1987). This suggests that what matters more in creating a set effect is not the actual physical difference between stimuli, but rather the subjective perception of that difference. Despite this, few experiments have specifically explored the perceptual set effect based on illusions. It is well-established that different types of illusions are likely associated with various psychophysiological mechanisms (Coren et al., 1976; Menshikova, 2012; Menshikova, 2013; Karpinskaya & Lyakhovetskii, 2014; Karpinskaia et al., 2023). The strength of the illusory effect can vary depending on the presentation context or the individual characteristics of the subject.

The strength of the illusory effect and the persistence of the perceptual set effect vary across age groups. Preschool and early school-aged children, like adults, are susceptible to the effects of set (Romanova-Afrikantova et al., 2023; Leibowitz & Judisch, 1967; Brislin, 1974). However, conducting experiments with preschool children can be challenging due to the need for a clear understanding of instructions and the ability to provide coherent responses. Few studies have investigated cognitive illusions and the perceptual set effect in children, and those that do typically focus on children as young as 5 or 6 years old. At this age, key mechanisms of visual perception, such as perceptual (subjective) constancy, are likely to be developing, which may contribute to changes in the strength of visual illusions (Rozhkova et al., 2005; Ognivov, 2008; Romanova-Afrikantova et al., 2023). The perceptual set effect is also linked to mechanisms of perceptual constancy (Kezeli et al., 2021). It has been shown that the perceptual set effect is less pronounced in children aged 7–10 years compared to those aged 11–18 years and 19–68 years (Cunningham, 1965; Pope et al., 2015). Similarly, the strength of geometric illusions changes with age (Leibowitz & Judisch, 1967; Brislin, 1974; Rival et al., 2003). In our previous study, we

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

examined the strength of the Ponzo illusion in preschool and early school-aged children and found that the magnitude of the illusory distortion was related to both age and the development of perceptual constancy (Romanova-Afrikantova et al., 2023). Given that the strength of the Ponzo and Müller-Lyer illusions varies with different levels of perceptual constancy maturity, we hypothesized that these differences would also be evident in the formation of the perceptual set effect.

Aim of the study

The aim of this study is to investigate the perceptual set effect on both real and illusory stimuli (specifically, the Ponzo and Müller-Lyer illusions) in preschool and early school-aged children.

Methods

Participants

The study included 26 children (15 girls and 10 boys) aged 5 years and 6 months to 8 years and 6 months, with an average age of 6.45 years. All participants were typically developing, and all were right-handed.

Stimulus material

На этапе формирования установочного эффекта использовались три вида стимулов:

1. The Müller-Lyer illusion: two identical horizontal segments are positioned one above the other. The upper segment is flanked by arrows pointing outward, while the lower segment is flanked by arrows pointing inward toward the segment's endpoints (Fig. 1C).

2. The Ponzo illusion: two identical horizontal segments are positioned one above the other between two vertical lines that converge toward the top of the screen (Fig. 1A).

3. A pair of segments bounded by vertical serifs, differing in actual size: the upper segment is 5–30 mm longer than the lower one (Fig. 1B).

During the stage of assessing the strength of set distortion, control stimuli that did not induce any illusory distortion were used: two equal horizontal segments positioned one above the other and bounded by vertical serifs (Fig. 1D).

All stimulus types featured a pair of central horizontal segments. The segments were black and displayed on a white screen, with lengths ranging from 50 to 500 mm, and all lines had a thickness of 1 mm.

Nataliia I. Romanova-Afrikantova, Valeriia Yu. Karpinskaia, Vsevolod A. Lyakhovetskii Perceptual Set Effect in Preschool and Early School-Aged Children Shaped by the Ponzo and Müller-Lyer Illusions Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024 GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Figure 1 Stimulus Material



Note. A –Ponzo illusion, B – segments with actual size differences, C – Müller-Lyer illusion, D – control stimuli with equal size differences.

Research procedure

Before taking part in the main experiment, participants were assessed for their level of visual perception development.

For the assessment, we used the 'Methodology for Assessing the Level of Visual Perception Development in Children Aged 5 to 7.5 Years,' a revised and comprehensive test developed by M. Frostig (Bezrukikh, & Morozova, 1996). We used Subtest 3, 'Constancy of Contours,' which is designed to assess the perceptual constancy (Morozova, 2008). Subtest 3 involves recognizing a central geometric figure presented in varying sizes, tones, textures, and spatial positions. A circle and a square are used as the central figures to be identified.

Based on the results of the perceptual constancy assessment, the subjects were divided into two groups: the group with a conditionally low level of constancy maturity (group of children with lower maturity), consisting of children who scored 10 points or fewer, and the group with a conditionally high level of constancy maturity (group of children with higher maturity), consisting of children who scored more than 10 points.

The original software developed by the authors was used in the experiment. Each participant was presented with three series of stimuli on the monitor of an HP Envy 17-n153nr laptop (Figure 2).

Each series consisted of 10 setup stimuli (Fig. 1A, B, or C) and five pairs of equally sized segments (Fig. 1D) to assess the perceptual set effect. The order of presentation of the series for each participant was determined randomly, with a 1-minute pause between series.

During the formation phase of the perceptual set effect, participants were asked to view stimuli presented sequentially on the screen. The presentation time for each setting stimulus was 1 second, with a 1-second pause between presentations. The total duration of the experiment was approximately 7 minutes per participant (excluding the time for level of visual perception development assessment).

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Figure 2

Example of Stimulus Presentation Order to the Subjects



For the verbal assessment of control stimuli with equal size differences, the method of adjustment was used: the participant was asked to make the segments equal by giving verbal instructions to the experimenter to decrease or increase the length of the lower segment. As soon as the participant believed the segments were equal, they would say 'stop,' and the next pair of stimuli would appear on the screen. The length difference between the segments was fixed. The strength of the perceptual set effect was calculated as the difference in length between the lower and upper segments, expressed as a proportion of the upper segment's length. "Negative values of the set effect strength indicate an assimilation set effect (where the length of the upper segment of the neutral stimulus is greater than that of the lower segment, as in the stimuli from the formation phase), while positive values indicate a contrast set effect.

The statistical significance of the set effect was assessed at the p < 0.05 level using the Wilcoxon test. Data processing was conducted using Prism 10 for macOS (Version 10.1.1, 270) (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA). The data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation.

Results

The group with a conditionally high level of constancy maturity included 17 children, while the group with a conditionally low level of constancy maturity consisted of 9 children.

Figure 3 illustrates the strength of the perceptual set effect as a function of the type of setting stimuli and the subjects' level of perceptual constancy maturity. Although subjects

were presented with equal segments during the test phase, under the influence of the perceptual set effect, they tended to adjust the length of the lower segment, making it shorter than the upper segment.

The stimulus series using segments with actual size differences demonstrated a perceptual set effect (-0.54 \pm 1.21%, W (26) = -2, p = 0.0215). When the children were divided into two groups based on their visual constancy maturity, the group of children with higher maturity exhibited a set effect (-0.54 \pm 1.25%, W (18) = -39, p = 0.0488), whereas the group of children with lower maturity showed no set effect (-0.55 \pm 1.10%, W (9) = -13, p > 0.05).

The series of stimuli creating the Müller-Lyer illusion also resulted in perceptual set formation (-0.43 \pm 0.78%, W (26) = -75, p = 0.0061). Similar to the case with the segments with actual size differences, the group of children with higher maturity in perceptual constancy exhibited a set effect (-0.46 \pm 0.79%, W (18) = -32, p = 0.0234), whereas the group of children with lower perceptual constancy maturity showed no set effect (-0.35 \pm 0.76%, W (9) = -13, p > 0.05).

The Ponzo illusion did not produce a significant set effect in the subjects (-0.003 \pm 1.59%, W (26) = -2, p> 0.05). Additionally, no attitudinal effect was observed in either of the groups with different levels of visual constancy maturity: (-0.045 \pm 1.47%, W (17) = 0, p> 0.05 for the group with high constancy maturity and -0.007 \pm 1.89%, W (9) = -1, p> 0.05 for the group with low maturity).

Figure 3

Perceptual Set Effect Strength Based on Stimulus Type and Subjects' Perceptual Constancy Maturity



Note. # – p <0.05. Mean ± Standard Deviation.

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Discussion

We obtained data that confirm earlier findings on Uznadze's classical set formation in preschool and early school-aged children, where stimulus segments with actual size differences are used to create a perceptual set effect. Consistent with previous studies, we observed a persistent perceptual set effect (Ashkinazi, 2007; Kostandov et al., 2005; Kostandov et al., 2008).

A perceptual set effect was formed in children based on the Müller-Lyer illusion, whereas no perceptual set effect was observed based on the Ponzo illusion. Given that Müller-Lyer and Ponzo illusions may involve different mechanisms of formation and manifest differently depending on age (Karpinskaya & Lyakhovetsky, 2014; Coren et al., 1976; Rozhkova et al., 2005), we can hypothesize a connection between the absence of a perceptual set effect and the mechanisms underlying illusory perception formation. However, further verification is needed. Pollack (1964) demonstrated that the strength of the Müller-Lyer illusion was influenced by how it was presented. In the classical presentation method (where the illusion and full image are shown at once), children were susceptible to the illusory effect. However, when a tachistoscope was used to sequentially present separate segments and arrows that created the Müller-Lyer illusion, the illusory effect was found to depend on prior experience and the development of cognitive functions (Pollack, 1964). Our findings align with Pollack's results: children with higher visual constancy maturity, in contrast to those with lower maturity, are more susceptible to the perceptual set effect induced by the Müller-Lyer illusion.

The lack of a perceptual set effect when using the Ponzo illusion in children may be due to the fact that the mechanisms associated with this illusion have not yet fully developed in children. It is likely that hyperconstancy effects (Romanova-Afrikantova et al., 2023) and the relatively limited influence of prior experience (Reese, 1963) contribute to this absence.

We found no significant difference in the strength of the perceptual set effect caused by the Ponzo illusion between groups of children with varying levels of visual constancy maturity. This can primarily be explained by the fact that, in general, we did not observe a set effect of the Ponzo illusion in children. Future research should explore the hypothesis that the phenomenon of perceptual hyperconstancy, which accounts for greater illusory distortion in older preschool children compared to younger school-aged children (Romanova-Afrikantova et al., 2023; Ognivov, 2008; Shallo & Rock, 1988), may help explain the resistance of children's perception to the formation of a perceptual set using the Ponzo illusion.

Conclusion

We conducted a study on the perceptual set effect using both real-different segments (segments with actual size differences) and illusory stimuli (Ponzo and Müller-Lyer illusions)

Nataliia I. Romanova-Afrikantova, Valeriia Yu. Karpinskaia, Vsevolod A. Lyakhovetskii Perceptual Set Effect in Preschool and Early School-Aged Children Shaped by the Ponzo and Müller-Lyer Illusions Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024 GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

in preschool children. Our findings confirmed the possibility of creating a perceptual set effect in children with real-different segments and provided new insights into how the perceptual set effect manifests when physically equal segments are presented in the Müller-Lyer illusion. The investigation into the relationship between the magnitude of the perceptual set effect and the maturity of visual perception constancy revealed that children with a higher level of visual constancy maturity are more susceptible to the perceptual set effect. However, the segments within the Ponzo illusion did not produce a perceptual set effect in preschool children

References

- Allakhverdov, V. M. (2000). Consciousness as a paradox (Experimental psychology, Vol. 1). Prosveshcheniye. (in Russ.).
- Arbekova, O. A., & Gusev, A. N. (2017). About Matching Concepts of Meaningful Set, Task Set, And Operational Set with Modern English-Language Terms. The Russian Journal Of Cognitive Science, 4(1), 5–25. (in Russ.).
- Ashkinazi, M. L. (2007). Visual cognitive set in preschool and early school-aged children. Institute of Higher Nervous Activity and Neurophysiology, Russian Academy of Sciences. (in Russ.)
- Asmolov, A. G. (1979). Activity and attitude. Moscow State University named after M.V. Lomonosov. (in Russ.).
- Baindurashvili, A. G. (1986). On the primacy of set. Dmitry Nikolayevich Uznadze—A Classic of Soviet Psychology. Collection dedicated to him, 63-72. (in Russ.)
- Bezrukikh, M. M., Morozova, L. V. (1996). Test booklet and demonstration cards for the "Methodology for Assessing the Level of Development of Visual Perception in Children Aged 5–7.5 Years". Nova Shkola. (in Russ.)
- Brislin, R. W. (1974). The Ponzo illusion: Additional cues, age, orientation, and culture. Journal of Cross-cultural Psychology, 5(2), 139–161.
- Bruner, J. S. (1957). On perceptual readiness. Psychological Review, 64(2), 123.
- Bruno, N., Bernardis, P., & Gentilucci, M. (2008). Visually guided pointing, the Müller-Lyer illusion, and the functional interpretation of the dorsal-ventral split: conclusions from 33 independent studies. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 32(3), 423–437.
- Coren, S., Girgus, J. S., Erlichman, H., & Hakstian, A. R. (1976). An empirical taxonomy of visual illusions. Perception & psychophysics, 20(2), 129–137.
- Cunningham, J. D. (1965). Einstellung rigidity in children. Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, 2(3), 237–247.
- Deco, G., & Schürmann, B. (2000). A hierarchical neural system with attentional top-down enhancement of the spatial resolution for object recognition. Vision research, 40(20), 2845–2859.
- Grigolava, V. V. (1987). Contrast illusion, set, and the unconscious. Metsniereba. (in Russ.)
- Imedadze, I. I. (2023). Problem of Mediating: L.S. Vygotsky, A.N. Leontiev, D.N. Uznadze. Cultural-Historical Psychology, 19(1), 5–12. (in Russ.).
- Jahoda, G. (1971). Retinal pigmentation, illusion susceptibility and space perception. International Journal of Psychology, 6(3), 199–207.
- Kappers, A. M., & Bergmann Tiest, W. M. (2014). Influence of shape on the haptic size aftereffect. PLoS One, 9(2), e88729.
- Karpinskaia, V. Yu., Tumova, M. A., Lyakhovetsky, V. A., Stanovaya, V. V., & Ivanov, M. V. (2023). Detection of Cognitive Subtypes of Schizophrenia (with Assessment of Perceptual

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Disorders). A Pilot Study. Psychiatry (Moscow) (Psikhiatriya), 20(4), 74–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.30629/2618-6667-2022-20-4-74-83</u> (in Russ.).

- Karpinskaia, V., Lyakhovetskii, V., Cherniavskaia, A., & Shilov, Y. (2018). The Aftereffects of Visual Illusions (Ponzo and Müller-Lyer): Hand-Dependent Effects in Sensorimotor Domain. In Advances in Neural Networks–ISNN 2018: 15th International Symposium on Neural Networks, ISNN 2018, Minsk, Belarus, June 25–28, 2018, Proceedings 15 (pp. 800-806). Springer International Publishing.
- Karpinskaya, V. Yu., & Lyakhovetskii, V. A. (2014). The differences in the sensorimotor estimation of the Ponzo and Müller-Lyer illusions. Psychological Studies, 7(38). <u>https://doi.org/10.54359/ps.v7i38.582</u> (in Russ.).
- Kezeli, A. R., Janelidze, D. O., Lomashvili, N.I., & Khomeriki, M. S. (2021). Mechanisms of perception constancy and recalibration of sensory systems. Journal of Optical Technology, 88(6), 76–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1364/JOT.88.000343</u> (in Russ.).
- Kostandov, E. A., Cheremushkin, E. A., & Ashkinazi, M. L. (2005). Features of visual non-verbal set in preschool and early school-aged children. *Zhurnal Vysshei Nervnoi Deyatelnosti Imeni I.P. Pavlova*, 55(3). (in Russ.).
- Kostandov, E. A., Farber, D. A., Cheremushkin, E. A., Machinskaya, R. I., Petrenko, N. E., & Ashkinazi,
 M. L. (2008). Spatial organization of cortical electrical activity at different stages of visual set in preschool and early school-aged children. *Zhurnal Vysshei Nervnoi Deyatelnosti Imeni I.P. Pavlova*, 58(1), 46–55. (in Russ.).
- Kostandov, E. A., Farber, D. A., Machinskaya, R. I., Cheremushkin, E. A., Petrenko, N. E., & Ashkinazi, M. L. (2009). Visual set and the function of attention switching in 8-year-old children with EEG signs of immaturity of fronto-thalamic and brainstem activating systems. *Zhurnal Vysshei Nervnoi Deyatelnosti Imeni I.P. Pavlova*, 59(4), 402–410. (in Russ.).
- Kostandov, E. A., Kurova, N. S., Cheremushkin, E. A., & Yakovenko, I. A. (1998). The role of unconscious sets formed on the basis of the perception of specific visual stimuli and illusory representations in conscious cognitive activity. *Zhurnal Vysshei Nervnoi Deyatelnosti Imeni I.P. Pavlova*, 48(3), 438–444. (in Russ.).
- Leibowitz, H. W., & Judisch, J. M. (1967). The relation between age and the magnitude of the Ponzo illusion. The American Journal of Psychology, 80(1), 105–109.
- Luchins, A. S., & Luchins, E. H. (1970). The effects of order of presentation of information and explanatory models. The Journal of Social Psychology, 80(1), 63–70.
- McKenna, F. P. (1984). Assimilation and contrast in perceptual judgments. The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology Section A, 36(3), 531–548.
- Menshikova, G. Ya. (2012). On the classification of visual illusions. *Psikhologicheskie Issledovaniya*, 5(25). (in Russ.).
- Menshikova, G. Ya. (2013). Visual illusions: Psychological mechanisms and models. Doctoral dissertation. Moscow. (in Russ.).
- Morozova, L. V. (2008). Psychophysiological patterns of visual perception in children aged 6–8 years. Pomorski State University named after M. V. Lomonosov. (in Russ.).
- Ognivov, V. V. (2008). Geometric visual illusions and size perception constancy in children and adults. Russian University of Peoples' Friendship (RUDN). (in Russ.).
- Pollack, R. H. (1964). Simultaneous and successive presentation of elements of the Muller-Lyer figure and chronological age. Perceptual and Motor Skills, 19(1), 303–310.
- Pope, S. M., Meguerditchian, A., Hopkins, W. D., & Fagot, J. (2015). Baboons (Papio papio), but not humans, break cognitive set in a visuomotor task. Animal Cognition, 18, 1339–1346.

Reese, H. W. (1963). "Perceptual Set" in Young Children. Child Development, 151–159.

Rival, C., Olivier, I., Ceyte, H., & Ferrel, C. (2003). Age-related differences in a delayed pointing of a Müller-Lyer illusion. Experimental brain research, 153, 378–381.

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

- Romanova-Afrikantova, N. I., Karpinskaia, V. Yu., Lyakhovetskii, V. A. (2023). Comparative Analysis of Verbal Evaluation of Illusory Segments in Children and Adults. Experimental Psychology (Russia), 16(3), 86–97. (In Russ.). <u>https://doi.org/10.17759/exppsy.2023160306</u>
- Rozhkova, G. I., Tokareva, V. S., Ognivov, V. V., & Bastakov, V. A. (2005). Geometric visual illusions and mechanisms of size perception constancy in children. *Sensornye Sistemy*, 19(1), 26–36. (in Russ.).
- Shallo, J., & Rock, I. (1988). Size constancy in children: A new interpretation. Perception, 17(6), 803–813.
- Shoshina, I. I., Pronin, S. V., & Shelepin, J. E. (2010). Influence Of Preliminary Filtration of Images on Thresholds of Distinction of The Length of Segments in The Müller–Lyer Illusion. Experimental Psychology (Russia), 3(4), 16–24. (In Russ.).
- Tukhtieva, N. Kh. (2011). The influence of irrelevant parameters of the situation on the manifestation of the Einstellung effect. *Kognitivnaya Psikhologiya Soznaniya: Sbornik Statey*. LEMA. (in Russ.).
- Tukhtieva, N. Kh. (2014). Influence of types of change in the irrelevant parameters of the task on the Einstellung effect. *Vestnik of St. Petersburg State University. Sociology*, (3), 41–48. (in Russ.).

Uznadze, D. N. (1958). Experimental Studies In The Psychology Of Set. Vol. II. Tbilisi. (in Russ.).

Uznadze, D. N. (1961). Basic Provisions Of The Theory Of Set. Tbilisi: Publishing House of the Academy of Sciences of the Georgian SSR. (in Russ.).

Uznadze, D. N. (2001). The Psychology of Set. Piter. (in Russ.).

Valerjev, P., & Gulan, T. (2013). The role of context in Müller-Lyer illusion: The case of negative Müller-Lyer illusion. Review of psychology, 20(1–2), 29–36.

Received: 25.02.2024 Revised: 24.07.2024 Accepted: 26.08.2024

Author Contributions

Nataliia I. Romanova-Afrikantova conducted the experiment, statistical analysis, and prepared the text of the article.

Valeriia Yu. Karpinskaia designed the study and prepared the text of the article.

Vsevolod A. Lyakhovetskii designed the study, conducted statistical analysis, and prepared the text of the article.

Author Details

Nataliia I. Romanova-Afrikantova – Junior Researcher, Institute of Cognitive Studies, Saint Petersburg State University, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4112-8636</u>; e-mail: <u>romanovaafrikantova@gmail.com</u>

Valeriia Yu. Karpinskaia – Dr. Sci. (Psychology), Associate Professor, Institute of Cognitive Studies, Saint Petersburg State University, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; Researcher ID: M-8542-2013, Scopus Author ID: 57032704800, RSCI SPIN-code: 1682-0819, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5311-8438</u>, e-mail: <u>karpinskaya78@mail.ru</u>

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Vsevolod A. Lyakhovetskii – Cand. Sci. (Technical Sciences), Researcher, Institute of Cognitive Studies, Saint Petersburg State University, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5948-0991</u>; Scopus Author ID: 6507546545; ResearcherID: P-3023-2016; e-mail: <u>v_la2002@mail.ru</u>

Conflict of Interest Information

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Anzhelika I. Luchinkina, Tatyana V. Yudeeva, Liliya V. Zhikhareva, Irina S. Luchinkina, Alexander S. Andreyev Adolescent Deviance in Online Communities Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Research article UDC 159.9 https://doi.org/10.21702/zdz9bs08

Adolescent Deviance in Online Communities

Anzhelika I. Luchinkina^{*®}, Tatyana V. Yudeeva®, Liliya V. Zhikhareva®, Irina S. Luchinkina®, Alexander S. Andreyev®

Crimean Engineering and Pedagogical University the name of Fevzi Yakubov, Simferopol, Russian Federation

*Corresponding author: <u>a.luchinkina@kipu-rc.ru</u>

Abstract

Introduction. The article explores the characteristics of adolescent deviant behavior in online communities. This study is the first to examine the specific role dispositions of adolescents prone to online deviance. We analyzed the mechanisms through which realworld personalities transform in the digital environment, leading to the development of both normative and deviant digital identities. Our research focus was on teenagers, as they represent the most vulnerable group, with their value systems undergoing reformation in the real world while their new social experiences are shaped online. Methods. In the study, which involved a survey of 158 adolescents in both real and virtual spaces, the following methodologies were used: "Propensity for bullying in the Internet space" (Luchinkina, 2019); individual personality orientation diagnostic methodology (modified by N.P. Fetiskin); locus of role conflict diagnostic methodology by P. P. Gornostai. Results. Adolescents with an egoistic orientation are more prone to engage in online deviant behaviors such as harassment. Conversely, adolescents with a cooperative orientation are less likely to exhibit deviant behaviors, including verbal insults, harassment, disclosure of personal information, threats of physical violence, and social isolation. The desire for new online experiences, combined with a reduced interest in real-life interactions, contributes to both socially acceptable and deviant online roles. In contrast, adolescents with a marginalized orientation are more likely to engage in deviant behaviors such as harassment, insults, using fake names and profiles, social isolation, disclosing personal information, and making threats of violence. Furthermore, a correlation has been established between the locus of role conflict and specific forms of online deviant behavior. Discussion. Cultural factors play a significant role in shaping individual online

Anzhelika I. Luchinkina, Tatyana V. Yudeeva, Liliya V. Zhikhareva, Irina S. Luchinkina, Alexander S. Andreyev Adolescent Deviance in Online Communities Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

behavior patterns, influencing attitudes, values, and behavioral responses. Online activity can range from normative to deviant, with each influencing cognitive processes and online behavior.

Keywords

adolescent, deviant behavior, cyber-aggression, personality traits, real and virtual spaces, role dispositions, locus of role conflict, Internet space, insults, social isolation

For citation

Luchinkina, A. I., Yudeeva, T. V., Zhikhareva, L. V., Luchinkina, I. S., & Andreyev, A. S. (2024). Adolescent Deviance in Online Communities. *Russian Psychological Journal, 21*(4), 34–44. https://doi.org/10.21702/zdz9bs08

Introduction

The integration of information and communication technologies into all aspects of life marks a significant stage in scientific and technological progress. As communication processes become digitized, individuals are increasingly engaging with digital environments on a deeper level. This engagement may lead to the emergence of a new superstructure: the digital personality, which could either be a persona created by a real person or one generated by artificial intelligence, functioning as a chatbot and interacting with other entities in the digital realm (Brykov, 2023; Grebenyuk, 2020). Both the virtual persona created by a human and the digital persona generated by AI remain largely unexplored.

The research problem lies in identifying the mechanisms through which the real personality transforms in the digital environment, focusing on the mechanisms responsible for the development of both normative and deviant digital superstructures. Adolescents are the most vulnerable group, with their value systems being restructured in the real world, while, due to their age, they are simultaneously forming new social experiences in the online space. The desire to explore new experiences leads adolescents to experiment not only with socially acceptable roles but also with deviant ones (Soldatova, Rasskazova & Chigarkova, 2020; Sobkin & Fedotova, 2021). The novelty of the research lies in uncovering the connection between adolescents' deviant online behavior and their individual personality orientation, as well as the characteristics of role conflict.

The article **aims** to explore the role-specific dispositions of adolescents inclined toward deviant online behavior.

Research on adolescent deviant behavior remains inconclusive, with no consensus on its causes, forms, mechanisms, prevention strategies, or specific manifestations in the online environment. Additionally, there is no widely accepted framework for Anzhelika I. Luchinkina, Tatyana V. Yudeeva, Liliya V. Zhikhareva, Irina S. Luchinkina, Alexander S. Andreyev Adolescent Deviance in Online Communities Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

identifying the personal attitudes of adolescents prone to deviant online behavior. While adolescence is often characterized by unstable relationships and internal conflicts, these factors alone cannot fully account for why some adolescents engage in destructive behavior (Bogdanovich & Delibalt, 2020; Bogomazova, 2022; Lazouski, 2020; Ryabov & Bochenkova, 2021; Solomatina, 2021; Fontalova & Turganova, 2019; Skornyakova, 2022; Ralnikova, 2015).

Modern psychology offers various perspectives on the phenomenon of deviant personality behavior. One approach views deviation as the result of stress-induced disruptions in mental adaptation, which activate defense mechanisms. The key concept in this approach is the 'adaptive mental boundary', which defines the limits of an individual's ability to adapt to external changes without compromising mental and physical health. Deviation, in this context, is seen as a disruption in the dynamic interaction between the individual and their environment (Rasskazova et al., 2019). Deviant adaptation may manifest as the fulfillment of personal needs without regard for the expectations and needs of others (Zhikhareva, Luchinkina & Kolchik, 2021; Zhikhareva, Luchinkina & Kolchik, 2021; Serkina & Yudeeva, 2023; Agosta, 2010; Dvoryanchikov, 2020; Eshelman, 2018).

While existing theoretical approaches are valuable, it is important to note that they are primarily designed for adults who have already developed psychological adaptation mechanisms and social experience. Consequently, adults tend to exhibit protective responses in times of crisis. In contrast, adolescents have underdeveloped defense mechanisms. Their violations of social norms may stem from insufficient understanding of these norms or a lack of a supportive environment. Unlike adults, where deviant behavior often results from failed adaptation, in children and adolescents, deviations themselves can create adaptation difficulties and disrupt the socialization process.

Special attention should be given to studying adolescents' adaptation processes in online communities, where teenagers often adopt non-normative roles due to the lack of established and clearly defined social norms. Internet activity serves as a mechanism for these adolescents' inclusion in the online community (Alekhin & Grekova, 2019; Zekeryaev, 2019; Luchinkina & Fazilova, 2021; Soldatova, Rasskazova & Chigarkova, 2020; Soldatova & Yarmina, 2019). In our study, Internet activity refers to the extent of a teenager's desire to 'settle' in virtual space. It includes the amount of time spent online, the number of online friends, and the activity level of their page (such as visits, post updates, and views).

Methods

The study was conducted in both real and digital environments. The following psychodiagnostic techniques were used: «Propensity for bullying in the Internet space» (Luchinkina, 2019); individual personality orientation diagnostic methodology (modified by N. P. Fetiskin); locus of role conflict diagnostic methodology by P. P. Gornostai.

A total of 158 adolescents, aged 14 to 16 years, participated in the study.
GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Results

It was found that most adolescents do not exhibit high levels of online deviant behavior.

We measured the averages for each form of online behavior, which are presented in the table below (Table 1).

Table 1

	, ,		
Type of online deviant behavior	Mean value	Form of online deviant behavior	Mean value
Cyberstalking	5.21	Use of a fake name	5.24
Verbal insults	5.2	Disclosure of personal information	4.95
Harassment	4.86	Social isolation	5.03
Slander	5.24	Threats of physical violence	4.95

Mean values of the study results on forms of online deviant behavior (cyberbullying)

The forms of deviant behavior, such as the use of a fake name and slander, received higher scores, with an average of 5.24 out of 15. However, the averages for all other forms of online deviant behavior do not exceed one-third of the maximum possible score. Overall, the data suggests that teenagers tend to avoid maladaptive online behaviors and are not generally predisposed to cyber aggression, bullying, shaming, etc. Nevertheless, some individuals exhibit higher levels of deviant behavior.

The results of the adolescents' personality interactive orientation revealed the following distribution: 16% of respondents showed a high level of egoistic orientation, 65% had an average level, and 19% displayed a low level. In terms of cooperative orientation, 25% exhibited a high level, 56% had a medium level, and 19% showed a low level. For marginal orientation, the distribution was as follows: 4% at a high level, 33% at a medium level, and 63% at a low level. Analysis of the prevailing types of orientation showed that the cooperative type was dominant in 45% of adolescents, the egoistic type in 37%, the marginal type in 14%, and 4% had an undefined primary type of orientation.

The research presented in this paper identifies the specific features of adolescent role-playing behavior associated with deviant online activity. The internal locus of role conflict, manifested in adolescents' desire for self-assertion and the assertion of their own identity, even when in conflict with social roles, is closely tied to their need for independence and self-expression (Luchinkina, 2022). An external locus of role conflict

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

was identified in 34% of respondents. Thus, role behavior aligns with social expectations, and when it contradicts individual identity, it leads to the formation of internal conflict. In 29% of adolescents, no clear predominance of either type of conflict locus was observed.

Correlation analysis

Correlation analysis of the study results showed a statistically significant positive direct correlation between egoistic orientation and harassment (r = 0.199; p < 0.05). Thus, it can be inferred that individuals with a higher level of egoistic orientation are more likely to engage in harassment in virtual spaces.

There is a statistically significant negative correlation between the 'Cooperative orientation' scale and the 'Verbal insults' scale (r = -0.252, p < 0.05). The correlation is negative, indicating that the higher the level of cooperative orientation, the less likely a person is to engage in offensive behavior in virtual space.

There is a statistically significant negative correlation between the 'Cooperative Orientation' scale and the 'Harassment' scale (r = -0.241, p < 0.05). This inverse correlation suggests that the higher the level of cooperative orientation, the less likely a person is to exhibit tendencies toward harassment in virtual spaces.

A statistically significant negative correlation was also found between the 'Cooperative orientation' scale and the 'Disclosure of personal information' scale (r = -0.245; p < 0.05). Thus, adolescents with a pronounced cooperative orientation are less likely to publicly disclose personal information in virtual space. An inverse correlation was found between the 'Cooperative orientation' scale and the 'Social isolation' scale (r = -0.273, p < 0.01). This negative relationship suggests that the higher the level of cooperative orientation, the less likely a person is to exhibit tendencies toward social isolation in virtual spaces.

There is a statistically significant negative correlation between the 'Cooperative Orientation' scale and the 'Threats of Physical Violence' scale (r = -0.242, p < 0.05). This suggests that individuals with higher levels of cooperative orientation are less likely to exhibit a propensity for making threats of physical violence in virtual spaces.

A significant positive correlation was identified between the 'Marginal Orientation' scale and the 'Cyberstalking' scale (r = 0.361, p < 0.01). This indicates that adolescents with a pronounced marginal orientation are more likely to engage in stalking behavior in virtual spaces. A statistically significant positive correlation was also found between the 'Marginal Orientation' scale and the 'Verbal Insults' scale (r = 0.242, p < 0.05). This suggests that individuals with higher levels of marginal orientation are more likely to exhibit a tendency toward using verbal insults in virtual spaces.

A significant positive correlation was identified between the 'Marginal Orientation' scale and the 'Use of a Fake Name' scale (r = 0.327, p < 0.01). This suggests that adolescents with a pronounced marginal orientation are more likely to use a fake name in virtual spaces.

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

A statistically significant positive correlation was found between the 'Marginal Orientation' scale and the 'Disclosure of Personal Information' scale (r = 0.242, p < 0.05). This suggests that individuals with a pronounced marginal orientation are more likely to disclose the personal information of others in virtual spaces. Additionally, a significant positive correlation was established between the 'Marginal Orientation' scale and the 'Social Isolation' scale (r = 0.362, p < 0.01). This indicates that the higher an individual's level of marginal orientation, the more likely they are to exhibit a tendency toward social isolation in virtual spaces.

A significant positive correlation was identified between the 'Marginal Orientation' scale and the 'Threats of Physical Violence' scale (r = 0.402, p < 0.01). This suggests that individuals with a predominant marginal orientation are more likely to exhibit a propensity for issuing threats of physical violence in online spaces.

A significant positive correlation was identified between the 'Locus of Role Conflict' scale and the 'Slander' scale (r = 0.323, p < 0.01). This suggests that individuals with an internalized locus of role conflict are more likely to experience vilification on social networks compared to those with an externalized locus of role conflict.

A significant positive correlation was identified between the 'Locus of Role Conflict' scale and the 'Threats of Physical Violence' scale (r = 0.323, p < 0.01). This indicates that individuals with an internal locus of role conflict are more likely to exhibit tendencies toward threats of physical violence on social networks compared to those with an external locus of role conflict.

Discussion

The conclusion regarding the prevalence of high levels of cooperative or egoistic orientation among internet-active adolescents is open to debate. Considering adolescents' tendency to form groups in the real world, the phenomenon of isolation in the online environment presents an important area of research interest.

In studies examining adolescents' communicative activities in online spaces, it is noted that communication is the leading activity during adolescence. It is important for adolescents to expand their social circles and gain the approval of their peers, as well as establish authority among them (Soldatova et al., 2020; Luchinkina, 2022).

Egoistic orientation on the Internet, according to researchers, may be linked to the developmental characteristics of adolescence. During this stage, adolescents begin to actively explore their identity and emphasize their individuality. As their personal needs rapidly expand, this drives them to seek greater satisfaction of these needs (Bogdanovich & Delibalt, 2020). Moreover, current research emphasizes the impact of egocentrism on the development of certain difficulties in interactions with peers. Difficulties in peer interactions may manifest as a need to protect oneself from mistreatment by others (Brykov, 2023; Luchinkina & Fazilova, 2021). Marginal orientation, in turn, despite the emotional characteristics of this age, is less typical for adolescence.

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

An analysis of adolescent online behavior patterns showed a nearly equal distribution between conformists and non-conformists. The study confirms that an internalized locus of role conflict is correlated with manifestations of online deviant behavior, including slander and threats of physical violence. This indicates that role dispositions are crucial in shaping such behavior in adolescents. Данное исследование опирается на работы современных авторов (Serkina & Yudeeva, 2023), которые подчеркивают влияние ролевых диспозиций на онлайн-девиацию. It is also important to consider cultural factors that influence individual online behavioral traits, including attitudes, values, and behavior patterns (Lazouski, 2020; Ryabov & Bochenkova, 2021). Users' online behavior spans from socio-culturally normative to deviant, which influences their cognitive processes and actual actions (Zhikhareva, Luchinkina & Kolchik, 2021). The study confirms the interdependence between individual personality traits and online activity, as well as the influence of context and multiple online identities on online behavior (Fontalova & Turganova, 2019).

The behavior associated with roles is shaped by social expectations and the drive to meet them (Lazouski, 2020). In our view, role disposition refers to a set of social roles specific to an individual, developed through internalization, consolidation, and growth within activity and interaction.

The practical significance of the study lies in the effective identification of role dispositions in adolescents prone to online deviance. By considering the unique characteristics of adolescence, as well as contradictions in interpersonal relationships and internal conflicts, the study provides insights into how a maladaptive social role is formed.

Conclusion

1. Online deviant behavior in the form of harassment is characteristic of adolescents with an egoistic orientation. This may be due to the fact that individuals with an egoistic orientation seek to fulfill their personal needs for self-assertion at the expense of others. One deviant way of achieving this satisfaction in virtual reality is through harassment. Furthermore, the nature of social networks allows for partial anonymity and the complete absence of physical contact, which in turn provides an easy way to fulfill self-assertion needs.

2. The opposite trends are observed in adolescents with a cooperative orientation. These adolescents do not exhibit forms of deviant online behavior such as verbal insults, harassment, disclosure of personal information, social isolation, or threats of violence. Adolescents with a cooperative orientation aim to maintain constructive relationships with others and seek to form new social connections. They are characterized by empathy and an interest in collaborative activities. These traits influence their choice of adaptive behavioral strategies in both real and virtual spaces.

3. The results of the study indicate a correlation between marginal orientation and

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

specific forms of online deviant behavior, including harassment, insults, the use of the fake names and profiles, social isolation, disclosure of personal information, and threats of physical violence. Key characteristics of personalities with marginal orientation include infantilism, impulsivity, lack of self-control, and imitativeness. These personality traits may contribute to the development of maladaptive behavior.

4. The correlation between the locus of role conflict and forms of online deviant behavior was identified. Individuals with an internalized locus of role conflict are more likely to engage in deviant form of behaviors such as slander and threats of physical violence. These individuals tend to assert their role identity, even when it contradicts societal expectations.

References

- Agosta, L. (2010). *Empathy in the context of philosophy*. Palgrave Macmillan. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230275249</u>
- Alekhin, A. N., & Grekova, A. A. (2019). Peculiarities of Thinking Formation in the Digital Environment. *Clinical Psychology and Special Education*, 8(1), 162–176. (in Russ.).
- Bogdanovich, N. V., & Delibalt, V. V. (2020). Prevention of Deviant Behavior of Children and Adolescents as a Field of Activity of a Psychologist in Educational Institutions. *Psychology and Law*, *10*(2), 1–14. (in Russ.).
- Bogomazova, V. V. (2022). Destructive Communication in the Internet (on the basis of the genre of the Internet comments). *Ivzestia of the Volgograd State Pedagogical University*, 1(164), 225–229. (in Russ.).
- Brykov, N. N. (2023). Dilemmas of Digital Aggression in the Context of Information Ethics. *The Times of Science*, 1, 33–37. (in Russ.).
- Dvoryanchikov, V. N. (2020). Deviant online behavior in adolescent and youth circles: in search of a risk assessment mode. *International Journal of Cognitive Research in Science, Engineering and Education (IJCRSEE)*, 8(2), 105–119.
- Eshelman, R. (2018). Performatism, or the End of Postmodernism. *Anthropoetics*, 2. Luchinkina, A., Zhikhareva, L., & Yudeeva, T. (2020). Cross-border and digital socialization of personality. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 210.
- Fontalova, N. S., Turganova, G. E. (2019). Socio-Psychological Characteristics of People Involved in Network Trolling. *Theoretical and Practical Issues of Journalism*, 1, 179–194. (in Russ.).
- Grebenyuk, A. A. (2020). Socio-Cultural Influence the Internal Characteristics of New Media on The Mentality and Mental Health Modern Person. *Azimuth of Scientific Research: Pedagogy and Psychology*, 1(30), 337–343. (in Russ.).
- Lazouski, A. V. (2020). Methods And Strategies of Provocative Role Behaviour of Text-Based Internet Communication Participants. *Journal of the Belarusian State University*. *Philosophy and Psychology*, 3, 66–77. (in Russ.).
- Luchinkina, A. I., & Luchinkina, I. S. (2019). Characteristics of Communicative Behavior on the Internet Among Adolescents with Different Suicidal Behaviors. *Russian Psychological Journal*, *16*(1), 128–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.21702/rpj.2019.1.6</u> (in Russ.).
- Luchinkina, I. S. (2019). *Psychological features of communicative behavior of an individual in the online space (Cand.Sci. thesis)*. Southern Federal University. (in Russ.).
- Luchinkina, I. S. (2022). Psychological Features of The Digital Behavior of The Individual. *The Herald of South-Ural state Humanities-Pedagogical University*, 6(172), 306–320. (in Russ.).

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

- Luchinkina, I. S., & Fazilova, A. E. (2021). Psychological features of a person with different roleplaying police in the bullying structure. *World of Science. Pedagogy and Psychology*, 4, 54–59. (in Russ.).
- Moor, L., & Anderson, J. R. (2019). A systematic literature review of the relationship between dark personality traits and antisocial online behaviours. *Personality and individual differences*, 144, 40–55.
- Ralnikova, L. A. (2015). Deviant behavior of minors: causes and manifestations. North Caucasian Psychological Bulletin, 13(3), 34–41. EDN ULZAFN
- Rasskazova, E. I., Tkhostov, A. S., Falkovskaia, L. P., Kiseleva, A. L., Kremlev, A. E., Artamonova, E. G. (2019). Psychological indicators of delinquent behavior in adolescents: A potential of the 'Psychological Risk Factors of Deviant Behavior in Adolescents Inventory' for differentiating between adolescents with delinquent behavior, drug addiction and controls. *Psychology in Russia: State of the Art*, *12*(3), 149–162. https://doi.org/10.11621/pir.2019.0311
- Ryabov, M. A., & Bochenkova, N. A. (2021). Social Aspects of The Analysis of Aggressive Network Behavior. *Bulletin of Udmurt University. Sociology. Political Science. International Relations*, 2, 170–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.35634/2587-9030-2021-5-2-170-178</u> (in Russ.).
- Skornyakova A.I. (2022). Actual problems of social and pedagogical activity in the context of work with deviant adolescents. Innovative science: psychology, pedagogy, defectology, 5(4), 52-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.23947/2658-7165-2022-5-4-52-60</u>
- Serkina, S. R., & Yudeeva, T. V. (2023). The Structure of Role Dispositions in Adolescents Prone to Deviant Behavior. *Human Capital*, 9(117), 201–208. (in Russ.).
- Sobkin, V. S., Fedotova, A. V. (2021). Adolescents on social media: Aggression and cyberbullying. *Psychology in Russia: State of the Art*, 14(4), 186–201. <u>https://doi.org/10.11621/</u> <u>pir.2021.0412</u>
- Soldatova, G. U., Rasskazova, E. I., & Chigarkova, S. V. (2020). Types of Cyberaggression: Adolescents and Youth Experience. *National Psychological Journal*, 2(38), 3–20. (in Russ.).
- Soldatova, G. U., Rasskazova, E. I., Chigarkova, S. V. (2020). Digital socialization of adolescents in the Russian Federation: Parental mediation, online risks, and digital competence. *Psychology in Russia: State of the Art*, *13*(4), 191–206. <u>https://doi.org/10.11621/</u> <u>PIR.2020.0413</u>
- Soldatova, G. U., Yarmina, A. N. (2019). Cyberbullying: Features, role structure, parent-child relationships and coping strategies. *National Psychological Journal*, *12*(3), 17–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.11621/npj.2019.0303</u>
- Solomatina, E. N. (2021). The Essence and Forms of Manifestation of Aggressive Behavior in The Internet: Sociological Aspect. *Society: Sociology, Psychology, Pedagogy,* 12, 113–117. (in Russ.).
- Willard, N.E. (2007). From Cyberbullying and Cyberthreats: Responding to the Challenge of Online Social Aggression, Threats, and Distress. *Research Press*, 7, 1–2.
- Yudeeva, T. V. (2022). Motivation Of Destructive Communicative Behavior of Teenagers on Social Media. *International Research Journal*, 2-2(116), 178–182. (in Russ.).
- Zekeryaev, R. I. (2019). The Psychological Characteristics of a User's Virtual Personality and its Types. *Modern Science: Actual Problems of Theory and Practice. Series "Cognition", 1*(88), 31–37. (in Russ.).
- Zhikhareva, L. V., Luchinkina, I. S., & Kolchik, E. Yu. (2021). Features of understanding normative behavior in real and virtual space. *World of Science. Pedagogy and psychology*, 3, 1–9. (in Russ.).
- Zhikhareva, L. V., Luchinkina, I. S., Grebenyuk, A. A., & Luchinkina, A. I. (2022). Deviant Behavior on the Web: Cyberbullying. *Research Result. Pedagogy and Psychology of Education, 8*(4), 115–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.18413/2313-8971-2022-84-0-9</u> (in Russ.).

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Received: 22.04.2024 Revised: 26.05.2024 Accepted: 12.08.2024

Author Contributions

Anzhelika I. Luchinkina developed the overall research design and prepared the text of the article.

Tatyana V. Yudeeva conducted the research and prepared the text of the article.

Liliya V. Zhikhareva prepared the text of the article.

Irina S. Luchinkina prepared the text of the article.

Alexander S. Andreyev prepared the text of the article.

Author Details

Anzhelika I. Luchinkina – Dr. Sci. (Psychology), Associate Professor, First Vice Rector, State Budget Education Institution of Higher Education of the Republic of Crimea Crimean Engineering and Pedagogical University the name of Fevzi Yakubov, Simferopol, Russian Federation; Scopus Author ID: 57221193516, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1687-9649</u>; e-mail: <u>a.luchinkina@kipu-rc.ru</u>

Tatyana V. Yudeeva – Cand. Sci. (Psychology), Dean of the Faculty of Psychology and Pedagogical Education, State Budget Education Institution of Higher Education of the Republic of Crimea Crimean Engineering and Pedagogical University the name of Fevzi Yakubov, Simferopol, Russian Federation; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2823-7379</u>; e-mail: <u>djoma@list.ru</u>

Liliya V. Zhikhareva – Cand. Sci. (Psychology), Associate Professor, Head of the Department of Psychology, State Budget Education Institution of Higher Education of the Republic of Crimea Crimean Engineering and Pedagogical University the name of Fevzi Yakubov, Simferopol, Russian Federation; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7510-2963</u>, e-mail: <u>liliya_80@list.ru</u>

Irina S. Luchinkina – Cand. Sci. (Psychology), Associate Professor, State Budget Education Institution of Higher Education of the Republic of Crimea Crimean Engineering and Pedagogical University the name of Fevzi Yakubov, Simferopol, Russian Federation; Scopus Author ID: 57221203079; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5111-4396; miss_luchinkina@mail.ru</u>

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Alexander S. Andreyev – Dr. Sci. (Psychology), Associate Professor, Professor of the Department of Psychology of the State Budget Education Institution of Higher Education of the Republic of Crimea Crimean Engineering and Pedagogical University the name of Fevzi Yakubov, Simferopol, Russian Federation; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8162-4522</u>

Conflict of Interest Information

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Scientific article UDC 159.929 https://doi.org/10.21702/3k5pk670

Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society

Anna S. Fomina^{1*®}, Pavel V. Vasiliev^{1®}, Anastasia A. Krikunova^{1®}, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev^{1®}, Pavel N. Ermakov^{3®}, Valentina N. Burkova^{2®}, Tatyana S. Serdyuk^{1®}, Alexey M. Ermakov^{1®}

¹ Don State Technical University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation
 ² Miklukho-Maklay Institute of Ethnology and Anthropology of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Moscow, Russian Federation
 ³ Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation

*Corresponding author: <u>a_bogun@mail.ru</u>

Abstract

The relationship between a dog and a person as a predictor of the occurrence of behavioral disorders. Currently, the issue of problematic behavior of companion dogs is becoming particularly relevant. The most important reason for the insufficient adaptation and socialization of dogs in society, ineffective training, and a decrease in the quality of life of animals is the lack of a scientifically based concept for identifying the causes of behavioral disorders and their elimination. It is noted that it is necessary to study early socialization, the formation of the type of attachment between the dog and the owner as a predictor of possible anxious or aggressive behavior. The purpose of the study. The study of behavioral disorders in domestic companion dogs. The article provides an analysis of 132 modern studies on various aspects of problematic behavior. The occurrence and impact of behavioral disorders in dogs. There is a correlation between aggressive and anxious behavior of dogs with the type of attachment and the way of communication with the owner. The neuroticism of the owner and the avoidant type of attachment are one of the key factors in the formation of behavioral signs of anxiety in a dog. For animals with anxiety disorders, a decrease in life expectancy, an increase in the frequency of aggressive manifestations, and a violation of communication with the owner are shown, which ultimately leads to a decrease in the quality of life in the "ownerdog" dyad. Identification of behavioral problems in dogs. Biochemical methods for

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024 GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

the diagnosis of behavioral disorders are based on the analysis of the concentration of serotonin, cortisol, oxytocin and dopamine in biological fluids and dog hair. Physiological methods of diagnosing behavioral disorders are based on the assessment of ECG and thermometry. Surveys of dog owners and instrumental and behavioral test samples are also used.

Keywords

companion dog, problematic behavior, anxiety of dogs, aggressiveness of dogs, behavioral problems of dogs, identification of behavioral problems, zoopsychology

Funding

The research was carried out at the expense of a grant from the Russian Science Foundation No. 24-28-01561, <u>https://rscf.ru/project/24-28-01561/</u>

For citation

Fomina, A. S., Vasiliev, P. V., Krikunova, A. A., Krakhmalev, T. K., Ermakov, P. N., Burkova, V. N., Serdyuk T.S., Ermakov, A.M. (2024). Problematic behavior of companion dogs: significant for humans, significant for society. *Russian Psychological Journal, 21*(4), 45–78. https://doi.org/10.21702/3k5pk670

Introduction

Behavioral difficulties in pets, their causes, assessment of well-being and prediction of animal behavior are important problems for humans and society that are relevant in modern research. The complexity of assessing the welfare of pets is determined by the context of human and animal life and interaction, the possibility of its changes and response to social and cultural norms.

Consideration of these factors – primarily aggressive and impulsive behavior – is necessary both to assess the possibility of transferring a dog to a family and to predict the possibility of animal abandonment, disruptive behavior, etc.

Determining the level of well-being of companion pets in research is considered as a complex multifactorial interdisciplinary task. Since the behavior of pets, their level of adaptability and attitude towards them is a direct marker of the level of well-being (human welfare & animal welfare), the increase in the number of news about dog attacks on people may be a sign of destabilization of society. In the Russian Federation, more than 330000 human dog bites are registered annually, and the percentage of bites by domestic dogs prevails. An uncontrolled aggressive dog poses one of the biggest threats from animals in urban agglomerations. This aspect of behavior is especially relevant for GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

human-dog interaction, since it is aimed at maintaining social contacts. The development of approaches to the assessment and prediction of behavioral problems of dogs and their impact on human well-being, taking into account the social context, is a problem that needs to be solved as soon as possible.

In addition to studying behavioral disorders, research is devoted to modeling various psychopathologies and neurodegenerative diseases (Zhu et al., 2019; Zhvania et al., 2021; Zwierzyńska, Pietrzak; 2024). Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease, schizophrenia, and cognitive impairment in aging are most often modeled (Zurkovsky et al., 2013; Zugno et al., 2014, 2017; Zurawek et al., 2018; Zhvania et al., 2021; Zuo et al., 2023). A large layer of developments is associated with the use of rodents as models of various behavioral and cognitive disorders. The knockout model of the gamma-aminobutyric acid transporter gene of subtype 1 (GAT1) (ko) (gat1-/-) in mice shows impaired memory, attention, coordination of movements and increased impulsivity (Yang et al., 2013). Major reviews provide a comprehensive analysis of the possibility of using animals in modeling ADHD-like disorders (Lee, Yoon, 2023; Kim et al., 2024).

In addition to the study of behavioral disorders themselves, a considerable amount of research is devoted to the animal model development of various psychopathologies. A large stratum of research is related to the use of rodents as animal models of behavioral and cognitive disorders, including attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. It should be taken into account that for rodents, these disorders occur only in a simulation situation, and not under conditions of natural behavior. Most often, animal model of single disorder is reconstructed, which does not allow analyzing the comorbidity of the complex disorders. This kind of model does not allow direct extrapolation of the obtained data for the humans. Consequently, more and more research is devoted to modeling phenotype of the behavioral, cognitive, and neurochemical correlates of human psychopathologies in a pet dog model (Bunford et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2023). In both humans and dogs, a high level of arousal is associated with a violation of top-down cognitive control, which mediates the occurrence of anxiety (Chen et al., 2023).

The purpose and article's methodology

The purpose of this review is to summarize information related to the causes and consequences of behavior disorders in domestic dogs (*Canis familiaris* L.), as well as their physiological and neurochemical mechanisms. Almost 130 articles submitted to Pubmed, Crossref, and Google Scholar databases have been analyzed. The selection of articles was carried out for sources published between 2000 and 2024. Full-text scientific articles published in English were selected. The keywords for the selection were determined on the basis of the most commonly used scientific terms in the developments known to the authors of this article: impulsivity, anxiety, aggression, cognitive learning, behavioral disorders, companion dog, cortisol, oxytocin, vasopressin, etc. During the initial selection, 221 sources were selected. After excluding articles with an unavailable full-text version

that did not meet the objectives of the analysis, 130 articles were selected. The inclusion of the article in the analysis was carried out because of the expertise of at least two authors of the article. As a main result of the analysis, possible methods are presented to investigate the physiological correlates of behavioral disorders in dogs.

The dog-human relationship as a predictor of behavioral disorders

The uniqueness of the domestic dog lies in the adaptation of its psychological processes (because of domestication) primarily for the establishment of strong and effective communication with humans (Topál et al., 2009; Bunford et al., 2019. Dreschel, 2010). This is a fundamental difference between dogs and wolves as their closest relatives. First, wolves' behavior focuses on in-group interactions between conspecifics (Marshall-Pescini et al., 2015), whereas dogs focus on interactions with their owners. At the same time, when analyzing the behavior of dogs, it is necessary to distinguish between problematic behavior associated with the manifestation of anxiety or aggression, and undesirable behavior. Undesirable behavior is the natural behavior of a dog that is unpleasant to the owner (Boyd et al., 2018; Kimura et al., 2022; Miller et al., 2022).

The unique behavior of domestic dogs, their acquisition of social interaction skills and adaptation to humans (e.g., staring, gesturing, and certain behaviors), is to some extent regulated by the endocrine system, in particular glucocorticoids and oxytocin (Thielke & Udell, 2017; Kikusui et al., 2019). In a number of studies, reliable evidence for a specific attachment style between humans and dogs, based primarily on social interaction and life experience, is the change in oxytocin concentrations in bodily fluids (Nagasawa et al., 2015; Thielke & Udell, 2017; Wirobski et al., 2021). Wirobski et al. (2021) showed a positive correlation of oxytocin concentration in the urine of domestic dogs after physical contact with the owner, but none in domesticated wolves.

A study by Nagasawa et al. (2015) found an increase in oxytocin concentration in owners' urine after staring at a dog. This, in turn, correlates to an increase in the concentration of oxytocin in the dog's urine (Nagasawa et al., 2015). In addition, even for socialized wolves, interaction with humans through the exchange of stares is not shown to decrease performance on cognitive tests (Miklósi et al., 2003; Bentosela et al., 2016). This proves the existence of a positive feedback relationship between species and may be one of the mechanisms of coevolution between humans and dogs. It is also assumed that this mechanism works as a way of forming social attachment (Miklósi et al., 2003; Nagasawa et al., 2015; Bentosela et al., 2016)., separation anxiety (Tilke, Udell, 2017) and regulation of social behavior (Keys et al., 2017; Banford et al., 2019).

Due to the presence of high emotional attachment between humans and animals, as well as complex social interaction, it is likely that the probability of behavior disorders (not only ADHD behavior) in a dog is related to the characteristics of the psychological profile of the owner. According to the work of Gobbo E, Zupan M. (2020), aggressive

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

behavior toward humans correlated with low sociability of the animal, and high levels of neuroticism of their owners. Human neuroticism, as an analogue of insecurity in dogs, correlated with anxiety and restlessness (Salonen et al., 2022). Fearfulness, as a personality trait, on the other hand, has been closely correlated with sensitivity to noise (Tiira et al., 2016; Salonen et al., 2022).

The occurrence of separation anxiety is also determined by the relationship between the owner and the dog. An avoidant attachment style, in which the owner does not provide the dog with an appropriate level of attention to its basic needs, leads to an increase in the animal's neuroticism and the emergence of separation anxiety. Hence, the key factor, according to the authors, is not the owner's neuroticism, but the avoidant attachment style (Konok et al., 2015). In addition, avoidant attachment style may be the cause of the dog's aggressive behavior already towards the owner (Gobbo, Zupan, 2020). The importance of separation as a stressor is evidenced by a smaller increase in a dog's heart rate during contact with a dangerous stranger in the presence of the owner compared to separation and loneliness (Gácsi et al., 2013).

Dogs of emotionally unstable owners are characterized by a high frequency of manifestations of signs of separation anxiety, fear of a stranger. The main reason for this is the lack of socialization of dogs. Owners with an increased level of anxiety and neuroticism limit the socialization of the dog, reducing the possibility of obtaining new information and contributing to an increase in the frequency of aggressive behavior (including towards the owner himself). Another factor of the owner's influence on behavioral problems of dogs, is the use of aversive or confrontational training methods associated with, among other things, negative reinforcement (Dodman et al., 2018). As a result, the dog has a low level of socialization, a weak connection with the owner is formed, which leads to a lack of understanding of commands, incorrect behavior from the point of view of the owner and an increase in stress levels. If the owner does not specify the requirements and does not allow the dog to adapt to the situation, this leads to increased stress in the dog and aggravation of undesirable behavior (Miller et al., 2022).

Based on Ainsworth's classification system, Solomon J. et al. (2019) identified four main patterns of dog-owner attachment.

- Secure: finding and initiating contact, striving to get closer to the owner, maintaining contact for at least 10 seconds. The dog actively interacts with the owner after separation.
- Avoidant: the dog's lack of desire for contact and interaction, refusal to invite owner to play, lack of search for the owner when parting for at least 30 seconds.
- Ambivalent: the mismatch of the actions of the dog and the owner to maintain contact, the owner's misunderstanding of the dog's current motivation; physical contact is accompanied by significant efforts on the part of the dog.
- Disorganized: violation of the search for contact and interaction, avoidance or resistance to the interaction of the dog and the owner when initiating human contact.

An increase in owner attentiveness to the pet led to a decrease in the likelihood of aggressive or hyperactive behavior (Solomon et al., 2019). In turn, in the classic strange situation test, less aggressive dogs showed greater attention and attachment to their owner compared to dogs that avoided such contact and exhibited aggressive behavior (Riggio et al., 2020). In addition, a modified strange situation test revealed that dogs with a secure attachment type sought to initiate contact with their owner while solving the test; whereas, dogs with an avoidant attachment type did not attempt to initiate contact (Riggio et al., 2020). Therefore, the owner-dog relationship is identified in many studies with the parent-child position (Konok et al., 2015; Dodman et al., 2018; Solomon et al., 2019; Riggio et al., 2020 et al.)

Dysfunctional relationships between dogs and owners, which are usually detected already at the stage of occurrence of behavioral problems (primarily anxiety and aggression), will have negative consequences for both sides. In particular, in dysfunctional dyads, owners are more likely to report injuries of various origins to their dogs. Therefore, timely provision of medical care and a safe lifestyle by the owner of the dog are considered as a sign of a functional dyad (Canejo-Teixeira et al., 2019).

Non-medicinal causes of behavioral disorders in dogs living in families

Because of the special role of companion animals in modern life, the stress factor takes on a special role in assessing the prediction of behavioral problems. In addition to the classical and most obvious markers of well-being, which include health status, longevity, growth traits, occupational manifestations, etc. (Sonntag, Overall, 2014), behavioral markers play an important role, primarily the presence of fears, anxiety, and impulsive behavior. Any behavioral markers can be classified as unwanted for the owner (but normal for the animals), and are a sign of true behavior disorders (Sonntag, Overall, 2014). The manifestations of such disorders can range from mild to disabling, leading to euthanasia or owner abandonment of the animal (Masson, Gaultier, 2018).

The simultaneous accounting of fear and aggression in dogs is due to a similar neurochemical and physiological nature with different behavioral manifestations (Hydbring-Sandberg et al., 2004; Gobbo, Zupan Šemrov, 2021; Mikkola et al., 2021). Fear is regarded as one of the most common reasons for aggressive behavior in dogs, even though owners may not interpret aggression as fear (Tiira, Lohi, 2014; Tiira et al., 2016). Furthermore, it is for fear that fear has been shown to have the strongest comorbidity with aggressive behaviors, lack of early socialization, and aging (Tiira et al., 2016; Mikkola et al., 2021).

As a basic emotion that determines an organism's survival, fear can become a pathological character trait when present for a long time (Tiira et al., 2016; Hakanen et al., 2020). Fear associated with various stimuli has been shown to be closely related to neuroticism (also called indecision) in dogs (Salonen et al., 2022). Moreover, the manifestation and degree of indecision in dogs is directly influenced by his or her

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

interaction style with the owner (Dodman et al., 2018). Another factor influencing the owner's behavioral problems of dogs is the use of aversive or confrontational training methods, including those associated with negative reinforcement (Dodman et al., 2018). Most often in this situation, the authors noted aggression toward the owner and strangers, compulsive barking, separation anxiety, and urination and defecation in the house.

The initial stage of socialization has a significant impact on the development of the voluntary attention system in dogs. A common behavioral problem is social fear - fear of strangers or dogs (Puurunen et al., 2020). The basis for social fear, according to the authors, is insufficient socialization at an early age; in addition, a significant correlation with small body size and castration has been shown. Non-social fear is characteristic of dogs deprived of sufficient socialization in puppyhood, socialization with kin, and adequate training (Hakanen et al., 2020).

In addition, signs of ADHD behavior were more pronounced in male dogs, young dogs, and medium-sized dogs; lack of training and prolonged exposure to loneliness were also risk factors (Sulkama et al., 2021). ADHD behavior in dogs was significantly influenced by training (trained dogs were less likely to exhibit behavioral disorders due to developed self-control skills) and age (as older animals generally experience a decrease in motor activity) (Vas et al., 2007; Sontag et al., 2010).

Similar data are presented in Foraita M, et al (2021), where early quality socialization, good housing conditions, human contact, training and the presence of stress are noted as key factors in the development of attention. Solvable tasks and mild stress have a positive effect on attention functions, while insurmountable difficulties and severe stress have a negative effect. However, the effect of prior training was not a reduction in the number of erroneous responses, but a shortening of reaction time, which, according to the authors, was a reflection of response confidence and focus on human interaction (Bunford et al., 2019).

The causes of behavioral disorders in dogs

In the current literature, there is an evidence that 72-85% of dogs living in families have some kind of behavioral disorder (Salonen et al., 2020; Powell et al., 2021). These behaviors may be normal but undesirable to the host, or they may actually represent a behavioral pathology. Drastically negative impact on both dog and owner quality of life lead to the importance of investigating and correcting such behaviors in pets (Masson, Gaultier, 2018; Bleuer-Elsner et al., 2019 Fux et al., 2021; Mikkola et al., 2021). Those problems include aggressive and disruptive behavior, impulsivity, hyperactivity, separation anxiety, excessive barking, etc. (Lit et al., 2010; Mikkola et al., 2021). Many studies repeatedly cite behavior disorders as a reason for refusing to further keep of an animal, placing dogs in a shelter, and/or euthanizing it (Vas et al., 2007; Masson, Gaultier, 2018; Bunford et al., 2019; Salonen et al., 2020; Fux et al., 2021; Mikkola et al., 2021; Powell et al., 2021; etc.). As a result, there is an increase in the number of stray dogs due to the rejection of maladjusted pets (having an increased level of anxiety and aggression).

According to Dinwoodie I. R. et al. (2019), 85% of dogs (data based on the analysis from at least 17 countries) have some kind of behavioral problem, with 44% of these disorders being related to fear and/or anxiety. The second most common problem (30%) is aggressive behavior (Dinwoodie et al., 2019). The incidence of ADHD behavior in domestic dogs is also quite high, ranging from 12% to 34%, according to various data (Fux et al., 2021; Salonen et al., 2021). According to Salonen et al. (2021), on average, 20% of dogs have clear attention deficits and 15% have hyperactivity/impulsivity. According to K. Tiira et al (2016), general fearfulness is characteristic for 26.2% of dogs, noise sensitivity for 39.2%, and separation anxiety for 17.2%. Similar data are presented in the study of Dinwoodie I. R. et al. (2019).

The literature suggests common physiological mechanisms of human and canine ADHD. Similar to humans, ADHD in dogs is the result of disfunctional interaction between the frontal cortex and striatum (Winstanley et al., 2006; Genro et al., 2010; Sontag et al., 2010), as well as disruption in interactions between mesocortical and mesolimbic regions (Sonuga-Barke, 2003; Oades et al., 2005). These interactions are mediated by dopaminergic, serotoninergic (Oades, 2008) and noradrenergic systems (Oades et al., 2005). Therefore, it has been suggested that functional disorders of the aforementioned mediator systems play a major role in the development of the disease (Oades et al., 2005; Russell, 2007; van der Kooij, Glennon, 2007; Sontag et al., 2010).

In a study by Chen et al. (2023) a violation of the formation of the brain connectome in anxious dogs has been shown, which leads to a decrease in the level of motor control, deterioration of learning ability and adaptability.

A key aspect is the possible similarity of the molecular and neurobiological mechanisms of this disorder in both dogs and humans (Puurunen et al., 2016). For dogs, horses, and chimpanzees, a tandem repeat polymorphism of the DRD4 gene in exon 3 of the dopamine receptor D4 gene, which is thought to be associated with ADHD, has been identified similar to humans (Hejjas et al., 2007). Specifically, German Shepherds and Siberian Huskies that exhibit ADHD phenotype (especially impulsivity and lack of attention) have been shown to be characterized by short alleles of the dopamine receptor D4 (DRD4) exon 3 and tyrosine hydroxylase intron 4 repeat polymorphisms (Wan et al., 2013). This fact is the basis for the use of drugs that affect the function of the dopamine transporter in ADHD (Fernandez et al., 2021).

One possible approach to uncovering the biological pathways of ADHD is to use animal models, such as dogs, that spontaneously exhibit ADHD-like behaviors such as hyperactivity, impulsivity, and inattention (Lit et al., 2010; Wright et al., 2012; Puurunen et al., 2016). These behavioral disorders are phenotypically similar to a number of psychopathologies in humans, which may be an indication of homology of biological mechanisms of such disorders in dogs and humans. (Lit et al., 2010). In addition, behavior consistent with psychopathological disorders in dogs is spontaneous in dogs, whereas in standard laboratory animals it is usually induced (Salonen et al., 2022). Consequently, the domestic dog is a suitable model for investigating the mechanisms underlying mental disorders in humans (Lit et al., 2010; Salonen et al., 2022).

Vitamin D deficiency may also be a factor provoking behavioral disorders. This is due to its ability to regulate brain development in early ontogenesis, the formation of synaptic plasticity, neuroprotection, and the dopaminergic neuronal system (Bivona et al., 2019; Gáll, Székely, 2021). In addition, vitamin D deficiency is associated with impaired regulation of dopamine and serotonin neurotransmission (Gáll, Székely, 2021). Early vitamin D deficiency is a contributing factor to impulsivity and decreased inhibitory control (Turner et al., 2013).

The disruption of the sleep-wake cycle that leads to disruptions in serotonergic, dopaminergic, and noradrenergic systems (Mogavero et al., 2018) and synaptic homeostasis (Frank, 2020) is another important factor in behavioral disorders in dogs, particularly in ADHD behavior and violent aggression attacks.

Chronic pain is a separate and important factor (Mills et al., 2020), and new behavioral problems may arise, reinforce or exacerbate existing problems. Aggressive behavior and sensitivity to noise are the most common due to chronic pain (Lopes Fagundes et al., 2018; Mills et al., 2020), which is associated with higher levels of anxiety in the animal (Mills et al., 2020).

The Covid-19 pandemic contributed to the exacerbation of behavioral disorders in dogs. For owners, keeping an animal in the house in forced isolation seemed to reduce stress (Bowen et al., 2020; Grajfoner et al., 2021). However, the unfavorable social environment, limited walks and lack of access to veterinary care have led to a sharp increase in tension, aggression and fear in animal behavior, exacerbating existing problems and creating new ones (Bowen et al., 2020; Parente et al., 2021).

However, it is important to keep in mind that it is not uncommon to underestimate the severity of behavioral problems and their causes, or to misinterpret them, due to lack of knowledge about the possibility of such situations and the signs of behavioral disorders (Mikkola et al., 2021; Powell et al., 2021). Competent analysis and interpretation of the causes and consequences of behavioral problems in dogs will allow the owner to recognize problems, identify contributing factors and take corrective actions timely.

Using owner questionnaires to identify behavioral problems in dogs

The questionnaires for dog behavior assessment by their owners can be adapted versions of similar methods for assessing ADHD in children. Undoubted advantages of using specialized and adapted questionnaires are the possibility of obtaining quick results - also with large groups of animals under study - as well as good owner awareness of the behavioral features of the dog and a positive attitude towards this kind of testing (Vas et al., 2007). The validity of behavioral testing of dogs and owner interviews is determined in several ways: the repeatability of the result after a certain period of time, the comparison of the result obtained with a known benchmark, and the ability to compare the result of

the questionnaire and the behavioral tasks (Tiira, Lohi, 2014). In particular, the owner's responses to the questionnaire regarding fear of noise, a persistent response of the dog that changes with age, correlated significantly with behavioral parameters in the animal's response to the appearance of a stranger and interaction with him (Tiira, Lohi, 2014).

In Segurson S. A. et al (2005), based on a questionnaire aimed at identifying reasons for abandoning and placing a dog in a shelter, revealed a curious effect of the ability to make test results public on their validity. The key questions in the analysis were the presence of aggression or fear of a stranger. The prospect of publicly releasing the test results – including for further dog placement – significantly reduced the likelihood of detecting signs of aggressive behavior or fear of a stranger or other dog, as well as impaired social adjustment and separation from the owner.

Vas J. et al (2007) presented a 13-item questionnaire based on a similar one for children to assess ADHD-like behavior in domestic dogs. The questionnaire allows analyzing the development of attention-holding skills, impulsivity and motor activity in attention, impulsivity and motor activity in domestic dogs.

In a large series of studies (over 13000 dog) (Tiira, Lohi, 2014; Puurunen et al., 2016, 2020, Tiira et al., 2016; Hakanen et al., 2020; Junttila et al., 2021; Mikkola et al., 2021; Salonen et al., 2020, 2021, 2022) a survey test was developed and validated to analyze a set of behavioral problems. These include ADHD behavior (inattention/impulsivity, aggression, anxiety, social and non-social anxiety, noise sensitivity, separation anxiety and compulsive behavior. In addition, a separate section of the questionnaire is devoted to an analysis of the dog's early socialization and current circumstances.

That series of studies described a high comorbidity of behavioral disorders. In a study by Salonen et al (2021), based on an analysis of questionnaires administered to Finnish dog owners regarding the frequency of some signs of ADHD behavior (as well as aggression, anxiety, noise sensitivity, separation anxiety and several others), it was found that in 32% of cases the probability of behavioral disturbances correlated with high sensitivity to noise. The highest comorbidity was shown between hyperactivity/inattention, separation anxiety, fear and aggression behaviors and separation compulsion, and between fear and aggression. High comorbidity has been shown for fearfulness and aggressive behavior: aggressive dogs were more than three times more likely to be fearful than non-aggressive dogs (Salonen et al., 2020). Sulkama et al (2021) reported similar results: high levels of hyperactivity/impulsivity were accompanied by high levels of aggressive fearfulness and inattention.

In general, according to the authors, fear and sensitivity to noise are the most important concomitant disorder in dogs exhibiting behavior. In particular, when separation anxiety was detected, signs of ADHD behavior were 4.1 times more frequent, inattention was 3.4 times more frequent, and fear was 2.8 times more frequent than in dogs without separation anxiety. The gender of the animal also appeared to be an influencing factor. Aggression and hyperactivity/impulsivity were more frequently detected for males, while

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

fearfulness was predominant for females. The likelihood of aggressive behavior increased with age - older dogs were more aggressive than younger dogs (which may be related to the presence of chronic pain) (Mikkola et al., 2021).

In terms of breed differences, the most pronounced traits on the hyperactivity/ impulsivity index were shown for the Cairn Terrier, Jack Russell Terrier, German Shepherd, and Staffordshire Terrier, while the least pronounced were shown for the Chinese Crested Dog, the Hardy Collie, and the Chihuahua (Sulkama et al., 2021).

A number of personality traits such as neuroticism for example can be a precursor to behavioral and psychopathological problems in dogs. Salonen M. et al (2022) correlated seven personality traits with ten undesirable behaviours, based on the analysis of questionnaire data from 1,360 dog owners. It is noteworthy that a trait similar to neuroticism in humans was positively correlated with the majority of undesirable behaviors extracted.

The use of the described questionnaires for owners of dogs exhibiting ADHD symptoms has the significant disadvantage of subjectivity of the information obtained, as well as the owner's initial misjudgment of the animal's behavior. This implies a distortion of the actual results (Bleuer-Elsner et al., 2019; Fux et al., 2021); consequently, such questionnaires are often not applicable in clinical practice. In a study by Lit L. et al. (2010), when evaluating the validity of a modified test aimed at assessing ADHD in humans, validity was found only for the inattention and hyperactivity/impulsivity scales.

Instrumental and behavioral tests

Impulsivity as a typical trait closely related to human and animal ADHD (Sulkama et al, 2021) manifests as the ability to act without first assessing the situation (Oades, 2008), and the inability to suppress ineffective behavior (Junttila et al, 2021). Two main manifestations are suggested for impulsivity: impulsive action (inability to suppress unproductive, unwanted action) and impulsive choice. The former is more common in male dogs and the latter in females (Winstanley et al., 2006; Wright et al., 2011; Weafer, de Wit, 2014; Junttila et al., 2021). In humans, excessive motor activity and inability to concentrate for a long time are considered key manifestations of impulsivity, whereas in dogs – inattention, impulsivity and aggression (Vas et al., 2007; Bleuer-Elsner et al., 2019; Bunford et al., 2019).

Impulsivity is based on deficits in inhibitory control and inhibition of behaviors. It has been argued that in dogs, impulsivity is inherited and is a predictor of behavioral problems, including aggression (Mongillo et al., 2019; Junttila et al., 2021). In addition, so-called cognitive impulsivity in dogs, which is associated with the choice of immediate or delayed rewards, does not change as they mature (Riemer et al., 2014). Because behavioral inhibition deficits are a key risk factors for psychiatric disorders of various genesis (Bunford et al., 2019), an assessment of inhibitory control must come to the forefront when assessing the nature of behavior problem. Inhibitory control is a cognitive skill that has been extensively studied in humans and other animals. It is defined as the

ability to inhibit immediate, ineffective behavior in favor of more beneficial behavior. In contrast, a lack of inhibitory control - impulsivity - is often seen as a tendency to act prematurely, without forethought or consideration of consequences (Junttila et al., 2021).

The literature considers three interrelated phenomena as behavioral manifestations of inhibitory control: suppression of the primary reaction to an event, halting the current action and lengthening the decision-making time, and interference tolerance as a lack of reactions to external stimuli (Bunford et al., 2019). Animals with good inhibitory control exhibit high interference tolerance, whereas those with poor control are easily distracted from the task by external stimuli and extraneous actions (Müller et al., 2016).

For animal's behavior tests in laboratory, impulsivity can be measured using computerized tests aimed at assessing behavioral paradigms. Such testing can be based on both an assessment of the likelihood of premature response, the difficulty of inhibiting unwanted actions, and the lack of consideration of the possibility of multiple correct response options (Dalley, Roiser, 2012). In addition, a good method of assessing inhibitory control in dogs is the cylinder test, in which the dog must bypass a transparent barrier (cylinder) rather than reaching across it to receive a reward (Junttila et al., 2021). Inhibitory control is better represented in females, hence, they perform target tests more efficiently; in addition, females are more attuned to interacting with humans during complex tasks (Junttila et al., 2021). This is especially important in view of the opinion that dogs do not transfer the existing experience of a complex task to similar ones, but rather perceive them as new situations (Müller et al., 2016).

When evaluating ways analyze indicators of behavior disorders, we were able to find several studies in which the probability of impulsive choice is assessed using delayed discounting tasks. This test trial is regarded as the most valuable for measuring the probability of impulsive choice (Winstanley et al., 2006) and involves choosing between receiving a small reward after a short time interval and a more substantial reward after a longer time interval. These studies have unequivocally found that for both humans and animals in behavioral disorders there is a choice of immediate minor reinforcement and rarely a choice of major delayed rewards (Winstanley et al., 2006; Dalley, Roiser, 2012 Sjoberg et al., 2021). The probability of choosing immediate reinforcement is an indicator of impulsivity (Sjoberg et al., 2021). It has also been shown that for animals no effect of the inter-stimulus interval on the choice of options in the delayed reward test has been shown (Sjoberg et al., 2021), whereas for humans a significant effect of the length of the inter-stimulus interval on the probability of choice has been shown (Sjoberg et al., 2021). The results of The Dog Impulsivity Assessment Scale (DIAS) owner test and behavioral tests related to delayed or immediate reward choice were closely correlated with each other, allowing these research methods to be used together (Riemer et al., 2014).

In dogs, an increase in the number of erroneous reactions in the Go/No-Go test is regarded as a correlate of hyperactivity and/or impulsivity (Bunford et al., 2019). At the same time, sufficient cognitive inhibition has not been shown for dogs as a delayed GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

reward ability (Bunford et al., 2019). A method for assessing behavioral stability is the stability of solving tasks involving behavioral inhibition; however, these test trials have been developed and applied only to children. For animals, the authors (Tiira, Lohi, 2014) have not found similar studies.

A common and rather significant disadvantage of survey and behavioral analysis methods in dogs is the lack of validity, repeatability and objectivity of these techniques, as well as the great influence of the testing environment and the promising publicity of the results. Specifically, owners compared to abandoned dogs; and based on the Canine Behavioral Assessment and Research Questionnaire (C-BARQ) scale results rated behavioral problems in dogs living at home more loyally, behavior disorders were present in both cases. Consequently, abandoned dog owners tended to provide more accurate information (Powell et al., 2021). This may be due to both an underestimation of the complexity of the situation and a reluctance to publicly voice problems.

At the same time, it is the behavioral tests that allow obtaining objective results of behavior in the natural environment due to the absence of exogenous interferences (Gobbo, Zupan, Šemrov, 2021) A common disadvantage of behavioral tests is the possibility to record and analyze short fragments of activity in strictly defined, standardized situations (Magula et al., 2019).

A series of papers (Bleuer-Elsner et al., 2019; Fux et al., 2021) have proposed a method for the automatic tracking and video recording of a dog's voluntary movements in consultation with a veterinarian or zoopsychologist. The hypothesis of the study is the presence of specific motor patterns in dogs with ADHD behavior, which can be recorded and analyzed by applying specialized algorithms based on machine learning. This cycle of work proposes 12 main indicators of motor activity, of which the key ones are high movement speed, large coverage of space and constant changes in the direction of movement. Notably, these indicators showed no correlation with the gender, weight, breed, or castration of the animal (Bleuer-Elsner et al., 2019). According to the authors, the differences in movement patterns between healthy dogs and dogs with ADHD behavior averaged 81% (Fux et al., 2021).

A dog's movement patterns are seen as a reflection of its behavioral traits (Bleuer-Elsner et al., 2019; Fux et al., 2021), whereas sonic behaviors (barking, growling, howling) are seen as markers of emotional states (Faragó et al., 2014; Pongrácz, 2017; Kim et al., 2018; Jégh-Czinege et al., 2020). The integrated assessment of movements and vocalizations allows objective results of behavior in the natural environment due to the absence of exogenous disturbances (Gobbo, Zupan Šemrov, 2021).

Based on the literature, this confirms the identified correlation of ADHD behavior with increased intensity of motor activity, lack of response to stop cues, and low sensory homeostasis threshold (Bleuer-Elsner et al., 2019). The high frequency of change of direction was also associated with inattentiveness of the animal and an increased response to mild stimuli.

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024 GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Application of biochemical and physiological parameters

Comprehensive analysis of behavioral, physiological and biochemical indicators will allow a more correct assessment of animal behavior, the causes of adverse reactions, as well as to predict further developments. Due to the need to address this problem, we analyzed the literature regarding the use of a number of objective methods for assessing behavioral and physiological markers. Both methods used for animals and methods for humans, which with proper adaptation could be applicable for animals or become a promising method, were analyzed. The analysis of physiological and biochemical parameters is necessary to obtain a complete picture of the reaction to undesirable behavior in real time.

Biochemical indicators of behavioral disorders

A study by Puurunen J. et al. (2016) proposed the study of metabolites contained in blood plasma by liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry as an objective method for studying ADHD behavior in German shepherds. This revealed a negative correlation of ADHD behavior with the plasma concentration of phospholipids and the tryptophan metabolite, 3-indolepropionic acid; a positive correlation, however, was found for another tryptophan metabolite, kynurenic acid. More intense ADHD-like behavior was associated with decreased plasma phospholipid levels but increased fatty acid content. In total, the authors suggest 27 tryptophan and phospholipid metabolites as possible markers of ADHD-like behavior that correlate with attention deficits and/or impulsivity (Puurunen et al., 2016). Lower cholesterol and bilirubin concentrations, as well as low levels of omega-3 fatty acids, may also influence the increase in aggressive behaviors (Re et al., 2007).

Impulsivity in domestic dogs was assessed by owner surveys, the Impulsivity Assessment Scale (DIAS), a delayed reward test, and urine dopamine and serotonin concentrations (Wright et al., 2011, 2012). High impulsivity scores on the behavioral and questionnaire tests correlated with low serotonin concentration and low serotonin/ dopamine ratios. Low levels and poor regulation of serotonin and dopamine are associated with disruptive and/or aggressive behaviors exhibited by ADHD in dogs (Fux et al., 2021).

High levels of anxiety correlated with an increase in cortisol and serotonin concentrations in saliva, whereas aggressive behavior correlated with a decrease. This, according to the authors, can be explained by the fact that an increase in cortisol levels reflects emotional arousal, while a decrease in serotonin reflects a fear response (Gobbo, Zupan Šemrov, 2021). Similar data were shown in the work of M. León et al. (2012), where the analysis of serotonin concentration in serum, blood plasma and platelets also revealed an inverse correlation between the activity of the serotonergic system and the level of aggression in dogs (serotonin concentration was significantly lower in aggressive dogs).

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

An indirect method of measuring fear of noise exposure is an increase in cortisol in the hair (Siniscalchi et al., 2013, Roth et al., 2016). Social contact with humans correlated with decreased cortisol concentrations in the hair, reflecting reduced stress levels (Roth et al., 2016). Consequently, cortisol levels in the hair reflect a dog's chronic state of emotional reactivity or temperament (Siniscalchi et al., 2013). In addition, the rate of change in cortisol concentration in saliva correlated with a dog's attachment to its owner: dogs with high levels of attachment had a higher rate of change in this index than disorganized dogs (Schöberl et al., 2014).

Attempts to correct aggression by applying intranasal oxytocin modulated not so much behavioral disorders (where no significant difference was shown compared to placebo) (Hernádi et al., 2015), but rather an increase in social interaction with humans (Romero et al., 2014; Hernádi et al., 2015). In addition, the effect of oxytocin was influenced by the relationship with humans and the dog's individual level of aggression (Hernádi et al., 2015).

Similar data were obtained when attempting to correct aggressive behavior in shelter dogs by consuming olive oil containing 5% cannabidiol. Pure olive oil was used as a control to assess the severity of the placebo effect. As a result, although there was a decrease in aggression toward humans in dogs that took cannabidiol, there were no significant differences compared to the control group. Also cannabidiol had no significant effect on the manifestation of stress (Corsetti. Et al., 2021).

Increased oxytocin concentrations in saliva and plasma after human contact (MacLean et al., 2017). this effect in saliva appears with a significant delay (at least 10 minutes) compared to plasma, and persisted longer. In addition, saliva intake does not lead to increased stress levels and pain effects, and is not contaminated by interferences similar to plasma. In addition, saliva contains oxytocin in the free state, whereas plasma contains it in the bound state, which is more difficult to detect with the test systems used in these studies.

Physiological indicators of behavioral disorders

The importance of considering autonomic regulation indices when assessing behavioral disorders in animals is also related to the available data on the correlation of cardiac cycle indices and the ability to regulate activity (Staton et al., 2009; Wickramasuriya, Faghih, 2019; Adelhofer et al., 2020; Al et al., 2020). Cardiac cycle metrics and central regulation are linked by intercorrelated relationships, and are a source of information about attention (Cuevas, Bell, 2011). From this perspective, accounting for the physiological correlates of the psychoemotional state of animals as well as the activity performed allows for a more accurate assessment of the degree of adaptation to the current situation (Luque-Casado et al., 2016; Fan et al., 2020).

The most sensitive indicator is heart rate variability (HRV) (Maros et al., 2008; Gácsi, et al., 2013; Solhjoo et al., 2019), as it is the central mechanism of cardiovascular

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024 GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

regulation (Hjortskov et al., 2004). This occurs due to reflection in HRV indices of the upward modulation of cerebral function with changes in baroreceptor activity (Duschek et al., 2009). This is associated with increased perfusion of brain tissues with blood, which suggests the presence of unified mechanisms of synchronization of cardiac and CNS activity (Park et al., 2015). Hence, HRV is one of the reliable noninvasive methods of measuring the mammalian organism response, including to stressogenic influences (Amaya et al., 2020).

High HRV values are indicators of adequate adaptation to the new environment and effective CNS functioning, whereas low values are the signs of inadequate adaptation (Nagendra et al., 2015). As a result, a quantitative assessment of adaptability is possible based on HRV values (Thayer et al., 20 09; Gianaros et al., 2015; MacNeil et al., 2017; Mulcahy et el., 2019). The high-frequency component of heart rate variability (HF) is considered to be the most sensitive marker for assessing stress levels (MacNeil et al., 2017) as well as heart rate control by the parasympathetic part of the vagus nerve (Mulcahy et al., 2019). A decrease in HF values is observed with an increase in task difficulty (Hjortskov et al., 2004; Duschek et al., 2009; Luque-Casado et al., 2016), and an increase with a decrease in erroneous reactions (Gianaros et al., 2015). For heart rate and high-frequency component of HRV, the opposite dynamics has been shown with increasing difficulty of the load, the increase in HR is accompanied by a decrease in HF (Yu et al., 2009).

An inverse correlation between measures of voluntary attention and HF has been shown (Duschek et al., 2009; Luque-Casado et al., 2016): individuals with high baseline HF values perform better on tasks involving the attention and inhibitory control system (Mulcahy et al., 2019). Consequently, HRV HF can be used as an early marker of impairment (Forte et al., 2019; Spangler, McGinley, 2020)

To explain this relationship, the literature suggests a model of neurovisceral integration linking a particular set of neural structures - primarily the prefrontal cortex, limbic system, and brainstem - to heart rate variability and cognitive function (Thayer et al., 2009; Yu et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2010; Gianaros et al., 2015; Mulcahy et al., 2019). The ability to self-control in emotionally colored activities correlates with the balance of autonomic processes on measures of cardiac regulation, suggesting a common neuroanatomical basis for both processes (Tonacci et al., 2019).

There are several works concerning the analysis of overexcitation of the autonomic nervous system and reflection of this condition in HRV parameters in domestic dogs. At the same time, all the works we analyzed were related to the correction of the state of stress or undesirable behavior. The study by Wormald D. et al. (2017) based on HRV parameters confirms the view of the peculiarities of the physiology of the cardiovascular system in dogs with behavioral disorders, namely the influence of anxiety on the indicators of standard deviation of R-R-intervals, the increase in the spectrum of the low-frequency component of the heart rhythm LF and HF.

A study by M. Amaya et al (2020) proposed a method to reduce stress in shelter dogs by sensory enrichment of the environment. Of the options offered, musical stimulation

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

was the most effective. This exposure led to the activation of the sympathetic and parasympathetic parts of the ANS, which was reflected in higher HRV indices. An increase in HRV was also shown when receiving positive reinforcement (the dog's preferred toy) (Maros et al., 2008). In contrast, aggressive behavior and inadequate adaptation were accompanied by a decrease in HRV and deterioration of autonomic regulation (Craig et al., 2017). Similar studies have shown a direct correlation between a decrease in behavioral signs of anxiety, cortisol concentration in saliva, the LF/HF ratio and the duration of the RR interval values in dogs with improved conditions (Bergamasco et al., 2010; Palestrini et al., 2015; Bowman et al., 2017). According to the authors, this is also evidence of the positive impact of human communication on the well-being of dogs (Maros et al., 2008; Bergamasco et al., 2010; Palestrini et al., 2015; Bowman et al., 2017; Craig et al., 2017; Amaya et al., 2020).

A study by Gobbo E. and Zupan Šemrov M. (2021) showed a correlation of neuroendocrine regulation, HRV and aggressive behavior in dogs. Notably, this study used infrared thermography of the body surface to assess ANS activation, which allows us to analyze the influence of the animal's emotional states on vascular activity and heat output without behavioral restrictions. Aggressive behavior showed a direct correlation with an increase in muzzle temperature, and reflected specifically vascular responses (and not neuroendocrine responses) (Gobbo, Zupan Šemrov, 2021).

Since mydriasis is an indirect sign of stress and hyperactivity in humans (Sonntag & Overall, 2014; Hall & Chilcott, 2018; Hamrakova et al., 2020), the pupil's response to a light stimulus can be used as one of the markers of anxiety in animals. The linear change in pupil diameter before and after exposure to light and its percentage constriction, rate of constriction and dilation (average and maximum) were proposed as sensitive parameters. These differences are determined by reduced activation of the parasympathetic system and dominance of the sympathetic part of the autonomic nervous system. Accordingly, with proper adaptation, this method can also be applied to assess the correlation of behavioral disorders and imbalances in autonomic regulation in animals. An example of its use can be the swinging flashlight test (Hall, Chilcott, 2018).

Behavioral disorders and the gut microbiota

A separate big question is the correlation of the features of the gut microbiota and manifestations of ADHD disorders (brain-gut axis). Such a correlation may be related to impaired metabolism of neurotransmitters produced by gut bacteria (Wan et al., 2020; Sukmajaya et al., 2021). According to a literature review by Shirvani-Rad S. et al. (2022), children and adults diagnosed with ADHD were found to have increased enterococci, bifidobacteria, and odoribacteria, resulting in an imbalance of dopamine in the CNS. A study by Wan L. et al (2020) states that children with ADHD may have an abnormality of the gut flora in the form of a decrease in *Faecalibacterium*; a reduction in this group of bacteria can cause allergic reactions by altering the brain-gut axis. In turn, the allergic

reaction affects the release of neurotransmitters and induces manifestations of ADHD. This is due to the ability of *Faecalibacterium* to regulate the level of inflammatory cytokines, the increase of which plays a role in the pathogenesis of ADHD.

Although the question of the correlation between ADHD behavior and the gut microbiota has been considered in great detail for children, no similar studies for dogs have been found in the open literature. We analyzed the study (Kirchhoff et al., 2019) on the relationship between aggressive behavior and intestinal microbiota in fighting dogs using the example of a small population of pit bulls participating in dogfights (21 dogs). It was found that aggressive dogs had a higher prevalence of bacteria of nine (or twelve) clades of the genus Lactobacillus, and a lower prevalence of bacteria of some clades of the genus *Fusobacterium* in the fecal microbiota. The authors conclude that gut microbiome data could potentially be used in the future not only to diagnose canine aggression, but also to predict it. It should be noted that these results echo the data obtained by Kubinyi et al. (2020), which showed a decrease in the number of Fusobacterium in older dogs.

The similar correlation of disorders have been found in ADHD diagnosed humans and ADHD behavior in dogs, where is was related to alterations tryptophan and lipid metabolism (Puruunen et al., 2016; Bleuer-Elsner et al., 2019). Works devoted to the analysis of this issue in dogs are currently sparse. In particular, the association of behavioral problems in dogs with impaired tryptophan metabolism and, consequently, the effect of the gut microbiome on the serotoninergic system has been shown (O'Mahony et al., 2015).

In a study by D. Puurunen et al (2016) showed differences in tryptophan metabolites, among which lower plasma levels of IPA and IAA correlated with a clear severity of ADHD behavior in dogs. Because *Enterobacteriaceae* of the genus *Clostridium* produces these tryptophan metabolites, the authors suggest negative correlations between ADHD behavior and the representation of these bacteria in the gut microbiota if the diets of the animals studied were similar (Puurunen et al., 2016).

This is also supported by data on the possibility of correcting aggression in dogs by introducing tryptophan supplements into the diet (DeNapoli et al., 2000). In dogs suffering from idiopathic epilepsy, a significant decrease in the representation of several bacterial phylotypes producing GABA as well as short-chain fatty acids has been found (García-Belenguer et al., 2021). In addition, cognitive deterioration – namely short-term memory – in aging dogs has been shown to be related to changes in gut microflora (Kubinyi et al., 2020); good test performance was correlated with a low proportion of actinobacteria. However, a study by Muñana KR. et al. (2020) showed no significant differences in the relative or absolute abundance of *Lactobacillus* species, the main microorganisms associated with CNS protection against neurological disorders, in dogs with idiopathic epilepsy compared to healthy animals.

At the same time, since 3-indolepropionic acid can be produced from tryptophan in the mammalian gut by *Clostridium* bacteria, this allows its use as a marker of the gut-brain axis and allows extrapolation of animal data to works on the influence of gut microbiota

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

on ADHD in humans (Puurunen et al., 2016). This correlation is built by a decrease in available tryptophan, which leads to an overall decrease in serotonin levels as well as the ratio of serotonin to dopamine concentration (Puurunen et al., 2016).

Conclusion

This review analyzed the most common behavior disorders in dogs, their possible causes, and the comorbidity of such disorders. Among the leading behavioral disorders in the analyzed literature, fear and aggression, ADHD behavior and impulsivity were indicated. These results were obtained mainly using owner questionnaires and assessment of behavioral patterns of the animals. Despite the safety and non-invasiveness of such approaches, their accuracy remains relatively low due to possible misinterpretation of information and high individual variability. In addition, the questionnaires and checklists have a high level of subjectivity, because they depend on the characteristics of the perception of the dog's behavior by the owner and the expert.

The introduction of biochemical research methods, in particular, analysis of the concentration of cortisol in wool, saliva and blood plasma, oxytocin, vasopressin and prolactin, will help to increase the accuracy of the study of the causes and mechanisms of problematic behavior of dogs.

It should be noted that the proportion of works related to the use of biochemical and physiological diagnostic methods was significantly lower. This is probably due to the higher cost of such studies, their invasiveness, as well as the need to observe special conditions of material sampling. However, their combined use with questionnaires and behavioral methods will allow to reveal objective reasons of behavioral disorders in dogs, and to predict further development of the situation.

A multifactorial approach to the study of behavior can contribute to a general understanding of the dog's condition; identify signs of distress – physiological, emotional, behavioral, social. Therefore, the optimal approach to identifying problematic dog behavior should take into account medical and life history, analysis of behavioral tests and questionnaires, physiological indicators of the condition, assessment of postures, movements and minor signs of increased anxiety.

There is a lack of similar studies in the population of domestic dogs residing in the Russian Federation. Screening questionnaires covering a wide range of Russian owners have not been found at present. Therefore, conducting such a comprehensive study would allow obtaining a comprehensive picture of the presence, prevalence and causes of behavioral disorders in Russian domestic dogs, taking into account the public and social realities of the country.

References

Al, E., Iliopoulos, F., Forschack, N., Nierhaus, T., Grund, M., Motyka, P., Gaebler, M., Nikulin, V. V., & Villringer, A. (2020). Heart-brain interactions shape somatosensory perception and

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

evoked potentials. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 117(19), 10575–10584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1915629117</u>

- Amaya, V., Paterson, M. B. A., Descovich, K., & Phillips, C. J. C. (2020). Effects of olfactory and auditory enrichment on heart rate variability in shelter dogs. *Animals*, *10*(8), 1385. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.3390/ani10081385
- Badino, P., Odore, R., Osella, M. C., Bergamasco, L., Francone, P., Girardi, C., & Re, G. (2004).
 Modifications of serotonergic and adrenergic receptor concentrations in the brain of aggressive Canis familiaris. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology, 139(3), 343–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpb.2004.09.019
- Bentosela, M., Wynne, C. D., D'Orazio, M., Elgier, A., & Udell, M. A. (2016). Sociability and gazing toward humans in dogs and wolves: Simple behaviors with broad implications. *Journal* of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior, 105(1), 68–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jeab.191</u>
- Bergamasco, L., Osella, M. C., Odore, R., et al. (2010). Heart rate variability and saliva cortisol assessment in shelter dog: Human–animal interaction effects. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, *125*(1-2), 56–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2010.03.002</u>
- Bivona, G., Gambino, C. M., Iacolino, G., & Ciaccio, M. (2019). Vitamin D and the nervous system. *Neurological Research*, 41(9), 827–835. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01616412.2019.1622872</u>
- Bleuer-Elsner, S., Zamansky, A., Fux, A., Kaplun, D., Romanov, S., Sinitca, A., Masson, S., & van der Linden, D. (2019). Computational analysis of movement patterns of dogs with ADHDlike behavior. *Animals*, 9(12), 1140. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9121140</u>
- Bowen, J., García, E., Darder, P., Argüelles, J., & Fatjó, J. (2020). The effects of the Spanish COVID-19 lockdown on people, their pets, and the human-animal bond. *Journal of Veterinary Behavior*, 40, 75–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2020.05.013</u>
- Bowman, A., Scottish S. P. C. A., Dowell, F. J., & Evans, N. P. (2017). The effect of different genres of music on the stress levels of kennelled dogs. *Physiology & Behavior*, 171, 207–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.01.024</u>
- Boyd, C., Jarvis, S., McGreevy, P., et al. (2018). Mortality resulting from undesirable behaviours in dogs aged under three years attending primary-care veterinary practices in England. *Animal Welfare*, *27*(3), 251–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.7120/09627286.27.3.251</u>
- Bunford, N., Andics, A., Kis, A., Miklósi, Á., & Gácsi, M. (2017). Canis familiaris as a model for noninvasive comparative neuroscience. Trends in Neurosciences, 40(7), 438–452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2017.05.003</u>
- Bunford, N., Csibra, B., Peták, C., Ferdinandy, B., Miklósi, Á., & Gácsi, M. (2019). Associations among behavioral inhibition and owner-rated attention, hyperactivity/impulsivity, and personality in the domestic dog (*Canis familiaris*). *Journal of Comparative Psychology*, 133(2), 233–243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/com0000151</u>
- Canejo-Teixeira, R., Neto, I., Baptista, L. V., & Niza, M. M. R. E. (2019). Identification of dysfunctional human-dog dyads through dog ownership histories. *Open Veterinary Journal*, *9*(2), 140–146. https://doi.org/10.4314/ovj.v9i2.8

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova,

Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

- Chen, Q., Xu, Y., Christiaen, E., Wu, G. R., De Witte, S., Vanhove, C., Saunders, J., Peremans, K., & Baeken, C. (2023). Structural connectome alterations in anxious dogs: A DTI-based study. *Scientific Reports*, 13(1), 9946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-37121-0</u>
- Corsetti, S., Borruso, S., Malandrucco, L., Spallucci, V., Maragliano, L., Perino, R., D'Agostino, P., & Natoli, E. (2021). *Cannabis sativa* L. may reduce aggressive behaviour towards humans in shelter dogs. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 24029. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-03543-x</u>
- Craig, L., Meyers-Manor, J., College, R., Anders, K., & Sütterlin, S. (2017). The relationship between heart rate variability and canine aggression. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 188, 59–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2016.12.015</u>
- Cuevas, K., & Bell, M. A. (2011). EEG and ECG from 5 to 10 months of age: Developmental changes in baseline activation and cognitive processing during a working memory task. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, *80*(2), 119–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsycho.2011.02.009</u>
- Dalley, J. W., & Roiser, J. P. (2012). Dopamine, serotonin and impulsivity. *Neuroscience*, 215, 42–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.03.065
- DeNapoli, J. S., Dodman, N. H., Shuster, L., Rand, W. M., & Gross, K. L. (2000). Effect of dietary protein content and tryptophan supplementation on dominance aggression, territorial aggression, and hyperactivity in dogs. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 217(4), 504–508. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2000.217.504
- Dinwoodie, R., Dwyer, B., Zottol, V., Gleason, D., & Dodman, N. H. (2019). Demographics and comorbidity of behavior problems in dogs. *Journal of Veterinary Behavior*, 32, 62–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2019.04.007
- Dodman, N. H., Brown, D. C., & Serpell, J. A. (2018). Associations between owner personality and psychological status and the prevalence of canine behavior problems. *PLoS One*, *13*(2), e0192846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192846</u>
- Dreschel, N. A. (2010). The effects of fear and anxiety on health and lifespan in pet dogs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 125(3–4), 157–162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>applanim.2010.04.003</u>
- Duschek, S., Muckenthaler, M., Werner, N., & del Paso, G. A. (2009). Relationships between features of autonomic cardiovascular control and cognitive performance. *Biological Psychology*, *81*(2), 110–117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2009.03.003</u>
- Fan, X., Zhao, C., Zhang, X., Luo, H., & Zhang, W. (2020). Assessment of mental workload based on multi-physiological signals. *Technology and Health Care, 28*(S1), 67–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/THC-209008</u>
- Faragó, T., Andics, A., Devecseri, V., Kis, A., Gácsi, M., & Miklósi, A. (2014). Humans rely on the same rules to assess emotional valence and intensity in conspecific and dog vocalizations. *Biological Letters*, 10(1), 20130926. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2013.0926</u>
- Fernández, G., Krapacher, F., Ferreras, S., Quassollo, G., Mari, M. M., Pisano, M. V., Montemerlo,A., Rubianes, M. D., Bregonzio, C., Arias, C., & Paglini, M. G. (2021). Lack of Cdk5 activity

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024 GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

is involved in dopamine transporter expression and function: Evidence from an animal model of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Experimental Neurology, 346*, 113866. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2021.113866

- Foraita, M., Howell, T., & Bennett, P. (2021). Environmental influences on development of executive functions in dogs. *Animal Cognition*, 24(4), 655–675. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10071-021-01489-1</u>
- Forte, G., De Pascalis, V., Favieri, F., & Casagrande, M. (2019). Effects of blood pressure on cognitive performance: A systematic review. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(1), 34. <u>https:// doi.org/10.3390/jcm9010034</u>
- Frank, M. G., & Heller, H. C. (2003). The ontogeny of mammalian sleep: A reappraisal of alternative hypotheses. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 12(1), 25–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/ j.1365-2869.2003.00339.x</u>
- Fux, A., Zamansky, A., Bleuer-Elsner, S., van der Linden, D., Sinitca, A., Romanov, S., & Kaplun, D. (2021). Objective video-based assessment of ADHD-like canine behavior using machine learning. *Animals (Basel, Switzerland)*, 11(10), 2806. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11102806</u>
- Gácsi, M., Maros, K., Sernkvist, S., Faragó, T., & Miklósi, A. (2013). Human analogue safe haven effect of the owner: Behavioural and heart rate response to stressful social stimuli in dogs. *PLOS ONE, 8*(3), e58475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0058475</u>
- Gáll, Z., & Székely, O. (2021). Role of vitamin D in cognitive dysfunction: New molecular concepts and discrepancies between animal and human findings. *Nutrients*, 13(11), 3672. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13113672</u>
- García-Belenguer, S., Grasa, L., Valero, O., Palacio, J., Luño, I., & Rosado, B. (2021). Gut microbiota in canine idiopathic epilepsy: Effects of disease and treatment. *Animals (Basel, Switzerland)*, 11(11), 3121. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11113121</u>
- Genro, J. P., Kieling, C., Rohde, L. A., & Hutz, M. H. (2010). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and the dopaminergic hypotheses. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 10(4), 587–601. <u>https://doi.org/10.1586/ern.10.17</u>
- Gianaros, P. J., & Wager, T. D. (2015). Brain-body pathways linking psychological stress and physical health. *Current Directions in Psychological Science, 24*(4), 313–321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721415581476</u>
- Gobbo, E., & Zupan Šemrov, M. (2021). Neuroendocrine and cardiovascular activation during aggressive reactivity in dogs. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, *8*, 683858. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2021.683858</u>
- Gobbo, E., & Zupan, M. (2020). Dogs' sociability, owners' neuroticism, and attachment style to pets as predictors of dog aggression. *Animals (Basel, Switzerland), 10*(2), 315. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10020315</u>
- Grajfoner, D., Ke, G. N., & Wong, R. M. M. (2021). The effect of pets on human mental health and wellbeing during COVID-19 lockdown in Malaysia. *Animals (Basel, Switzerland), 11*(9), 2689. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11092689</u>

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

- Hakanen, E., Mikkola, S., Salonen, M., Puurunen, J., Sulkama, S., Araujo, C., & Lohi, H. (2020). Active and social life is associated with lower non-social fearfulness in pet dogs. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 13774. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-70722-7</u>
- Hall, C. A., & Chilcott, R. P. (2018). Eyeing up the future of the pupillary light reflex in neurodiagnostics. *Diagnostics (Basel, Switzerland), 8*(1), 19. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ diagnostics8010019</u>
- Hamrakova, A., Ondrejka, I., Sekaninova, N., et al. (2020). Central autonomic regulation assessed by pupillary light reflex is impaired in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Physiological Research*, *69*(3), S513–S521. <u>https://doi.org/10.33549/physiolres.934589</u>
- Hejjas, K., Vas, J., Topal, J., Szantai, E., Ronai, Z., Szekely, A., Kubinyi, E., Horvath, Z., Sasvari-Szekely, M., & Miklosi, A. (2007). Association of polymorphisms in the dopamine D4 receptor gene and the activity-impulsivity endophenotype in dogs. *Animal Genetics*, 38(6), 629–633. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2052.2007.01657.x
- Helsly, M., Priymenko, N., Girault, C., Duranton, C., & Gaunet, F. (2022). Dog behaviours in veterinary consultations: Part II. The relationship between the behaviours of dogs and their owners. *Veterinary Journal*, 281, 105789. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2022.105789</u>
- Hernádi, A., Kis, A., Kanizsár, O., Tóth, K., Miklósi, B., & Topál, J. (2015). Intranasally administered oxytocin affects how dogs (Canis familiaris) react to the threatening approach of their owner and an unfamiliar experimenter. *Behavioural Processes*, 119, 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2015.07.001</u>
- Hjortskov, N., Rissén, D., Blangsted, A. K., Fallentin, N., Lundberg, U., & Søgaard, K. (2004). The effect of mental stress on heart rate variability and blood pressure during computer work. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 92(1-2), 84–89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-004-1055-z</u>
- Hydbring-Sandberg, E., von Walter, L. W., Höglund, K., Svartberg, K., Swenson, L., & Forkman,
 B. (2004). Physiological reactions to fear provocation in dogs. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 180(3), 439–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1677/joe.0.1800439</u>
- Jégh-Czinege, N., Faragó, T., & Pongrácz, P. (2020). A bark of its own kind: The acoustics of 'annoying' dog barks suggests a specific attention-evoking effect for humans. *Bioacoustics*, 29(2), 210–225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09524622.2019.1576147</u>
- Junttila, S., Huohvanainen, S., & Tiira, K. (2021). Effect of sex and reproductive status on inhibitory control and social cognition in the domestic dog (Canis familiaris). *Animals*, *11*(8), 2448. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11082448
- Kikusui, T., Nagasawa, M., Nomoto, K., Kuse-Arata, S., & Mogi, K. (2019). Endocrine regulations in human-dog coexistence through domestication. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, *30*(11), 793–806. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2019.09.002</u>
- Kim, D., Yadav, D., & Song, M. (2024). An updated review on animal models to study attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder. *Transl Psychiatry*, 14(1),187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-024-02893-0</u>

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024 GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

- Kim, Y., Sa, J., Chung, Y., Park, D., & Lee, S. (2018). Resource-efficient pet dog sound events classification using LSTM-FCN based on time-series data. *Sensors*, 18(11), 4019. <u>https:// doi.org/10.3390/s18114019</u>
- Kimura, Y., Totani, S., Kameshima, S., & Itoh, N. (2023). Perception biases for problematic behaviors in dogs due to owners' attributes. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 85(7), 763–771. <u>https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.23-0022</u>
- Kirchoff, N. S., Udell, M. A. R., & Sharpton, T. J. (2019). The gut microbiome correlates with conspecific aggression in a small population of rescued dogs (Canis familiaris). *PeerJ*, 7, e6103. <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.6103</u>
- Kis, A., Ciobica, A., & Topál, J. (2017). The effect of oxytocin on human-directed social behaviour in dogs (Canis familiaris). *Hormones and Behavior*, 94, 40–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yhbeh.2017.06.001</u>
- Konok, V., Kosztolányi, A., Rainer, W., Mutschler, B., Halsband, U., & Miklósi, Á. (2015). Influence of owners' attachment style and personality on their dogs' (Canis familiaris) separation-related disorder. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(2), e0118375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118375</u>
- Kubinyi, E., Bel Rhali, S., Sándor, S., Szabó, A., & Felföldi, T. (2020). Gut microbiome composition is associated with age and memory performance in pet dogs. *Animals*, 10(9), 1488. <u>https:// doi.org/10.3390/ani10091488</u>
- Lee, W. S., Yoon, B. E. (2023). Necessity of an Integrative Animal Model for a Comprehensive Study of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *Biomedicines*, 11(5), 1260. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines11051260</u>
- León, B. M. R., García-Belenguer, S., Chacón, G., Villegas, A., & Palacio, J. (2012). Assessment of serotonin in serum, plasma, and platelets of aggressive dogs. *Journal of Veterinary Behavior*, 7(6), 348–352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2012.01.005</u>
- Lit, L., Schweitzer, J. B., Iosif, A. M., & Oberbauer, A. M. (2010). Owner reports of attention, activity, and impulsivity in dogs: A replication study. *Behavioral and Brain Functions*, 6(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-9081-6-1
- Lopes Fagundes, A. L., Hewison, L., McPeake, K. J., Zulch, H., & Mills, D. S. (2018). Noise sensitivities in dogs: An exploration of signs in dogs with and without musculoskeletal pain using qualitative content analysis. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 5, 17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00017
- Luque-Casado, A., Perales, J. C., Cárdenas, D., & Sanabria, D. (2016). Heart rate variability and cognitive processing: The autonomic response to task demands. *Biological Psychology*, 113, 83–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2015.11.013</u>
- MacLean, E. L., Gesquiere, L. R., Gee, N. R., Levy, K., Martin, W. L., & Carter, C. S. (2017). Effects of affiliative human-animal interaction on dog salivary and plasma oxytocin and vasopressin. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 1606. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01606</u>
- MacLean, E. L., Gesquiere, L. R., Gruen, M. E., Sherman, B. L., Martin, W. L., & Carter, C. S. (2017). Endogenous oxytocin, vasopressin, and aggression in domestic dogs. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 1613. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01613</u>

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova,

Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

- MacNeil, S., Deschênes, S. S., Caldwell, W., Brouillard, M., Dang-Vu, T. T., & Gouin, J. P. (2017). High-frequency heart rate variability reactivity and trait worry interact to predict the development of sleep disturbances in response to a naturalistic stressor. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 51(6), 912–924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-017-9915-z</u>
- Magula, L., Moxley, K., & Lachman, A. (2019). Iron deficiency in South African children and adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Mental Health*, *31*(2), 85–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.2989/17280583.2019.1637345</u>
- Maros, K., Dóka, A., & Miklósi, Á. (2008). Behavioural correlation of heart rate changes in family dogs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, *109*(2–4), 329–341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/j.applanim.2007.03.005</u>
- Marshall-Pescini, S., Schaebs, F. S., Gaugg, A., Meinert, A., Deschner, T., & Range, F. (2019). The role of oxytocin in the dog-owner relationship. *Animals*, *9*(10), 792. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9100792</u>
- Masson, S., & Gaultier, E. (2018). Retrospective study on hypersensitivity-hyperactivity syndrome in dogs: Long-term outcome of high-dose fluoxetine treatment and proposal of a clinical score. *Dog Behavior*, 4, 15–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.4454/db.v4i2.79</u>
- Mikkola, S., Salonen, M., Puurunen, J., Hakanen, E., Sulkama, S., Araujo, C., & Lohi, H. (2021). Aggressive behaviour is affected by demographic, environmental, and behavioural factors in purebred dogs. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 9433. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-88793-5</u>
- Miklósi, Á., Kubinyi, E., Topál, J., Gácsi, M., Virányi, Z., & Csányi, V. (2003). A simple reason for a big difference: Wolves do not look back at humans, but dogs do. *Current Biology*, *13*(9), 763–766. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0960-9822(03)00263-x</u>
- Miller, S. L., Serpell, J. A., & Dalton, K. R., et al. (2022). The importance of evaluating positive welfare characteristics and temperament in working therapy dogs. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 9, 844252. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2022.844252</u>
- Mills, D. S., Demontigny-Bédard, I., Gruen, M., Klinck, M. P., McPeake, K. J., Barcelos, A. M., Hewison, L., Van Haevermaet, H., Denenberg, S., Hauser, H., Koch, C., Ballantyne, K., Wilson, C., Mathkari, C. V., Pounder, J., Garcia, E., Darder, P., Fatjó, J., & Levine, E. (2020). Pain and problem behavior in cats and dogs. *Animals*, *10*(2), 318. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10020318</u>
- Mogavero, F., Jager, A., & Glennon, J. C. (2018). Clockgenes, ADHD, and aggression. *Neuroscience* & *Biobehavioral Reviews*, 91, 51–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.11.002</u>
- Mongillo, P., Scandurra, A., Eatherington, C. J., D'Aniello, B., & Marinelli, L. (2019). Development of a spatial discount task to measure impulsive choices in dogs. *Animals*, *9*(7), 469. <u>https:// doi.org/10.3390/ani9070469</u>
- Mulcahy, J. S., Larsson, D. E. O., Garfinkel, S. N., & Critchley, H. D. (2019). Heart rate variability as a biomarker in health and affective disorders: A perspective on neuroimaging studies. *NeuroImage*, 202, 116072. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116072</u>
- Müller, C. A., Riemer, S., Virányi, Z., Huber, L., & Range, F. (2016). Inhibitory control, but not prolonged object-related experience appears to affect physical problem-solving performance of pet dogs. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(2), e0147753. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0147753</u>

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024 GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Muñana, K. R., Jacob, M. E., & Callahan, B. J. (2020). Evaluation of fecal *Lactobacillus* populations in dogs with idiopathic epilepsy: A pilot study. *Animal Microbiome*, *2*(1), 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42523-020-00036-6

- Nagasawa, M., Mitsui, S., En, S., Ohtani, N., Ohta, M., Sakuma, Y., Onaka, T., Mogi, K., & Kikusui, T. (2015). Social evolution. Oxytocin-gaze positive loop and the coevolution of human-dog bonds. *Science*, *348*(6232), 333–336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1261022</u>
- Nagendra, H., Kumar, V., & Mukherjee, S. (2015). Cognitive behavior evaluation based on physiological parameters among young healthy subjects with yoga as intervention. *Computational and Mathematical Methods in Medicine*, 821061. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/821061</u>
- Oades, R. D. (2008). Dopamine-serotonin interactions in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Progress in Brain Research*, 172, 543–565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/</u> <u>\$0079-6123(08)00926-6</u>
- Oades, R. D., Sadile, A. G., Sagvolden, T., Viggiano, D., Zuddas, A., Devoto, P., Aase, H., Johansen,
 E. B., Ruocco, L. A., & Russell, V. A. (2005). The control of responsiveness in ADHD by catecholamines: Evidence for dopaminergic, noradrenergic, and interactive roles. *Developmental Science*, 8(2), 122–131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2005.00399.x</u>
- O'Mahony, S. M., Clarke, G., Borre, Y. E., Dinan, T. G., & Cryan, J. F. (2015). Serotonin, tryptophan metabolism, and the brain-gut-microbiome axis. *Behavioral Brain Research*, 277, 32–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.07.027
- Palestrini, C. E., Previde, P., & Verga, M. (2005). Heart rate and behavioral responses of dogs in Ainsworth's strange situation: A pilot study. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 94(1–2), 75–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2005.02.005</u>
- Parente, G., Gargano, T., Di Mitri, M., et al. (2021). Consequences of COVID-19 lockdown on children and their pets: Dangerous increase of dog bites among the pediatric population. *Children*, *8*(8), 620. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/children8080620</u>
- Park, S., Won, M. J., Lee, E. C., Mun, S., Park, M. C., & Whang, M. (2015). Evaluation of 3D cognitive fatigue using heart-brain synchronization. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 97(2), 120–130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2015.04.006</u>
- Pongrácz, P. (2017). Modeling evolutionary changes in information transfer: Effects of domestication on the vocal communication of dogs (*Canis familiaris*). *European Psychologist*, 22, 219–232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040/a000300</u>
- Powell, L., Duffy, D. L., Kruger, K. A., Watson, B., & Serpell, J. A. (2021). Relinquishing owners underestimate their dog's behavioral problems: Deception or lack of knowledge? *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 8, 734973. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2021.734973</u>
- Powell, L., Stefanovski, D., Siracusa, C., & Serpell, J. (2021). Owner personality, owner-dog attachment, and canine demographics influence treatment outcomes in canine behavioral medicine cases. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 7, 630931. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/</u> <u>fvets.2020.630931</u>

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

- Puurunen, J., Hakanen, E., Salonen, M. K., Mikkola, S., Sulkama, S., Araujo, C., & Lohi, H. (2020). Inadequate socialization, inactivity, and urban living environment are associated with social fearfulness in pet dogs. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 3527. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> <u>s41598-020-60546-w</u>
- Puurunen, J., Sulkama, S., Tiira, K., Araujo, C., Lehtonen, M., Hanhineva, K., & Lohi, H. (2016). A non-targeted metabolite profiling pilot study suggests that tryptophan and lipid metabolisms are linked with ADHD-like behaviors in dogs. *Behavioral Brain Functions*, 12(1), 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12993-016-0112-1
- Re, S., Zanoletti, M., & Emanuele, E. (2008). Aggressive dogs are characterized by low omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid status. *Veterinary Research Communications*, *32*(3), 225–230. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-007-9021-y
- Riemer, S., Mills, D. S., & Wright, H. (2013). Impulsive for life? The nature of long-term impulsivity in domestic dogs. *Animal Cognition*, 17(3), 815–819. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10071-013-0701-4</u>
- Riemer, S., Müller, C., Range, F., & Huber, L. (2013). Dogs (*Canis familiaris*) can learn to attend to connectivity in string pulling tasks. *Journal of Comparative Psychology*, 128(1), 31–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033202</u>
- Riggio, G., Gazzano, A., Zsilák, B., Carlone, B., & Mariti, C. (2020). Quantitative behavioral analysis and qualitative classification of attachment styles in domestic dogs: Are dogs with a secure and an insecure-avoidant attachment different? *Animals (Basel)*, *11*(1), 14. <u>https:// doi.org/10.3390/ani11010014</u>
- Romero, T., Nagasawa, M., Mogi, K., Hasegawa, T., & Kikusui, T. (2014). Oxytocin promotes social bonding in dogs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(25), 9085–9090. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1322868111</u>
- Roth, L. S., Faresjö, Å., Theodorsson, E., & Jensen, P. (2016). Hair cortisol varies with season and lifestyle and relates to human interactions in German shepherd dogs. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 19631. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep19631</u>
- Russell, V. A. (2007). Neurobiology of animal models of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, *161*(2), 185–198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2006.12.005</u>
- Salonen, M., Mikkola, S., Hakanen, E., Sulkama, S., Puurunen, J., & Lohi, H. (2022). Personality traits associate with behavioral problems in pet dogs. *Translational Psychiatry*, *12*(1), 78. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-022-01841-0
- Salonen, M., Mikkola, S., Hakanen, E., Sulkama, S., Puurunen, J., & Lohi, H. (2021). Reliability and validity of a dog personality and unwanted behavior survey. *Animals (Basel)*, 11(5), 1234. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11051234</u>
- Salonen, M., Sulkama, S., Mikkola, S., Puurunen, J., Hakanen, E., Tiira, K., Araujo, C., & Lohi, H. (2020). Prevalence, comorbidity, and breed differences in canine anxiety in 13,700 Finnish pet dogs. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 2962. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59837-z

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024 GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Schöberl, I., Beetz, A., Solomon, J., Wedl, M., Gee, N., & Kotrschal, K. (2016). Social factors influencing cortisol modulation in dogs during a strange situation procedure. *Journal of*

Veterinary Behavior, 11, 77–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2015.09.007

- Segurson, S. A., Serpell, J. A., & Hart, B. L. (2005). Evaluation of a behavioral assessment questionnaire for use in the characterization of behavioral problems of dogs relinquished to animal shelters. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, *227*(11), 1755–1761. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2005.227.1755
- Shirvani-Rad, S., Ejtahed, H. S., Ettehad Marvasti, F., Taghavi, M., Sharifi, F., Arzaghi, S. M., & Larijani, B. (2022). The role of gut microbiota-brain axis in pathophysiology of ADHD: A systematic review. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 10870547211073474. <u>https://doi. org/10.1177/10870547211073474</u>
- Siniscalchi, M., McFarlane, J. R., Kauter, K. G., Quaranta, A., & Rogers, L. J. (2013). Cortisol levels in hair reflect behavioral reactivity of dogs to acoustic stimuli. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 94(1), 49–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2012.02.017</u>
- Sjoberg, E. A., Ramos, S., López-Tolsa, G. E., Johansen, E. B., & Pellón, R. (2021). The irrelevancy of the inter-trial interval in delay-discounting experiments on an animal model of ADHD. *Behavioral Brain Research*, 408, 113236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2021.113236</u>
- Solhjoo, M., Swarup, S., & Makaryus, A. N. (2019). A case of aortic dissection presenting with atypical symptoms and diagnosed with transthoracic echocardiography. *Case Reports in Radiology*, 6545472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/6545472</u>
- Solomon, J., Beetz, A., Schöberl, I., Gee, N., & Kotrschal, K. (2019). Attachment security in companion dogs: Adaptation of Ainsworth's strange situation and classification procedures to dogs and their human caregivers. *Attachment & Human Development*, *21*(4), 389–417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2018.1517812</u>
- Sonntag, Q., & Overall, K. L. (2014). Key determinants of dog and cat welfare: Behaviour, breeding, and household lifestyle. *Revista Científica y Técnica de la Oficina Internacional de Epizootias*, 33(1), 213–220. <u>https://doi.org/10.20506/rst.33.1.2270</u>
- Sontag, T. A., Tucha, O., Walitza, S., & Lange, K. W. (2010). Animal models of attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): A critical review. *Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders*, *2*(1), 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12402-010-0019-x</u>
- Sonuga-Barke, E. J. (2003). The dual pathway model of ADHD: An elaboration of neurodevelopmental characteristics. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *27*(7), 593–604. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2003.08.005</u>
- Spangler, D. P., & McGinley, J. J. (2020). Vagal flexibility mediates the association between resting vagal activity and cognitive performance stability across varying socioemotional demands. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 2093. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.02093</u>
- Sukmajaya, A. C., Lusida, M. I., Soetjipto, & Setiawati, Y. (2021). Systematic review of gut microbiota and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Annals of General Psychiatry*, 20(1), 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12991-021-00330-w</u>
Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

- Sulkama, S., Puurunen, J., Salonen, M., Mikkola, S., Hakanen, E., Araujo, C., & Lohi, H. (2021). Canine hyperactivity, impulsivity, and inattention share similar demographic risk factors and behavioural comorbidities with human ADHD. *Translational Psychiatry*, *11*(1), 501. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-021-01626-x
- Thayer, J. F., Hansen, A. L., Saus-Rose, E., & Johnsen, B. H. (2009). Heart rate variability, prefrontal neural function, and cognitive performance: The neurovisceral integration perspective on self-regulation, adaptation, and health. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 37(2), 141–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-009-9101-z</u>
- Thielke, L. E., & Udell, M. A. (2017). The role of oxytocin in relationships between dogs and humans and potential applications for the treatment of separation anxiety in dogs. *Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*, *92*(1), 378–388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12235</u>
- Tiira, K., & Lohi, H. (2014). Reliability and validity of a questionnaire survey in canine anxiety research. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 155, 82–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2014.03.007</u>
- Tiira, K., Sulkama, S., & Lohi, H. (2016). Prevalence, comorbidity, and behavioral variation in canine anxiety. *Journal of Veterinary Behavior*, 16, 36–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2016.06.008</u>
- Tonacci, A., Billeci, L., Burrai, E., Sansone, F., & Conte, R. (2019). Comparative evaluation of the autonomic response to cognitive and sensory stimulations through wearable sensors. *Sensors (Basel)*, 19(21), 4661. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/s19214661</u>
- Topál, J., Gergely, G., Erdohegyi, A., Csibra, G., & Miklósi, A. (2009). Differential sensitivity to human communication in dogs, wolves, and human infants. *Science*, 325(5945), 1269– 1272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1176960</u>
- Turner, K. M., Young, J. W., McGrath, J. J., Eyles, D. W., & Burne, T. H. (2012). Cognitive performance and response inhibition in developmentally vitamin D (DVD)-deficient rats. *Behavioral Brain Research*, 242, 47–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2012.12.029</u>
- van der Kooij, M. A., & Glennon, J. C. (2007). Animal models concerning the role of dopamine in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 31(4), 597–618. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2006.12.002</u>
- Vas, J., Topál, J., Péch, E., & Miklósi, A. (2007). Measuring attention deficit and activity in dogs: A new application and validation of a human ADHD questionnaire. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 103, 105–117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2006.03.017</u>
- Wan, L., Ge, W. R., Zhang, S., Sun, Y. L., Wang, B., & Yang, G. (2020). Case-control study of the effects of gut microbiota composition on neurotransmitter metabolic pathways in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 14, 127. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2020.00127</u>
- Wan, M., Hejjas, K., Ronai, Z., Elek, Z., Sasvari-Szekely, M., Champagne, F. A., Miklósi, A., & Kubinyi, E. (2013). DRD4 and TH gene polymorphisms are associated with activity,

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024 GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

impulsivity, and inattention in Siberian Husky dogs. *Animal Genetics*, 44(6), 717–727. https://doi.org/10.1111/age.12058

- Weafer, J., & de Wit, H. (2014). Sex differences in impulsive action and impulsive choice. Addictive Behaviors, 39(11), 1573–1579. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.10.033
- Wickramasuriya, D. S., & Faghih, R. T. (2019). A novel filter for tracking real-world cognitive stress using multi-time-scale point process observations. Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 599–602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/</u> EMBC.2019.8857917
- Winstanley, C. A., Eagle, D. M., & Robbins, T. W. (2006). Behavioral models of impulsivity in relation to ADHD: Translation between clinical and preclinical studies. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 26(4), 379–395. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2006.01.001</u>
- Wirobski, G., Range, F., Schaebs, F. S., Palme, R., Deschner, T., & Marshall-Pescini, S. (2021). Life experience rather than domestication accounts for dogs' increased oxytocin release during social contact with humans. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 14423. <u>https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-021-93922-1</u>
- Wormald, D., Lawrence, A. J., Carter, G., & Fisher, A. D. (2017). Reduced heart rate variability in pet dogs affected by anxiety-related behaviour problems. *Physiology & Behavior*, 168, 122–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.11.003</u>
- Wright, H. F., Mills, D. S., & Pollux, P. M. (2012). Behavioural and physiological correlates of impulsivity in the domestic dog (Canis familiaris). *Physiology & Behavior*, 105(3), 676–682. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.09.019</u>
- Wright, H. F., Mills, D. S., & Pollux, P. M. J. (2011). Development and validation of a psychometric tool for assessing impulsivity in the domestic dog (Canis familiaris). *International Journal* of Comparative Psychology, 24(2), 210–225. <u>https://doi.org/10.46867/IJCP.2011.24.02.03</u>
- Yang, P., Cai, G., Cai, Y., Fei, J., & Liu G. (2013). Gamma aminobutyric acid transporter subtype 1 gene knockout mice: a new model for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai), 45(7), 578-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/abbs/gmt043</u>
- Yu, X., Zhang, J., Xie, D., Wang, J., & Zhang, C. (2008). Relationship between scalp potential and autonomic nervous activity during a mental arithmetic task. *Autonomic Neuroscience*, 146(1-2), 81–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autneu.2008.12.005</u>
 - Zhang, J., Yu, X., & Xie, D. (2010). Effects of mental tasks on the cardiorespiratory synchronization. *Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology*, *170*(1), 91–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resp.2009.11.003</u>
- Zhu, J., Fan, F., McCarthy, D. M., Zhang, L., Cannon, E. N., Spencer, T. J., Biederman, J., & Bhide, P. G. (2017). A prenatal nicotine exposure mouse model of methylphenidate responsive ADHD-associated cognitive phenotypes. *Int J Dev Neurosci*, 58, 26-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2017.01.014</u>
- Zhu, J., Lee, K. P., Spencer, T. J., Biederman, J., & Bhide, P. G. (2014). Transgenerational transmission of hyperactivity in a mouse model of ADHD. *J Neurosci*, 34(8), 2768-73. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4402-13.2014

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

- Zhu, J., Zhang, X., Xu, Y., Spencer, T. J., Biederman, J., & Bhide, P.G. (2012). Prenatal nicotine exposure mouse model showing hyperactivity, reduced cingulate cortex volume, reduced dopamine turnover, and responsiveness to oral methylphenidate treatment. *J Neurosci*, 32(27), 9410-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1041-12.2012</u>
- Zhu, Y.S., Xiong, Y.F., Luo, F.Q., & Min, J. (2019). Dexmedetomidine protects rats from postoperative cognitive dysfunction via regulating the GABA_B R-mediated cAMP-PKA-CREB signaling pathway. *Neuropathology*, 39(1), 30-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/neup.12530</u>_
- Zhvania, M. G., Japaridze, N., Tizabi, Y., Lomidze, N., Pochkhidze, N., & Lordkipanidze, T. (2021). Age-related cognitive decline in rats is sex and context dependent. *Neurosci Lett*, 765, 136262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2021.136262</u>
- Zugno, A. I., Matos, M. P., Canever, L., Fraga, D. B., De Luca, R. D., Ghedim, F. V., Deroza, P. F., de Oliveira, M. B., Pacheco, F. D., Valvassori, S. S., Volpato, A. M., Budni, J., & Quevedo, J. (2014). Evaluation of acetylcholinesterase activity and behavioural alterations induced by ketamine in an animal model of schizophrenia. *Acta Neuropsychiatr*, 26(1), 43-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/neu.2013.31</u>
- Zugno, A. I., Oliveira, M. B., Mastella, G. A., Heylmann, A. S. A., Canever, L., Pacheco, F. D., Damazio, L. S., Citadin, S. A., de Lucca, L. A., Simões, L. R., Malgarin, F., Budni, J., Barichello, T., Schuck, P. F., & Quevedo, J. (2017). Increased risk of developing schizophrenia in animals exposed to cigarette smoke during the gestational period. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, 75, 199-206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.02.010_
- Zuo, Z., Li, J., Zhang, B., Hang, A., Wang, Q., Xiong, G., Tang, L., Zhou, Z., & Chang, X. (2023). Early-Life Exposure to Paraquat Aggravates Sex-Specific and Progressive Abnormal Non-Motor Neurobehavior in Aged Mice. *Toxics*, 11(10), 842. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics11100842</u>.
- Zurawek, D., Salerno-Kochan, A., Dziedzicka-Wasylewska, M., Nikiforuk, A., Kos, T., & (2018). Popik, P. Changes in the expression of metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) in a ketamine-based animal model of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, 192, 423-430. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2017.04.014</u>
- Zurkovsky, L., Bychkov, E., Tsakem, E. L., Siedlecki, C., Blakely, R. D., & Gurevich, E. V. (2012). Cognitive effects of dopamine depletion in the context of diminished acetylcholine signaling capacity in mice. *Dis Model Mech*, 6(1), 171-83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.010363</u>
- Zwierzyńska, E., Pietrzak, B. (2024). The impact of brivaracetam on cognitive processes and anxiety in various experimental models. *Pharmacol Rep*, 76(1), 86-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s43440-023-00564-3</u>

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024 GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

> Received: January 07, 2024 Revised: October 24, 2024 Accepted: October 24, 2024

Author Contributions

Anna S. Fomina – collection of literature data, analysis and generalization of literature data, writing the text of the manuscript.

Pavel V. Vasiliev – collection of literature data, analysis and generalization of literature data, writing the text of the manuscript.

Anastasia A. Krikunova – collecting literature data, writing the text of the manuscript.

Pavel N. Ermakov – critical revision of the text of the manuscript, editing of the text of the manuscript.

Valentina N. Burkova – analysis and generalization of literature data, editing of the manuscript text.

Tatyana S. Serdyuk – preparation of the translation of the text of the article into English.

Alexey M. Ermakov – critical revision of the text of the manuscript, editing of the text of the manuscript.

Author Details

Anna S. Fomina – Cand.Sci. (Biology), Associate Professor of the Department of Biology and General Pathology, Don State Technical University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; Scopus ID: 55929829400, Author ID: 671632, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.</u> <u>org/0000-0002-4374-9244</u>; e-mail: <u>a_bogun@mail.ru</u>

Pavel V. Vasiliev – Cand.Sci. (Engineering), Associate Professor of the Department of Information Technology, Don State Technical University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Federation; Researcher ID: P-8366-2017, Scopus ID: 57193327081, Author ID: 764327, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4112-7449</u>; e-mail: <u>lyftzeigen@mail.ru</u>

Anastasia A. Krikunova – Lecturer of the Department of Biology and General Pathology, Don State Technical University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; Author ID: 801306; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0009-0006-5475-5056</u>; e-mail: <u>akrikunova@donstu.ru</u>

Tikhon K. Krakhmalev – student of the Department of Biology and General Pathology, Don State Technical University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; Researcher ID: -, Scopus ID: 58069785900 ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9557-0265;</u> e-mail: <u>Tvoidth@yandex.ru</u>

Pavel N. Ermakov – Dr.Sci. (Biology), Professor, Professor of the Department of Psychophysiology and Clinical Psychology, Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; Researcher ID: B-3040-2016, Scopus ID: 6602450914, Author ID: 90844, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8395-2426;</u> e-mail: <u>permakov@donstu.ru</u>

Valentina N. Burkova – Cand.Sci. (History), Senior Researcher, Federal State Budgetary Institution of Science of the Order of Friendship of Peoples "Institute of Ethnology and Anthropology named after N.N. Miklukho-Maklay of the Russian Academy of Sciences (IEA RAS)", Moscow, Russian Federation; Researcher ID: E-9855-2016, Scopus ID: 6701473373, Author ID: 69907, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4777-0224</u>; e-mail: <u>burkovav@gmail.com</u>

Tatyana S. Serdyuk – Cand.Sci. (Biology), Head of the Academic Mobility Department, Don State Technical University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; Researcher ID: J-3517-2014, Scopus ID: 57189346263, Author ID: 178797, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6369-3439</u>; e-mail: <u>tserdyuk@donstu.ru</u>

Alexey M. Ermakov– Dr.Sci. (Biology), Dean of the Faculty of Bioengineering and Veterinary Medicine, Don State Technical University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; Researcher ID: B-8291-2018, Scopus ID: 57224925720, Author ID: 319082, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9834-3989</u>; e-mail: <u>amermakov@ya.ru</u>

Anna S. Fomina, Pavel V. Vasiliev, Anastasia A. Krikunova, Tikhon K. Krakhmalev, Pavel N. Ermakov, Valentina N. Burkova, Tatyana S. Serdyuk, Alexey M. Ermakov Problematic Behavior of Companion Dogs: Significant for Humans, Significant for Society Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024 GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Conflict of Interest Information

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Research article UDC 159.9 https://doi.org/10.21702/csqaxk90

Self-Regulation and Decision-Making in Students with Diverse Meaning-Transmission Styles

Elena A. Suroedova^{*^(D)}, Dmitri I. Popov^(D), Ekaterina Y. Vertij^(D)

Don State Technical University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia

*Corresponding author: suroedova@mail.ru

Absrtact

Introduction. In the modern educational space, characterized by dynamism, information saturation and multitasking, the study of the process of meaning transmission, selfregulation of behavior and decision-making by students come to the forefront in the context of their academic and professional success. The aim of our research is to study the peculiarities of self-regulation of behavior and decision-making in students with different styles and strategies of meaning- transmission in the process of solving educational and professional tasks. Methods. The study involved 72 students, including 64 girls, 8 boys, average age 21.1 years. Natural experiment, questionnaire and survey were used as research methods. Research methods: Questionnaire "Strategies of meaning-transmission" (Suroedova, 2011); Questionnaire "Style of self-regulation of behavior" by V. I. Morosanova (Morosanova, 2004); Melbourne Decision Making Questionnaire (Kornilova, 2013). Results. We identified the styles of meaning-transmission: neutral, emotional, declarative, philosophical. The study found that there are significant differences in self-organization of activity and decision-making styles in students with different styles and strategies of meaning-making. Students with an active strategy of meaning-transmission are distinguished by developed skills of goal setting, planning and controlling the process of activity, they tend to collect information from different sources and consider alternative ways of solving problems, choosing the most effective. Respondents with the emotional style of meaning-transmission are distinguished by a high level of development of goal- setting and activity programming, evaluation of intermediate and final results of problem-solving, they show flexibility in choosing ways and means of solving a problem situation. Discussion. The results of our study can contribute to the

development of psychological and pedagogical technologies aimed at improving the effectiveness of learning and assimilation of professional knowledge, taking into account the students' abilities to make meaning.

Keywords

meaning transfer, styles of meaning transfer, translation of meanings, selfregulation of behaviour, decision-making, educational and professional tasks

For citation

Suroedova, E. A., Popov, D. I., Vertij, E. Y. (2024). Features of self-regulation of behaviour and decision-making of students with different styles and strategies of meaning-transcendence. *Russian Psychological Journal, 21*(4), 79–96. https://doi.org/10.21702/csqaxk90

Introduction

Communication and communication are the prerequisites for human interaction. In the process of communication, people receive information and knowledge, express their thoughts and ideas, understand the inner experiences and needs of other people (Mifsud, 2019; Yakupov, 2016). Through communication, communication and meaning-transmission in the joint activity of people, different variants of problem solving are discussed, advantages and disadvantages of strategies for solving the problem are analysed, the most appropriate ways and means of achieving the results of joint activity are selected (Poole, 2008; Orlov, 2018; Suroedova, 2022; Suroedova, Lomova, 2018; Suroe

Meaning-transfer in the educational process

Higher professional education is aimed not only at transferring fundamental knowledge to the student, but also at the formation of practical skills and competences that are in demand in educational and professional activities. As foreign studies show, university graduates feel uncertain about the level of their professional qualification (Jones et al., 2017; Mohammed et al., 2021). In order to increase the level of development of professional competences and confidence in the abilities of students in the educational process, interactive teaching methods are often used, "immersing" students in various professional situations that they may encounter in the future (Moeller et al., 2012; Korotaeva, Andryunina, 2021; Kudakovetal., 2021; Popey-Ool, Shishov, 2021; Morosanova, Bondarenko, Fomina, 2022), including reflexive technologies (Prokhorova, Belova, 2009) and technologies of semantic dialogue (Sharapa, Agasyan, 2019). In practical classes, when discussing non-standard situations arising in professional activities, students

need to show self-organisation and self-regulation of their behaviour, decision-making skills. During the discussion of a problem situation in student groups, "the formation of a common attitude of participants to reality and at the same time the generation of this reality" (Belousova, 2004, p. 26) takes place, which, in turn, leads to the formation of "a common psychological situation as a part of the combined parts of the image of the world and the life world of participants" (Belousova, 2004, p. 23). When jointly solving educational and professional tasks, participants of the educational process have a need to share "open" meanings and psychological qualities of the studied object or situation (Polas, 2023; Belousova, Pischik, 2011). At this point, it is possible to observe the process of meaning-transfer as a system- forming mechanism of formation of common systemic new-formations (individual and group) in the process of joint thinking activity. Pronenko E. A., Bunyaeva M. V. point out that meaning transfer plays an important role in the process of problem solving and decision making. Meaning-transference refers to the transfer and understanding of the meaning of information, ideas, and goals between people (Pronenko, Bunyaeva, 2019). Meaning-transference helps students to see the connection between learning theory and its practical application, promotes deeper understanding and learning of the material, development of critical thinking skills, flexibility and the ability to work in a team (Maknuunah et al., 2021).

Translation of meanings between participants of joint activity is possible by verbal and non-verbal (emotional) means (Belousova, 2004). Such qualities of speech activity as argumentation, logical and coherent presentation of one's thoughts, hypotheses, simplicity and clarity of statements play a leading role in the translation of meanings (Gridina, 2018; Serova, 2021; Stepykin, 2021; Suroedova, 2011). But an important aspect of meaning transmission is understanding not only the verbal content, but also adequate interpretation of the emotional component of a speech utterance, "reading" non-verbal manifestations. Nonverbal communication is a means of self-expression of the student, his ability to reflect emotions and feelings, to express personal meaning (Abakumova, Godunov & Grishina, 2021). It is worth noting that emotional experiences accompany the process of problem solving and decision making, they influence these processes and their result (Belousova, 2020). The ability to convey and understand emotional information allows taking into account and processing emotional evaluations in decision making (Suroedova, Belousova, 2022).

The role of meaning-making in self-regulation of activity and decisionmaking

The study of the role of meaning transfer in self-regulation of activity and decisionmaking in the process of joint solution of educational and professional tasks is becoming an increasingly demanded problem in psychology and pedagogy. In the process of joint problem solving, students face various educational and professional problems and uncertainty, and then the system of personal meanings becomes an integral regulator of life activity (Abakumova, Godunov & Grishina, 2021). Through the exchange of meanings

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

and understanding of the goals and meanings of the task, students can independently manage their learning activities, plan, control and evaluate their actions (Moeller et al., 2012). Meaning transfer in a combined psychological situation allows students to better understand what to do and what path to choose to solve the problem, to understand what meanings and values are embedded in the task, which, in turn, has a stimulating effect on the formation of intrinsic motivation and the effectiveness of learning activities. As studies show, when solving professional tasks, subjects form individual ways of meaning transmission by verbal and non-verbal means of communication - strategies of meaning transmission (Suroedova, 2011).

Styles of meaning transmission

In the process of decision-making by students in joint problem solving, the formation of "group thinking style" (Belousova, 2020) takes place, in the formation of which meaning-transfer plays a leading role. Communication and communication between the subjects of education allow to present and discuss different variants of the solution, analyse and evaluate their advantages and disadvantages (Abakumova, Kagermazova, 2008). Through communicating and understanding the meaning of ideas, opinions and ways of solving a problem, students can jointly make informed decisions, taking into account the different points of view and experience of each participant. Subjects in joint interaction demonstrate different styles of meaning- transfer. Under the styles of meaning transmission we understand the individual form of meaning transmission in subject-subject interaction in various situations: educational and professional activities, training and education, in the ways of joint decision-making and implementation, in the resolution of interpersonal and business contradictions.

The study of the process of meaning transfer in joint problem solving is an urgent problem, because it allows us to reveal the hidden phenomena of thought processes of subjects of joint activity and to identify the most effective ways and strategies of interaction (Belousova & Belousova, 2020). No less important is the problem of studying the personal characteristics of subjects of joint activity with different styles and strategies of meaning-transmission. The skill of effective meaning transfer helps students to be successful in collective projects, negotiations and teamwork in solving professional tasks.

Thus, the study of the role of meaning transfer in self-regulation of activity and decision-making in the process of joint solution of educational and professional tasks is important for modern education. It contributes to the development of key skills and competences necessary for students to work successfully in the future and ensures the effectiveness and quality of learning.

Purpose and hypothesis of the study

The aim of the research is to study the peculiarities of self-regulation of behaviour and decision-making in students with different styles and strategies of meaning-transfer in the process of solving educational and professional tasks.

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

The object of the study – students with different styles and strategies of meaningtransmission, the subject – features of self-regulation of behaviour and decision-making by students with different styles and strategies of meaning- transmission in the process of solving educational and professional tasks.

The hypothesis was the assumption that there are differences in self-regulation of behaviour and decision-making among students with different styles and strategies of meaning-transmission in the process of solving educational and professional tasks.

Methods

Sample

Bachelor's and Master's degree students of DSTU studying in the direction of "Psychology" took part in the study. A total of 72 respondents aged 20-25 took part in the study, among them 64 girls and 8 boys.

Natural experiment

In this study we used the results of an experiment using video recording of students solving educational and professional tasks (cases) to identify the styles of meaning transfer. Students were presented with a problematic pedagogical situation. The main character of the case was a 2nd grade student (a 7-year-old boy) who demonstrated aggressive and deviant behaviour towards teachers and students, and also had difficulties in writing. In the course of solving the educational and professional task, students had to identify the causes of the child's behaviour and propose ways to correct and prevent deviant behaviour of the schoolchild.

The styles of meaningfulness of the researched were determined by experts according to the following criteria:

- sensitivity / insensitivity to estimates, hypothesis evaluation;
- recursive actions, returning to previously discussed ideas and hypotheses;
- Sensitivity / insensitivity to contradictions;
- inconsistency / consistency of statements / logicality;
- complexity/simplicity of statements;
- operating with scientific concepts,
- an appeal to psychological theories;
- criticality;
- a tendency to generalise, to draw conclusions;
- Managing the discussion process;
- frequency of hypotheses, ideas.

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

In the course of content analysis and frequency analysis, we have identified the following styles of meaning transmission: *emotional, declarative, philosophical, neutral.*

Methods

- *Questionnaire "Strategies of Meaning Transmission" (Suroedova, 2011).* This technique allows us to identify verbal and non-verbal activity of respondents, as well as strategies of meaning transmission: passive, balanced, active, emotional-dominant and cognitive-dominant strategies.
- Self-regulation behaviour style questionnaire (Morosanova, 2004).
- Melbourne Decision Making Questionnaire (MDMQ) (Kornilova, 2013).

Processing of results

Methods of mathematical statistics: frequency analysis, descriptive statistics, method of pairwise comparisons Mann-Whitney U-criterion. Mathematical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 20.

Results

Styles and strategies of meaning transmission

In the course of the research we have established the styles and strategies of meaning transfer in students in the process of group solution of educational and professional tasks. In the course of the experiment we identified four styles of meaning- transmission, on the basis of which we distinguished 4 groups:

- Group 1 (n = 17) students with a neutral style of meaning-making;
- Group 2 (n = 12) students with an emotional style of meaning-making;
- 3 (n = 19) students with a declarative style of meaning-making;
- Group 4 (n = 24) students with philosophical style of meaning-making.

Respondents with emotional style are characterised by sensitivity to evaluations, emotional evaluation of hypotheses, situation, object of discussion; recursive actions, frequent returns to previously discussed ideas and hypotheses; sensitivity to contradictions.

Students with declarative style take the role of managing the discussion process (often authoritarian management); high frequency of hypotheses, ideas; show a tendency to make generalisations, conclusions.

Students with philosophical style of meaning-transmission are characterised by complexity of statements; criticality; operation with scientific concepts, reference to psychological theories.

The neutral style of meaning transmission is characterised by the presence of all indicators, but their expression is much weaker than in other styles.

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Based on the survey of students to identify meaning-transfer strategies, we found that 5 meaning-transfer strategies are represented in the sample, the results of the survey allowed us to categorise the researched into the following groups:

- Group 5 (n = 3) students with a passive meaning-transfer strategy;
- Group 6 (n = 10) students with cognitive-dominant meaning-transfer strategy;
- Group 7 (n = 14) students with emotionally dominant strategy of meaning-transfer;
- Group 8 (n = 27) students with balanced meaning-transfer strategy;
- Group 9 (n = 18) students with an active meaning-transfer strategy.

Features of self-regulation of behaviour in students with different styles and strategies of meaning-transmission in the process of solving educational and professional tasks

The comparative analysis of the results of the study of self-regulation of behaviour between the groups of students with different styles and strategies of meaning- transfer allowed to reveal significant differences. The results of the study of peculiarities of self-regulation of behaviour between the groups of subjects are presented in Tables 1 and 2.

Table 1

Features of self-regulation of behaviour in students with different styles of meaning- transmission in the process of solving educational and professional tasks

Groups	Programming		Мо	delling	Evaluation of results	
	U/p	Group / $ ilde{x}$ / σ	U/p	Group / $ ilde{x}$ / σ	U/p	Group / $ ilde{x}$ / σ
						1 / 6.3 / 1.62
1-2					56.0 / .050	
						2 / 7.1 / 1.52
2-3			70.0 /.046	2 / 6.3 / 1.43 3 / 5.1 / 1.55	48.0 / 004	2 / 7.1 / 1.52 3 / 5.5 / 2.21
2-4	84.0 / .037	2 / 7.1 / 1.62 4 / 5.9 / 1.41	74.0 /.017	2 / 6.3 / 1.43 4 / 4.83 / 1.81		

Note. Group 1 - students with neutral style of meaning-transmission; Group 2 - students with emotional style of meaning- transmission; Group 3 - students with declarative style of meaning-transmission; Group 4 - students with philosophical style of meaning-transmission.

Students with the leading emotional style of meaning-transmission differ from students with neutral and declarative styles of meaning-transmission by a greater expression of manifestation of evaluation of results in the process of problem solving. Differences on the "Modelling" scale were revealed in students with emotional style of meaning-transmission and students with declarative and philosophical styles. Students with the emotional style of meaning-transfer differ from students with the philosophical style by the greater expression of indicators on the "Modelling" scale (tab. 2).

Table 2

Features of self-regulation of behaviour in students with different strategies of meaning-transfer in the process of solving educational and professional tasks

Groups	Planning		Programming		Modelling		Gene	General level	
	U/p	Group / $ ilde{oldsymbol{x}}$ / σ	U/p	Group / $ ilde{x}$ / σ	U/p	Group / $ ilde{x}$ / σ	U/p	Group / $ ilde{oldsymbol{x}}$ / σ	
5-6	0.0 /	5/ 3.1/ 0.1							
	.030	6 / 6.4 /1.95							
5-7	0.0 /	5/ 3.1/ 0.1	2.0 /	5 / 6.4 / 0.4			0.0	5 / 22.8 /1.1	
	.026	7 / 6.5 / 1.22	.047	7 / 6.71 / 1.20			/	7 /31.5 / 5.43	
							.024		
5-8	0.0	5/ 3.1/ 0.1							
	/.018	8 / 6.5 / 1.75							
5-9							0.0/	5 / 22.8 /1.1	
							.019	9 / 33.5 / <u>6.09</u>	
7-9					70.0	7 / 5.0 /	1.66		
					/.03	9 / 6.4	/1.61		
8-9					138.0	8 / 4.7	/1.93		
					/.009	9 / 6.4	/1.61		

Note. Group 5 – students with passive strategy of meaning transfer; Group 6 – students with cognitive-dominant strategy of meaning transfer; Group 7 – students with emotional-dominant strategy of meaning transfer; Group 8 – students with balanced strategy of meaning transfer; Group 9 – students with active strategy of meaning transfer.

The results of mathematical statistics revealed significant differences in self-regulation of behaviour in the process of discussing a problematic pedagogical situation between groups of students with different meaning-transfer strategies. Students with passive strategy of meaning-transfer differ from students with other strategies of meaning-transfer by lower expression of indicators on the following scales of the methodology: "Planning", "Programming" and "General level of self- regulation". Students with active strategy of meaning transfer differ from students with emotionally dominant and balanced strategy by greater expression of indicators on the scale "Modelling".

Features of decision-making in students with different styles and strategies of meaning-transmission in the process of solving educational and professional tasks

The results of mathematical analysis showed the presence of significant differences in the features of self-regulation of behaviour and decision-making styles in students with different styles and strategies of meaning-transfer (Tables 3, 4).

Table 3

Peculiarities of decision-making in students with different styles of meaning- transmission in the process of solving educational and professional tasks

Groups	Procrastination		hype	er-vigilance		Avoidance	
	U/p	Group / $ ilde{x}$ / σ	U/p	Group / $ ilde{x}$ / σ	U/p	Group / $ ilde{x}$ / σ	
1-2	56.00 / .050	1 / 10.3 / 2.36 2 / 9.3 / 1.96					
1-4			118.0 / .038	1 / 11.1 / 2.15 4 / 9.4 / 2.41			
2-3					70.0 / .046	2 / 9.8 / 2.03 3 / 11.5 / 2.11	

Note. Group 1 – students with neutral style of meaning-transmission; Group 2 – students with emotional style of meaning-transmission; Group 3 – students with declarative style of meaning-transmission; Group 4 – students with philosophical style of meaning-transmission.

The results of mathematical statistics allowed to establish: students with neutral style of meaning-transmission differ from students with emotional style by greater expression of data on the scale "Procrastination"; differences on the scale "Supervigilance" are revealed between groups of students with neutral and philosophical strategies of meaning-transmission; differences on the scale "Avoidance" are revealed between groups of students style of communication.

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Table 4

Peculiarities of decision-making in students with different strategies of meaning- transfer in the process of solving educational and professional tasks

Groups	Vig	ilance	Procrastination			
	U/p	Group / $ ilde{x}$ / σ	U/p	Group / $ ilde{x}$ / σ		
5-6	0.00 / .03	5 / 11.0 / 1. 00 6 / 14.2 / 1.81				
5-7	0.00 / .021	5 / 11.0 / 1. 00 7 / 14.8 / 2.17				
5-8	0.00 / .018	5 / 11.0 / 1. 00 8 / 15.4 / 1.87				
5-9	0.00/ .019	5 / 11.0 / 1. 00 9 / 16.6 / 1.28				
6-7			32.0 / .024	6 / 9.4 / 1.95 7 / 11.0 / 2.35		
6-9	26.0 /. 002	6 / 14.2 / 1.81 9 / 16.6 / 1.28				

Groups	Vic	gilance	Procrastination		
	U/p	Group / $ ilde{x}$ / σ	U/p	Group / $ ilde{x}$ / σ	
7-8			102.0 / .011	7 / 11.0 / 2.35 8 / 9.5 / 1.84	
7-9	66.0 / .002	7 / 14.8 / 2.17 9 / 16.6 / 1.28	74.0 / .046	7 / 11.0 / 2.35 9 / 9.5 / 2.38	
8-9	152.0 / .021	8 / 15.4 / 1.87 9 / 16.6 / 1.28			

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Note. Group 5 – students with passive strategy of meaning transfer; Group 6 – students with cognitive-dominant strategy of meaning transfer; Group 7 – students with emotional-dominant strategy of meaning transfer; Group 8 – students with balanced strategy of meaning transfer; Group 9 – students with active strategy of meaning transfer.

The study revealed differences in decision-making styles among groups of students using different meaning-transfer strategies. It was found that students with a passive meaning-transfer strategy demonstrate a lower tendency to use the "Vigilance" decision-making style compared to other groups of study participants. Students with emotionally dominant strategy differ from groups of students with cognitive-dominant, balanced and active meaning-transfer strategies with higher procrastination rates. Students using the active strategy of meaning-transmission are characterised by a more pronounced tendency to "Vigilance" in the framework of decision-making compared to representatives of other groups.

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Discussion

Students with emotional style of meaning-transmission have more needs to think over the ways of their actions and behaviour in order to achieve the planned goals than other groups of students, the action programmes they develop are detailed and detailed. In the majority of respondents with the emotional style of meaning- transmission the programmes are developed independently and flexibly change in new circumstances and are characterised by greater stability in the situation of interference. In case of inconsistency of the obtained results with the goals, the respondents correct the programme of actions until an acceptable result is obtained. Besides, this group of students to a greater extent is characterised by the ability to identify significant conditions for achieving goals both in the current situation and in the promising future, which is manifested in the conformity of action programmes to activity plans and the conformity of the obtained results to the accepted goals. Students with the emotional style of meaning-transfer are characterised by a developed and adequate self-assessment, a formed and stable system of subjective criteria for evaluating the results of solving problem situations and tasks. This group of students is able to adequately assess the fact of discrepancy between the obtained results and the purpose of activity, as well as the reasons that led to it, they flexibly adapt to changing conditions.

In decision-making, students with neutral style of meaning-transmission differ from respondents with emotional style by deliberately postponing the planned things, despite the fact that it will entail certain problems and complications. Besides, the respondents with neutral style of sense-transmission have the coping "Supervigilance" much more expressed than others and acts as a factor of decision- making which does not include intellectual orientation of search of a way out of a dilemma. Supervigilance provides impulsive decision-making, which promises the possibility of avoiding the problem, and in extreme situations is realised as "panic" in choosing between alternatives.

The results of Simonton et al. (2023) showed that emotions elicit stronger correlations with self-efficacy and Schweder et al. (2020) showed that learning and problem-solving goals are related to positive emotions and self-efficacy in adolescent girls and boys. The relationship between achievement emotions and mindfulness in activity mediated by self-regulation is evidenced by the research of Howell et al. (2011). Research by Seo et al (2007) found that individuals who experienced more intense feelings achieved higher decision-making performance. Moreover, people who were more able to identify and distinguish their current feelings achieved higher decision-making outcomes due to their increased ability to control possible biases caused by these feelings. These findings indirectly support the results of our study that people with an emotional sense-transfer style are more effective in decision making.

For students with a declarative style is inherent to a greater extent coping "Avoidance", which does not require decisive actions, significant tension and responsibility for actions and their consequences when making decisions, but on the contrary - distances from the conflict situation and gives the opportunity to postpone the solution of the problem.

Students with a low level of verbal and non-verbal activity (passive strategy of meaningtransfer) are characterised by a reduced need for planning activities, their goals are subject to frequent changes and are put forward situationally, usually not independently and are rarely achieved. In addition, they are characterised by inability and unwillingness to think through the sequence of their actions. Such people prefer to act impulsively, they cannot independently form a programme of actions, often face inadequacy of the obtained results to the goals of activity and do not make changes in the programme of actions, act by trial and error. It can be said that subjects with a passive strategy of meaningtransmission have no need for conscious planning and programming of their behaviour, they are more dependent on the situation and the opinion of people around them. Such subjects have a reduced ability to compensate for unfavourable personality traits in order to achieve their goals.

Students with an active strategy of meaning-transfer are characterised by a developed ability to identify the most effective ways and strategies of solving tasks to achieve goals. They are distinguished by the ability to goal-setting and problem- setting taking into account the present situation and future perspective, control the process of problem solving and goal achievement in accordance with the action plan. The findings are supported by the results of Jeitziner et al. (2024), where it is shown that non-verbal behaviour acts as a facilitator for students' use of regulatory strategies of planning and monitoring behaviour when solving tasks in online learning and has links with high cognitive ratings of the quality of collaborative group interaction. The authors also observe that there is a greater need for verbal discussion than non-verbal communication in cases of collaborative regulation and control of the task-solving process.

Students with active strategy of meaning-transfer differ from students of other groups by more frequent use of productive coping "Vigilance", which is manifested in decisionmaking in the context of rationality as readiness to think about goals and alternatives of decisions, focus on collecting information and maximising the coverage of the field of alternatives. This coping is least of all manifested in students with a passive strategy of meaning-transfer. Postponement of decision-making, search for ways out of difficult situations, fulfilment of academic tasks is most often manifested in students with emotionally dominant strategy of meaning- transmission. The studies of Polas et al (2023) prove the importance of effective communication for decision making by employees of enterprises. These results are consistent with our data: students with an active strategy of meaning transfer, which is considered effective (Suroedova, 2011), more often show the ability to make the most effective decisions in joint thinking activity.

Conclusion

In the process of solving educational and professional tasks, four styles of meaningtransmission can be distinguished. The emotional style is characterised by evaluation and sensitivity to the evaluations of others, return to previously discussed ideas and hypotheses,

and sensitivity to contradictions. Declarative style is used by leaders who take on the role of managing the discussion process, initiate hypotheses and ideas, systematise and generalise the results of problem solving. The philosophical style is characterised by complexity, vagueness and ornate statements, operating with scientific concepts; criticality towards hypotheses, tasks and goals. The neutral style of meaning transmission is characterised by the presence of all indicators, but their expression is much weaker than in other styles.

The most effective in self-regulation of activity in problem solving are students with the emotional style of meaning-transfer. They are distinguished by the formed need to achieve the goal, the ability to develop a programme of actions taking into account various factors, flexibly adjust them in new circumstances, show stability in situations of interference; show the ability to adequately assess the fact of discrepancy between the results obtained and the goal of activity, as well as the reasons that led to it.

In decision-making and self-regulation of activity when solving educational and professional tasks, students with an active strategy of meaning-transfer are the most effective. They are characterised by the ability to set goals and plan the course of goal achievement, taking into account various conditions and factors. In the process of problem solving they tend to consider various alternatives taking into account the collected information.

References

- Abakumova, I. V., Godunov, M. V., & Grishina, A. V. (2021). Self-transcendence in the preadaptive strategy of sense-making. *The World of Academia: Culture, Education*, 2, 105–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.18522/2658-6983-2021-2-105-109</u>
- Abakumova, I. V., Kagermazova, L. C. (2008). Technologies of directed translation of meanings in teaching. Russian Psychological Journal, 5(4), 56–64. https://doi.org/10.21702/rpj.2008.4.5
- Abakumova, I., Mironenkova, N., & Pronenko E. (2022). Non-verbal Communication in Meanings Transmission. Conference "INTERAGROMASH 2021". Precision Agriculture and Agricultural Machinery Industry, 2, Rostov-on-Don: Springer, 553–562. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80946-1_52</u>
- Belousova, A. (2020). Functions of participants in the collaborative solution of thinking problems. International Journal of Cognitive Research in Science, Engineering and Education (IJCRSEE), 8, 29–36. https://doi.org/10.23947/2334-8496-2020-8-SI-29-36
- Belousova, A. K. (2004). Meaning-transference and its role in the formation of a combined psychological system. Siberian Psychological Journal, 20, 22–27.

Belousova, A. K., Pischik, V. I. (2011). Style of thinking. Southern Federal University.

Belousova, A., & Belousova, E. (2020). Gnostic emotions of students in solving of thinking tasks.

International Journal of Cognitive Research in Science, Engineering and Education, 8(2), 27–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.5937/IJCRSEE2002027B</u>

- Gridina, T. A. (2018). "Through language opens the child's consciousness...": the correlation of verbal and object codes in children's picture of the world. *Philological Class, 52*(2), 64–69. https://doi.org/10.26710/fk18-02-11
- Howell, A.J., Buro, K. (2011) Relations Among Mindfulness, Achievement-Related Self-Regulation, and Achievement Emotions. *J Happiness Stud*, 12, 1007–1022. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/</u> <u>s10902-010-9241-7</u>
- Jeitziner LT, Paneth L, Rack O and Zahn C (2024) Beyond words: investigating non-verbal indicators of collaborative engagement in a virtual synchronous CSCL environment. *Front. Psychol.*, 15:1347073. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1347073</u>
- Jones, M., Baldi, C., Phillips, C., & Waikar, A. (2017). The hard truth about soft skills: what recruiters look for in business graduates. *College Student Journal*, 50, 422–428.
- Kornilova, T. V. (2013). Melbourne decision-making questionnaire: Russianlanguage adaptation. *Psychological Research*, 6(31). <u>https://doi.org/10.54359/ps.v6i31.671</u>
- Korotaeva, E. V., Andryunina, A. S. (2021). Interactive learning: aspects of theory, methodology, practice. *Pedagogical Education in Russia*, 4, 26–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.26170/2079-8717_2021_04_03</u>
- Kudakov, O. R., Danilov, V. A., Matushansky, G. U. (2021). The structure of team competence. *Kazan Pedagogical Journal*, 145(2), 81–88.
- Maknuunah, L., Kuswandi, D. & Soepriyanto Ye. (2021). Project-Based Learning Integrated with Design Thinking Approach to Improve Students' Critical Thinking Skill. ICITE. <u>https://doi.org/10.2991/assehr.k.211210.025</u>
- Mifsud, M. L. (2019). To the humanities: what does communication studies give? *Review of Communication*, 19(2), 77–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15358593.2019.1599411</u>
- Moeller, A., Theiler, J. M. & Goal Ch. W. (2012). Setting and Student Achievement: A Longitudinal Study. *Modern Language Journal*, *96*(2), 153–169. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/41684067</u>
- Mohammed, Z., Kumar, S., & Padakannaya, P. (2021). Well-being and career decision-making difficulties among master's students: a simultaneous multi-equation modeling. *Cogent Psychology*, 8, 1996700. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23311908.2021.1996700</u>
- Morosanova V.I. (2004). Self-regulation behaviour style questionnaire (SSPM): Manual. *Cogito-Centre*.
- Morosanova, V.I., Bondarenko, I.N., Fomina, T.G. (2022). Conscious Self-regulation, Motivational Factors, and Personality Traits as Predictors of Students' Academic Performance: A Linear Empirical Model. Psychology in Russia: State of the Art, 15(4), 170–187. <u>https://doi.org/10.11621/pir.2022.0411</u>

Orlov, A. I. (2018). *Methods of making managerial decisions*. Knorus Publishing House.

- Polas, M. R. H. (2023). Empowering workers' involvement: Unveiling the dynamics of communication, recognition, productivity, and decision-making in the RMG sector. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism and Entrepreneurship*. <u>https://doi.org/10.35912/joste.v3i3.1511</u>
- Poole, M., & Ahmed, I. (2008). Decision making process in organizations. *Journal of Communication Studies*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781405186407.wbiecd007.pub2</u>
- Popey-Ool, S. K. & Shishov, S. E. (2021). Organizing dialogue-based learning interactions in a digital environment. Research and Development. *Socio-humanitarian research and technology*, 10(2), 3–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.12737/2306-1731-2021-10-2-3-11</u>
- Pronenko, E. A., Bunyaeva, M. V. (2019). Features of meaning processes and phenomena in team interaction. *Russian Psychological Journal, 16*(1), 32–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.21702/rpj.2019.1.2</u>
- Prokhorova, V. A., Belova, E. V. (2009). Reflexive technologies: prospects for use in teaching students. *North Caucasian Psychological Bulletin, 7*(3), 11–16. EDN RCQGBH
- Schweder, S., Raufelder, D., & Wulff, T. (2020). Adolescents' goals, self-efficacy, and positive emotions – how important is the learning context? *International Journal of School & Educational Psychology*, 10(1), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21683603.2020.1791771</u>
- Seo, M.-G. & Barrett L. F. Being Emotional During Decision Making—Good or Bad? an Empirical Investigation. *Academy of Management Journal*, 50(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/</u> <u>amj.2007.26279217</u>
- Serova, T. S. (2021). Learning and teaching meaningful spontaneous monologic utterance in the light of the psycholinguistic concept of the connection between speech, language and thinking. *Bulletin of Perm National Research Polytechnic University. Problems of linguistics and pedagogy*, 3, 73–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.15593/2224-9389/2021.3.7</u>
- Sharapa, I.A., Agasyan, A.A. (2019). Semantic dialogue as a technology for initiating interpersonal meanings in the educational process of a university. *Innovative science: psychology, pedagogy, defectology, 2*(2), 95–105.
- Shutenko, A. I. (2011). Development of educational communications in a modern higher education institution. *Higher Education in Russia*, 7, 80–86.
- Simonton, K. L., Dasinger, T., & Garn, A. C. (2023) Comparative Analysis Between Physical Activity Affect and Discrete Emotions in College Students. *International Journal of Physical Activity and Health, 2*(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.18122/ijpah.020301.boisestate</u>
- Stepykin, N. I. (2021). Speech action as a psycholinguistic mechanism of meaning generation and actualisation (Doctoral dissertation). Moscow State Linguistic University.
- Suroedova, E. A. (2011). The role of verbal and non-verbal means of meaning-transmission in the process of solving professional tasks by students (PhD thesis). Southern Federal University.
 Suroedova, E. A. (2022). Cognitive features of students with different strategies of meaning-

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

transmission. World of Science. Pedagogy and Psychology, 10(3).

Suroedova, E. A., Belousova, M. A. (2022). Features of meaning- transmission and emotional intelligence of preschool teachers in communication with parents through messenger chats. Psychology. *Historical and critical reviews and contemporary research*, *11*(4-1), 80–92. https://doi.org/10.34670/AR.2022.50.84.008

Suroedova, E. A., Lomova, N. V. (2018). Style features of the pedagogue's thinking in the process of meaning-transfer. *World of Science, Culture, Education, 69*(2), 433–436.

Yakupov, P. V. (2016). Communication: definition of the concept, types of communication and its barriers. *Bulletin of the University*, 10, 261–266.

Received: May 14, 2024 Revised: September 12, 2024 Accepted: September 21, 2024

Author Contributions

Elena A. Suroedova – concept and design of the study, literature analysis on the research topic, preparation of sections "Introduction" and "Discussion".

Dmitry I. Popov – selection of diagnostic methods, data collection, participation in data processing, mathematical and statistical analysis of data, participation in the preparation of the final text of the article.

Ekaterina Yu. Vertiy – participation in data collection and analysis of results, preparation and design of the text of the article, writing the abstract and conclusion.

Author Details

Elena A. Suroedova – Candidate of Psychological Sciences, Associate Professor, Department of "Psychology of Education and Organizational Psychology", Don State Technical University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; WoS Researcher ID: V-9677-2017, Scopus ID: 57193068821, RSC Author ID: 758849, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9784-0142</u>; e-mail: <u>suroedova@mail.ru</u>

Dmitry I. Popov – Assistant of Department "Psychology of Education and Organisational Psychology", Don State Technical University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; RSC Author ID: 758812, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1471-6240</u>; e-mail: <u>sr7a4@yandex.ru</u>

Ekaterina Yu. Vertiy – postgraduate student, Department of Psychology of Education and Organisational Psychology, Don State Technical University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0009-0002-9467-3902</u>; e-mail: <u>verty.ekaterina@yandex.ru</u>

Conflict of Interest Information

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

GENERAL PSYCHOLOGY, PERSONALITY PSYCHOLOGY, PHILOSOPHY AND PSYCHOLOGY

Scientific review UDC 159.91 https://doi.org/10.21702/mvdn3z46

Is there a Connection Between Genetic Predictors and Psychological Characteristics With the Effectiveness of Psychotherapy?

Pavel N. Ermakov¹, Ekaterina M. Kovsh^{1*}, Anastasiya E. Voyarzh¹, Alexey Yu. Maximov², Inna I. Titova¹

 ¹ Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation
 ² National Medical Research Center of Oncology of the Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation

*Corresponding author: <u>emkovsh@sfedu.ru</u>

Abstract

Introduction. The scientific review presents the results of the analysis of modern literature devoted to the study of the relationship of genetic, epigenetic and psychological factors with the effectiveness of psychotherapy. Theoretical justification. Statistical data indicate that in the Russian Federation, taking into account the socio-political transformations of recent times, the population's need for psychological and psychotherapeutic assistance is increasing every year. Despite this, it is still not included in the health insurance. This is largely influenced by the lack of sufficient evidence base confirming the effectiveness of various psychological and psychotherapeutic approaches. The creation of such a system is possible based on the fundamental biological mechanisms underlying mental processes. These include, among others, genetic and epigenetic predictors. The article discusses the basic concepts of genetics and epigenetics related to psychological characteristics and the psychotherapeutic process. Models of correlation and interaction between genes and the environment are described. The results of the analysis of scientific literature devoted to the study of the influence of the carrier of "plasticity alleles", as well as genes of neurotransmitter systems on the effectiveness of psychotherapy are presented. The factors of the social environment that have a significant impact on neurobiological development are described. The relationship of the severity of DNA methylation processes with traumatic experiences on the one hand and with the effects of psychotherapeutic assistance on the other is described. The features of the relationship of methylation

PSYCHOGENETICS

profiles with the psychotherapeutic effect are described. The analysis of the relationship of genetic predictors and psychological characteristics with the use of methods of cognitive behavioral therapy, therapy of PTSD, BPD, panic disorders, depression. **Discussion**. The analysis of modern scientific literature on the topic allows us to conclude that the DNA methylation index can be used as a predictor of effectiveness and an indicator of the response to psychotherapy. In the future, knowledge of the relationship between genetic predictors and psychological characteristics with the effectiveness of psychotherapy can be used to develop personalized programs aimed at providing psychological assistance.

Keywords

effectiveness of psychotherapy, epigenetics, DNA methylation, distress, cognitive behavioral psychotherapy, genes, neuroplasticity

Funding

The work was carried out with the financial support of the Russian Science Foundation (RSF) within the framework of scientific project No. 22-18-00543

For citation

Ermakov, P. N., Kovsh, E. M., Voyarzh, A. E., Maksimov, A. Yu., Titova, I. I. (2024). Is there a connection between genetic predictors and psychological characteristics with the effectiveness of psychotherapy? *Russian psychological journal, 21*(4), 93-107. https://doi. org/10.21702/mvdn3z46

Introduction

Since the middle of the twentieth century, with the active development of genetics, researchers have begun to note the great role of heredity in the genesis of mental disorders. The question of the extent of the influence of genotype and environment on psychological characteristics and human behavior is still open. At the same time, recent discoveries in the field of neuroscience indicate the opposite effect of behavior on gene expression. The epigenetic approach allows us to take a different look at mental disorders and the available methods of their correction, such as medication, psychotherapy, and psychological correction. Epigenetic studies can play a key role in determining biomarkers associated with human vulnerability to psychopathologies, which can help improve the accuracy of diagnosis and expand opportunities for timely prevention of mental maladaptation and study the mechanisms of psychotherapy (Kumsta, 2019).

Psychotherapy is an interpersonal process that aims to change feelings, behaviors, attitudes, and cognitions that are problematic for the person seeking help (Strupp and

PSYCHOGENETICS

Binder, 1984). One of the goals of psychotherapy is the restoration of human social functioning, that is, the ability to maintain stable and productive interpersonal relationships that promote physical and emotional development. The most important change occurs with a person's ability to change their social environment (Fonagy et al., 2015).

To date, more than 400 types and methods of psychotherapy have been described, which relate to the main areas: psychodynamic, cognitive-behavioral, existentialhumanistic (Roth and Fonagy, 2005). Recent studies indicate the effectiveness of therapy regardless of the direction, since common factors such as therapeutic alliance play the greatest role. The authors of the book "The Great Discussion about Psychotherapy. Evidence of what makes psychotherapy effective" Wampold and Imel give an example of a study of the effectiveness of group psychotherapy, in which an improvement in the psychoemotional state of members of the group receiving psychotherapeutic help was proved compared with the control group that did not receive such help, and with the placebo group (Wampold and Imel, 2015). The authors note that psychotherapy has fewer side effects than many conventional medical interventions and is more effective in terms of financial costs (if you take into account financial investments in the development and research of the effectiveness of medications). In the most common mental disorders, psychotherapy is comparable in effectiveness to drug treatment and has fewer adverse reactions. In addition, the psychotherapeutic process also has a preventive effect: the frequency of relapses is lower after its completion. There is no such effect in drug treatment (Wampold and Imel, 2015).

Considering the interdisciplinary problem of the relationship between genetics and psychotherapy, it is necessary to study the main modern concepts and discoveries of genetic neuroscience.

Some questions still remain open. For example, the question of which genes and their combinations affect susceptibility to stressful experiences, the genesis and manifestation of mental disorders (Gelernter, 2015). This scientific review is devoted to the search for answers to this and other designated questions.

Theoretical justification

Basic provisions of epigenetics

The human genome contains about 26 thousand genes encoding proteins, so the relationship between genotype and phenotype is incredibly complex. One gene can be associated with several phenotypes (the principle of multifinality), while one specific phenotype can be caused by mutations in several genes (the principle of equifinality). Consequently, one particular mutation can manifest itself differently in different people, which can be explained by a different profile of genetic variations and the influence of various environmental factors (Cicchetti and Rogosch, 1996).

The term "epigenetics" was first used by C. Waddington in the 1950s to refer to the mechanisms by which a genotype leads to a specific phenotype during embryonic development (Jamniczky et al., 2010). Currently, it is believed that an epigenetic trait is a stable and inherited phenotype resulting from chromosomal changes without any changes in the nucleotide sequence (Berger et al., 2009). Thus, epigenetics refers to all the mechanisms that regulate the genome by regulating gene expression - modifications that are not related to changing the DNA sequence.

Epigenetic changes have three key features:

4. they depend on the environment (Zhang, Meaney, 2010);

5. they are hereditary, that is, they can be transmitted to at least the first three generations of descendants (Daxinger, Whitelaw, 2012);

6. dynamic throughout life and potentially reversible (Szyf et al., 2008).

There are several mechanisms of epigenetic regulation. The most studied are: 1) DNA methylation, 2) histone modification, 3) chromatin conformation, 4) microRNA regulation (Graff et al., 2011).

DNA methylation is a process of activation and suppression of gene activity, which plays an important role in cell differentiation and provides a mechanism by which the genome can express multiple phenotypes in a multicellular organism. It can also serve as a form of biological adaptation to an ever-changing environment, especially in the early years of life (Szyf, 2012).

Histones are proteins that pack and organize DNA, and are also involved in the regulation of chromatin condensation.

MicroRNAs are widely activated in neurons and are associated with the processes of neurogenesis and neuroplasticity. They may play a role in the pathogenesis of depression (Dwivedi, 2014).

The "diathesis-stress" model

There are different models of the origin of mental disorders. According to the "diathesisstress" model (Monroe, Simons, 1991; Patten, 2013), psychopathology arises as a result of the interaction of premorbid genetic vulnerability or organic predisposition (diathesis) and environmental aggression (stress).

In recent years, another assumption has been discussed, according to which, instead of diathesis, people have different susceptibility to environmental influences; they may not only be more vulnerable to the negative effects of an unfavorable environment, but also sensitive to beneficial influences (Belsky et al., 2007), that is, the effect of a particular polymorphism will be reflected in the phenomenon of plasticity. Thus, the transformation of the environment into a resource environment at the individual (for example, by encouraging prosocial behavior and psychotherapeutic interventions) or sociocultural level (a favorable environment for the population) can have positive results. Therefore,

ПСИХОГЕНЕТИКА

the understanding of the role of prevention, diagnosis and treatment of mental disorders and maladaptations will change.

Currently, two ways of linking genes with the environment have been described (Caspi and Moffitt, 2006; Kendler, 2011):

7. Gene-environment correlation (rGE);

8. Gene-environment interaction (GxE).

Correlations between genes and the environment are divided into three types (Kendler and Eaves, 1986):

• passive, where children not only inherit genes, but also share with their parents the environment in which they grow and develop. For example, they inherit an athletic physique and family sports habits (Plomin et al., 1997);

• reactive or provocative — refers to the tendency of certain genetically determined temperamental behavior to cause certain types of reactions in people around them. For example, a child with a "difficult" temperament is more likely to provoke negative parental behavior;

• active or selective — defined as the active generation of certain environments based on genetically determined behavioral tendencies. This refers to the relationship between a person's genetic characteristics and the niches in the environment that a person chooses or creates. For example, an intellectually inquisitive child will tend to find an intellectually rich environment, while a child with a behavioral disorder will look for peers with similar behavior and related interests (Plomin et al., 1997).

The gene-environment interaction explains why people react differently to environmental factors (for example, why some people are more prone to depression after exposure to negative life events; why some people with genetic risk are less prone to depression if they were influenced by a favorable environment). So in the study of Heils et al. (1996) it was shown that the risk of depression increases due to the interaction between the genotypes of the 5-HTTLPR gene and the number of stressful life events experienced (Heils et al., 1996): individuals with one or two copies of the short allele of the 5-HTTL promoter polymorphism have more pronounced depressive symptoms and suicidal tendencies due to stressful life events, compared with carriers of the homozygous variant of the long allele (Caspi et al., 2003).

Correlation and interaction models are not mutually exclusive. Genetic polymorphism may be associated with certain traits that cause changes in the environment and interact with the environment to determine the phenotype. An example of such an indirect model is the detection of the correlation of a short polymorphic allele in the promoter region of the serotonin transporter gene (5HTTLPR) with neuroticism (Greenberg et al., 2000; Sen et al., 2004), which, in turn, is associated with a tendency to negatively interpret life events and with higher rates of depression (John and Gross, 2004).

Thus, it can be concluded that psychosocial interventions (environmental effects) are reflected in biological changes; therefore, psychotherapy is a type of treatment/support

PSYCHOGENETICS

that involves learning from the environment determined by therapeutic relationships and can lead to certain changes in behavior, well—being, quality of life, etc., which are also reflected in biological shifts.

The study of the effect of carrying "plasticity alleles" on the effectiveness of psychotherapy has contradictory results. Thus, Bryant et al. (2010) demonstrated that respondents diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder with a short 5HTTPLR allele reacted worse to cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) compared with patients with a homozygous variant of the long allele. In another study, it was found that in patients with post-stroke depression with a short 5HTTPLR allele, psychosocial rehabilitation had a significant effect that was not obvious for patients with homozygous carriers with a long allele (Kohen et al., 2011). Eley et al. (2012) showed that children with anxiety disorder who have two short alleles in the genotype (SS) show more pronounced success in cognitive behavioral therapy than children with a long allele (SL/LL). In a study by Bockting et al. (2013) the relationship between the serotonin 5HTTLPR transporter gene and the response to cognitive behavioral therapy in patients with recurrent depression has not been identified.

The relationship between the genotype of the 5HTTLPR gene and the effectiveness of cognitive behavioral therapy could not be replicated in childhood anxiety disorder. The authors reported that children homozygous for the short allele showed more positive treatment results, but with minor effects that did not reach the level of statistical regularity (Lester et al., 2016).

It is important to note that in recent years, research in this area has shifted from lowproductivity studies of genetic associations in which one or more genetic loci (candidate genes) are simultaneously genotyped to high-performance full-genome associative studies that include thousands of gene variants (GWAS) (CONVERGE consortium, 2015; Hou et al., 2016; Power et al., 2017).

The study of the complex relationships between genes and the environment has led to the development of epigenetic models that go beyond the classical paradigm of vulnerability to stress. Let's turn to a more detailed consideration of them.

Research on the relationship between social and (epi)genetic factors

Several social environmental factors, such as parental care in infancy and distress, can have a significant impact on neurobiological development by altering epigenetic programming, causing long-term consequences for mental health. It is known that the quality of parental care can determine the activation of certain genes in offspring associated with the development of certain areas of the brain, such as the hippocampus, which are involved in the regulation of stress response (Meaney, 2001). Thus, chronic and unpredictable separation from the mother causes depressive behavior in offspring in adulthood, changing the DNA methylation profile, which is passed on to the next generation with subsequent changes in gene expression (Franklin et al., 2010). For

PSYCHOGENETICS

example, a study of rat development has shown that abuse at an early age leads to persistent changes in the methylation profile of the BDNF gene and, consequently, in its expression in the prefrontal cortex, which in turn is observed in subsequent offspring (Fumagalli et al., 2004, Roth et al., 2009). Prenatal stress in rats and social stress in mice reduced BDNF levels in the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex (Luoni et al., 2014). As for humans, patients with depression had decreased levels of BDNF in serum and plasma, as well as in the hippocampus, during pathoanatomic studies (Lee and Kim, 2010). Thus, BDNF can be associated with adaptation to environmental conditions.

Other studies have shown that exposure to an acute stressor activates several effects, including enhanced danger memory, adaptive immunity, and metabolic changes that prepare the body to deal with the threat (Rubin et al., 2014). On the other hand, more intense and/or longer periods of stress have negative consequences, including memory impairment, cardiovascular disease, and metabolic syndrome (McEwen, 2007).

Transcriptomic studies in animal models have shown that both acute and chronic stressors cause behavioral changes in high anxiety, changes in hippocampal function and gene expression, although these effects vary depending on the type of stressor. For example, the transcription profile of the hippocampus in response to acute stress differs depending on whether the animal was previously subjected to chronic stress, even if a recovery period followed (Verhagen et al., 2010). Thus, each stressful situation that arises can change the initial set level, which also depends on the stage of development at which the stressor is affected.

In humans, prenatal exposure to depressed/anxious maternal mood was associated with increased methylation of the GR (NR3C1) gene in the fetus, which, in turn, led to an increased salivary cortisol response to stress in the child 3 months after birth (Oberlander et al., 2008). In addition, in patients with a high risk of suicide and a history of sexual violence, researchers observed an increase in methylation of exon 1F NR3C1 and a decrease in its expression in the hippocampus (McGowan et al., 2009). This suggests that the intergenerational transmission of vulnerability to psychopathology in adulthood may be mediated by early epigenetic modifications (due to an unfavorable environment) associated with the regulation of stress response.

Let us turn to the study of the relationship between genetic and epigenetic factors with the effectiveness of psychotherapy.

Genetic and epigenetic correlates of psychotherapy effectiveness

Patients diagnosed with borderline personality disorder (BPD) were treated with dialectical behavioral therapy for 4 weeks. The Beck Depression Questionnaire II, the Beck Hopelessness Scale (BHS) were used to assess negativity and pessimism about the future, the Barratt impulsivity Scale (BIS-10), the trauma questionnaire (CTQ). DNA extraction was performed from blood leukocytes. Before and after the psychotherapeutic intervention, the percentage of CpG methylation of exons I and IV of the brain neurotrophic factor

(BDNF) gene protein was measured. The study showed that, compared with the control group, the level of methylation (directly proportional to the number of traumatic events in childhood) in both areas of BDNF was significantly higher in people diagnosed with PRL. In addition, a positive association was found between BDNF methylation status and levels of depression, hopelessness, and impulsivity. In patients with PRL, BDNF methylation increased significantly after psychotherapeutic intervention, especially in those who demonstrated pharmacoresistance. In patients who noted the effectiveness of drug treatment, a decrease in the severity of the DNA methylation process was recorded. Changes in methylation status were largely associated with changes in symptoms of depression, hopelessness, and impulsivity (Perroud et al., 2013).

In another study, patients with post-traumatic stress disorder underwent psychotherapy for 12 weeks. At the end of the course of psychotherapy and after 3 months of follow-up, the level of methylation of DNA isolated from blood lymphocytes was measured before treatment. Methylation of the NR3C1 gene predicted a response to treatment, but did not change significantly over time. Patients who had higher methylation levels before treatment responded better to the intervention. Methylation of the FKBP51 gene is not a predictor of treatment success, although it tends to decrease in patients who have experienced the effectiveness of drug treatment (Yehuda et al., 2013).

After undergoing cognitive behavioral therapy for 6 weeks, patients with panic disorder had lower DNA methylation, compared with the control group, in the monoamine oxidase A (MAOA) gene. An increase in methylation of MAOA correlates with a decrease in the intensity of symptoms of agoraphobia (Ziegler et al., 2016).

After undergoing cognitive behavioral therapy for 12 weeks, children with anxiety disorder showed a decrease in the level of methylation of CpG IV FKBP5. The analysis showed that a change in the methylation of CpG4 FKBP5 DNA was largely associated with a "good" response to treatment (Roberts et al., 2015).

An increased level of GLUT1 methylation, compared with conditionally healthy people, was found in patients with depression. In addition, patients with depression in remission after treatment (6 weeks of inpatient treatment, cognitive behavioral therapy and taking antidepressants) had significantly lower levels of GLUT1 methylation compared to patients without remission (Kahl et al., 2016).

In total, some disorders (for example, borderline personality disorder and panic disorder) exhibit characteristic patterns of gene methylation associated with neurotransmission or neuroplasticity functions. Preliminary data indicate that these methylation profiles may mitigate the effect of psychotherapy or vary depending on the patient's response to it. In this regard, epigenetic changes, for example, the level of methylation, can be used as predictors and indicators of response to psychotherapy (Jiménez J. P. et al. 2018).

Thus, the study of epigenetic mechanisms that may underlie psychotherapeutic changes is a promising area of research. At the same time, scientists emphasize the need

PSYCHOGENETICS

to control mixed environmental factors and whether methylation variations are caused by a simple passage of time (Jiménez J. P. et al. 2018). Also, studies on the relationship between epigenetics and psychotherapy did not exceed 12 weeks in duration, which may not be enough to cause persistent changes in personality functioning (Lindfors et al., 2015).

Discussion

Children inherit not only genes from their parents, but also significant environmental influences encoded in them. Given that there is some evidence of the transmission of epigenetic modifications in people who have been subjected to traumatic situations, it can be assumed that epigenetic changes caused by psychotherapy can also potentially be transmitted to offspring. In addition, the fact that epigenetic changes are reversible may serve as an argument in favor of the use of psychotherapy (Yehuda et al., 2016).

The transfer of knowledge from one generation to another is another mechanism for the transfer of information necessary for survival, in parallel with the transfer of genetic material (Fonagy and Allison, 2014), where epigenetic modifications play an important role.

Summarizing the above, we can conclude that the origin of mental illness is related to the interaction of the environment and the genome, and that this interaction also depends on epigenetic mechanisms. On the other hand, we also know that the effectiveness of psychotherapy largely depends on a number of factors related to both interpersonal processes and biological changes in the central nervous system. Also, differentiating genetic polymorphisms of variability, one can assume the presence of susceptibility to positive environmental stimuli, which may be useful as an indicator of response and prognosis for psychotherapy.

References

- Belsky, J., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M., & van Ijzendoorn, M. (2007). For better and for worse: Differential susceptibility to environmental influences. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *16*(6), 300–304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2007.00525.x</u>
- Berger, S. L., Kouzarides, T., Shiekhattar, R., & Shilatifard, A. (2009). An operational definition of epigenetics. Genes & Development, 23(7), 781–783. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1787609</u>
- Bockting, C. L., Mocking, R. J., Lok, A., Koeter, M. W., & Schene, A. H. (2013). Therapygenetics: The 5HTTLPR as a biomarker for response to psychological therapy? *Molecular Psychiatry*, 18(7), 744–745. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2012.92</u>
- Bryant, R. A., Felmingham, K. L., Falconer, E. M., Pe Benito, L., Dobson-Stone, C., Pierce, K. D., et al. (2010). Preliminary evidence of the short allele of the serotonin transporter gene predicting poor response to cognitive behavior therapy in posttraumatic stress disorder.

Biological Psychiatry, 67(12), 1217–1219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.03.016

- Caspi, A., & Moffitt, T. E. (2006). Gene–environment interactions in psychiatry: joining forces with neuroscience. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 7(7), 583-590. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> <u>nrn1925</u>
- Caspi, A., Sugden, K., Moffitt, T. E., Taylor, A., Craig, I. W., Harrington, H., et al. (2003). Influence of life stress on depression: Moderation by a polymorphism in the 5-HTT gene. *Science*, *301*(5631), 386–389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1083968</u>
- Cicchetti, D., & Rogosch, F. A. (1996). Equifinality and multifinality in developmental psychopathology. *Development and Psychopathology*, *8*(4), 597–600. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579400007318</u>
- CONVERGE consortium. (2015). Sparse whole-genome sequencing identifies two loci for major depressive disorder. *Nature*, *523*(7562), 588–591. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14659</u>
- Daxinger, L., & Whitelaw, E. (2012). Understanding transgenerational epigenetic inheritance via the gametes in mammals. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *13*(3), 153–162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3188</u>
- Domschke, K., Zavorotnyy, M., Diemer, J., Nitsche, S., Hohoff, C., Baune, B. T., ... & Zwanzger, P. (2010). COMT val158met influence on electroconvulsive therapy response in major depression. American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics, 153(1), 286-290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.30949</u>
- Dwivedi, Y. (2014). Emerging role of microRNAs in major depressive disorder: diagnosis and therapeutic implications. Dialogues in clinical neuroscience, 16(1), 43-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2014.16.1/ydwivedi</u>
- Eley, T. C., Hudson, J. L., Creswell, C., Tropeano, M., Lester, K. J., Cooper, P., et al. (2012). Therapygenetics: the 5HTTLPR and response to psychological therapy. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *17*(3), 236–237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2011.132</u>
- Fonagy, P. (2003). The interpersonal interpretive mechanism: The confluence of genetics and attachment theory in development. In V. Green (Ed.), *Emotional development in psychoanalysis, attachment theory and neuroscience: Creating connections* (pp. 107– 126). New York, NY: Brunner-Routledge.
- Fonagy, P., & Allison, E. (2014). The role of mentalizing and epistemic trust in the therapeutic relationship. Psychotherapy, 51(3), 372–380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036505</u>
- Franklin, T. B., Russig, H., Weiss, I. C., Graff, J., Linder, N., Michalon, A., et al. (2010). Epigenetic transmission of the impact of early stress across generations. *Biological Psychiatry*, 68(5), 408–415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.05.036</u>
- Fumagalli, F., Bedogni, F., Perez, J., Racagni, G., & Riva, M. A. (2004). Corticostriatal brain-derived neurotrophic factor dysregulation in adult rats following prenatal stress. *European Journal* of Neuroscience, 20(6), 1348–1354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03592.x</u>
- Gelernter, J. (2015). Genetics of complex traits in psychiatry. *Biological Psychiatry*, 77(1), 36–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.08.005

PSYCHOGENETICS

- Graff, J., Kim, D., Dobbin, M. M., & Tsai, L. H. (2011). Epigenetic regulation of gene expression in physiological and pathological brain processes. *Physiological Reviews*, 91(2), 603–649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00012.2010</u>
- Greenberg, B. D., Li, Q., Lucas, F. R., Hu, S., Sirota, L. A., Benjamin, J., et al. (2000). Association between the serotonin transporter promoter polymorphism and personality traits in a primarily female population sample. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, *96*(2), 202–216. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-8628(20000403)96:2<202::AID-AJMG16>3.0.CO;2-J
- Gusev, S. A., & Skirtach, I. A. (2019). Psychological characteristics of people with high levels of anxiety and the possibility of its correction through CBT training. *Innovative science: psychology, pedagogy, defectology, 2*(2), 16–33. (in Russ.).
- Heim, C., & Binder, E. B. (2012). Current research trends in early life stress and depression: Review of human studies on sensitive periods, gene–environment interactions, and epigenetics. *Experimental Neurology*, 233(1), 102–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.10.032</u>
- Hou, L., Bergen, S. E., Akula, N., Song, J., Hultman, C. M., Landen, M., et al. (2016). Genomewide association study of 40,000 individuals identifies two novel loci associated with bipolar disorder. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 25(15), 3383–3394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ hmg/ddw181</u>
- Jamniczky, H. A., Boughner, J. C., Rolian, C., Gonzalez, P. N., Powell, C. D., Schmidt, E. J., et al. (2010). Rediscovering Waddington in the post-genomic age: Operationalising Waddington's epigenetics reveals new ways to investigate the generation and modulation of phenotypic variation. *BioEssays*, *32*(7), 553–558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ bies.200900189</u>
- Jiménez, J. P., Botto, A., Herrera, L., Leighton, C., Rossi, J. L., Quevedo, Y., ... & Luyten, P. (2018). Psychotherapy and genetic neuroscience: An emerging dialog. Frontiers in Genetics, 9, 257. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2018.00257</u>
- John, O. P., & Gross, J. J. (2004). Healthy and unhealthy emotion regulation: Personality processes, individual differences, and life span development. *Journal of Personality*, 72(6), 1301–1333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00298.x</u>
- Kahl, K. G., Georgi, K., Bleich, S., Muschler, M., Hillemacher, T., Hilfiker-Kleinert, D., et al. (2016). Altered DNA methylation of glucose transporter 1 and glucose transporter 4 in patients with major depressive disorder. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *76*, 66–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.02.002</u>
- Kendler, K. S., & Eaves, L. J. (1986). Models for the joint effect of genotype and environment on liability to psychiatric illness. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 143(3), 279–289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.143.3.279</u>
- Kohen, R., Cain, K. C., Buzaitis, A., Johnson, V., Becker, K. J., Teri, L., et al. (2011). Response to psychosocial treatment in poststroke depression is associated with serotonin transporter polymorphisms. *Stroke*, 42(7), 2068–2070. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/</u> <u>STROKEAHA.110.611434</u>

- Kovsh, E. M., Ermakov, P. N., & Vorobyeva, E. V. (2015). Association of the polymorphic marker Val158Met of the COMT gene with the level of aggression and conflict behavior strategies in girls aged 18-24. *North Caucasian Psychological Bulletin*, *13*(3), 15–21. (in Russ.).
- Kumsta, R. (2019). The role of epigenetics for understanding mental health difficulties and its implications for psychotherapy research. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, *92*(2), 190–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/papt.12227</u>
- Lee, B. H., & Kim, Y. K. (2010). The roles of BDNF in the pathophysiology of major depression and in antidepressant treatment. *Psychiatry Investigation*, 7(4), 231–235. <u>https://doi.org/10.4306/pi.2010.7.4.231</u>
- Lester, K. J., Roberts, S., Keers, R., Coleman, J. R., Breen, G., Wong, C. C., et al. (2016). Nonreplication of the association between 5HTTLPR and response to psychological therapy for child anxiety disorders. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *208*(3), 182–188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.154997</u>
- Lindfors, O., Knekt, P., Heinonen, E., Harkanen, T., Virtala, E., Helsinki Psychotherapy, et al. (2015). The effectiveness of short- and long-term psychotherapy on personality functioning during a 5-year follow-up. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 173, 31–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.10.039</u>
- Luoni, A., Berry, A., Calabrese, F., Capoccia, S., Bellisario, V., Gass, P., et al. (2014). Delayed BDNF alterations in the prefrontal cortex of rats exposed to prenatal stress: Preventive effect of lurasidone treatment during adolescence. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 24(7), 986–995. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2013.12.010</u>
- McEwen, B. S. (2007). Physiology and neurobiology of stress and adaptation: Central role of the brain. *Physiological Reviews*, *87*(3), 873–904. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00041.2006</u>
- McGowan, P. O., Sasaki, A., D'alessio, A. C., Dymov, S., Labonté, B., Szyf, M., ... & Meaney, M. J. (2009). Epigenetic regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor in human brain associates with childhood abuse. Nature neuroscience, 12(3), 342-348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> nn.2270
- Meaney, M. J. (2001). Maternal care, gene expression, and the transmission of individual differences in stress reactivity across generations. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *24*(1), 1161–1192. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.1161
- Monroe, S. M., & Simons, A. D. (1991). Diathesis-stress theories in the context of life stress research: Implications for the depressive disorders. *Psychological Bulletin*, *110*(3), 406–425. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.110.3.406</u>
- Oberlander, T. F., Weinberg, J., Papsdorf, M., Grunau, R., Misri, S., & Devlin, A. M. (2008). Prenatal exposure to maternal depression, neonatal methylation of human glucocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C1) and infant cortisol stress responses. *Epigenetics*, *3*(2), 97–106. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.3.2.6034</u>

Patten,	S.	В.	(2013).	Major	depression	epidemiology	from	а
diath	esis-st	ress	concept	ualization.	BMC	psychiatry,	13,	1-10.

PSYCHOGENETICS

- Perroud, N., Salzmann, A., Prada, P., Nicastro, R., Hoeppli, M. E., Furrer, S., et al. (2013). Response to psychotherapy in borderline personality disorder and methylation status of the BDNF gene. *Translational Psychiatry*, *3*(3), e207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2012.140</u>
- Plomin, R., DeFries, J., McClearn, G., & Rutter, M. (1997). *Behavioral genetics*. New York, NY: W. H. Freeman.
- Power, R. A., Tansey, K. E., Buttenschon, H. N., Cohen-Woods, S., Bigdeli, T., Hall, L. S., et al. (2017). Genome-wide association for major depression through age at onset stratification: Major Depressive Disorder Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium. *Biological Psychiatry*, 81(4), 325–335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.05.010</u>
- Roberts, S., Keers, R., Lester, K. J., Coleman, J. R., Breen, G., Arendt, K., et al. (2015). HPA axis related genes and response to psychological therapies: Genetics and epigenetics. *Depression and Anxiety*, *32*(11), 861–870. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22430</u>
- Roth, A., & Fonagy, P. (2005). What works for whom? A critical review of psychotherapy research (2nd ed.). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Roth, T. L., Lubin, F. D., Funk, A. J., & Sweatt, J. D. (2009). Lasting epigenetic influence of early-life adversity on the BDNF gene. *Biological Psychiatry*, 65(9), 760–769. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.11.028</u>
- Rubin, T. G., Gray, J. D., & McEwen, B. S. (2014). Experience and the ever-changing brain: What the transcriptome can reveal. *Bioessays*, *36*(11), 1072–1081. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201400095</u>
- Sen, S., Burmeister, M., & Ghosh, D. (2004). Meta-analysis of the association between a serotonin transporter promoter polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) and anxiety-related personality traits. American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics, 127(1), 85-89. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.20158
- Shushanikova, A. A., & Lukyanov, O. V. (2016). adaptation of instruments developed to study the effectiveness of psychotherapeutic processes. Psychology in Russia: State of the art, 9(2), 69-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.11621/pir.2016.0206</u>
- Strupp, H. H., & Binder, J. L. (1984). *Psychotherapy in a new key: A guide to time-limited dynamic psychotherapy*. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Szyf, M., McGowan, P., & Meaney, M. J. (2008). The social environment and the epigenome. Environmental and molecular mutagenesis, 49(1), 46-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/em.20357</u>
- Verhagen, M., van der Meij, A., van Deurzen, P. A., Janzing, J. G., Arias-Vasquez, A., Buitelaar, J. K., et al. (2010). Meta-analysis of the BDNF Val66Met polymorphism in major depressive disorder: Effects of gender and ethnicity. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 15(3), 260–271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2008.109</u>
- Wampold, B. E., & Imel, Z. E. (2015). *The great psychotherapy debate: The evidence for what makes psychotherapy work* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Yehuda, R., Daskalakis, N. P., Bierer, L. M., Bader, H. N., Klengel, T., Holsboer, F., & Binder, E.B. (2016). Holocaust exposure induced intergenerational effects on FKBP5 methylation.
Biological psychiatry, 80(5), 372-380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.08.005</u>

- Yehuda, R., Daskalakis, N. P., Desarnaud, F., Makotkine, I., Lehrner, A. L., Koch, E., ... & Bierer, L. M. (2013). Epigenetic biomarkers as predictors and correlates of symptom improvement following psychotherapy in combat veterans with PTSD. Frontiers in psychiatry, 4, 118. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00118
- Zhang, T.Y., & Meaney, M. J. (2010). Epigenetics and the environmental regulation of the genome and its function. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *61*, 439–466. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.60.110707.163625</u>
- Ziegler, C., Richter, J., Mahr, M., Gajewska, A., Schiele, M. A., Gehrmann, A., et al. (2016). MAOA gene hypomethylation in panic disorder: Reversibility of an epigenetic risk pattern by psychotherapy. *Translational Psychiatry*, 6(4), e773. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2016.41

Received: August 12, 2024 Revised: October 2, 2024 Accepted: November 7, 2024

Authors' Contribution

Pavel N. Ermakov – conceptualization of theoretical research, critical revision of the content of the article.

Ekaterina M. Kovsh – conducting theoretical analysis, writing the text of the article.

Anastasia E. Voyarzh – conducting theoretical analysis, writing the text of the article.

Alexey Yu. Maksimov – conceptualization of theoretical research.

Inna I. Titova – collection and systematization of sources of scientific literature.

Author Details

Pavel N. Ermakov – Dr.Sci. (Biology), Professor, Head of the Department of Psychophysiology and Clinical Psychology, Southern Federal University, Rostovon-Don, Russian Federation; WoS Researcher ID: B-3040-2016; Scopus Author ID: 6602450914; RSCI Author ID: 90844; SPIN code RSCI: 7706-9441; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8395-2426</u>; e-mail: <u>paver@sfedu.ru</u>

Ekaterina M. Kovsh – Cand.Sci. (Psychology), Associate Professor of the Department of Psychophysiology and Clinical Psychology, Southern Federal University, Rostovon-Don, Russian Federation; WoS Researcher ID: C-6951-2017; Scopus Author ID: 57202393992; RSCI Author ID: 774822; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5804-5688</u>; e-mail: <u>emkovsh@sfedu.ru</u>

Anastasia E. Voyarzh – postgraduate student, Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia; AuthorID: 1074124; e-mail: <u>voyarzh@bk.ru</u>

PSYCHOGENETICS

Alexey Yu. Maksimov – Dr.Sci. (Medical Sciences), Deputy Director, National Medical Research Center of Oncology of the Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation, Rostovon-Don, Russian Federation; Scopus Author ID: 56579049500; RSCI Author ID: 710705; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1397-837X</u>; e-mail: <u>lesha.maks7414@mail.ru</u> Inna I. Titova – postgraduate student, Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia; AuthorID: 1211861; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0009-0006-5404-166X</u>; e-mail: ititova@sfedu.ru

Conflict of Interest Information

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Pavel N. Ermakov, Ekaterina M. Kovsh, Anastasiya E. Voyarzh, Alexey Yu. Maximov, Inna I. Titova Is there a Connection Between Genetic Predictors and Psychological Characteristics With the Effectiveness of Psychotherapy? Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

PSYCHOGENETICS

Research article UDC 159.972 https://doi.org/10.21702/eencbj47

Emotion Dysregulation and its Neurophysiological Basis in People with Autism Spectrum Disorders

Elena A. Dorosheva 1,2

¹ Novosibirsk National Research State University, Novosibirsk, Russian Federation ² Scientific Research Institute of Neurosciences and Medicine, Siberian Branch, Russian Academy of Medical Sciences, Novosibirsk, Russian Federation

elena.dorosheva@mail.ru

Abstract

Introduction. Emotion dysregulation is a characteristic of autism spectrum disorders (ASDs). This study aims to systematize and analyze data on the specificity of emotion dysregulation in children and adults with autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) and their neurophysiological correlates. Emotion regulation in ASDs. Typical manifestations of emotion dysregulation in different age groups with ASDs, the relationship between efficient and inefficient regulatory mechanisms and concomitant disorders, external and internal problems, and key symptoms of autism are described. The emotion regulation system in ASDs shows a developmental delay. Neurobiological mechanisms of disorders in the emotional sphere and social interactions in ASDs. Data on the neurobiological mechanisms of emotion dysregulation in ASDs show a number of structural, functional, and molecular characteristics in the brain regions associated with the processing of social information, as well as an imbalance of excitation and inhibition processes, which obviously decreases stress resistance. Due to the increase in avoidance behavior and reduction in social experience, low stress resistance to social stimuli creates secondary obstacles to the formation of effective self-regulation strategies. Neurobiological mechanisms of emotion dysregulation in ASDs. There is a single neurophysiological basis for disturbances in the processing of emotional and social signals and in emotion dysregulation in ASDs.

Keywords

autism spectrum disorders, emotion dysregulation, ontogenesis, neurobiology, social interactions, stress resistance

Funding

The results were obtained in accordance with the state research contract by Scientific Research Institute of Neurosciences and Medicine, CITiS registration number: 122042700001-9.

For citation

Dorosheva, E. A. (2024). Emotion dysregulation and its neurophysiological basis in people with autism spectrum disorders. *Russian Psychological Journal, 21*(4), 112–128. https://doi.org/10.21702/eencbj47

Introduction

Autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) are widespread dysontogenetic disorders that persist throughout life. In the modern world, the prevalence of ASDs continues to grow. Thus, according to a meta-analysis from 2023, the prevalence of ASDs as a whole was 0.72 % of the population, Asperger's syndrome – 0.13 %, atypical autism and pervasive developmental disorders – 0.18 % (Talantseva et al., 2023). Considerable investment is needed to facilitate and support people with ASDs, and their families are suffering from social instability (Bonis, 2016; Lievore et al., 2023).

ASDs are characterized by the presence of a wide range of mental development and behavioral defects, the main of which are impairments in communication and social interaction, self-regulation, sensory processes, reduction in motivation, psychological and behavioral stereotypes, and poor behavior (Posar & Visconti, 2023).

Several models have been proposed to explain the mechanisms of development of ASDs and attempts have been made to find the key factors causing a wide range of their symptoms. The theoretical importance of this issue is primarily related to the possibility of using autism spectrum disorders as a model to better understand the functioning of the healthy brain. The practical importance is to expand the possibility of helping people with ASDs based on understanding the mechanisms that form the disorders.

The severity of the deficit, especially in the field of social interaction, attracts research attention to this aspect of ASDs. The specificity of the emotional sphere is of particular interest, as its normal functioning is an integral part of social competence. One of the main characteristics of the emotional sphere in ASDs is emotion dysregulation.

Effective social interaction includes the development of a mature system of emotion regulation, including social expression and the ability to control internal states. Emotions

that first arise in response to a situation undergo changes that lead to the optimization of response at the behavioral level and its functional support. Emotions can change intensity, character, and direction (reorienting towards another situation or another aspect of the situation) (Gross & John, 2003). Efficient individual emotion regulation styles predict psychological well-being (Da Costa Dutra et al., 2023). Emotion dysregulation is defined as a lack of control and modulation of the valence, intensity, and expression of emotions (Davico et al., 2022); emotion dysregulation is a factor in many mental disorders (Igra et al., 2023).

Efforts to rehabilitate people with ASDs require the development of emotion regulation skills that increase stress resistance, enable them to enter social interaction situations efficiently (unlike avoiding potentially stressful conditions), gain social experience, and be subjected to correctional influences (Shaffer et al., 2023).

This study aims to systematize modern data on emotion dysregulation in the structure and dynamics of ASDs and to examine the neurophysiological correlates of emotion regulation.

Emotion regulation in ASDs

The immaturity of the emotion regulation system, the reduction in efficient strategies for self-regulation and regulating emotions in others, and the increase in inefficient strategies can be observed at all age stages of the development of children and adults with ASDs (Bradley et al., 2023). Children with ASDs show a decrease in positive emotional expression since childhood when they interact with adults, resulting in negative emotional reactions in parents and reducing their activity in interaction with children, reducing the possibility of developing emotional regulation of children with the help of adults (Jahromi et al., 2013; Sung et al., 2024). In pre-school age, children with ASDs tend to use primitive self-regulatory methods such as emotional outbursts and avoidance of situations that cause unwanted tension (Davico et al., 2022; Taylor et al., 2022). The degree of emotional deregulation already at this age is linked to various distress symptoms, such as sleep disorders (Favole et al., 2023), and also shows strong correlations with social functioning and behavioral disorders (Berkovits et al., 2017). Self-soothing through stereotypical behavior and self-stimulation is common in children and adults with ASDs, especially in situations of social stress; stereotypic behavior that leads to self-harm is generally associated with an increase in other forms of emotion dysfunction (Martnez-González et al., 2022; Lampi et al., 2020). At the same time, neurotypical children can already use attention switching, re-evaluation, rethinking in pre-school; stereotypic behavior, selfstimulation, and self-harm are observed in them very rarely.

In early school age and adolescence, low-functioning autistic children continue to use immature self-regulation strategies, while high-functioning autistic children gradually develop more mature cognitive strategies. However, even high-functioning autistic adolescents and adults have inefficient regulation strategies, including rumination

(obsessive negative experiences); suppression of thoughts that cause unpleasant emotions, with their subsequent uncontrollable "intrusion", impulsive discharge, catastrophizing, self-blame, dissociation in the context of a decrease in effective strategies (Bruggink et al., 2016; Ilen et al., 2023; Martínez-González et al., 2022; Mazefsky et al., 2014). Adults with ASDs also maintain primitive regulation strategies; mature self-regulation strategies, such as cognitive reappraisal, can not only be reduced, but also less efficient when used (Zaharia et al., 2021).

The research findings also show that the use of emotion regulation strategies is linked to mental health problems in ASDs; greater external (behavior, interpersonal relationships) and internal (well-being, emotional states, and self-esteem) problems are associated with a decline in mature efficient emotion regulation strategies or an increase in emotion dysregulation (Cai et al., 2019; Conner et al., 2020; Bruggink et al., 2016; Mazefsky et al, 2014; Samson et al., 2014).

At the same time, it is reported that an inefficient strategy of thought suppression, combined with a high cognitive reappraisal in a group of adolescents and young adults with ASDs, is associated with relative psychological well-being; this association is not typical in neurotypical development (Pouw et al., 2013a).

A reduction in depression symptoms was observed in boys with ASDs who use avoidance strategies in stressful situations (Pouw et al., 2013b). The reduction of depression symptoms has also been demonstrated with the increase in avoidance strategies, such as in adolescents with ASDs (Cracco et al., 2017). Another characteristic difference between high-functioning autistic adolescents and their neurotypical peers is the maintenance of levels of depression with an increase in efficient emotion regulation strategies and the lack of conviction that emotional experience contributes to solving the problem. The authors believe that attempts to solve problems are less likely to yield results and the accumulation of positive experiences in this group. (Rieffe et al., 2011). Studies of the neurotypical population usually show a direct link between depression and avoidance strategies. Perhaps the inability to cope with stressful situations makes the avoidance strategy adaptive in ASDs under some conditions (at least in the short and medium term). Overall, these results may suggest specific prognostic implications for the severity of various emotional regulation strategies in ASDs.

A mixed group of adolescents with mental disabilities reported a regression to less adaptive strategies for regulating emotions between the ages of 12 and 15, which may be related to physiological changes at this age (Cracco et al., 2017); this requires careful comparison among the age groups.

Emotion regulation indicators are associated with important developmental characteristics in the context of basic ASDs. In a sample of children aged 3 to 12 years, a positive relationship was found between efficient emotion regulation and the age of verbal development, which further emphasizes the role of speech in the development of self-regulation (Nader-Grosbois & Mazzone, 2014). Samson et al. (2014) report a link between

emotion dysregulation and all the main symptoms of autism, including deficiency in social functioning, communication, sensory disorders and, above all, stereotypic behavior; this enables us to consider the phenomenon of dysregulation as a cross-sectional phenomenon in the structure of autism spectrum disorders (Samson et al., 2014). The contribution of almost all autism symptoms to emotion dysregulation, which modulates the development of anxious states, is noted (Swain et al., 2015). Stereotypic and restricted behavior is closely related to rumination, one of the major forms of emotion dysregulation, and some authors consider it to be a cognitive form of stereotyping (Ibrahim et al., 2019). According to other data, ruminative thinking in adult autists is associated with depression, a comorbid disorder similar to a neurotypical population (Williams et al., 2021). The link between high levels of rumination and subsequent external and internal problems in children with ASDs was also shown (Bos et al., 2018). A considerable interest is the mediation by ruminating the relationship between autism symptoms and depression (Keenan et al., 2018). Since symptoms of depression and anxiety are associated with ASDs (Smith & White, 2020), these data draw more attention to the problem of increased rumination in high-functioning ASDs.

There is a question about the characteristics of emotion dysregulation that combine ASDs with other disorders, and specific ones. There is evidence that there are generalized mechanisms of disorders (impairments in excitation processes, affective lability, dysfunction of the prefrontal cortex and amygdala) and more specific aspects (changes in the processing of sensory information, features of cognitive processes, disturbances of social motivation and processing of social information) (Mazefsky et al., 2013).

Neurobiological mechanisms of disorders in the emotional sphere and social interactions in ASDs

A considerable amount of data has been collected on the neurophysiological substrate of ASDs. One of the main research areas is the identification of the specific functions and interactions of brain structures associated with the processing of social information.

The main results were abnormal activity of the prefrontal cortex, the cingulate cortex, the superior temporal sulcus, the amygdala and, less often, the basal ganglia (striatum, caudate nucleus, putamen) and deteriorating interactions between these regions. The activation of these areas and the nature of their connection are related to the lack of recognition of emotional facial expressions (Samaey et al., 2020; Swartz et al., 2013) and the impairment of decision making and self-consciousness in social situations (Chiu et al., 2008; Schulte-Ruether et al., 2011). An atypical modulation of the amygdala on the cerebral cortex is considered a key possible disorder (Sato et al., 2011).

In ASD subjects and their healthy siblings, activity in the superior temporal sulcus, orbitofrontal cortex, and anterior cingulate cortex was reduced compared to control groups when presented with faces with positive emotions (Spencer et al., 2011). Similar

changes in brain activity during the processing of facial images, but not during the processing of stimuli of another kind, were also shown for children with ASDs and their healthy parents (Dawson et al., 2005). Changes in hippocampal and amygdala volume, and the structure of white brain matter are related to the characteristics of emotion regulation in children at high risk for autism (Ding et al., 2024). These data are of interest to identifying an endophenotype in autism, since changes in activation of certain regions of the brain can be markers of hereditary predisposition to ASDs. The problem of the interaction of factors in the development of ASDs is also raised: How is the development trajectory formed in the presence of multiple interactions in the neurosubstrat?

Experimental models of social interaction in ASDs often involve the presentation of the eye region that generates strong emotional reactions. It has been shown that when instructed to fixate different face regions, patients with ASDs were more likely to lose fixation stability to the eye region. They also showed relatively higher activation of the amygdala when fixated the eye region and relatively lower activation when fixated the mouth region (Kliemann et al., 2010). Another study showed that amygdala activation was modulated when children with ASDs, but not in neurotypical children, fixated the eye region. The specific effect of this stimulus on the activation of the amygdala may indicate that the dysfunctional neuronal dynamics in ASDs can lead to increased negative emotions in response to contact with the eyes and, consequently, to its avoidance (Kliemann et al., 2012). Compared to neurotypical and mentally disabled children with autism, the frontal cortex was more active in response to lateral gaze than in response to direct gaze. This may reflect the decline in social motivation that normally occurs in response to direct gaze (Lauttia et al., 2019).

After describing the mirror neuron system – nerve cells that are excited when another person performs specific actions or display emotions – it was suggested that disturbances in its function contribute to difficulties in social interaction in ASDs. A number of studies confirm abnormal activation in the frontal and parietal lobe regions where the mirror neurons are located when participants with ASDs observed the movements of other people (see review: (Chan & Han, 2020). When the task of voluntary imitating the emotional expressions of the subjects was performed, participants with ASDs, compared to control groups, had lower activations of the caudate nucleus and putamen (Dapretto et al., 2006), indicating the role of subcortical structures in disturbances of imitation processes and their effect on the function of the cortex.

Not all studies confirm the general disfunction of the mirror neuron system in autism. For example, when automatic imitation of facial expressions is recorded under the control of attention to facial stimuli, participants with ASDs have shown results similar to neurotypical participants. However, only they are characterized by no direct relationship between empathy self-assessment and imitation success. The authors conclude that in ASDs, the simple level of motor imitation is not associated with complex cognitive social abilities such as emotion understanding and empathy. (Schulte-Rüther et al., 2013).

In recent years, it has become increasingly popular to study not only areas of the brain that are responsible for immediate responses to stimuli, but also neural systems that are involved in the extra-situational processing of social information and the implementation of self-perception processes. Therefore, ASDs is associated with a number of impairments in the default mode network functions (Harikumar et al. 2021; Padmanabhan et al., 2018).

Another area of ASDs research is related to the study of the functioning of neurotransmitters and hormonal systems. The concentration of impairments in brain regions associated with the behavioral reward system leads to the hypothesis that the dysfunction of the behavioral reward system plays a role in the social behavioral deficit in ASDs (Spence et al., 2011; Vaan de et al., 2020; Dichter, 2012). Dopaminergic deficiency in individuals with ASDs have been noted in a number of studies (see review: (Greene et al., 2019)). Dysfunctions of dopaminergic structures are associated with early developmental disorders of the brainstem (Dadalko & Travers, 2018). Based on the hypothesis of activation by oxytocin and vasopressin of the reinforcement system of social behavior in neurotypical development, Insel & Fernald (2014) suggested that ASDs interferes with the modulation of dopaminergic neurons in the neural attachment system, resulting in a decrease in social motivation. Therefore, social stimuli do not lead to the experience of pleasure. Social motivation is essential to social learning, and its impairments cause great difficulties (Fareri et al., 2008). The deficit in the reinforcement system in ASDs is also considered in the context of a wider range of motivation components, including responses to non-social rewards and a limited range of motivations (Clements et al., 2018).

The search for causes of reduced stress resistance in ASDs has attracted attention to other neurotransmitter systems (Sato et al., 2023). For example, using facial expression recognition tasks, it was shown that acute tryptophan depletion (which leads to a reduction in serotonin synthesis) in participants with ASDs leads to an excessive reduction in response to emotional facial expressions in socio-emotional brain areas (Daly et al., 2012).

Dysfunctions of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis and excessive or insufficient cortisol increases in response to new and stressful stimuli are also observed (Spratt et al., 2012). According to other data, children and adults with autism respond to cortisol similar to neurotypical peers, but their levels of cortisol are associated with several symptoms of autism and related disorders, including stereotypic behaviors (Vaan de et al., 2020) and cognitive decline (Ogawa et al., 2017). There is evidence of an increase in cortisol levels in stressful situations with age. This may indicate the existence of secondary disorders that develop in children with ASDs (Schupp et al., 2013).

The characteristics of excitation that arise in response to various types of stimuli are studied by cortical activation indicators, galvanic skin reactions, heart rate, pupillary reactions and startle responses. Several studies have shown an increase and decrease in excitation in response to similar emotional and social stimuli compared to neurotypical individuals, as well as correlations between its changes and individual autism symptoms

and adaptation problems (Anderson et al., 2013; Baker et al., 2018; Dijkhuis et al., 2019; Vernetti et al., 2020).

We should note that the data from different studies are often contradictory, which may be associated not only with differences in methodological approaches, but also with the heterogeneity of ASDs and its association with other mental disorders.

Neurobiological mechanisms of emotion dysregulation in ASDs

The neurophysiological substrate of emotion regulation is assumed to be the interacting cortical structures (areas of the prefrontal and frontal cortex, the posterior paraetal cortex, and the insular lobe) and the limbic system structures (mainly the amygdala and striatum) (Sato et al., 2023).

The experimental approach to studying emotion regulation usually includes instructions on how to control emotion that arises in response to a stimulus. A study showed that neurotypical children show a significant reduction in activation in the amygdala and insular cortex when they voluntarily reduce their affective reactions to emotiogenic images, according to the instructions. At the same time, children with ASDs did not demonstrate similar regulations. In addition, neurotypical participants in the study showed a higher functional connectivity of the amygdala and prefrontal ventrolateral cortex than participants with ASDs, as well as a lower functional connectivity of the amygdala with the orbital frontal cortex (Pitskel et al., 2011). Using instructions to increase positive and negative emotions while viewing face images, less activation was seen in the nucleus accumbens, amygdala, and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of participants with high-functioning ASD than in neurotypical controls (Taylor et al., 2018). When an emotional response was actively modulated according to instructions in social situations, adults with ASDs showed compensatory activation in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, but the activation of the nucleus accumbens was reduced, and the compensatory mechanism did not lead to typical modulation of the emotional processing areas (Latinus et al., 2019).

Another type of task proposed includes the presentation of negative stimuli. Under these conditions, participants in the experiment should regulate (improve) their emotional states. In a study in which instructions were given to recognize words that trigger unpleasant emotions, participants with ASDs showed differences in the function of the anterior cingulate cortex, the anterior insular lobe, and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex – areas responsible for regulating emotions in a healthy population (Mazefsky et al., 2020).

Modeling stress situations in young children with autism allowed to describe a delay in the physiological maturation of their emotion regulation system. With the Still-Face Paradigm procedure (Giusti et al., 2018), the emotional reactions of children to a reduction in communication indicators after playing with their mothers were measured.

Children with ASDs, like neurotypical children, showed negative emotions in response to emotionless expressions of their mothers, looked at them longer, but their self-regulation was easier – for example, they sucked the thumb or repeated the same actions, while neurotypical children were able to change attention, etc. Mothers of children with ASDs smile more before and after stress on their children, look at them longer; this may reflect their greater efforts to regulate the child's emotions. It is also noted that in the presence of mothers, only children with ASDs show a reduction in the production of cortisol – i.e., external control leads to a reduction in stress levels; normally, children of the same age can regulate emotions independently (Ostfeld-Etzion et al., 2015). The later maturity of self-regulation indicates the need for longer-term social support. This can further complicate the development of emotional control as positive feedback decreases.

In a number of studies, the conceptual link between emotional regulation disorders and autism symptoms is primarily considered to be caused by autism symptoms that interfere with the acquisition of social experience and the effective co-regulation of emotions with parents (Mills et al., 2022); other authors believe that most of them are disturbances in the functioning of the nervous system that lead to emotional dysregulation, which, in turn, results in the emergence of autism symptoms in different configurations as phenotypic manifestations (Dell'Osso et al., 2023). It is also suggested that there is a general impairment of executive functions that mediates the relationship between ASD symptoms and emotional dysregulation (Costescu et al., 2023). These approaches are not fundamentally contradictory to each other. It can be assumed that a weakened regulatory function based on neuronal substrate impairment interacts with autism symptoms in accordance with the vicious circle principle of mutual influence.

Conclusion

Therefore, disturbances in emotional regulation can be considered as a transdiagnostic factor of ASDs, which has specific characteristics, including the following: (a) decreasing efficient strategies and increasing inefficient ones, (b) large number of immature strategies in older children, adolescents, and adults, (c) stereotyping, including cognitive components, (d) severity of the regulatory strategy associated with avoiding stressful situations, mainly social ones, combined with a reduction in the processing of extra-situational social information, (e) imbalance of components, and (f) differences in the efficiency of specific regulatory mechanisms, compared to neurotypical individuals.

According to most authors, emotion regulation disturbances are associated with the severity of other major symptoms of autism, depression, anxiety, and social maladaptation. Signs of emotion dysregulation are observed in all age groups. Children and adolescents with ASDs have a longer training period of independently implemented and efficient strategies of emotional regulation than their neurotypical peers.

Obviously, both primary physiological mechanisms and secondary disorders that develop in the social environment due to a slower accumulation of social experience and a decrease in the effectiveness of joint emotional regulation with parents contribute

significantly to the development of emotional dysregulation in ASDs. It can be assumed that there is a single neurophysiological basis that combines deficits and/or distortions in the processing of emotional and social signals and emotion regulation disorders. Individual function disorders obviously form a complex system, which, in combination with a specific perception of environmental factors, may clearly form complex trajectories of the development of self-regulatory processes.

The imbalance in excitation and inhibition processes, which leads to a reduction in stress resistance, can be considered as an inferential mechanism complicating emotional regulation in ASD. Another integrated mechanism may be a reduction in general and social motivation caused by dysfunctions in dopaminergic and oxytocin systems.

It is necessary to emphasize the importance of correctional work with secondary factors of emotion dysregulation in ASD. Several cautions in the direct formation of efficient strategies for emotional regulation are associated with a lack of resources to overcome stressful situations in individuals with autism. A significant decrease in avoidance strategies can lead to maladaptation.

References

- Anderson, C. J., Colombo, J., & Unruh, K. E. (2013). Pupil and salivary indicators of autonomic dysfunction in autism spectrum disorder. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 55(5), 465–482. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21051
- Baker, J. K., Fenning, R. M., Erath, S. A., Baucom, B. R., Moffitt, J., & Howland, M. A. (2018). Sympathetic Under-Arousal and Externalizing Behavior Problems in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 46(4), 895–906. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-017-0332-3</u>
- Berkovits, L., Eisenhower, A., & Blacher, J. (2017). Emotion Regulation in Young Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 47(1), 68– 79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2922-2</u>
- Bonis, S. (2016). Stress and Parents of Children with Autism: A Review of Literature. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 37(3), 153–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/01612840.2015.1116030</u>
- Bos, M., Diamantopoulou, S., Stockmann, L., Begeer, S., & Rieffe, C. (2018). Emotion Control Predicts Internalizing and Externalizing Behavior Problems in Boys With and Without an Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(8), 2727– 2739. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3519-8</u>
- Bradley, R. S., Onovbiona, H. U., del Rosario, E. A., & Quetsch, L. B. (2023). Current Knowledge of Emotion Regulation: The Autistic Experience. In: *New Insights Into Emotional Intelligence*, 35–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.1000222</u>
- Bruggink, A., Huisman, S., Vuijk, R., Kraaij, V., & Garnefski, N. (2016). Cognitive emotion regulation, anxiety and depression in adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 22, 34–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2015.11.003</u>
- Cai, R. Y., Richdale, A. L., Uljarević, M., Dissanayake, C., & Samson, A. C. (2019). Emotion regulation in autism spectrum disorder: Where we are and where we need to go. *Autism*

Research: Official Journal of the International Society for Autism Research, 11(7), 962–978. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1968

- Chan, M. M. Y., & Han, Y. M. Y. (2020). Differential mirror neuron system (MNS) activation during action observation with and without social-emotional components in autism: A metaanalysis of neuroimaging studies. *Molecular Autism*, *11*(1), 72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/</u> <u>s13229-020-00374-x</u>
- Chiu, P., Kayali, M., Kishida, K., Tomlin, D., Klinger, L., Klinger, M., & Montague, P. (2008). Self Responses along Cingulate Cortex Reveal Quantitative Neural Phenotype for High-Functioning Autism. *Neuron.* 57, 463–473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2007.12.020</u>
- Clements, C. C., Zoltowski, A. R., Yankowitz, L. D., Yerys, B. E., Schultz, R. T., & Herrington, J. D. (2018). Evaluation of the Social Motivation Hypothesis of Autism: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Psychiatry, 75(8), 797–808. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.1100</u>
- Conner, C. M., White, S. W., Scahill, L., & Mazefsky, C. A. (2020). The role of emotion regulation and core autism symptoms in the experience of anxiety in autism. *Autism*, 24(4), 931–940. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320904217
- Costescu, C., Adrian, R., & Carmen, D. (2023). Executive functions and emotion regulation in children with autism spectrum disorders. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*. 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2023.2215010</u>
- Gross, J. J., & John, O. P. (2003). Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: Implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85(2), 348–362. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.348
- Cracco, E., Goossens, L., & Braet, C. (2017). Emotion regulation across childhood and adolescence: Evidence for a maladaptive shift in adolescence. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *26*(8), 909–921. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-017-0952-8</u>
- Da Costa Dutra, S. C., Oriol Granado, X., Paéz-Rovira, D., Díaz, V., Carrasco-Dajer, C., & Izquierdo, A. (2023) Emotion Regulation Strategies in Educational, Work and Sport Contexts: An Approach in Five Countries. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20, 6865. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20196865</u>
- Dadalko, O. I., & Travers, B. G. (2018). Evidence for Brainstem Contributions to Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 12, 47. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2018.00047</u>
- Daly, E. M., Deeley, Q., Ecker, C., Craig, M., Hallahan, B., Murphy, C., ... Murphy, D. G. M. (2012). Serotonin and the neural processing of facial emotions in adults with autism: An fMRI study using acute tryptophan depletion. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 69(10), 1003– 1013. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2012.513</u>
- Dapretto, M., Davies, M. S., Pfeifer, J. H., Scott, A. A., Sigman, M., Bookheimer, S. Y., & Iacoboni, M. (2006). Understanding emotions in others: Mirror neuron dysfunction in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9(1), 28–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ nn1611</u>
- Davico, C., Marcotulli, D., Cudia, V.F., Arletti, L., Ghiggia, A., Svevi, B., Faraoni, C., Amianto, F., Ricci, F., & Vitiello, B. (2022). Emotional Dysregulation and Adaptive Functioning in Preschoolers With Autism Spectrum Disorder or Other Neurodevelopmental Disorders. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 13, 846146. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.846146</u>

- Dawson, G., Webb, S.J., Wijsman, E., Schellenberg, G., Estes, A., Munson, J., & Faja, S. (2010). Neurocognitive and electrophysiological evidence of altered face processing in parents of children with autism: implications for a model of abnormal development of social brain circuitry in autism. *Development and Psychopathology*, 17(3), 679–697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579405050327</u>
- Dichter, G. S. (2012). Functional magnetic resonance imaging of autism spectrum disorders. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 14(3), 319–351. <u>https://doi.org/10.31887/</u> <u>DCNS.2012.14.3/gdichter</u>
- Dijkhuis, R. R., Ziermans, T. B., Rijn, S. van, Staal, W. G., & Swaab, J. T. (2019). Emotional Arousal During Social Stress in Young Adults With Autism: Insights From Heart Rate, Heart Rate Variability and Self-Report. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 49(6), 2524– 2535.
- Ding, N., Fu, L., Qian, L., Sun, B., Li, C., Gao, H., Lei, T. & Ke, X. (2024) The correlation between brain structure characteristics and emotion regulation ability in children at high risk of autism spectrum disorder. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-024-02369-y</u>
- Dell'Osso, L., Massoni, L., Battaglini, S., De Felice, C., Nardi, B., Amatori, G., Cremone, I. M., & Carpita, B. (2023) Emotional dysregulation as a part of the autism spectrum continuum: a literature review from late childhood to adulthood. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 14, 1234518. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1234518</u>
- Fareri, D. S., Martin, L. N., & Delgado, M. R. (2008). Reward-related processing in the human brain: Developmental considerations. *Development and Psychopathology*, 20(4), 1191– 1211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579408000576</u>
- Favole, I., Davico, C., Marcotulli, D., Sodero, R., Svevi, B., Amianto, F., Ricci, F. S., Arduino, G. M., & Vitiello, B. (2023). Sleep disturbances and emotional dysregulation in young children with autism spectrum, intellectual disability, or global developmental delay, *Sleep Medicine*, 105, 45–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2023.02.026</u>
- Giusti, L., Provenzi, L., & Montirosso, R. (2018). The Face-to-Face Still-Face (FFSF) Paradigm in Clinical Settings: Socio-Emotional Regulation Assessment and Parental Support With Infants With Neurodevelopmental Disabilities. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 789. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00789</u>
- Greene, R. K., Walsh, E., Mosner, M. G., & Dichter, G. S. (2019). A potential mechanistic role for neuroinflammation in reward processing impairments in autism spectrum disorder. *Biological Psychology*, 142, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2018.12.008</u>
- Gross, J., & Thompson, R. A. (2007). *Emotion regulation: Conceptual foundations*. In: J. J. Gross. Handbook of emotion regulation. The Guilford Press (pp. 3–24).
- Harikumar, A., Evans, D. W., Dougherty, C. C., Carpenter, K. L. H., & Michael, A. M. (2021). A Review of the Default Mode Network in Autism Spectrum Disorders and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. *Brain Connectivity*, *11*(4), 253–263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/</u> <u>brain.2020.0865</u>
- Ibrahim, K., Kalvin, C., Marsh, C. L., Anzano, A., Gorynova, L., Cimino, K., & Sukhodolsky, D. G. (2019). Anger Rumination is Associated with Restricted and Repetitive Behaviors in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 49(9), 3656–3668. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04085-y</u>

- Igra, L., Shilon, S., Kivity, Y., Atzil-Slonim, D., Lavi-Rotenberg, A., & Hasson-Ohayon, I. (2023). Examining the associations between difficulties in emotion regulation and symptomatic outcome measures among individuals with different mental disorders. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.944457</u>
- Ilen, L., Feller, C., & Schneider, M. (2023). Cognitive emotion regulation difficulties increase affective reactivity to daily-life stress in autistic adolescents and young adults. *Autism*, 53(14), 6623–6634. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613231204829</u>
- Insel, T. R., & Fernald, R. D. (2004). How the brain processes social information: Searching for the social brain. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 27, 697–722. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.27.070203.144148</u>
- Jahromi, L. B., Bryce, C. D., & Swanson, J. (2013). The importance of self-regulation for the school and peer engagement of children with high-functioning autism. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7, 235–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2012.08.012
- Keenan, E. G., Gotham, K., & Lerner, M. D. (2018). Hooked on a feeling: Repetitive cognition and internalizing symptomatology in relation to autism spectrum symptomatology. *Autism*, 22(7), 814–824. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361317709603</u>
- Kliemann, D., Dziobek, I., Hatri, A., Baudewig, J., & Heekeren, H. R. (2012). The role of the amygdala in atypical gaze on emotional faces in autism spectrum disorders. *The Journal* of *Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 32(28), 9469–9476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5294-11.2012</u>
- Kliemann, D., Dziobek, I., Hatri, A., Steimke, R., & Heekeren, H. R. (2010). Atypical Reflexive Gaze Patterns on Emotional Faces in Autism Spectrum Disorders. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience.* 30(37), 12281–12287. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0688-10.2010</u>
- Lampi, A., Fitzpatrick, P., Romero, V., Amaral, J., & Schmidt, R.C. (2020). Understanding the Influence of Social and Motor Context on the Co-occurring Frequency of Restricted and Repetitive Behaviors in Autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 50(5), 1479–1496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3698-3</u>
- Latinus M., Cléry H., Andersson F., Bonnet-Brilhault F., Fonlupt P., Gomot M. (2019) Inflexibility in Autism Spectrum Disorder: Need for certainty and atypical emotion processing share the blame, Brain and Cognition, 136, article 103599. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bandc.2019.103599</u>
- Lauttia, J., Helminen, T. M., Leppänen, J. M., Yrttiaho, S., Eriksson, K., Hietanen, J. K., & Kylliäinen, A. (2019). Atypical Pattern of Frontal EEG Asymmetry for Direct Gaze in Young Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 49(9), 3592–3601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04062-5
- Lievore, R., Lanfranchi, S., & Mammarella, I.C. (2023) Parenting stress in autism: do children's characteristics still count more than stressors related to the COVID-19 pandemic? *Current Psychology*, 15, 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-023-04441-3</u>
- Martínez-González, A.E., Cervin, M. & Piqueras, J.A. (2022) Relationships Between Emotion Regulation, Social Communication and Repetitive Behaviors in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 52, 4519–4527. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10803-021-05340-x</u>

Mazefsky, C. A., Borue, X., Day, T. N., & Minshew, N. J. (2014). Emotion regulation patterns

in adolescents with high-functioning autism spectrum disorder: Comparison to typically developing adolescents and association with psychiatric symptoms. *Autism Research: Official Journal of the International Society for Autism Research, 7*(3), 344–354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1366</u>

- Mazefsky, C. A., Collier, A., Golt, J., & Siegle, G. J. (2020). Neural features of sustained emotional information processing in autism spectrum disorder. *Autism*, *24*(4), 941–953. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320903137</u>
- Mazefsky, C. A., Herrington, J., Siegel, M., Scarpa, A., Maddox, B. B., Scahill, L., & White, S. W. (2013). The role of emotion regulation in autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 52(7), 679–688. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2013.05.006
- Mills, A. S., Tablon-Modica, P., Mazefksy, C. A., & Weiss, J. A. (2022). Emotion dysregulation in children with autism: A multimethod investigation of the role of child and parent factors. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 91(2), 101911. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rasd.2021.101911</u>
- Nader-Grosbois, N., & Mazzone, S. (2014). Emotion Regulation, Personality and Social Adjustment in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Psychology*, *5*(15), 1750–1767. https://doi.org/10.4236/psych.2014.515182
- Ogawa, S., Lee, Y.-A., Yamaguchi, Y., Shibata, Y., & Goto, Y. (2017). Associations of acute and chronic stress hormones with cognitive functions in autism spectrum disorder. *Neuroscience*, 343, 229–239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.12.003</u>
- Ostfeld-Etzion, S., Golan, O., Hirschler-Guttenberg, Y., Zagoory-Sharon, O., & Feldman, R. (2015). Neuroendocrine and behavioral response to social rupture and repair in preschoolers with autism spectrum disorders interacting with mother and father. *Molecular Autism*, 6(1), 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-015-0007-2</u>
- Padmanabhan, A., Lynch, C. J., Schaer, M., & Menon, V. (2017). The Default Mode Network in Autism. *Biological Psychiatry. Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*, 2(6), 476–486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsc.2017.04.004</u>
- Pitskel, N. B., Bolling, D. Z., Kaiser, M. D., Crowley, M. J., & Pelphrey, K. A. (2011). How grossed out are you? The neural bases of emotion regulation from childhood to adolescence. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 1(3), 324–337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dcn.2011.03.004</u>
- Posar A., & Visconti P. Autism Spectrum Disorder in 2023: A Challenge Still Open. (2023) *Turkish* Archives of Pediatrics, 58(6), 566–571. <u>https://doi.org/10.5152/TurkArchPediatr.2023.23194</u>
- Pouw, L., Rieffe, C., Oosterveld, P., Huskens, B., & Stockmann, L. (2013a). Reactive/proactive aggression and affective/cognitive empathy in children with ASD. *Research in developmental disabilities*, 34, 1256–1266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2012.12.022</u>
- Pouw, L. B. C., Rieffe, C., Stockmann, L., & Gadow, K. D. (2013b). The link between emotion regulation, social functioning, and depression in boys with ASD. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7(4), 549–556. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2013.01.002</u>
- Rieffe, C., Bruine, M. D., Rooij, M. D., & Stockmann, L. (2014). Approach and avoidant emotion regulation prevent depressive symptoms in children with an Autism Spectrum Disorder. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 39(1), 37–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2014.06.003</u>
- Rieffe, C., Oosterveld, P., Terwogt, M. M., Mootz, S., van Leeuwen, E., & Stockmann, L. (2011).

Emotion regulation and internalizing symptoms in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism*, *15*(6), 655–670. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361310366571</u>

Samaey, C., Van der Donck, S., van Winkel, R., & Boets, B. (2020). Facial Expression Processing Across the Autism–Psychosis Spectra: A Review of Neural Findings and Associations With Adverse Childhood Events. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11, 1179. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/</u> <u>fpsyt.2020.592937</u>

- Samson, A. C., Phillips, J. M., Parker, K. J., Shah, S., Gross, J. J., & Hardan, A. Y. (2014). Emotion dysregulation and the core features of autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(7), 1766–1772. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-013-2022-5
- Sato, W., Kochiyama, T., Uono, S., Yoshimura, S., Kubota, Y., Sawada, R., ... Toichi, M. (2019). Atypical Amygdala–Neocortex Interaction During Dynamic Facial Expression Processing in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 13, 351. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2019.00351</u>
- Sato, M., Nakai, N., Fujima, S., Choe, K. Y., & Takumi, T. (2023) Social circuits and their dysfunction in autism spectrum disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 28, 3194–3206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-023-02201-0</u>
- Schulte-Ruether, M., Greimel, E., Markowitsch, H. J., Kamp-Becker, I., Remschmidt, H., Fink, G. R., & Piefke, M. (2011). Dysfunctions in brain networks supporting empathy: An fMRI study in adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Social Neuroscience*, 6(1), 1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17470911003708032</u>
- Schulte-Rüther, M., Otte, E., Adigüzel, K., Firk, C., Herpertz-Dahlmann, B., Koch, I., & Konrad, K. (2017). Intact mirror mechanisms for automatic facial emotions in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Research: Official Journal of the International Society for Autism Research*, 10(2), 298–310. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1654
- Schupp, C. W., Simon, D., & Corbett, B. A. (2013). Cortisol responsivity differences in children with autism spectrum disorders during free and cooperative play. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(10), 2405–2417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-013-1790-2</u>
- Shaffer, R.C., Schmitt, L.M., Reisinger, D.L., Coffman, M., Horn, P., Goodwin, M. S., Mazefsky, C., Randall, S. & Erickson, C. (2023) Regulating Together: Emotion Dysregulation Group Treatment for ASD Youth and Their Caregivers. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 53, 1942–1962. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-022-05461-x</u>
- Smith, I. C., & White, S. W. (2020). Socio-emotional determinants of depressive symptoms in adolescents and adults with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review. *Autism*, 24(4), 995–1010. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320908101</u>
- Spencer, M. D., Holt, R. J., Chura, L. R., Suckling, J., Calder, A. J., Bullmore, E. T., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2011). A novel functional brain imaging endophenotype of autism: The neural response to facial expression of emotion. *Translational Psychiatry*, 1, e19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> <u>tp.2011.18</u>
- Spratt, E. G., Nicholas, J. S., Brady, K. T., Carpenter, L. A., Hatcher, C. R., Meekins, K. A., ... Charles, J. M. (2012). Enhanced cortisol response to stress in children in autism. *Journal of Autism* and Developmental Disorders, 42(1), 75–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-011-1214-0</u>
- Swain, D., Scarpa, A., White, S., & Laugeson, E. (2015). Emotion Dysregulation and Anxiety in Adults with ASD: Does Social Motivation Play a Role? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(12), 3971–3977. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-015-2567-6</u>
- Swartz, J. R., Wiggins, J. L., Carrasco, M., Lord, C., & Monk, C. S. (2013). Amygdala Habituation

and Prefrontal Functional Connectivity in Youth With Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal* of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 52(1), 84–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2012.10.012</u>

- Sung, Y. S., Chi, I. J., Chu, S. Y., & Lin, L. Y. (2024). Factors associated with emotion regulation in young autistic children: a scoping review. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2023.2301194</u>
- Talantseva, O. I., Romanova, R. S., Shurdova, E. M., Dolgorukova, E. M., Sologub, P. S., Titova, O. S., Kleeva, D. F., & Grigorenko, E. L. (2023). The global prevalence of autism spectrum disorder: A three-level meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 14, 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1071181</u>
- Taylor, M. J., Gustafsson, P., Larsson, H., Gillberg, C., Lundström, S., & Lichstenstein, P. (2018). Examining the Association Between Autistic Traits and Atypical Sensory Reactivity: A Twin Study. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 57(2), 96–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2017.11.019
- Taylor, N. D., Mazefsky, C. A., & Wetherby, A. M. (2022). Characterizing difficulties with emotion regulation in toddlers with autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *96*(1), 101992. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2022.101992</u>
- Vaan de, G., Beijers, R., Vervloed, M. P. J., Knoors, H., Bloeming-Wolbrink, K. A., de Weerth, C., & Verhoeven, L. (2020). Associations Between Cortisol Stress Levels and Autism Symptoms in People With Sensory and Intellectual Disabilities. *Frontiers in Education*, 5, 212. <u>https:// doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2020.540387</u>
- Vernetti, A., Shic, F., Boccanfuso, L., Macari, S., Kane-Grade, F., Milgramm, A., Hilton, E., Heymann, P., Goodwin, M.S., Chawarska, K. (2020). Atypical Emotional Electrodermal Activity in Toddlers with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Autism Research: Official Journal of the International Society for Autism Research*, *13*(9), 1476–1488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ aur.2374</u>
- Williams, Z. J., McKenney, E. E., & Gotham, K. O. (2021). Investigating the structure of trait rumination in autistic adults: A network analysis. *Autism*, 25(7), pp. 2048–2063. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613211012855</u>
- Zaharia, A., Noir-Kahlo, K., Bressoud, N., Sander, D., Dukes, D., & Samson A.C. (2021). Proof of Concept: A Brief Psycho-Educational Training Program to Increase the Use of Positive Emotion Regulation Strategies in Individuals With Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 705937. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.705937</u>

Received: December 21, 2023 Revised: August 6, 2024 Accepted: August 26, 2024

Author Details

Elena A. Dorosheva – Cand. Sci. (Biology), Associate Professor, Department of Comparative Psychology, Department of Neuroscience, Novosibirsk National Research State University, Novosibirsk, Russian Federation; Senior Researcher, Scientific Research

Institute of Neurosciences and Medicine, Siberian Branch, Russian Academy of Medical Sciences, Novosibirsk, Russian Federation; Scopus Author ID: 6504158742; RSCI Author ID: RSCI9519217; RSCI SPIN code: 9092-6200; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9593-4345;</u> e-mail <u>elena.dorosheva@mail.ru</u>

Conflict of Interest Information

The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

Systematic Review UDC 159.91 https://doi.org/10.21702/ezq4w731

Eye-tracking for non-symbolic numerosity estimation: A systematic literature review

Sofia A. Mironets^{1*^(D)}, Alexander I. Kotyusov^{2^(D)}, Alexandra I. Kosachenko^{2^(D)}, Ilona V. Denisova^{2^(D)}, Yulia V. Kuzmina^{1^(D)}

¹ Federal Scientific Center for Psychological and Interdisciplinary Research, Moscow, Russian Federation

² Ural Federal University, Ekaterinburg, Russian Federation

* Corresponding author: sofiamironets@gmail.com

Abstract

Introduction. The processing of quantitative information is one of the basic processes that ensures successful interaction with the environment. In one form or another, this ability is found in a large number of biological species. In humans, the specifics of processing quantitative information in different formats are analysed in experimental and correlational studies using various methods and approaches, including eye tracking. Eye tracking makes it possible to follow the mechanisms of the formation of the mental representation of quantity and to evaluate the connection of the non-symbolic "sense of number" with the systems of representation of other visual parameters, such as the size of objects. **Methods.** This paper presents a systematic review of eye tracking studies of non-symbolic numerosity estimation published from 2008 to 2023. A search of Scopus, Web of Science and PubMed databases identified 13 studies. **Results and Discussion.** The research questions, the characteristics of the tasks and stimulus materials used, the characteristics of the sample and the results obtained have been systematised. This review highlights the mechanisms of operation of the numerosity representation system and the characteristics of conducting eye-tracking studies to investigate them.

Keywords

Nonsymbolic number sense, nonsymbolic numerosity representation, eye tracking, saccades, visual fixations

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

Funding

The study was supported by Russian Science Foundation (Project No. 22-18-00500. Magnitude and numerosity estimation systems: individual differences and cognitive mechanisms").

For citation

Mironets, S.A., Kotyusov, A.I., Kosachenko, A.I., Denisova I.V., Kuzmina Y.V. (2024). Eyetracking for non-symbolic numerosity estimation: A systematic literature review. *Russian Psychological Journal*, *21*(4), 129–167, https://doi.org/10.21702/ezq4w731

Introduction

The ability to perceive and process nonsymbolic numerosity plays a key role in the adaptation of the organism to the environment (Nieder, 2018). This ability emerged guite long ago during evolution, as numerosity sensitivity has been documented to some extent not only in humans and primates, but also in more evolutionarily ancient species such as amphibians or fish (Agrillo & Bisazza, 2018; Brannon, 2005). Researchers use a variety of terminology to describe the ability to perceive quantitative information: some prefer the term "Number Sense" (Agrillo & Bisazza, 2018; Burr & Ross, 2008; Dehaene, 2001), while others prefer "approximate number sense" (Halberda et al., 2008a), "intuitive number sense" (Feigenson et al., 2013), or "Nonsymbolic Number Sense" (Decarli et al., 2023). Despite some differences in terminology, most researchers agree that number sense involves the ability to compare sets of objects and select the set that contains a larger/fewer number (nonsymbolic comparison), to notice whether there have been changes in the number of objects (nonsymbolic detection of changes), and to establish quantitative similarities or differences by comparing two or more sets of objects (Berch, 2005; Gebuis & Van Der Smagt, 2011; Halberda et al., 2008a; Park et al., 2016; Sasanguie et al., 2014).

Research on the ability to process numerosity has developed into the 'number sense' theory, according to which the ability to process nonsymbolic quantitative information is provided by a separate nonsymbolic quantity representation system (Arrighi et al., 2014; Burr et al., 2018; Odic & Starr, 2018). This system is activated whenever a person is 'confronted' with quantitative information. In this case, 'numerosity' is described as a primary attribute of the perceived objects, along with other properties that can be processed in the early stages of perception: size, colour, shape (DeWind et al., 2019; Harvey & Dumoulin, 2017; Park et al., 2016).

Using various tasks (e.g. non-symbolic comparison tasks), researchers have found that one of the main features of the system of non-symbolic representation of quantity is its imprecision, its approximation (which is reflected in one of the widely used terms -

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

Approximate Number Sense). What is meant by this? First of all, no matter what tasks are used, accuracy never reaches 100%. For example, when comparing two sets of objects, a person will always make some mistakes, provided they compare them quickly and do not use counting.

It should be noted that there is also an accurate system for estimating nonsymbolic quantities, called subitising (Revkin et al., 2008). Subitising is the ability to quickly and accurately estimate the number of objects within 1-4 (1-3) (Anobile et al., 2019; Burr et al., 2010). More often, researchers consider subitising as a separate system (Feigenson et al., 2004; Revkin et al., 2008). In addition, they also distinguish a separate texture judgment system, the quantity representation system, when the number of objects is so large that the boundaries of individual objects are barely distinguishable (Anobile et al., 2014).

Returning to the system of non-symbolic representation of numerosity, it has been shown that representation errors obey certain regularities. In particular, the number of errors increases with response time as the size of the sets being compared gets closer, i.e. as the distance between them decreases and the numerosity ratio increases (Dehaene, 2003; Lyons et al., 2015). This means, for example, that a person is more likely to make an error when comparing 7 and 9 objects than when comparing 5 and 11 objects. This pattern has been called the 'numerical distance effect' or 'numerical proportion effect' (Dehaene, 2003; Dietrich et al., 2015; Lyons et al., 2015). Another pattern found when examining patterns of error making in nonsymbolic numerosity estimation or comparison is that the probability of error increases as numerosity increases (when numerical proportion remains intact). This pattern is called the 'size effect' (e.g. (Dehaene, 2001)).

The presence of these features is explained by the 'mental number line' model (Dehaene et al., 1993). This model assumes that perceived numerosities (numbers or sets of objects) are conventionally arranged along a line that runs from left to right (in cultures with corresponding writing patterns). Each perceived quantity corresponds to a specific population of neurons whose activation can be represented by a 'Gaussian' curve (Nuerk et al., 2011; Toomarian & Hubbard, 2018). When the numbers on this number line are far apart, the 'Gaussian' curves do not overlap, so each quantity corresponds to a separate representation. However, if the numbers are close together, the curves may overlap significantly, leading to an error in identifying the quantities and their relative locations on the mental number line.

In addition, the mental number line model may partly explain the relationship between the perception of quantity and the perception of space. For example, many studies have found the so-called SNARC (spatial-numerical association of response code) effect, one manifestation of which is that large numbers are associated with the right side of the visual field and small numbers with the left side (Chen & Verguts, 2010; Fischer et al., 2003; Nemeh et al., 2018).

The relationship between number and spatial perception is also supported by many neurophysiological studies. Number operations have been found to be associated with

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

activation of posterior parietal areas that are also associated with spatial perception and attention (e.g. (Göbel et al., 2001; Göbel et al., 2006; Hubbard et al., 2005). Furthermore, it has been shown that there is a developmental change in the extent to which parietal areas are involved in quantitative information processing (Ansari et al., 2005). It has been shown that children show greater activation of the frontal zone, whereas adults show greater activation of the parietal zones.

Common neurophysiological correlates for the estimation of number and space gave rise to a discussion about the existence of a single system for estimating number, magnitude, space and time - the General Magnitude System (Lourenco & Longo, 2011). This general system became one of the main provisions of the Theory of Magnitude, which questioned the existence of a separate system for estimating discrete quantities (Walsh, 2003).

But if there is no separate system for numerosity estimation, and there is no special 'sensitivity' to quantity, then how can a person, for example, compare two sets of objects (which is possible, no one can argue with that)? To explain this, the theory of 'sensory integration' has been proposed (Gebuis et al., 2016). According to this theory, the estimation of the number of discrete objects is based on the estimation of several non-numerical visual parameters, such as the size of the shapes, their cumulative area, their density of arrangement and their surface area. Each visual parameter has its own 'weight' in the estimation of quantity (Clayton et al., 2015; Gilmore et al., 2016). In support of this theory, it has been found that changes in the activation of brain areas involved in quantity estimation are associated with changes in visual parameters rather than changes in their quantity (e.g. (Gebuis & Reynvoet, 2012).

It was also shown that the accuracy of the nonsymbolic comparison depended on the relationship between quantitative and visual parameters. When visual and quantitative parameters were positively correlated (e.g., a set containing a larger number of objects had a larger occupied area), i.e., congruent, accuracy was higher than in incongruent conditions (Clayton et al., 2015; Smets et al., 2016; Szűcs et al., 2013). This difference in accuracy between congruent tasks has been termed the congruency effect. It reflects the extent to which quantity estimates depend on visual parameter estimates. Furthermore, it has been shown that when sets are incongruent with respect to multiple visual parameters, comparison accuracy is critically reduced and does not exceed the random guessing threshold (Szűcs et al., 2013).

Viarouge et al. (2019) suggest that the congruency effect reflects the suppression of irrelevant cues, rather than the dependence of quantity estimation on visual parameter estimation. From this perspective, when comparing numerosities, participants can process both non-numerical visual parameters and quantitative features, but the former are processed faster.

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

The nonsymbolic number representation system may be the basis for the development of symbolic numerical skills (De Smedt et al., 2013). Symbolic and non-symbolic representations have been shown to share similar features, such as the Numerical Distance Effect (NDE) ((Halberda et al., 2008a; Holloway & Ansari, 2009) Holloway & Ansari, 2009). Another and more important argument comes from research on the relationship between non-symbolic number sense and mathematical achievement. A large number of studies have shown that the accuracy of non-symbolic number sense correlates with mathematical achievement measured at the same time or even several years later (Chen & Li, 2014; Libertus et al., 2012; Schneider et al., 2017).

However, some studies have found no significant relationship between non-symbolic number sense and symbolic math skills (Fuhs & McNeil, 2013; Gilmore et al., 2013). Some researchers believe that symbolic and non-symbolic number representation systems are two separate systems (Lyons et al., 2015; Sasanguie et al., 2017). For example, it has been shown that at the individual level there is no significant correlation between the effects of numerical proportion in number comparison and non-symbolic comparison tasks (Lyons et al., 2015).

In general, despite the growing number of studies on non-symbolic numerosity, there are several open questions. First of all, the mechanisms that enable the processing of non-symbolic quantitative information are still unclear. Is this system separate and independent from the estimation of non-numerical visual parameters? Can humans estimate quantities without relying on the estimation of continuous visual features? (e.g., de Hevia et al., 2017; Harvey & Dumoulin, 2017; Wilkey et al., 2017).

The second controversial debate concerns the extent to which non-symbolic number sense is related to symbolic numeracy. Can the accuracy of non-symbolic number sense predict mathematical achievement? Could the non-symbolic number representation system be a system that has been used during evolution to develop symbolic number skills? Researchers have attempted to answer these questions using a variety of approaches, both experimental (Park et al., 2016) and correlational (Halberda et al., 2008b). Neurophysiological and neuroimaging methods such as EEG (e.g. (Gebuis & Reynvoet, 2012)), fMRI (Mock et al., 2018), transcranial magnetic stimulation (Sasanguie et al., 2013) or eye tracking (e.g. (Price et al., 2017)) are also commonly used.

Each of these methods has its advantages and limitations. This review aims to analyse research on non-symbolic number sense using eye tracking.

Possibilities of using eye tracking to study numerosity processing

Eye tracking is an increasingly popular method for investigating the perception and processing of information, including quantitative information, both with and without the use of symbols (Hurst & Cordes, 2016; Irwin & Thomas, 2007; Lilienthal & Schindler, 2019;

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

Merkley & Ansari, 2010; Odic & Halberda, 2015; Price et al., 2017). Eye tracking provides direct access to internal processes by tracking the focus of attention with high spatial and temporal resolution.

Variables collected by recording eye movements include saccadic movements (movements of the eye that represent a change in the focus of attention) and fixations (maintaining perception in an area of interest and hence sustained concentration of attention). These indicators generally fall into two categories. The first category includes the location and duration of the first fixation and indicates bottom-up, stimulus-driven processes related to visual-perceptual processes and involuntary attention.

The second category reflects top-down processes related to voluntary control, attitude, and motivation, and involves more intensive and prolonged cognitive processing (Calvo & Meseguer, 2002; Mock et al., 2016). These include the total number of fixations, the total duration of fixations, and the frequency and direction of saccadic movements. Thus, based on the analysis of different types of oculomotor indicators, it is possible to say which processes - ascending or descending - are involved in the processing of quantitative information.

Characteristics of oculomotor responses can indicate which of the two visual systems, dorsal or ventral, is activated at a given time (Pannasch et al., 2008; Velichkovsky et al., 2005). Studies of visual perception have shown that morphological visual information can follow two pathways: dorsal and ventral (Mishkin et al., 1983). The ventral stream sends information from occipital regions to inferior temporal regions. Here, foveal information is processed at a relatively slow rate. The dorsal stream sends the signal faster, but with less spatial resolution, to posterior parietal regions.

The functional division is based on the processing of information in these streams in two modes: in the ventral stream, the subject stream, which answers the question 'what', and in the dorsal stream, the spatial stream, which answers the question 'where'. For example, comparing numbers has been shown to be a task that activates the dorsal pathway in the right parietal regions. However, the task of deciding whether a number is odd or even activates the ventral pathway (Klein & Knops, 2023). Thus, analysing oculomotor performance during different number operations can provide important information about the mental processes behind these operations.

A systematic review of eye tracking research in mathematics education has already been conducted (Strohmaier et al., 2020). It reviewed the main findings of research from 1921 to 2018, but its main focus was specifically on mathematics learning; this study did not include detailed findings of research on nonsymbolic representations of quantity, as not all number sense research is related to research on math skills.

Aims of the systematic review

Our systematic review includes eye tracking studies of a non-symbolic quantity representation system. The aims of this review are:

1. To highlight and describe the main research questions, instruments (tests, tasks) and results of research on the non-symbolic representation system using eye tracking;

2. To analyse the main ways of interpreting indicators of oculomotor reactions from the point of view of the characteristics of the non-symbolic representation system;

3. To identify the main mechanisms for processing nonsymbolic quantitative information based on the results of eye tracking studies.

Methods

The systematic review was conducted in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews guidelines (Page et al., 2021). To identify the studies that met our criteria we implemented the following search strategy. The first step was the database search, for which we used the search string: ("approximate number sense*" OR "sense of magnitude*" OR "nonsymbolic comparison*" OR "symbolic representation*" OR "numerical representation*" OR "symbol grounding*" OR "number processing*" OR "representation of number magnitude*" OR "estimation biases*" OR "non-symbolic number comparison*" OR "non-symbolic representation*" OR "numerosity*" OR "numerosity processing*" OR "intuitive number sense*" OR "number*") AND ("eye-movements*" OR "eye-tracking*" OR "saccade-terminated*" OR "eye-fixation behaviour*" OR "foveal*" OR "fixation*" OR "saccade*"), referring to titles and abstracts. Duplicates were automatically discarded. Articles were not limited by publication date. This resulted in a total of 604 studies.

Step two involved screening titles and abstracts for the inclusion: (a) the study was published in a journal article, a book chapter, or in conference proceedings; (b) the study was published in English; (c) the study involved eye-tracking; (d) the study used eye-tracking data to analyze non-symbolic numerosity estimation tasks. After this screening, 15 studies remained. We searched citation databases: Web of Science (n=59), Scopus (n=458), PubMed (n=87). Initial searches were conducted on October 06, 2023.

Citations were imported into CADIMA tool for systematic reviews (Kohl et al., 2018) for automated duplicate removal by title and screening. Titles and abstracts were screened by two reviewers (Sofia Mironets, Ilona Denisova) independently (Kappa value: 1). The two researchers agreed 92% of the time and discrepancies were resolved through discussions with the first author. CADIMA flowchart depicting the results of the selection process is shown in Fig. 1. The papers were assessed by two reviewers (SM, ID) independently; the consensus was reached in a group discussion.

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

Figure 1

CADIMA flowchart for study identification and selection

Flow diagramm



Results

Data collection

We reviewed 13 eye-tracking studies published between 2008 and 2023. The following information was extracted from the studies: (1) author, (2) title, (3) task type, (4) stimulus type, (5) stimulus presentation time, (6) sample characteristics, (7) oculomotor responses,

(8) equipment, (9) recording condition. Brief summaries of the 13 studies are outlined in chronological order in Table 1 for an overview (Appendix). All in all, there was a considerable overlap between the main variables in all empirical experiments as regards the examined samples, research procedure and equipment.

Main research questions

The 13 selected publications can be roughly categorized according to the research questions and aims. The most numerous group of publications focuses on studying the mechanisms of the system of nonsymbolic representation and its interactions with the system of processing space, time, depth, and other magnitudes. Six publications fall into this category (Bulf et al., 2016; Castaldi et al., 2020; Cheyette & Piantadosi, 2019; Lindskog et al., 2021; Odic and Halberda, 2015; Schütz, 2012).

Some of these papers are focused directly on the assessment of eyes movements, reflecting the distribution of attention resources when assessing the numerosity without the use of symbols. For example, Castaldi et al., 2020 investigates whether humans can choose the most numerous array of items with fast saccadic eye movements and how oculomotor movements differ depending on the number of objects being evaluated.

Other studies considered processing of numerosity, space and magnitudes in the framework of different theories which were mentioned in the introduction (e.g. theory of sensory integration or the ANS theory). Particularly, Odic and Halberda (2015) in the framework of the ANS theory considered the question if the patterns of eye-movement were different with the same stimulus regarding different tasks: comparison of numerosities and comparison of areas (magnitudes).

The second large category of selected papers included three papers, which focused on study of associations between symbolic and nonsymbolic numerosity representations (Guan et al., 2020; Peake et al., 2020; Price et al., 2017). It should be noted that in two papers (Peake et al., 2020; Price et al., 2017) it was considered the mechanisms of functioning of both symbolic and nonsymbolic representation and overlap between them. Hence, to some extent these papers may be also included in the first category. For example, Peake et al. (2020) considered how participants distributed their perceptual attention and focused on the stimuli in the process of symbolic and nonsymbolic comparison.

The next category included two papers, aimed to estimate differences in accuracy and eye-movement patterns between individuals with different disorders in comparison to typical developing individuals (Abreu-Mendoza et al., 2015; Van Herwegen et al., 2019). Particularly, Van Herwegen et al. (2019) considered eye-movement patterns during nonsymbolic comparison for individuals with Down syndrome and Williams syndrome in comparison with individuals without such disorders.

Finally, two articles do not fall into any of the above categories. One study examines the process of approximate quantification, i.e. the rapid and approximate estimation of the number of objects by assigning numbers to sets of objects (Gandini et al., 2008).

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

This study identified different quantification strategies and investigated the patterns of oculomotor responses depending on the strategy. Another independent study aimed to investigate the contribution of genetic and environmental factors to some measures of non-symbolic number sense. In this case, eye tracking was only used to obtain one characteristic of the performance of the non-symbolic number representation system, namely gaze duration (Viktorsson et al., 2023).

In summary, a review of the main research questions revealed that eye-tracking research has been used to better understand the mechanisms of the functioning of the non-symbolic quantity representation system and its relationship to other numerosity or magnitude estimation systems, through analyses of oculomotor responses and allocation of attentional resources.

Task

Nonsymbolic comparison task

Nine of the thirteen selected papers used the classic nonsymbolic comparison task (NSCT), which can be subdivided into a Numerosity Comparison Task (NCT) and a Magnitude Comparison Task (MCT).

The Numerosity Comparison Task (sometimes called Number/Quantity Comparison Task) asks participants to estimate which of two arrays contains more objects. This task occurred in the 8 selected studies (Castaldi et al., 2020; Cheyette & Piantadosi, 2019; Guan et al., 2021; Lindskog et al., 2021; Odic & Halberda, 2015; Peake et al., 2020; Price et al., 2017; Van Herwegen et al., 2019). The most common stimuli were simple geometric shapes: dots and blobs (angular size ranged from 0.18 to 1.26°). Abreu-Mendoza et al. (2015) compared coloured cartoon images of food and animals.

In a Magnitude Comparison Task (also called Area Comparison Task), participants are asked to determine which of two arrays occupies the larger surface area (Odic & Halberda, 2015). Abreu-Mendoza et al. (2015) modified the task to match the stimulus material, asking participants to determine which of two cartoon images had more food.

Stimuli design

Stimuli in the non-symbolic comparison test can be either arrays with objects of the same colour (black, green, white) (Cheyette & Piantadosi, 2019; Guan et al., 2021; Price et al., 2017) or with objects of different colours (classically yellow and blue (Lindskog et al., 2021; Odic & Halberda, 2015); black and white (Castaldi et al., 2020); red and blue (Van Herwegen et al., 2019).

In all but one study (Cheyette & Piantadosi, 2019), the arrays for comparison were presented simultaneously on the screen in a separate format, with each array on the left or right side of the screen. In Cheyette & Piantadosi (2019), the arrays to be compared were presented sequentially, with no interstimulus interval.

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

The number of objects in the comparison arrays varied across studies. In general, the arrays contained between 4 and 90 objects. The most common values were between 5 and 16 objects (in each array). The number of stimuli used in each study is shown in Table 1.

Most studies controlled for the ratio of the number of objects in the arrays, defined as the lower number of objects divided by the higher number of objects. Only three papers included arrays with a low ratio of less than 0.5 (Abreu-Mendoza & Arias-Trejo, 2015; Castaldi et al., 2020; Peake et al., 2020). The most common ratio between arrays for comparison was 0.5 (found in eight studies), while ratios greater than 0.5 (0.6-0.91) were used in four studies (Castaldi et al., 2020).

Some papers assessed the effect of congruency by controlling the size ratio, total surface area, total cumulative area and density of objects in the array (e.g. (Lindskog et al., 2021). Dots could either have a predetermined size or vary in size depending on the above factors.

Presentation time

The duration of the array presentation depends on the research question and the oculometric parameters to be analysed. For example, Castaldi et al (2020) investigated fast saccadic movements and presented stimuli for 200 ms. In one of their experiments, Cheyette & Piantadosi (2019) manipulated the presentation duration of two arrays for comparison: dot sets could be presented for the same duration (100:100 ms, 1000:1000 ms) or for different durations (0:1000 ms, 1000:100 ms) to assess the role of the foveation accumulation effect.

Other studies have used presentation durations in the range of 1000 to 2000 ms, which is considered sufficient to produce several reliably recorded fixations.

Array estimation (enumeration) task

Two studies (Cheyette & Piantadosi, 2019; Gandini et al., 2008) used the Array Estimation/ Enumeration Task to estimate the number of points in an array.

Stimuli design

The selected papers used monochrome stimuli (black in (Gandini et al., 2008); blue in (Cheyette & Piantadosi, 2019). The size of the dots varied (Gandini et al., 2008 - 18px; Cheyette & Piantadosi, 2019 - 10px), as did the size of the sets to be compared. In the study by Gandini et al. (2008), target arrays consisted of 15, 20 or 25 dots, and control arrays could contain between 4 and 79 dots. The Cheyette & Piantadosi (2019) study contained between 10 and 90 dots.

Gandini et al. (2008) used a more complex experimental design in which participants were presented with black dots in cells of white grids. Thus, in contrast to the other two studies, the stimuli were ordered by fitting into the cells. In addition, the dots could be arranged both chaotically within the grids and in predetermined 'canonical' patterns.

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

Presentation time

The choice of stimulus presentation duration was related to the research questions. Cheyette & Piantadosi (2019) varied stimulus presentation durations (100, 333, 1000, 3000 ms) to assess the relevance of the number of fixations and foveations on the accuracy of object numerosity estimation. The stimuli in Gandini et al. (2008) remained on the screen for 6 s, during which time participants had to estimate numerosity using one of two strategies: perceptual estimation or anchor estimation. In the latter, participants were asked to count the dots in one of the clusters aloud and to estimate the number of remaining dots according to the experience gained in the first count.

Passive viewing tests

Two studies investigating non-symbolic number sense in infants used a passive viewing paradigm (Bulf et al., 2016; Viktorsson et al., 2023). In this paradigm, no action is required; the participant simply observes changes in the presented arrays of objects. Depending on the type of task, participants may be presented with two arrays of objects, one with a constant number of objects and the second with a changing number of objects (visual detection task). In this case, the average duration of gaze on the side with the changing number of dots was estimated. In the other type of task, arrays of objects or geometric shapes were used as 'cues' and presented before the target stimulus to determine the extent to which quantity or physical size could be a feature that determines the direction of attention (paired visual preference paradigm).

Stimuli design

Viktorsson et al (2022) showed infants a series of pictures with two dot arrays. The array on one side of the screen was numerically constant, while the array on the other side varied in the number of dots at a ratio of 1:1 and 1:2 or 1:1 and 1:4 to the constant array. The constant set consisted of 10 or 6 dots and the alternating set could contain from 6 to 24 dots.

In the study by Bulf et al. (2016), the arrays contained 2-9 dots. The task contained both congruent and incongruent trials. Congruency was determined by matching the side of the screen on which the 'cue' (a larger array or physically sized figure) and the target stimulus were displayed. Time to fixation on the target was assessed in the task.

Presentation time

The on-screen duration of the arrays was 500 ms in Viktorsson et al. (2022) and 300 ms in Bulf et al. (2016). The interstimulus interval was 300 ms (Viktorsson et al., 2023) and 400 ms (Bulf et al., 2016).

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

Sample

In the majority of studies, the sample consisted of healthy adults, most often students. Group sizes ranged from small (9-15 participants) (Castaldi et al., 2020; Gandini et al., 2008; Odic & Halberda, 2015) to medium (27-58 participants) (Cheyette & Piantadosi, 2019; Guan et al., 2021; Lindskog et al., 2021; Peake et al., 2020; Price et al., 2017).

The studies that examined differences between clinical and non-clinical samples also had small sample sizes and included participants of different ages (children, adolescents, adults). Group sizes ranged from 16 to 24 participants (Abreu-Mendoza & Arias-Trejo, 2015; Van Herwegen et al., 2019).

The largest sample size was reported in a study of young children. In the study by Viktorsson et al. (2022), the sample consisted of 514 twins (age 5 months). The sample in Bulf et al. (2016) consisted of 36 infants (age 8-9 months).

Discussion

In this section, we review the main findings from eye tracking studies of non-symbolic number sense according to the main research questions.

Mechanisms of the system of non-symbolic representation of quantity and its relation to the systems of estimation of continuous quantities

Results from eye-tracking studies of infants' perception of quantity suggest that the processing of quantity information is an automatic, bottom-up and, at least in part, biologically determined process (Bulf et al., 2016). Six-month-old infants already showed sensitivity to quantity: they looked longer at arrays with more objects, and no relationship was found between mean gaze duration and accuracy (Viktorsson et al., 2023).

It has also been found that even in infancy there is a link between the representation of quantity and space, with larger quantities being associated with the right side of space and smaller quantities with the left. As in adults, this association appears to be automatic in infants: numerical information elicits spontaneous shifts of visual attention to specific regions of space in a magnitude-dependent manner (Bulf et al., 2016). This suggests that the link between numerical order and left-right orientation emerges early in life, before the acquisition of symbolic knowledge. The involvement of spatial attention mechanisms in determining the number of objects may suggest that estimating quantity involves estimating the spatial location of objects.

The existence of a special sensitivity to quantity and the fact that the processing of quantitative information takes place at an automatic level also follows from estimates of the direction and duration of the first fixation. Saccadic movements have been shown to be controlled by feature salience: the most salient object (in this case, an array containing a larger number of objects) is more likely to be selected first (Lindskog et al., 2021; Peake et

al., 2020). In addition, the duration of the first fixation is also longer for an array containing a larger number of objects (Peake et al., 2020).

The importance of quantitative features is further supported by the fact that the duration of the first fixation was longer for arrays with more complex quantitative proportions (Peake et al., 2020). The probability that the longest fixation was on a larger array also increased with increasing proportion, which is more consistent with the hypothesis of automatic processing of quantitative features.

At the same time, a study showed that the direction of attention is determined by the physical size of objects rather than their number. Specifically, gaze was directed to an array containing a larger number of objects only in congruent tasks (Lindskog et al., 2021). In contrast, in non-congruent tasks, initial gaze was more likely to be directed to an array containing fewer objects but with a larger cumulative area. This may suggest that the physical dimensions of objects are processed more automatically than quantitative parameters. It should be noted, however, that this does not rule out the existence of a separate process for estimating quantity.

The existence of a separate process for processing quantitative information was confirmed in a study by Odic & Halberda (2015), who demonstrated differences in oculomotor movements in the numerosity and area comparison tasks using the same arrays. For example, participants made faster saccades and switches between regions of interest when performing NCT vs. ACT. In addition, the number of saccades also increased in the condition with more complex numerosity ratios between the arrays being compared (Odic & Halberda, 2015). This increase may indicate a focal information processing stage, which is necessary to obtain a more detailed view of the perceived arrays. The encoding of information about the surface of the arrays was more dependent on distributed attention, as reflected in longer and less frequent saccades, less frequent switching, and a higher percentage of fixations in the centre of the screen. This suggests the existence of a distinct quantity estimation process that adapts to different contexts and is robust to changes in cumulative area or other visual parameters.

The importance of the number of switches for improving non-symbolic comparison accuracy is presented in the 'foveal accumulation' model (Cheyette & Piantadosi, 2019). According to this model, quantity estimation accuracy 'accumulates' as a series of visual fixations are made. The authors showed that estimation accuracy increases as the number of objects entering the visual field increases, with a smaller contribution from the peripheral dots. The proposed model suggests that numerosity estimation is closely related to the mechanisms that control eye movements and attention.

However, it should be noted that Lindskog et al. (2021) and Castaldi et al. (2020) presented arrays for comparison simultaneously, whereas in Cheyette & Piantadosi (2019) the arrays were presented sequentially. This format of stimulus presentation involves working memory and may lead to adjustments in the visual strategies used to estimate quantity. Sequential presentation allows the size of each array to be estimated separately,

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

while in the simultaneous format the estimate is driven by the most salient feature of the objects, which could be their size or area. Thus, the proposed model of sequential foveation accumulation may contribute to the understanding of how the processes of quantity estimation and attentional allocation are related.

Eye tracking studies have also shown differences between the three systems of quantity representation (sabitising, non-symbolic number sense, and texture (density) estimation). In particular, a study by Castaldi et al. (2020) showed that saccade duration was shorter when comparing two arrays containing an 'average' number of objects (12 to 35) than when comparing a small number (up to 4) or a very large number (more than 100).

In conclusion, eye-tracking studies have shown that there is a specific mechanism for numerosity estimation that is separate from the estimation of other visual parameters. Furthermore, the link between numerosity estimation and the spatial distribution of attention has been demonstrated.

Relationship between symbolic and non-symbolic quantity representation systems

Investigating the relationship between symbolic and non-symbolic systems of quantity representation may contribute to ideas about the formation and development of mathematical ability. To assess the extent to which symbolic and non-symbolic representations of quantity share a common mechanism, differences in eye movement patterns in symbolic and non-symbolic comparison tasks were assessed (Peake et al., 2020; Price et al., 2017). As in previous studies, the first fixation was shown to occur at larger magnitudes, confirming that quantity estimation is driven by bottom-up attention, regardless of format (non-symbolic or symbolic). It is suggested that some aspects of the visual-perceptual processes underlying magnitude comparison are common to all formats and are related to the speed, but not the accuracy, of decisions.

However, specific visual-perceptual processing differed when comparing arrays of objects and numbers. Longer fixations were found when comparing arrays of objects than when comparing numbers. Furthermore, the effect of numerical proportion was more pronounced for both duration and number of fixations in the non-symbolic comparison (Guan et al., 2021; Price et al., 2017). However, in the study by Peak et al. (2020), the increased proportion effect for the non-symbolic comparison task (compared to numerical comparison) was only confirmed for reaction time, but not for the duration of the first fixation.

Differences between symbolic and non-symbolic quantity representation mechanisms were also evident in how maths anxiety altered the numerical proportion effect for both types of representation (Guan et al., 2021). In a non-symbolic comparison task, participants with high levels of math anxiety showed a larger proportion effect, as manifested by an increase in fixation duration when comparing arrays with a higher numerical proportion. Furthermore, this effect was enhanced in the presence of interfering

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

information. For the two-digit comparison task, participants with higher levels of anxiety showed an increase in fixation duration in the presence of interfering information, but the numerical proportion effect did not vary significantly with level of maths anxiety.

Thus, studies on the relationship between non-symbolic and symbolic representation of quantity using eye tracking have shown the existence of specific mechanisms for each type of representation. First of all, these differences are manifested in the expression of the numerical proportion effect for two indicators of oculomotor responses: the duration of the first fixation and the number of fixations. For both types of quantitative representation, the duration of the first fixation was longer in the higher numerical proportion conditions than in the lower numerical proportion conditions. However, the differences were significantly greater for the non-symbolic comparison task.

The effect of different disorders on the representation of quantity

Studies of the oculomotor response in children with different types of disabilities have attempted to understand the nature of difficulties in mathematics acquisition in these children. Previous studies have suggested that impaired mathematics ability in children with Williams syndrome and Down syndrome is caused by atypical viewing patterns (Van Herwegen et al., 2019, 2020). However, the study by Van Herwegen et al. (2019) did not support this hypothesis. A comparison of several indicators of oculomotor responses (mean fixation rate, mean fixation duration, time to first fixation or duration of first gaze) during a non-symbolic comparison task showed no significant differences between the groups with disorders and controls.

A similar result was found in a study comparing number and area in children with Down syndrome compared to typically developing children (Abreu-Mendoza & Arias-Trejo, 2015). The researchers calculated the difference in fixation duration between a target stimulus (e.g., an array with more objects) and a distractor (an array with fewer objects). A positive value of this index indicates a preference for the target over the distractor, while a negative value indicates the opposite. In addition, this index also indicates the duration of information processing when comparing quantities and areas.

In general, children with Down syndrome showed the same pattern of task performance as control children of comparable mental age. First, children with Down syndrome were more successful at comparing areas than at comparing quantities, i.e. the difference in gaze duration between the larger and smaller stimuli was greater for the area comparison task. Second, children with Down syndrome also showed a significant numerical proportion effect - a reduction in the difference in first look duration as the numerical proportion between the quantities being compared increased. Importantly, the numerical proportion effect was not significantly different between children with Down syndrome and the control group.

For example, studies have shown the preservation of non-symbolic comparison processes in children with Down syndrome and Williams syndrome, and the similarity

of oculomotor responses to non-symbolic comparison in children with disabilities and typically developing children. This may suggest that the basis of the difficulties in mastering mathematics in children with disorders does not lie in disorders of the system of non-symbolic representation of quantity.

Approximate quantification mechanisms

One study has been devoted to investigating the mechanisms of approximate quantification, which we will focus on in more detail. Gandini et al (2008) identified 5 main quantification strategies and examined the patterns of oculomotor responses depending on the strategy. The main strategies are the anchoring strategy, the benchmark strategy, the decomposition strategy, the approximate counting strategy and the exact counting strategy. An anchoring strategy involves, for example, a participant counting a number of dots and then visually estimating the remaining number of dots by comparing it to a subset that has already been counted. The benchmark strategy involves participants comparing the stimulus with a representation held in long-term memory and then adjusting their response based on the estimated difference. The accuracy of quantity estimation differed according to the strategy used. Participants were less accurate but faster when using the benchmark strategy than when using the fixation strategy.

It should be noted that the choice of strategy depends on the stimulus configuration (random or non-random configuration), the number of objects to judge and the age of the participants. For example, the approximate strategy was used more often when estimating the number of dots in the random configuration and when increasing the number of dots in the estimated array. For younger participants the most popular strategies were approximate counting and benchmarking, and for older participants the most popular strategies were approximate counting and exact counting.

Oculomotor performance was used as a more precise measure of cognitive processes within each strategy. It was shown that the mean number of fixations and saccade amplitude differed depending on the strategy used and the time interval from stimulus presentation (in the first 500 ms of comparison and from 500 to 1000 ms). Saccade amplitudes were larger between 500 and 100 ms of task performance than in the first interval up to 500 ms for the benchmark strategy, but not for the anchoring strategy. Thus, when participants used the benchmark strategy, they made small amplitude saccades first, followed by larger saccades. In contrast, when participants used the anchoring strategy, they made larger amplitude saccades in the first interval than in the second interval.

In conclusion, the results of the study show that eye movements during approximate quantity estimation (number of fixations, saccade amplitudes) are sensitive to stimulus features (in particular their number and spatial position) and also depend on the strategy and the age of the participants. This study is the first to directly demonstrate that people use a wide range of approximate quantity estimation strategies in addition to basing their
estimates on the visual properties of stimuli.

Conclusion

The recording of eye movements is becoming increasingly popular in the study of the perception and processing of quantitative information. Eye tracking provides insight into the mechanisms of perceptual and behavioural processes involved in the processing of quantitative information. This systematic review examined eye-tracking studies of non-symbolic quantity representation processes published in the last 15 years (from 2008 to 2023). Thirteen studies met the selection criteria and were grouped according to the main research questions. Most studies focused on investigating the mechanisms of non-symbolic numerosity representation and assessing the relationship between numerosity estimation and the estimation of non-numerical visual parameters.

Researchers have used different metrics for oculomotor responses, which sometimes makes it difficult to compare results. One of the most commonly used measures is the location of the first gaze. Most studies have shown that participants tend to direct their initial gaze to a set containing a larger number of objects or a figure with a larger area. This supports the hypothesis that quantity processing is a bottom-up process and that quantity is a visual feature that is processed at the level of precognition.

Number sense studies have also looked at indicators such as fixation duration and number of saccades. It has been shown that the number of saccades increases and the duration of fixations decreases with increasing cognitive load associated with increasing numerical proportion between the compared object arrays. This may be due to the involvement of the focal attention system with increasing cognitive load.

The results suggest that there is a separate process for processing quantity information, independent of the evaluation of other visual parameters. Eye-tracking studies have shown specific features of oculomotor responses in quantity comparison tasks, depending on both stimulus characteristics (e.g. number, numerical proportion, congruence) and respondent characteristics.

In general, it can be said that the processing of quantitative information can occur directly at the moment the information enters the visual system. In the first stage, there is an initial 'coarse' processing of quantitative information based more on low-frequency information, resulting in a kind of topographically organised map of perceived objects. In the second stage, this initial information is refined by processing high-frequency information (e.g. (Fornaciai & Park, 2021).

However, it must be recognised that eye-tracking studies have focused less on the stages of processing quantitative information and forming a representation of quantity. Most studies have been limited to comparing different indicators of eye movements for different types of tasks and stimuli. An exception is the work of Gandini et al. (2008), who investigated the temporal dynamics of eye movement characteristics in quantity estimation tasks. It is possible that a more detailed study of the temporal changes

in indicators such as the number and duration of fixations, amplitude and number of saccades during the performance of quantity comparison tasks will provide a more detailed picture of how the internal representation of quantity is formed.

References

- Abreu-Mendoza, R. A., & Arias-Trejo, N. (2015). Numerical and area comparison abilities in Down syndrome. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 41–42, 58–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2015.05.008</u>
- Agrillo, C., & Bisazza, A. (2018). Understanding the origin of number sense: A review of fish studies. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *373*(1740), 20160511. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0511</u>
- Anobile, G., Arrighi, R., & Burr, D. C. (2019). Simultaneous and sequential subitizing are separate systems, and neither predicts math abilities. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *178*, 86–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2018.09.017</u>
- Anobile, G., Cicchini, G. M., & Burr, D. C. (2014). Separate Mechanisms for Perception of Numerosity and Density. *Psychological Science*, 25(1), 265–270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613501520</u>
- Ansari, D., Garcia, N., Lucas, E., Hamon, K., & Dhital, B. (2005). Neural correlates of symbolic number processing in children and adults. *NeuroReport*, *16*(16), 1769–1773. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.wnr.0000183905.23396.f1</u>
- Arrighi, R., Togoli, I., & Burr, D. C. (2014). A generalized sense of number. *Proceedings of the Royal* Society B: Biological Sciences, 281(1797), 20141791. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.1791</u>
- Berch, D. B. (2005). Making Sense of Number Sense: Implications for Children With Mathematical Disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *38*(4), 333–339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00222</u> <u>194050380040901</u>
- Brannon, E. M. (2005). What animals know about numbers. Handbook of Mathematical Cognition. (Psychology Press). Campbell JID.
- Bulf, H., De Hevia, M. D., & Macchi Cassia, V. (2016). Small on the left, large on the right: Numbers orient visual attention onto space in preverbal infants. *Developmental Science*, 19(3), 394–401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12315</u>
- Burr, D. C., Anobile, G., & Arrighi, R. (2018). Psychophysical evidence for the number sense. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 373(1740), 20170045. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2017.0045
- Burr, D. C., Turi, M., & Anobile, G. (2010). Subitizing but not estimation of numerosity requires attentional resources. *Journal of Vision*, 10(6), 20–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1167/10.6.20</u>
- Burr, D., & Ross, J. (2008). A Visual Sense of Number. Current Biology, 18(6), 425-428. https://

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.02.052

- Calvo, M. G., & Meseguer, E. (2002). Eye Movements and Processing Stages in Reading: Relative Contribution of Visual, Lexical, and Contextual Factors. *The Spanish Journal of Psychology*, 5(1), 66–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1138741600005849</u>
- Castaldi, E., Burr, D., Turi, M., & Binda, P. (2020). Fast saccadic eye-movements in humans suggest that numerosity perception is automatic and direct. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *287*(1935), 20201884. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.1884</u>
- Chen, Q., & Li, J. (2014). Association between individual differences in non-symbolic number acuity and math performance: A meta-analysis. Acta Psychologica, 148, 163–172. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2014.01.016</u>
- Chen, Q., & Verguts, T. (2010). Beyond the mental number line: A neural network model of number–space interactions. *Cognitive Psychology*, 60(3), 218–240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogpsych.2010.01.001</u>
- Cheyette, S. J., & Piantadosi, S. T. (2019). A primarily serial, foveal accumulator underlies approximate numerical estimation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116(36), 17729–17734. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1819956116</u>
- Clayton, S., Gilmore, C., & Inglis, M. (2015). Dot comparison stimuli are not all alike: The effect of different visual controls on ANS measurement. *Acta Psychologica*, *161*, 177–184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2015.09.007</u>
- De Smedt, B., Noël, M.-P., Gilmore, C., & Ansari, D. (2013). How do symbolic and non-symbolic numerical magnitude processing skills relate to individual differences in children's mathematical skills? A review of evidence from brain and behavior. *Trends in Neuroscience and Education*, *2*(2), 48–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tine.2013.06.001</u>
- Decarli, G., Zingaro, D., Surian, L., & Piazza, M. (2023). Number sense at 12 months predicts 4-yearolds' maths skills. *Developmental Science*, *26*(6), e13386. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.13386</u>
- Dehaene, S. (2001). Precis of The Number Sense. *Mind and Language*, *16*(1), 16–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0017.00154</u>
- Dehaene, S. (2003). The neural basis of the Weber–Fechner law: A logarithmic mental number line. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 7(4), 145–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(03)00055-X</u>
- Dehaene, S., Bossini, S., & Giraux, P. (1993). The mental representation of parity and number magnitude. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, *122*(3), 371–396. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-3445.122.3.371</u>
- de Hevia, M. D., Castaldi, E., Streri, A., Eger, E., & Izard, V. (2017). Perceiving numerosity from birth. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 40, e169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X16002090</u>
- DeWind, N. K., Park, J., Woldorff, M. G., & Brannon, E. M. (2019). Numerical encoding in early

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

visual cortex. Cortex, 114, 76-89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2018.03.027

- Dietrich, J. F., Huber, S., & Nuerk, H.-C. (2015). Methodological aspects to be considered when measuring the approximate number system (ANS)» a research review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyq.2015.00295</u>
- Feigenson, L., Dehaene, S., & Spelke, E. (2004). Core systems of number. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 8(7), 307–314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2004.05.002</u>
- Feigenson, L., Libertus, M. E., & Halberda, J. (2013). Links Between the Intuitive Sense of Number and Formal Mathematics Ability. *Child Development Perspectives*, 7(2), 74–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12019</u>
- Fischer, M. H., Castel, A. D., Dodd, M. D., & Pratt, J. (2003). Perceiving numbers causes spatial shifts of attention. *Nature Neuroscience*, 6(6), 555–556. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1066</u>
- Fornaciai, M., & Park, J. (2021). Disentangling feedforward versus feedback processing in numerosity representation. *Cortex*, *135*, 255–267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>cortex.2020.11.013</u>
- Fuhs, M. W., & McNeil, N. M. (2013). ANS acuity and mathematics ability in preschoolers from low-income homes: Contributions of inhibitory control. *Developmental Science*, 16(1), 136–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12013</u>
- Gandini, D., Lemaire, P., & Dufau, S. (2008). Older and younger adults' strategies in approximate quantification. *Acta Psychologica*, *129*(1), 175–189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2008.05.009</u>
- Gebuis, T., Kadosh, R. C., & Gevers, W. (2016). Sensory-integration system rather than approximate number system underlies numerosity processing: A critical review. *Acta psychologica*, *171*, 17–35.
- Gebuis, T., & Reynvoet, B. (2012). The Role of Visual Information in Numerosity Estimation. *PLoS ONE*, *7*(5), e37426. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0037426</u>
- Gebuis, T., & Van Der Smagt, M. J. (2011). False Approximations of the Approximate Number System? *PLoS ONE*, 6(10), e25405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0025405</u>
- Gilmore, C., Attridge, N., Clayton, S., Cragg, L., Johnson, S., Marlow, N., Simms, V., & Inglis, M. (2013). Individual Differences in Inhibitory Control, Not Non-Verbal Number Acuity, Correlate with Mathematics Achievement. *PLoS ONE*, 8(6), e67374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0067374</u>
- Gilmore, C., Cragg, L., Hogan, G., & Inglis, M. (2016). Congruency effects in dot comparison tasks: Convex hull is more important than dot area. *Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 28(8), 923–931. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20445911.2016.1221828</u>
- Göbel, S. M., Calabria, M., Farnè, A., & Rossetti, Y. (2006). Parietal rTMS distorts the mental number line: Simulating 'spatial' neglect in healthy subjects. *Neuropsychologia*, 44(6),

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

860-868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2005.09.007

- Göbel, S., Walsh, V., & Rushworth, M. F. S. (2001). The Mental Number Line and the Human Angular Gyrus. *NeuroImage*, 14(6), 1278–1289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2001.0927</u>
- Guan, D., Ai, J., Gao, Y., Li, H., Huang, B., & Si, J. (2021). Non-symbolic representation is modulated by math anxiety and cognitive inhibition while symbolic representation not. *Psychological Research*, 85(4), 1662–1672. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00426-020-01356-7</u>
- Halberda, J., Mazzocco, M. M. M., & Feigenson, L. (2008a). Individual differences in non-verbal number acuity correlate with maths achievement. *Nature*, *455*(7213), 665–668. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07246</u>
- Halberda, J., Mazzocco, M. M. M., & Feigenson, L. (2008b). Individual differences in non-verbal number acuity correlate with maths achievement. *Nature*, *455*(7213), 665–668. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07246</u>
- Harvey, B. M., & Dumoulin, S. O. (2017). A network of topographic numerosity maps in human association cortex. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1(2), 0036. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-016-0036</u>
- Holloway, I. D., & Ansari, D. (2009). Mapping numerical magnitudes onto symbols: The numerical distance effect and individual differences in children's mathematics achievement. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *103*(1), 17–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2008.04.001</u>
- Hubbard, E. M., Piazza, M., Pinel, P., & Dehaene, S. (2005). Interactions between number and space in parietal cortex. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 6(6), 435–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1684</u>
- Hurst, M., & Cordes, S. (2016). Rational-number comparison across notation: Fractions, decimals, and whole numbers. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 42(2), 281–293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/xhp0000140</u>
- Irwin, D. E., & Thomas, L. E. (2007). The effect of saccades on number processing. *Perception & Psychophysics*, 69(3), 450–458. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193765</u>
- Klein, E., & Knops, A. (2023). The two-network framework of number processing: A step towards a better understanding of the neural origins of developmental dyscalculia. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 130(3), 253–268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-022-02580-8</u>
- Kohl, C., McIntosh, E. J., Unger, S., Haddaway, N. R., Kecke, S., Schiemann, J., & Wilhelm, R. (2018). Online tools supporting the conduct and reporting of systematic reviews and systematic maps: A case study on CADIMA and review of existing tools. *Environmental Evidence*, 7(1), 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13750-018-0115-5</u>
- Libertus, M. E., Odic, D., & Halberda, J. (2012). Intuitive sense of number correlates with math scores on college-entrance examination. *Acta Psychologica*, 141(3), 373–379. <u>https://doi.</u>

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2012.09.009

- Lilienthal, A.J., Schindler, M. (2019). Eye tracking research in mathematics education: A PME literature review. *Eye tracking research in mathematics education: A PME literature review*, *4*, 62.
- Lindskog, M., Poom, L., & Winman, A. (2021). Attentional bias induced by stimulus control (ABC) impairs measures of the approximate number system. *Attention, Perception, & Psychophysics, 83*(4), 1684–1698. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13414-020-02229-2</u>
- Lourenco, S. F., & Longo, M. R. (2011). Origins and Development of Generalized Magnitude Representation. B *Space, Time and Number in the Brain* (cc. 225–244). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385948-8.00015-3</u>
- Lyons, I. M., Nuerk, H.-C., & Ansari, D. (2015). Rethinking the implications of numerical ratio effects for understanding the development of representational precision and numerical processing across formats. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, *144*(5), 1021–1035. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000094</u>
- Merkley, R., & Ansari, D. (2010). Using eye tracking to study numerical cognition: The case of the ratio effect. *Experimental Brain Research*, 206(4), 455–460. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00221-010-2419-8</u>
- Mishkin, M., Ungerleider, L. G., & Macko, K. A. (1983). Object vision and spatial vision: Two cortical pathways. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *6*, 414–417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(83)90190-X</u>
- Mock, J., Huber, S., Bloechle, J., Dietrich, J. F., Bahnmueller, J., Rennig, J., Klein, E., & Moeller, K. (2018). Magnitude processing of symbolic and non-symbolic proportions: An fMRI study. Behavioral and Brain Functions, 14(1), 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12993-018-0141-z</u>
- Mock, J., Huber, S., Klein, E., & Moeller, K. (2016). Insights into numerical cognition: Considering eye-fixations in number processing and arithmetic. *Psychological Research*, *80*(3), 334–359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00426-015-0739-9</u>
- Nemeh, F., Humberstone, J., Yates, M. J., & Reeve, R. A. (2018). Non-symbolic magnitudes are represented spatially: Evidence from a non-symbolic SNARC task. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(8), e0203019. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203019
- Nieder, A. (2018). Evolution of cognitive and neural solutions enabling numerosity judgements: Lessons from primates and corvids. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 373(1740), 20160514. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0514</u>
- Nuerk, H.-C., Moeller, K., Klein, E., Willmes, K., & Fischer, M. H. (2011). Extending the Mental Number Line: A Review of Multi-Digit Number Processing. *Zeitschrift Für Psychologie*, 219(1), 3–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/2151-2604/a000041</u>
- Odic, D., & Halberda, J. (2015). Eye movements reveal distinct encoding patterns for number and cumulative surface area in random dot arrays. *Journal of Vision*, *15*(15), 5. <u>https://doi.</u>

org/10.1167/15.15.5

- Odic, D., & Starr, A. (2018). An Introduction to the Approximate Number System. *Child* Development Perspectives, 12(4), 223–229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12288</u>
- Page, M. J., McKenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow, C. D., Shamseer, L., Tetzlaff, J. M., Akl, E. A., Brennan, S. E., Chou, R., Glanville, J., Grimshaw, J. M., Hróbjartsson, A., Lalu, M. M., Li, T., Loder, E. W., Mayo-Wilson, E., McDonald, S., ... Moher, D. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: An updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*, n71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n71</u>
- Pannasch, S., Helmert, J. R., Roth, K., Herbold, A.-K., & Walter, H. (2008). Visual Fixation Durations and Saccade Amplitudes: Shifting Relationship in a Variety of Conditions. *Journal of Eye Movement Research*, 2(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.16910/jemr.2.2.4</u>
- Park, J., Bermudez, V., Roberts, R. C., & Brannon, E. M. (2016). Non-symbolic approximate arithmetic training improves math performance in preschoolers. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 152, 278–293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2016.07.011</u>
- Peake, C., Moscoso-Mellado, J., & Guerra, E. (2020). First fixation duration as a bottom-up measure during symbolic and non-symbolic numerical comparisons (*La duración de la primera fijación como medida* bottom-up *al comparar cantidades simbólicas y no simbólicas*). Studies in Psychology, 41(3), 563–579. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02109395.2020.1794717</u>
- Price, G. R., Wilkey, E. D., & Yeo, D. J. (2017). Eye-movement patterns during nonsymbolic and symbolic numerical magnitude comparison and their relation to math calculation skills. *Acta Psychologica*, 176, 47–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2017.03.012</u>
- Revkin, S. K., Piazza, M., Izard, V., Cohen, L., & Dehaene, S. (2008). Does Subitizing Reflect Numerical Estimation? *Psychological Science*, *19*(6), 607–614. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02130.x</u>
- Sasanguie, D., De Smedt, B., & Reynvoet, B. (2017). Evidence for distinct magnitude systems for symbolic and non-symbolic number. *Psychological research*, *81*(1), 231–242.
- Sasanguie, D., Defever, E., Maertens, B., & Reynvoet, B. (2014). The approximate number system is not predictive for symbolic number processing in kindergarteners. *Quarterly journal of experimental psychology*, 67(2), 271–280.
- Sasanguie, D., Göbel, S. M., Moll, K., Smets, K., & Reynvoet, B. (2013). Approximate number sense, symbolic number processing, or number–space mappings: What underlies mathematics achievement? *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *114*(3), 418–431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2012.10.012</u>
- Schneider, M., Beeres, K., Coban, L., Merz, S., Susan Schmidt, S., Stricker, J., & De Smedt, B. (2017). Associations of non-symbolic and symbolic numerical magnitude processing with mathematical competence: A meta-analysis. *Developmental Science*, 20(3), e12372.

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12372

- Schutz, A. C. (2012). There's more behind it: Perceived depth order biases perceived numerosity/ density. *Journal of Vision*, 12(12), 9–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1167/12.12.9</u>
- Smets, K., Moors, P., & Reynvoet, B. (2016). Effects of Presentation Type and Visual Control in Numerosity Discrimination: Implications for Number Processing? *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00066</u>
- Strohmaier, A. R., MacKay, K. J., Obersteiner, A., & Reiss, K. M. (2020). Eye-tracking methodology in mathematics education research: A systematic literature review. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 104(2), 147–200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10649-020-09948-1</u>
- Szűcs, D., Nobes, A., Devine, A., Gabriel, F. C., & Gebuis, T. (2013). Visual stimulus parameters seriously compromise the measurement of approximate number system acuity and comparative effects between adults and children. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00444</u>
- Toomarian, E. Y., & Hubbard, E. M. (2018). On the genesis of spatial-numerical associations: Evolutionary and cultural factors co-construct the mental number line. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 90, 184–199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.04.010</u>
- Van Herwegen, J., Ranzato, E., Karmiloff-Smith, A., & Simms, V. (2019). Eye Movement Patterns and Approximate Number Sense Task Performance in Williams Syndrome and Down Syndrome: A Developmental Perspective. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 49(10), 4030–4038. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04110-0</u>
- Van Herwegen, J., Ranzato, E., Karmiloff-Smith, A., & Simms, V. (2020). The foundations of mathematical development in Williams syndrome and Down syndrome. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 33(5), 1080–1089. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12730</u>
- Velichkovsky B. et al. (2005). Two visual systems and their eye movements: Evidence from static and dynamic scene perception. Two visual systems and their eye movements: Evidence from static and dynamic scene perception, 2283–2288.
- Viarouge, A., Houdé, O., & Borst, G. (2019). Evidence for the role of inhibition in numerical comparison: A negative priming study in 7- to 8-year-olds and adults. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 186, 131–141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2019.05.011</u>
- Viktorsson, C., Lindskog, M., Li, D., Tammimies, K., Taylor, M. J., Ronald, A., & Falck-Ytter, T. (2023). Infants' sense of approximate numerosity: Heritability and link to other concurrent traits. *Developmental Science*, *26*(4), e13347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.13347</u>
- Walsh, V. (2003). A theory of magnitude: Common cortical metrics of time, space and quantity. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 7(11), 483–488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2003.09.002</u>
- Wilkey, E. D., Barone, J. C., Mazzocco, M. M. M., Vogel, S. E., & Price, G. R. (2017). The effect of visual parameters on neural activation during nonsymbolic number comparison and

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

its relation to math competency. *NeuroImage*, *159*, 430–442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.08.023</u>

Received: August 21, 2024 Revised: October 23, 2024 Accepted: October 07, 2024

Author Contributions

Sofia Mironets – literature review, preparation of the primary version of the article, editing of the article, final approval of the article version for publication.

Alexander Kotyusov – development of research methodology, final approval of the article version for publication.

Alexandra Kosachenko – literature review, preparation of the primary version of the article, review and editing of the article, final approval of the article version for publication.

Ilona Denisova – literature review, preparation of the primary version of the article.

Yulia Kuzmina – research methodology, review and editing of the article, final approval of the article version for publication.

Author Details

Sofia Mironets – Researcher, Federal Scientific Center for Psychological and Interdisciplinary Research, Moscow, Russian Federation; WoS Researcher ID: N-3024-2014, Scopus ID: 57446526800, РИНЦ Author ID: 785622, SPIN-код: 3270-9246, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9763-109X</u>; e-mail: <u>sofiamironets@gmail.com</u>

Alexander Kotyusov – Cand. Sci. (Psychology), Head of the Laboratory of Neurotechnology, Ural Federal University, Ekaterinburg, Russian Federation; WoS Researcher ID: AAU-5565-2020, Scopus ID: 57200247119, РИНЦ Author ID: 873693, SPIN-код: 2372-7990, ORCID ID: <u>http://orcid.org/0000-0001-7007-824X</u>; e-mail: <u>sunalexr@gmail.com</u>

Alexandra Kosachenko – Researcher, Laboratory of Neurotechnology, Ural Federal University, Ekaterinburg, Russian Federation; WoS Researcher ID: R-6713-2019, Scopus Author ID: 57201639224, РИНЦ Author ID: 944612, SPIN-код РИНЦ: 6410-9957, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8896-3837</u>, e-mail: <u>alleshch7@gmail.com</u>

Sofia A. Mironets, Alexander I. Kotyusov, Alexandra I. Kosachenko, Ilona V. Denisova, Yulia V. Kuzmina EYE-TRACKING FOR NON-SYMBOLIC NUMEROSITY ESTIMATION: A SYSTEMATIC LITERATURE REVIEW Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

Ilona Denisova – Research Engineer, Centre for Population Studies, Ural Federal University, Ekaterinburg, Russian Federation; WoS Researcher ID: IQT-5624-2023, РИНЦ Author ID: 1257256, SPIN-код РИНЦ: 9947-4091, ORCID ID: https://orcid.org/0009-0007-5978-489X, e-mail: ele35733980@gmail.com

Yulia Kuzmina – Cand. Sci. (Psychology), Senior Researcher, Federal Scientific Center for Psychological and Interdisciplinary Research, Moscow, Russian Federation; WoS Researcher ID: I-3187-2015, Scopus ID: 57193276706, РИНЦ Author ID: 818093, SPINкод РИНЦ: 9995-0240, ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4243-8313</u> ; e-mail: papushka7@gmail.com

Conflict of Interest Information

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Appendix A

Table 1 A brief summary of the studies Authors

Т

Schütz, 2012

Perceiv

There beh

order

perc

nume

de

itle	Task type	Type of stimulus. Colour, shape, presentation format, quantity, number of presentations	Stimulus presen- tation time	Sample charac- teristics (n)	Oculomotor indicators	Equip- ment, model (type)	Recor- ding condi- tions
's more ind it: ed depth biases æived erosity/ hsity	Determine direction and number comparison	Black and white dots on a grey background; the dots moved at a speed of 10 deg/s and had a limited presentation duration of 200 ms. 7 experimental tasks with different stimulus speed and brightness conditions	0-600 ms	12 (4 male; 8 female); aged 20-31 years	smooth pursuit eye movements, eye velocity; the eye velocity in the orthogonal direction	EyeLink; 1000 Hz	Monitor distance 47 cm

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY		
Recor- ding condi- tions	Car seat; monitor distance 60 cm	
Equip- ment, model (type)	an ASL6 remote eye- tracking system; 120 Hz	
Oculomotor indicators	Three areas of interest: accuracy, target stimulus fixation time	
Sample charac- teristics (n)	36 infants	
Stimulus presen- tation time	100- 2000 ms	
Type of stimulus. Colour, shape, presentation format, quantity, number of presentations	The visual target appeared either to the left or to the right of the screen immediately after the appearance of a centred image of either small or large size. Both tasks consisted of a small number of objects (e.g. 2 dots) or a large number of objects (e.g. 9 dots); the 60 trials were divided into three blocks. Each block consisted of 16 experimental trials. In total, there were 48 experimental trials.	
Task type	Number comparison. Area comparison	
Title	Small on the left, large on the right: numbers orient visual attention onto space in preverbal infants	
Authors	Bulf et al., 2016	

kecor- ding condi- tions	rontal chin ionitor 8 cm
quip-R nent, o odel c ype) t	o Hz BLink; 5 Gi∺ Su a T
tor n s nt (t	of services ty: ty: ty: ty: ty: ty: ty: ty: ty: ty:
Oculomo indicator	Number fixations duration duration distributio distributio distributio first fixation proportion first fixations number fixations correct al incorrect numeros symbolic; symbolic;
Sample charac- teristics (n)	56 (36 female); average age 19.4 years
Stimulus presen- tation time	1000 ms
Type of stimulus. Colour, shape, presentation format, quantity, number of presentations	Two sets of dots were presented simultaneously on either side of the central fixation point. The black dot sets ranged from 6 to 15 dots on a white background. For analysis, a total of 72 trials were divided into 36 small ratio trials (ratio < 0.7) and 36 large ratio trials (ratio > 0.7), for a total of 14 different ratios.
Task type	Number comparison
Title	Eye-movement patterns during nonsymbolic and symbolic numerical magnitude comparison and their relation to math calculation skills
Authors	Price et al., 2017

Recor- ding condi- tions	Monitor distance 60 cm
Equip- ment, model (type)	Tobii T120 sscreen- based eye tracker; 120 Hz
Oculomotor indicators	Time before start of viewing; mean fixation duration, mean proportion of viewing; duration, total number of fixation, total number of fixations; averaged over the left and right edges of the screen; differences in eye movements between groups.
Sample charac- teristics (n)	Two clinical groups: 24 (18 women); 25 (11 women); two control groups: 24 (12 women); 24 (17 women); 24
Stimulus presen- tation time	1500 ms
Type of stimulus. Colour, shape, presentation format, quantity, number of presentations	Congruent / incongruent (see similar task in Van Herwegen et al., 2018)
Task type	Number comparison
Title	Eye Movement Patterns and Approximate Number Sense Task Performance in Williams Syndrome and Down Syndrome: A Developmental Perspective
Authors	Van Herw- egen et al., 2019

Recor- ding condi- tions	Monitor distance 60 cm
Equip- ment, model (type)	Eyelink II eye tracker (SR Research, Kanata, Ontario, 500 Hz
Oculomotor indicators	Duration of first fixation
Sample charac- teristics (n)	32 participants, evenly distributed by gender; average age 20 years
Stimulus presen- tation time	
Type of stimulus. Colour, shape, presentation format, quantity, number of presentations	Stimulus set size ranged from 1 to 9 in the symbolic task and from 4 to 15 in the non- symbolic task. Each task consisted of 72 trials
Task type	Symbolic and non- symbolic number comparison
Title	First fixation duration as a bottom-up measure during symbolic and non-symbolic numerical comparisons
Authors	Peake et al., 2020

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

160

Recor- ding condi- tions	1
Equip- ment, model (type)	an infrared eye tracker (EyeLink; 1000 Hz)
Oculomotor indicators	Saccades; saccade direction; corrective saccade; reaction time (ms, min/ max); correct response
Sample charac- teristics (n)	Experiment 1: 14 (6 male); Experiment 2: 11 (5 male)
Stimulus presen- tation time	200 ms
Type of stimulus. Colour, shape, presentation format, quantity, number of presentations	Arrays of white and black dots on a medium grey background, bounded by a circle. Number of dots: 1-4 dots dots: 1-4 dots 24, 35 dots - Estimating range; 158, 195, 240 and 296 dots - Texture density range. 96 trials
Task type	Number comparison
Title	Fast saccadic eye-movements in humans suggest that numerosity perception is automatic and direct
Authors	Casta - Idi et al., 2020

Recor- ding condi- tions	Partici- pants were instruc- ted to remain as possible throug- hout the proce- dure
Equip- ment, model (type)	Tobii T120 (Stock- holm, 60 Hz
Oculomotor indicators	Three areas of interest: fixation time; first fixation to area
Sample charac- teristics (n)	40 (23 female); average age 24 years
Stimulus presen- tation time	1000 ms
Type of stimulus. Colour, shape, presentation format, quantity, number of presentations	90 images containing two spatially separated arrays of black dots on a white background. Half of the images contained 7 and 8 dots in the two arrays, while the other half contained 14 and 16 dots. One third of the images were congruent, incongruent and neutral, with no systematic difference in dot size between the two arrays.
Task type	Number comparison
Title	Attentional bias induced by stimulus control (ABC) impairs measures of the approximate number system
Authors	Linds- kog et al., 2021

-		
	Recor- ding condi- tions	Child sitting on lap; distance 65 cm
	Equip- ment, model (type)	Tobii T 120; 60 Hz
	Oculomotor indicators	Average Average viewing time on the side changing numerically (in relation to the whole screen), expressed as a percentage
	Sample charac- teristics (n)	514 same- sex twins in infancy
	Stimulus presen- tation time	200 ms
	Type of stimulus. Colour, shape, presentation format, quantity, number of presentations	The videos consisted of a series of images, with two sets of dots appearing on the left and right sides of the screen. On one side of the screen the set of dots was numerically constant, while on the other side the set of dots alternated in number (10 and 20 or 6 and 24 dots). Each condition consisted of four stimulus videos.
	Task type	Quantity change detection
	Title	Infants' sense of approximate numerosity: Heritability and link to other concurrent traits
	Authors	Viktor- sson et al., 2022

Recor- ding condi- tions	Monitor distance 60 cm
Equip- ment, model (type)	A portable eye- tracker (Tobii X2- 30); 30 Hz
Oculomotor indicators	Two regions of interest: one for the target and one for the difference in gaze duration (Schafer & Plunkett, 1998), which is the difference between a single sustained look at the target and a single sustained look at the distractor.
Sample charac- teristics (n)	clinical group: 16 (7 females) and two control groups of 16 each
Stimulus presen- tation time	2500 ms
Type of stimulus. Colour, shape, presentation format, quantity, number of presentations	The visual stimuli were six coloured cartoon pictures of larger and smaller food items. For the number comparison task, the visual stimuli were six coloured cartoon images of animals.
Task type	Cartoon pictures area Number comparison
Title	Numerical and area comparison abilities in Down syndrome
Authors	Abreu- Mendo- za et al., 2015

Recor- ding condi- tions	Not to make sudden move- ments of the head or but no device ted their move- ments; monitor distance 60 cm	
Equip- ment, model (type)	iView Remote Eyetra- cking Device (Senso- Motoric Instru- ments); 50 Hz	
Oculomotor indicators	Mean number of fixations and mean saccade amplitudes; strategy	
Sample charac- teristics (n)	15 (7 female); mean age 26.8 and 15 (9 female); mean age 69.8	
Stimulus presen- tation time	6000 ms	
Type of stimulus. Colour, shape, presentation format, quantity, number of presentations	144 configurations of black dots presented as a visible square grid on a white background. Two thirds of these were experimental stimuli (including 15, 20 or 25 dots). The set of 144 gratings was divided into three series of 48 trials each	
Task type	Number estimation (naming without counting)	
Title	Older and younger adults' strategies in approximate quantification	
Authors	Gandi- ni et al., 2008	

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY		
Recor- ding condi- tions	r	Frontal chin support
Equip- ment, model (type)	Tobii TX300; 300 Hz	Eyelink; 1000 FLL (SR Research, Missis- sauga, Ontario, Canada)
Oculomotor indicators	The onset of the first saccade; the proportion of time spent looking at each region of interest; the location and duration of the first, last and longest fixation; and the number of switches between regions of interest. Pupil size	Area of interest: number of fixations and duration of fixations
Sample charac- teristics (n)	12 adults	19 students with HMA (74% female) and 16 students with LMA (88% female)
Stimulus presen- tation time	2000 ms	more than 2000 ms before response
Type of stimulus. Colour, shape, presentation format, quantity, number of presentations	The stimulus images used in the two tasks were identical and consisted of multiple blue and yellow dots	A total of 40 trials, two sets of 20 trials each: a set of dots with a larger number and a larger area had to be compared with a set of dots with a smaller number and a smaller a smaller area was compared with a set of dots with a smaller number but a set of dots with a set of dots with a set of dots with a smaller area was compared with a smaller number but a larger area.
Task type	Number compa- rison. Area comparison	Number comparison
Title	Eye movements reveal distinct encoding patterns for number and cumulative surface area in random dot arrays	Non-symbolic representation is modulated by math anxiety and cognitive inhibition while symbolic representation not
Authors	Odic & Halber- da, 2015	Guan et al., 2020

Recor- ding condi- tions	Frontal chin support, monitor distance 66,4 cm
Equip- ment, model (type)	Tobii 60 fu
Oculomotor indicators	Fixing positions
Sample charac- teristics (n)	27 adults (15 female); mean age 21.4 years
Stimulus presen- tation time	100 - 3000 ms
Type of stimulus. Colour, shape, presentation format, quantity, number of presentations	An array of blue dots (10 to 90) on a white background, which were masked by noise after a short time in two experiments. Experiment 1 consisted of 64 trials consisting of 4 blocks of 16 trials each. The 4 different temporal conditions were: 100; 333; 1000 and 3000 ms. Experiment 2: two dot flashes, one after the other of the same stimuli, 4 conditions of 16 trials each (as in Experiment 1), 4 conditions (100; 1000 ms), (1000; 1000 ms).
Task type	Number estimation (naming without counting). Number comparison
Title	A primarily serial, foveal accumulator underlies approximate numerical estimation
Authors	Cheyet- te & Janta- dosi, 2019

-

Research article UDC 159.9 https://doi.org/10.21702/2yd85727

Eye Tracking as a Tool for Medical Diagnosis

Evgeny Yu. Shelepin^{1*}, Ksenia A. Skuratova¹, Polina A. Lekhnitskaya², Konstantin Yu. Shelepin¹

 ¹ Pavlov Institute of Physiology, Russian Academy of Sciences, Saint Petersburg, Russian Federation
² Kazan (Volga Region) Federal University, Kazan, Russian Federation

*Corresponding author: ShelepinEY@infran.ru

Abstract

Introduction. The transition to personalized, predictive and preventive medicine, hightech healthcare and health-preserving technologies is one of the priorities of scientific and technological development in the next decade. The possibility of using eye tracking for medical diagnostics meets this priority. Eye tracking as a tool for medical diagnostics. Using eye tracking, disease detection is based on the main types of eye movements: fixations, saccades and nystagmus. However, protocols that allow a comprehensive assessment of the patient's condition have not been fully validated. The purpose of the current review is an attempt to consider studies in the Scopus, Web of Science, and RSCI databases regarding the utilizing of eye tracking as an addition to the diseases and disorders diagnosis, and to outline possible trajectories for the development of this method in the field of medicine. The article provides examples of the use of eye tracking in dementia, mild cognitive impairment, Alzheimer's disease, schizophrenia, schizotypal and delusional disorder, mood disorder, attention deficit syndrome, the consequences of a stroke, and head injuries. Results and discussion. Eye tracking is characterized by objectivity, brief and stress-free observation of a patient, the ability to simplify the tasks presented with high diagnostic accuracy, finding a simulated disorder, supplementing existing tests, searching for latent signs, higher sensitivity compared to some neuropsychological tests, the ability to dynamically switch between tasks. As a prospect for developing diagnostic protocols based on eye tracking, it is possible to: use existing paradigms for conducting eye tracking studies, combine new paradigms with existing neuropsychological tests and methods, inherit the basic principles of examining

Evgeny Yu. Shelepin, Ksenia A. Skuratova, Polina A. Lekhnitskaya, Konstantin Yu. Shelepin Eye Tracking as a Tool for Medical Diagnosis Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

the patient's condition, and build data analysis models. Validation on a wider sample and clarification of the list of stimuli are necessary.

Keywords

eye tracking, high-tech healthcare, diagnostics, psychiatric disorders, neurological disorders, machine learning, eye movements

Funding

This research was funded by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation under the agreement № 075-15-2022-303 to support the development of a World-class research center "Pavlov Center for Integrative Physiology for Medicine, Hightech Healthcare, and Stress Tolerance Technologies".

For citation

Shelepin, E.Yu., Skuratova, K.A., Lekhnitskaya, P.A., Shelepin, K.Yu. (2024). Eye Tracking as a Tool for Medical Diagnosis. *Russian Psychological Journal, 21*(4), 168–194. https://doi. org/10.21702/2yd85727

Introduction

The competitiveness of national economies is determined by conditions where the high rate of acquisition of new knowledge and creation of science-intensive products on their own technological basis is a key factor. One of the priorities of scientific and technological development in the next decade should be considered the transition to personalized, predictive and preventive medicine, high-tech healthcare and health-preserving technologies. The response to major challenges should be creation of science-intensive technologies and products that meet the national interests of the Russian Federation and are necessary for a significant improvement in the quality of life of the population.

The transition to "digital healthcare" is likely to be the defining characteristics for the industry. Digital technological innovations, robotics, the Internet of Things, artificial intelligence, and a number of other factors have led to an increase in the use of various digital devices by healthcare professionals, as well as hospital and clinic workers. As a result of digitalization, the industry is also expected to experience institutional shifts: new types of biomedical companies will emerge that will lobby for the transformation of legal norms and rules, the transformation of the institutional landscape regarding the rights, uses, and commercialization of digital technologies in the healthcare system (Doan, Krestyaninova, & Plotnikov, 2023; Zabolotnaya, Gatilova, & Zabolotny, 2020; Bondarenko, & Guzenko, 2021; Rieke et al., 2020; Guo et al., 2020).

Eye tracking as a tool for medical diagnostics

The use of eye tracking in medical practice is another promising area of development that is consistent with current trends in healthcare development and the blurring of disciplinary and industry boundaries in scientific research and development. Firmly entrenched in the field of experimental psychology and originating from the study of the physiology of the visual system, eye tracking is a method of recording a person's gaze, allowing one to calculate indicators of macro- and micro-movements of the eyes. Eye movements reflect a person's thought processes, determining the goal-directed behavior. Recording eye movements allows one to accurately determine which objects attract the observer's gaze, in what order and how often. The development of eye movement recording and processing technology makes it possible to use eye tracking in various fields of activity: neuromarketing, sports, education, psychodiagnostics, etc. This is confirmed by the successful use of eye tracking to study psychological processes and human states, as well as the active patenting of methods for recording oculomotor reactions as part of a comprehensive personality assessment in various fields of activity (Ognev & Likhacheva, 2015). This method improves diagnostics and accelerates the detection of diseases, which ensures faster treatment.

In clinical practice, eye movement monitoring has been conducted for a long time. Precise clinical measurements were carried out as early as the middle of the 20th century. In the works of A. R. Luria, A. Karpov and A. L. Yarbus, two forms of gaze apraxia were first identified, namely occipito-parietal, in which the higher visual functions themselves are primarily affected, and frontal, in which the planning and organization of eye movements is impaired (Karpov, Luria, & Yarbus, 1968; Luria, Karpov & Yarbus, 1966; Karpov, 1975).

The importance of these pioneering works was noted in their review last year by Marim Puchalska et al. (Pąchalska, Buczaj, Kopowski, Pecyna, Maksym, Buczaj, & Rasmus, 2023). It is noted that, although historically eye tracking has been used more in the field of psychology of cognitive processes, eye tracking has the potential to study movement disorders and measure cognitive processes in neurodegeneration. The methods of the mid-20th century made it possible to conduct individual studies, but could not be widely used due to the labor-intensive nature of data recording and processing. Modern technologies are easy to use, reliable, safe, accurate, and can be used in large-scale clinical studies. A detailed description of modern methods of recording eye movements in the field of psychology is given in the review by V. A. Barabanshchikov and A. V. Zhegallo (Barabanshchikov, & Zhegallo, 2014).

Currently, in medical practice, it is possible to conduct large-scale studies of eye movements in a variety of cognitive-emotional disorders. It is possible to detect diseases by monitoring the main types of eye movements, namely fixations, saccades, tremor, and nystagmus. To generate saccades, commands come to the superior colliculus, then to the nuclei of the oculomotor nerves, which directly innervate the eye muscles. Eye movement commands are generated by neural networks of the parietal eye fields (PEF), the frontal eye field (FEF), the supplementary eye field (SEF), and the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC). Voluntary pro-saccades are mainly under the control of the FEF, while reflexive saccades are generated through PEF neurons. Some saccadic tasks, such as antisaccades, add cognitive layers to the oculomotor pattern and more directly engage the DLPFC and PEF.

Smooth pursuit and fixation of the eyes is initially processed by extrastriatal cortical regions including V5 and the medial superior temporal visual area, connecting to the posterior parietal cortex, FEF, and SEF, and then projecting downward to the pontine nuclei and cerebellum (Russell, Greaves, Convery, Bocchetta, Warren, Kaski, & Rohrer, 2021).

The following tests are used to assess oculomotor activity at the behavioral level:

1. Fixation stability measurement test

Aimed at assessing the ability to maintain gaze on a stationary target, the ability to follow a smoothly moving target, and the ability to maintain fixation stability while reading. Dependent variables: number of blinks, number and amplitude of saccades, average fixation duration, frequency of microsaccades, stability between fixations and within fixations.

2. Saccade assessment tests

This category includes several tests based on saccadic eye movements:

- Prosaccade Test: Measures the ability to quickly and accurately move the eyes to a suddenly appearing target.
- Antisaccade Test: Assesses the ability to suppress a reflexive shift of gaze to a new target and instead move the gaze in the opposite direction.
- Predictive Saccade Test: Assesses the ability to anticipate and move the eyes to where a target will appear based on learned patterns.
- Remembered Saccade Test: Tests the ability to move the eyes to a target location after a delay, requiring remembering the target's location.

Dependent variables: latency, amplitude, direction, peak velocity, accuracy, and corrective saccades.

3. Smooth tracking tests

Includes various methods to assess how well the eyes can follow moving objects:

- Constant Velocity Test: uses a target moving back and forth in a straight line at a constant speed.
- Sinusoidal Test: the target moves in a smooth, wave-like pattern, changing speed.
- Jump-Move Test: the target moves suddenly (a jump) and then continues moving at a constant speed, useful for assessing pursuit onset.

• Dependent Variables: Velocity Ratio, Root Mean Square Error (RMSE), Log Signalto-Noise Ratio, Number and Type of Saccades (catch-up, retreat, anticipatory saccades), and Pursuit Onset/Acceleration/Velocity.

4. Reading and developing professional skills

Determining the impact of work experience on visual text processing skill: with increasing professional skills in analyzing text information, more optimized eye movement strategies are observed, allowing for efficient task performance with minimal effort (Skuratova et al., 2022). Dependent variables: number of fixations, scan path length, saccade amplitude and velocity.

5. Assessment of medical experience

The qualitative perception of visual images also depends on current professional experience (Figure 1). This is due to learning to recognize low-information low-frequency images presented by the periphery of the visual field to control gaze translation (Skuratova, Shelepin, & Yarovaya, 2021).

Figure 1

Trajectories of eye movements and fixation points when doctors perceive a patient's face depending on their experience up to one year (a), up to 7 years (b), up to 10 years (c), up to 21 years (d) (Skuratova, Shelepin, & Yarovaya, 2021).



(b)





Evgeny Yu. Shelepin, Ksenia A. Skuratova, Polina A. Lekhnitskaya, Konstantin Yu. Shelepin Eye Tracking as a Tool for Medical Diagnosis Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY



(c)



(d)

6. Nystagmus

Despite the importance of this clinical indicator, nystagmus is not considered in the current review, as it requires a separate detailed discussion: neurologists qualitatively (visually) assess its condition.

Although eye tracking has obvious potential as a method of medical diagnostics, the use of eye tracking in medical practice and psychodiagnostics currently remains limited: protocols that allow for a comprehensive assessment of a patient's condition have not yet been fully validated.

The purpose of the forthcoming review is an attempt to demonstrate the experience of using eye tracking as an addition to the diagnosis of diseases and disorders, to outline possible trajectories of development of this method in the field of medicine. The article provides examples of the use of eye tracking in various neurological, mental disorders, the review is structured according to the ICD-10 classification.

Results and Discussion

1. Chapter V Mental and behavioral disorders

1.1 Organic, including symptomatic, mental disorders (F00–F09)

The block associated with dementia includes mental disorders with obvious etiologic factors: brain diseases, brain injury or stroke, leading to cerebral dysfunction. Dementia is

a syndrome caused by brain damage, in which such higher cortical functions as memory, thinking, orientation, understanding, counting, learning ability, speech and judgment are impaired. This syndrome is observed in Alzheimer's disease, cerebrovascular diseases and other conditions that primarily or secondarily affect the brain (according to: International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision (ICD-10). URL: <u>http://mkb-10.com/index.php?pid=4048</u>).

The category of mild cognitive impairment includes mixed conditions causally related to brain disorders caused by a primary brain disease, a systemic disease secondarily affecting the brain, exposure to exogenous toxic substances or hormones, endocrine disorders or other somatic diseases; dementia is excluded. Alzheimer's disease is a primary degenerative cerebral disease of unknown etiology, manifested by specific neurochemical, neuromorphological, and psychopathological signs (according to: International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision (ICD-10). URL: http://mkb-10.com/index.php?pid=4048).

Increased microsaccades associated with saccadic intrusions, initially moving the eye away from the visual target and then returning in a corrective manner, are more common in brainstem and cerebellar diseases, and cortical disorders such as Alzheimer's disease (Nakamagoe et al., 2019). Patients with frontotemporal dementia have difficulty maintaining fixation for long periods, which may be explained by a problem with saccade inhibition, especially given the correlation with the orbitofrontal cortex. The smooth pursuit eye movement system is also vulnerable to cerebral dysfunction, with morphological abnormalities found in the visual cortex of patients with idiopathic dementia (Hutton, Nagel, & Loewenson, 1984).

1.1.1 Unspecified dementia (F03)

The following stimuli were used to assess cognitive functions in dementia: scene exploration with social and non-social context, missing elements and social scenes; semantic processing through sentences with matching and mismatching meanings; recognition of image pairs (control: n = 432, dementia: n = 30). Next, a deep learning algorithm was applied to classify and interpret cognitive activity and dementia status based on raw eye tracking parameters (x,y coordinate of gaze, mean pupil size). The obtained results indicate that unsupervised learning methods can complement cognitive assessment for rapid and stress-free monitoring of patients at different stages of the disease, although more research is needed (Mengoudi et al., 2020).

In the study by Russell, Greaves, Convery, Nicholas, Warren, Kaski, & Rohrer (2021), a prosaccade task was initially presented to assess basic oculomotor functions and hence the participant's ability to perform emotion recognition tasks (frontotemporal dementia patients: n = 18, controls: n = 22). Two tasks were designed to assess recognition of simple and complex emotions. Pictures of people with different emotions were shown in the corners of the screen, with the emotion label in the center. Although no statistically

significant differences were found on the prosaccade task, the control group spent significantly more time looking at the target image after the label was presented than the dementia group. The controls also spent significantly less time looking at similar and distracting images after the label was presented. The authors note that further research in a larger control group is needed to better understand the reproducibility and reliability of the task (Russell, Greaves, Convery, Nicholas, Warren, Kaski, & Rohrer, 2021).

The study (Córdoba et al., 2023) presents a diagnostic biomarker for Alzheimer's disease (AD) and the behavioral variant of frontotemporal dementia (moderate AD: n = 38, dementia: n = 24, controls: n = 39). Differences were found in saccade, fixation, and smooth pursuit paradigms. Accuracy and area under the curve (AUC) exceed 95%.

1.1.2 Mild cognitive impairment (Mild cognitive disorder F06.7), Alzheimer's disease (G30)

To study these pathological conditions, memory (coding) tasks with tracking a moving coin and separately tracking a falling drop of water (without instructions), deductive reasoning, viewing a landscape photograph, visual working memory (memorization and reproduction), attention and counting, and visuospatial function were proposed. The percentage of fixation duration on each area of interest, x,y coordinates of gaze were taken as dependent variables for the machine learning classifier. The resulting model distinguished cognitive functions in the control group, AD, and mild cognitive impairment subjects, with memory and deductive reasoning tasks being the most indicative (mild cognitive impairment patients: n = 52, Alzheimer's disease patients: n = 70, controls: n = 52). Meanwhile, some tasks can be omitted for further simplification while maintaining good test performance (Tadokoro et al., 2021).

A study (Polden, & Crawford, 2021) examined a visual distraction task. Inhibition of recent distraction (IRD) refers to the suppression of saccadic eye movements toward a target that is located at the location of a previous distractor. Two studies compared IRD in a large cross-cultural sample consisting of young (n=75), older European participants (n = 119), older South Asian participants (n=83), participants with Alzheimer's dementia (n = 65), and participants with mild cognitive impairment (n=91). Significantly longer saccadic reaction times on target-distractor trials compared to target-target trials were evident across all groups, countries, and ages. Importantly, IRD was also preserved in participants with Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment, demonstrating that IRD is robust across cultures, age groups, and clinical populations.

To investigate visual attention during a test of spatial orientation and navigation ability in Alzheimer's disease, subjects were asked to find a way to a specific location in a VR simulation by navigating the environment with a joystick (n = 15, AD: n = 7, controls: n = 8). Differences in the percentage of fixations on visual cues were found, reflecting the difficulty of AD patients in selecting relevant information for wayfinding compared to controls, paying attention to irrelevant information. The authors note the need for further research, expanding the sample (Davis & Sikorskii, 2020).

1.2 Schizophrenia, schizotypal and delusional disorders (F20–F29)

Schizophrenia is characterized by distortions of thinking, perception, and affect, often in the presence of normal consciousness and intelligence (although cognitive decline may occur over time) (International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision (ICD-10). URL: http://mkb-10.com/index.php?pid=4048). Patients with schizophrenia often have impaired smooth eye movements during visual target tracking. However, this effect may be the result of pharmacological interventions rather than a reflection of the oculomotor control peculiarities in this disorder. The visual tracking task is relatively difficult, which may be due to dysfunction in areas of the visual motor system (middle temporal area and medial superior temporal area) (Lencer et al., 2005). At the cortical level, self-movement signal processing occurs in the dorsal visual pathway (Bremmer et al., 2000). Disturbances have also been observed in the ventral intraparietal area, which may also contribute to eye movement dysfunction (Ales et al., 2021).

1.2.1 Schizophrenia (F20)

In schizophrenia, eye tracking may be used as a method for detecting malingering in psychiatric practice. Thus, a control group (n = 43) was asked to simulate eye movement patterns demonstrated by a group of patients with schizophrenia (n = 40) in three tasks: smooth pursuit, prosaccade (which served as a baseline measure), and anti-saccade. The dependent variables studied were mean saccade latency, standard deviation of latency, amplitude, peak velocity, number of successful trials, and percentage of errors. Data analysis showed that the eye movements of the participants instructed to simulate (a) were only partially different from the eye movements of the control group and (b) did not closely resemble the eye movements of patients with schizophrenia reported in previously published articles. Together, these results suggest that eye movement testing may indeed help detect malingered schizophrenia (Ales et al., 2021).

In another study, the dependent variables were the number of fixations (NEF), mean scan length (MESL) in the retention task; cognitive search score (CSS), which reflects the frequency of focusing on the regions of interest of the figure for subsequent figure recognition in the comparison task; and responsive search score (RSS), which reflects the frequency of fixations on each part of the figure in response to questions in the comparison task. The RSS of patients with schizophrenia (n = 145) was significantly lower than that of patients with depression (n = 116) or controls (n = 124), while no statistically significant differences were found in RSS between patients with depression and controls. The discriminant function showed a sensitivity of 89.0% and a specificity of 86.7% (Kojima et al., 2001).

The aim of the study (Li et al., 2024) is to compare an ecologically valid measure (Cambridge Prospective Memory Test, CAMPROMPT) and a laboratory-based measure (eye-tracking paradigm) in assessing prospective memory (PM) in individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders (SSD). PM performance was assessed using total fixation time and total number of fixations on distractor words. A picture was presented in the center of the screen, four different tokens were presented, and the subjects were asked to determine whether one of the words matched the object in the previously shown picture. Patients with SSD (n = 32) demonstrated fewer total fixations on distractor words and lower PM accuracy compared to controls (n = 32). The laboratory-based eye-tracking paradigm has advantages over ecologically valid measures in detecting signal detection errors, making it a more sensitive tool for identifying PM deficits in patients with SSD.

1.3 Mood [affective] disorders (F30–F39)

In mild, moderate, or severe depressive episodes, patients experience low mood, decreased energy, and decreased activity. The ability to enjoy, joy, be interested, and concentrate is reduced, and there is marked fatigue. The mood disorder block includes disorders in which the main disturbance is a change in emotions and mood toward depression (with or without anxiety) or toward elation (hypomania) (according to: International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision (ICD-10). URL: http://mkb-10.com/ index.php?pid=4048).

The psychopathology of depression is associated with changes in the prefrontal and orbitofrontal cortex. Patients have preserved visual perception, but there are changes in sensorimotor integration processes (Fabisch et al., 2009). Deficits in prosaccades may be related to functional changes affecting cortical structures such as the frontal eye fields (FEF) and the superior colliculus (Schall, 2004). Disruption of deep areas of the FEF may also cause deficits in the visual pursuit system (Rosano et al., 2002). Non-melancholic depressed patients are characterized by an increase in peak saccade velocity. The cerebellum and basal ganglia are brain structures directly involved in the execution of a memory-guided saccade (Dreher & Grafman, 2002). All of these structures interact with other regions such as the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) (Pierrot-Deseilligny, & Burke, 2005). The DLPFC appears to be involved in the inhibition of saccades generated by the superior colliculus (Kaufman, Pratt, Levine, & Black, 2010). The eye movement inhibition deficits observed in major depression may be related to previously described deficits in (ventrolateral) prefrontal cortex activation and impulsivity in patients with major depression (Carvalho et al, 2015).

1.3.1 Major depressive disorder (F32.2 Severe depressive episode without psychotic symptoms), Bipolar affective disorder (F31)

The study (Wang, Lyu, Tian, Lang, Wang, St Clair, & Zhao, 2022) consisted of the following stages: free viewing task, fixation stability task, and smooth pursuit task (control group: n = 104, patients with major depressive disorder: n = 48, patients with bipolar disorder: n = 57; the corresponding diagnosis was made by psychiatrists based on DSM-IV). In affective disorder, a smaller saccade amplitude was found in the free viewing task, a higher number of fixations and saccades in the fixation stability and smooth pursuit task, shorter fixation duration, longer saccade duration in the fixation stability and smooth pursuit tasks. The authors conclude that patients with major depression, bipolar depression, and bipolar mania have similar eye movement dysfunction in free viewing, fixation stability, and smooth pursuit tasks.

A meta-analysis (patients with depression: n = 474, controls: n = 693) (Huang et al., 2023) showed that:

- 1. for positive emotional stimuli, the duration of fixation was significantly lower; for negative stimuli, the duration of fixation was higher.
- 2. the number of fixations on positive emotional stimuli is also lower, the number of fixations on negative emotional stimuli, on the contrary, is higher;
- 3. age influences the duration of fixation of positive emotional stimuli. In the case of negative emotional stimuli, the duration of fixation was influenced by age and the type of negative emotional picture (sad, dysphoric, threat, anger).

The study (Rantanen et al., 2021) (unipolar depression: n = 16, controls: n = 16) used a free viewing task of visually matching interpersonally aggressive and neutral pictures presented in pairs. When participants were able to anticipate the stimulus valence, depression showed an earlier attentional bias towards interpersonally aggressive pictures. The results demonstrate both an early attentional bias towards interpersonal aggression that may be present in depression and a later attentional bias towards aggression avoidance. The early information processing bias associated with depression may have maladaptive effects on how depressed individuals perceive and function in social interactions and may therefore maintain depressive mood.

The study (Barsznica et al., 2021) describes oculomotor functions in elderly patients with depression and suicidal behavior (SB) based on the prosaccade and antisaccade task. Patients with SB showed a lower number of corrected antisaccade errors and a longer time to correct them than patients without SB. These preliminary results indicate higher cognitive inflexibility in suicidal patients compared to those who are not prone to suicide. Such inflexibility may explain the difficulties of elderly people with depression in finding a

solution to the problem of suicidal thoughts in order to adequately respond to a stressful environment.

1.4 Disorders of psychological development (F80–F89) + Behavioural and emotional disorders with onset usually occurring in childhood and adolescence (F90–F98)

A group of childhood disorders with early onset, characterized by disorganized activity, lack of persistence and a tendency to jump from one task to another, social relationships may be impaired, and cognitive functions are insufficient (according to: International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision (ICD-10). URL: http://mkb-10.com/index. php?pid=4048). Childhood autism here is a type of pervasive developmental disorder, which is determined by the presence of: a) abnormalities and delays in development, manifested in a child under three years of age; b) psychopathological changes in all three areas: equivalent social interactions, communication functions and behavior, which is limited, stereotyped and monotonous; c) possible nonspecific problems.

Individuals with ASD demonstrate reduced saccadic eye movement accuracy, the magnitude of which varies across studies. Increased variability suggests deficits in cerebellar variability-reducing functions, resulting in a reduced ability to make compensatory adjustments to ensure consistent and accurate saccade execution. Reduced peak saccade velocity and increased saccade duration may be due to reduced excitatory pontine brainstem burst cell activity and/or increased inhibitory omnipause cell activity, altering saccadic eye movement performance. Reduced ability to consistently modulate saccadic eye movement amplitude may negatively impact early social learning, thereby affecting social and cognitive development (Oldham, Meehan III, & Howell, 2021). On the other hand, in ASD, the mechanisms underlying the ability to direct gaze to a specific stimulus (social or non-social) and hence capture attention are also atypical. They arise from dysfunctions in several brain regions, including the amygdala, frontal eye fields (FEF), temporal parietal junction, insula, and dorsal lateral prefrontal cortex. Attempts are currently being made to elucidate the cortical mechanism of face perception in ASD, however, the eye movement research literature in ASD shows a lack of consistency in the approaches to data collection, analysis, and subsequent interpretation (Papagiannopoulou et al., 2014).

ADHD involves structural/functional abnormalities of the basal gangliathalamocortical circuit projecting to the frontal cortex; frontostriatal network. Problems with interpreting abnormal saccades include that saccade performance changes dramatically with age, and involvement of the frontal eye field (FEF) for saccade control has only been demonstrated in lesion studies in adults. Hypofunction of ventral striatum dopaminergic neurons causes motor inhibition failure and may be involved in dysfunction

of the limbic region of the prefrontal cortex, i.e., orbitofrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, especially when the ascending output of the basal ganglia is hypofunctioned. These mechanisms may explain the higher distractibility observed in older patients with ADHD (Goto et al., 2010).

1.4.1 Attention deficit disorder (ADHD) (Disturbance of activity and attention F90.0.)

The study by A. Lev et al. (Lev, Braw, Elbaum, Wagner & Rassovsky, 2022) aimed to evaluate the possibility of integrating eye tracking with MOXO-dCPT, a test related to the assessment of cognitive functions in patients with suspected or confirmed ADHD (patients with ADHD: n = 35, controls: n = 35). MOXO-dCPT consists of eight blocks, each block consisting of tasks in which a grid of stimuli (target or non-target) is displayed in the center of the screen. Based on the results of MOXO-dCPT, four performance indices are calculated: attention, timeliness, impulsivity, and hyperactivity. The study also used an 18-item questionnaire for self-report of ADHD symptoms in adults, detailed in DSM-5 (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The authors considered the duration of gaze to regions of interest: the task stimulus (in the center of the screen), the periphery (the area around the task stimulus), and the area behind the screen. Using gaze direction measurements, it was found that patients with ADHD spent more time looking at irrelevant areas both on and off the screen than control participants. Consistent with the distractibility characteristic of ADHD, difficulty in suppressing spontaneous eye movements toward the MOXO-dCPT distractors appears to be the cause of the group differences. From a clinical perspective, the scale combining eye movement measures and conventional indices has shown the ability to discriminate ADHD, but further studies are needed to confirm the results and address the limitations of the study.

Children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) have sensory-perceptual processing deficits that impair their ability to pay attention and perceive social stimuli in everyday life. While everyday social episodes consist of subtle dynamic changes in social information, any failure to attend to or process subtle human nonverbal cues such as facial expressions, postures, and gestures can lead to inappropriate social interactions. A study (Tsang & Chu, 2018) collected eye-tracking data while three participants watched a video of a social scenario using a single-case comparison design: a child with autism spectrum disorder (ASD), a child with comorbid attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and a neurotypical control. The duration of the first fixation (at 500 ms of the target ROI) was longer in the neurotypical child (150 ms) than in children with ASD and ASD-ADHD (both 110 ms). The total fixation duration (per 500 ms target EoI) was shorter for the child with ASD-ADHD (120 ms) than for the neurotypical child (170 ms) and the child with ASD (180 ms). The total number of fixation bursts (per 500 ms target EoI) was
highest for the child with ASD (4.62), second highest for the neurotypical child (4.09), and shortest for the child with ASD-ADHD (3.19). The scan path plot captures visual scanning of multiple AOIs in a social scene.

The aim of the study (Sweere et al., 2022) was to examine distractibility, quantified by recording and analyzing task-irrelevant eye movements, in children with and without ADHD and in children with and without neurological disorders (n = 141). Participants with ADHD and participants with neurological disorders spent less time fixating on target stimuli compared to their non-ADHD peers or their peers without neurological disorders. Participants with and without ADHD had similar press latencies. Participants with neurological disorders. Participants with and without ADHD had similar press latencies. Participants with neurological disorders. Participants with and untation showed a significant association with parent-reported attention problems. The authors conclude that eye tracking during a distraction task provides potentially valid clinical information that can facilitate the assessment of dysfunctional attention processes. Further research into the validity and reliability of this paradigm is recommended.

The aim of the work (Oliveira, Franco, Revers, Silva, Portolese, Brentani, & Nunes, 2021) was to study the Visual attention model (VAM) for the diagnosis of ASD and ADHD (ADHD patients: n = 30, ASD patients: n = 76). Three videos with human movements and three videos with geometric shapes were combined into nine videos displayed sequentially, with a total duration of 54 s. The order and position of frames with human and shape movements varied throughout the video. A fixation map was used to train the model. The result was a model for the diagnosis of ASD and ADHD based on the use of video as a stimulus with an average accuracy of 90%, recall of 69%, and specificity of 93%.

A study (Kong et al., 2022) analyzed the gaze patterns of 1.5-3-year-old children (n = 95) and 3-5-year-old children (n = 74) with and without ASD while viewing video clips and still images. The percentage of fixation time in children with ASD was significantly reduced compared to that in normal children in almost all ROIs, except for a moving toy (helicopter). Support vector machine analysis showed that the classifier could differentiate ASD from normal in toddlers with 80% accuracy and differentiate ASD from normal in preschoolers with 71% accuracy.

The study (Vacas et al., 2021) aimed to compare visual attention patterns to social and non-social images in children with ASD and matched controls (n=36), assessing the role of emotion in the face stimuli and the type of competing object. A paired preference task was designed pairing happy, angry, and neutral faces with two types of objects (related or unrelated to their autism-related CIs). Three indices were considered as dependent variables: prioritization (attentional orientation), preference, and duration (sustained attention). Results showed that both groups had similar visual patterns to faces (prioritization, greater attention, and longer attendance to faces paired with objects

unrelated to their CIs); however, the ASD group attended to faces significantly less than the controls. Children with ASD showed an emotional bias (late orienting to angry faces and typical preference for happy faces). Finally, objects related to their concomitant restricted interests attracted attention in both groups, which significantly reduced social attention in children with ASD. Atypical social attention is present in children with ASD regardless of the competing nonsocial object.

2. Chapter IX Diseases of the circulatory system

Stroke is an acute disturbance of blood circulation in the brain, accompanied by tissue death and dysfunction of the nervous system. The consequences of stroke include conditions specified as such, as residual effects, or as conditions that exist for a year or more from the onset of the causative condition (according to: International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision (ICD-10). URL: http://mkb-10.com/index.php?pid=4048).

Pupillary dilation is controlled by both the sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous systems in response not only to changes in light but also to cognitive processes including attention, memory, language, decision making, and emotional processing. Receiving, processing, and recognizing emotional information from the human face involves a complex network of peripheral and central systems. In addition to the visual cortex and cortical association areas that are typically involved in visual processing, other brain regions such as the fusiform face area in the ventral temporal lobes are also involved in the decoding of emotional information. The distributed nature of these brain circuits makes them particularly vulnerable to both focal and diffuse damage, such as that resulting from cerebrovascular and traumatic events, as evidenced by the high incidence of impairments in emotion discrimination following brain injury (Maza, Moliner, Ferri & Llorens, 2020).

The absence of pathological rightward bias during free scene viewing may depend on the integrity of the second branch of the right superior longitudinal fasciculus (SLF II), a white matter tract connecting cortical areas critical for visual attention, and damage to which is closely associated with the occurrence of neglect (Kaufmann et al., 2020).

2.1 Stroke (Sequelae of cerebrovascular disease 169)

Spatial neglect is associated with the inability to observe and respond to the contralateral hemispace and is a negative predictor of functional outcomes after stroke (Ales et al., 2021). The aim of the study was to test the sensitivity of eye movement measurement during Free Visual Exploration (FVE) (stroke patients: n = 78, controls: n = 40). Twelve

images of nature or urban public spaces and 12 mirrored versions (reflected along the vertical axis) were presented on the screen. The instruction was to freely explore the images. The direction of first fixation (left or right) and average gaze duration were examined. Patients with neglect demonstrated a rightward bias in free visual exploration. FVE correctly detected neglect in 85% of patients with an AUC value of 0.922 in the ROC analysis. Traditional paper-based neuropsychological tests, considered alone or in combination, showed heterogeneous results and were significantly less likely to detect neglect (21.74%–68.75%). Eye tracking was more sensitive in detecting neglect in everyday behavior than neuropsychological tests (Kaufmann et al., 2020).

The study (Maza, Moliner, Ferri & Llorens, 2020) examined accuracy, response distribution, visual behavior and pupil dilation in stroke survivors when recognizing emotional facial expressions (ischemic stroke: n = 18, hemorrhagic stroke: n = 22, controls: n = 65). The authors' results confirmed the deterioration of performance after stroke and showed a decrease in attention to the eyes. The dependence of visual behavior on performance, although not determinative, may indicate that altered visual behavior may be a factor negatively affecting the recognition of emotions from facial expressions.

Gaze-evoked nystagmus (GEN) is a central feature of acute vestibular syndrome (AVS); however, distinguishing pathological from physiological GEN is challenging. In controls with GEN, the centripetal drift time constant was >18 s. Eye tracking detected pathological GEN (time constant \leq 18 s) in 33% of patients with vestibular strokes. The results were equivalent to specialist examination. Automated GEN quantification was specific and accurately identified patients in the emergency department with stroke-induced AVS (Mantokoudis, Korda, Zee, Zamaro, Sauter, Wagner, & Caversaccio, 2021).

3. Chapter VI Diseases of the nervous system

Multiple sclerosis is an autoimmune disease caused by a malfunction of the body's immune system. Parkinson's disease includes movement disorders resulting from the death of neurons in the substantia nigra of the brain.

In multiple sclerosis, inflammatory demyelinating lesions in different brain regions result in a wide range of oculomotor abnormalities, most commonly static and dynamic eye movements (Serra, Chisari & Matta, 2018) combined with dysmetric saccadic behavior (Serra, Derwenskus, Downey & Leigh, 2003). Fixation (Mallery et al., 2018), smooth pursuit (Lizak et al., 2016), and vestibulo-ocular responses (Huygen et al., 1990) are also frequently impaired. Most of these abnormalities are exacerbated by the presence of internuclear ophthalmoplegia (INO). INO is a neuro-ophthalmic disorder occurring in approximately one in three patients with multiple sclerosis (Jozefowicz-Korczynska, Łukomski & Pajor, 2008) and characterized by impaired adduction of conjugate lateral eye movements. The presence of INO is often decisive for confirming

the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis, especially if it is bilateral (Bolanos, Lozano & Cantu, 2004), but its subclinical manifestations are difficult to detect without quantitative approaches (Matsumoto et al., 2011).

The frontal, supplementary and parietal eye fields, prefrontal and posterior parietal cortex project to brainstem structures that control saccades via the superior colliculus, thalamus and basal ganglia. Within this brainstem-parietotemporal and basal ganglia-frontal neutral network, there is a two-way interaction between voluntary eye movements and attentional switches, with the former exerting bottom-up control over the latter and the latter exerting top-down influence on the former. In addition, fixation saccades and microsaccades play an important role in information selection during free visual scanning and search, with the speed increasing depending on the size of the scanned scene and the level of information content. Abnormal visual scanning is not uncommon in Parkinson's disease, and the deficit increases with the complexity of visual images (Matsumoto et al., 2011). Saccade abnormalities caused by cortical and subcortical neurodegenerative changes are also observed in PD (Rascol et al., 1989). Increased saccade latency, impaired saccade programming and execution, error rates, and reduced saccade amplitude are typical in patients with idiopathic non-demented Parkinson's disease (Beylergil et al., 2022).

3.1 Demyelinating diseases of the central nervous system (G35–G37) + Extrapyramidal and movement disorders (G20–G26)

3.1.1 Multiple sclerosis (G35) and Parkinson's disease (G20)

The SONDA (Standardized Oculomotor and Neurological Disorder Assessment) test is based on the analysis of eye tracking recorded during a short and intuitive continuous tracking task. The visual stimulus is represented by a Gaussian spot of increased luminance moving along a random walk trajectory on a uniform gray background (~140 cd/m2). There were two stimulus presentation conditions: in the smooth tracking condition, the stimulus moved continuously along the random walk path, and in the saccadic tracking condition, an additional positional shift to a random location on the screen was added to the trajectory, which occurred every 2 s. Using the SONDA approach presented in the study by Grillini et al. (2020) found preserved smooth pursuit responses and two abnormal features in the saccadic pursuit condition in MS, but this finding is limited by the sample size (PD patients: n = 9, MS patients: n = 12, controls: n = 50). Slower saccades are to be expected in advanced PD. One of the characteristic oculomotor abnormalities in PD is the impairment of self-generated saccades with relative preservation of visually guided saccades, which worsens as the disease progresses. Most errors are made when PD patients have to switch between instructions (e.g., switching between pro- and antisaccades) (Grillini, Renken, Vrijling, Heutink, & Cornelissen, 2020).

In a study (Brien, Riek, Yep, Huang, Coe, & Areshenkoff, 2023), patients with Parkinson's disease (n = 121: 45 cognitively intact/45 MCI/20 dementia/11 others) and controls (n = 106) were given a pro/antisaccade task. Using saccade, pupil, and blink parameters, the classifier achieved 83% sensitivity and 78% specificity. Confidence scores predicted motor and cognitive performance in PD. The resulting model can be used as an additional screening tool in the clinic.

Eye movements and horizontal and vertical angular position vectors of the right and left eyes were also measured using high-resolution video-oculography in a cohort of patients with Parkinson's disease who viewed a blank scene and images of a real scene. The latter was associated with the task of finding an object among other objects in an expected and unexpected location. The group of people with Parkinson's disease took longer to find the object. The final response time was comparable in both patients with Parkinson's disease and controls (patients with Parkinson's disease: n = 13, controls: n = 7). Fixation duration was comparable in the two groups, but tended to be shorter for stimuli located in atypical locations. Participants with Parkinson's disease made more fixational saccades with significantly larger amplitude and fewer non-fixational saccades with significantly smaller amplitude while viewing the blank scene. However, the total scan area of the blank scene was not affected by Parkinson's disease. Participants with Parkinson's disease made fewer non-fixational saccades during visual search for a target object, with amplitudes comparable to healthy controls. Fixational saccades during visual search were greater in Parkinson's disease, especially when the target was placed in an unexpected location, but the frequency did not change (Beylergil, Kilbane, Shaikh, & Ghasia, 2022).

4. Chapter XIX Injury, poisoning and certain other consequences of external causes

4.1 Injuries to the head

Concussion is the result of a biomechanical impact to the head that disrupts normal brain function (McCrory et al., 2009). The integrity of multiple brain regions (occipital lobe, parietal lobe, frontal eye field, brainstem, and connecting pathways) is necessary for the preservation of vision and vestibulo-ocular reflexes (Ciuffreda et al., 2007). Because concussion is likely a diffusely distributed injury, visual impairment may be common (Zahid et al., 2020).

4.1.1. Concussion (S06.0)

The aim of the study (Oldham, Meehan III, & Howell, 2021) was to (1) examine the association between patient-reported symptoms and concussion-related eye tracking impairments and (2) compare gait quality between (a) adolescents with concussion who have normal eye tracking, (b) adolescents with concussion who have impaired eye tracking, and (c) controls (concussion: n = 30, controls: n = 30). BOX (pupil dehiscence index) assessment was performed, the Post-Concussion Symptom Scale (PCSS) was administered, and gait speed was measured with triaxial inertial measurement units. The concussion and eye tracking impairment group had higher overall symptom severity and worse symptom severity across the 5 PCSS symptom profiles. In the eye-tracking study, participants watched a short video that moved across a screen. The concussion group with abnormal eye tracking had worse overall symptom severity and higher scores on each of the 5 symptom profiles than the normal eye-tracking and healthy control groups. Additionally, the abnormal eye-tracking group walked at a slower speed when performing one and two tasks, although the difference was not statistically significant. The authors conclude that eye tracking is a clinically useful tool for identifying visual and motor impairment after concussion, and suggest that further research is needed to determine whether eye tracking can help clinicians monitor people at risk for prolonged recovery from concussion.

The authors (Zahid et al., 2020) evaluated an automated eye tracking algorithm as a biomarker of concussion, defined by its symptoms and clinical signs of convergence insufficiency and accommodative dysfunction, in a pediatric population (children with concussion: n = 56, controls: n = 83). Metrics comparing the speed and coupling of eye movements over time were derived and compared with the correlation between acute concussion assessment (ACE) scores, convergence, and accommodative dysfunction. Twelve eye tracking metrics differed significantly between children with and without concussion. The model for classifying concussion as diagnosable by its symptoms assessed using ACE achieved an area under the curve (AUC) = 0.854 (sensitivity 71.9%, specificity 84.4%, cross-validated AUC = 0.789). An eye tracking model designed to detect near point of convergence (NPC) disability achieved a specificity of 95.8% and a sensitivity of 57.1% with an AUC of 0.810. Eye tracking correlated with concussion symptoms and identified convergence and accommodation impairments associated with concussion in a pediatric population. It demonstrated utility as a rapid, objective, and noninvasive method for diagnosing concussion.

Conclusion

Eye movements are probably the best way to assess the state of the brain mechanisms that determine the purposeful activity of a person. Based on the measurement of eye

movement characteristics, the effectiveness of this activity can be measured. The analysis showed that the advantages of eye tracking over other methods include: objectivity, expressed in independence from the interpretation of a complex cognitive state by a diagnostician, brief and stress-free observation of patients, the ability to simplify the tasks presented with high diagnostic accuracy, finding a simulated disorder, supplementing existing tests, searching for latent features (especially characteristic of machine learning-based models), higher sensitivity compared to some neuropsychological tests, the ability to dynamically switch between tasks. The general features of the design of research in the field of medical diagnostics include:

- Using existing paradigms for conducting eye tracking studies;
- Combining new paradigms with existing neuropsychological tests and methods;
- Inheriting the basic principles of examining a patient's condition;
- Building data analysis models;
- Building models of purposeful human behavior.

Eye tracking as a possible method of medical diagnostics has a high potential for complementing and refining other research methods. As a further direction for the development of this method, it is necessary to validate the protocols on an extended sample, assess the sufficiency of the stimulus material for the expected oculomotor reaction, and consider the possibility of combining with already accepted diagnostic methods to obtain additional information.

References

- Barabanshchikov, V. A., Zhegallo, A. V. (2014). Methods of recording eye movements in psychology: basics of the educational and methodological complex. *Experimental Psychology*, 7(1), 132–137. (In Russ.)
- Bondarenko, V. A., Guzenko, N. V. (2021). Digitalization of the Russian healthcare sector: "smart technologies" in ensuring quality of life. *Bulletin of the South-Russian State Technical University (NPI) Series Socio-Economic Sciences*, 14(1), 103–113. (In Russ.)
- Doan, T. M., Krestyaninova, O. G., Plotnikov, V. A. (2023). Digitalization of Healthcare: Promising Tools. *Economics and Management*, 29(2), 132–140. (In Russ.)
- Zabolotnaya, N. V., Gatilova, I. N., Zabolotny, A. T. (2020). Digitalization of Healthcare: Achievements and Development Prospects. *Economics. Informatics*, 47(2), 380–389. (In Russ.)
- Karpov, V. A. (1975). On some results of the study of the features of gaze control in syndromes of damage to the frontal systems of the brain. B. F. Lomov, N. Yu. Vergiles (eds.) In: Motor components of vision. Science M. (In Russ.)

- Ognev, A. S., Likhacheva, E. V. (2015). Validity of eye tracking as a tool for psychodiagnostics. Advances in modern natural science, 1-8, 1311–1314.
- Skuratova, K. A., Shelepin, E. Yu., Yarovaya, N. P. (2021). Optical search and visual skill. *Optical journal*, 88(12), 28. (In Russ.)
- Ales, F., Giromini, L., Warmelink, L., Polden, M., Wilcockson, T., Kelly, C. & Crawford, T. (2021). An eye tracking study on feigned schizophrenia. *Psychological Injury and Law*, 14(3), 213– 226.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.).
- Barsznica, Y., Noiret, N., Lambert, B., Monnin, J., De Pinho, C., Hickel, J. & Chopard, G. (2021). Saccadic eye movements in elderly depressed patients with suicidal behaviors: an exploratory eye-tracking study. *Frontiers in psychology*, 12, 712347.
- Beylergil, S. B., Kilbane, C., Shaikh, A. G., & Ghasia, F. F. (2022). Eye movements in Parkinson's disease during visual search. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 440, 120299.
- Bolanos, I., Lozano, D., & Cantu, C. (2004). Internuclear ophthalmoplegia: causes and longterm follow-up in 65 patients. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, *110*(3), 161–165.
- Bremmer, F., Duhamel, J. R., Hamed, S. B., & Graf, W. (2000). Stages of self-motion processing in primate posterior parietal cortex. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 44, 173–198.
- Brien, D. C., Riek, H. C., Yep, R., Huang, J., Coe, B., Areshenkoff, C. & ONDRI Investigators. (2023). Classification and staging of Parkinson's disease using video-based eye tracking. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, 110, 105316.
- Carvalho, N., Laurent, E., Noiret, N., Chopard, G., Haffen, E., Bennabi, D., & Vandel, P. (2015). Eye movement in unipolar and bipolar depression: A systematic review of the literature. *Frontiers in psychology*, 6, 1809.
- Ciuffreda, K. J., Kapoor, N., Rutner, D., Suchoff, I. B., Han, M. E., & Craig, S. (2007). Occurrence of oculomotor dysfunctions in acquired brain injury: a retrospective analysis. *Optometry-Journal of the American Optometric Association*, *78*(4), 155–161.
- Córdoba, A. C., Cena, C. E. G., Lage, C., & Juan, P. S. (2023). Eye Tracking and Machine Learning Non-invasive Biomarker for Alzheimer's Disease and Frontotemporal Dementia Diagnosis.
 In: Proceedings of the Latin American Congress on Automation and Robotics (pp. 113– 122). Cham: Springer Nature Switzerland.
- Davis, R., & Sikorskii, A. (2020). Eye tracking analysis of visual cues during wayfinding in early stage Alzheimer's disease. *Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders*, 49(1), 91–97.
- Dreher, J. C., & Grafman, J. (2002). The roles of the cerebellum and basal ganglia in timing and error prediction. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *16*(8), 1609–1619.

- Fabisch, K., Fitz, W., Fabisch, H., Haas-Krammer, A., Klug, G., Zapotoczky, S., & Kapfhammer, H. P. (2009). Sinusoidal smooth pursuit eye tracking at different stimulus frequencies: position error and velocity error before catch-up saccades in schizophrenia and in major depressive disorder. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *43*(9), 855–865.
- Goto, Y., Hatakeyama, K., Kitama, T., Sato, Y., Kanemura, H., Aoyagi, K. & Aihara, M. (2010). Saccade eye movements as a quantitative measure of frontostriatal network in children with ADHD. *Brain and Development*, *32*(5), 347–355.
- Grillini, A., Renken, R. J., Vrijling, A. C., Heutink, J., & Cornelissen, F. W. (2020). Eye movement evaluation in multiple sclerosis and Parkinson's disease using a standardized oculomotor and neuro-ophthalmic disorder assessment (SONDA). *Frontiers in Neurology*, 11, 971.
- Guo, C., Ashrafian, H., Ghafur, S., Fontana, G., Gardner, C., & Prime, M. (2020). Challenges for the evaluation of digital health solutions–A call for innovative evidence generation approaches. *NPJ Digital Medicine*, *3*(1), 110.
- Heilman, K. M., Watson, R. T., Valenstein E. (1993). *Neglect and related disorders*. New York Oxford University Press.
- Huang, G., Li, Y., Zhu, H., Feng, H., Shen, X., & Chen, Z. (2023). Emotional stimulation processing characteristics in depression: Meta-analysis of eye tracking findings. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 1089654.
- Hutton, J. T., Nagel, J. A., & Loewenson, R. B. (1984). Eye tracking dysfunction in Alzheimer-type dementia. *Neurology*, *34*(1), 99–99.
- Huygen, P. L. M., Verhagen, W. I. M., Hommes, O. R., & Nicolasen, M. G. M. (1990). Short vestibule-ocular reflex time constants associated with oculomotor pathology in multiple sclerosis. Acta oto-laryngologica, 109(1–2), 25–33.
- Jozefowicz-Korczynska, M., Łukomski, M., & Pajor, A. (2008). Identification of internuclear ophthalmoplegia signs in multiple sclerosis patients: saccade test analysis. *Journal of neurology*, 255, 1006–1011.
- Karpov, A. R. Luria, A. L., & Yarbus, A. L. (1968) Disturbances of the structure of active perception in lesions of the posterior and anterior regions of the brain. *Neuropsychologia*, 6(2), 157– 166.
- Kaufmann, B. C., Cazzoli, D., Pflugshaupt, T., Bohlhalter, S., Vanbellingen, T., Müri, R. M. & Nyffeler, T. (2020). Eyetracking during free visual exploration detects neglect more reliably than paper-pencil tests. *Cortex*, 129, 223–235.
- Kaufman, L. D., Pratt, J., Levine, B., & Black, S. E. (2010). Antisaccades: a probe into the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in Alzheimer's disease. A critical review. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 19(3), 781–793.

- Kojima, T., Matsushima, E., Ohta, K., Toru, M., Han, Y. H., Shen, Y. C. & Prilipko, L. (2001). Stability of exploratory eye movements as a marker of schizophrenia–a WHO multi-center study. *Schizophrenia Research*, *52*(3), 203–213.
- Kong, X. J., Wei, Z., Sun, B., Tu, Y., Huang, Y., Cheng, M., & Wan, G. (2022). Different eye tracking patterns in autism spectrum disorder in toddler and preschool children. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 13, 899521.
- Lencer, R., Nagel, M., Sprenger, A., Heide, W., & Binkofski, F. (2005). Reduced neuronal activity in the V5 complex underlies smooth-pursuit deficit in schizophrenia: evidence from an fMRI study. *Neuroimage*, *24*(4), 1256–1259.
- Lev, A., Braw, Y., Elbaum, T., Wagner, M., & Rassovsky, Y. (2022). Eye tracking during a continuous performance test: Utility for assessing ADHD patients. *Journal of Attention Disorders, 26*(2), 245–255.
- Li, H., Wang, Q., Hou, W. P., Chen, D. Y., Ding, Y. S., Zhang, Z. F. & Wang, C. Y. (2024). Further clarification of cognitive processes of prospective memory in schizophrenia by comparing eye-tracking and ecologically-valid measurements. *Schizophrenia*, *10*(1), 41.
- Lizak, N., Clough, M., Millist, L., Kalincik, T., White, O. B., & Fielding, J. (2016). Impairment of smooth pursuit as a marker of early multiple sclerosis. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 7, 228947.
- Luria, A. R., Karpov, B. A., & Yarbus, A. L. (1966). Disturbaces of active visual perception with lesions of frontal lobes. *Cortex*, *2*(2), 202–212.
- Mallery, R. M., Poolman, P., Thurtell, M. J., Full, J. M., Ledolter, J., Kimbrough, D. & Kardon,
 R. H. (2018). Visual fixation instability in multiple sclerosis measured using SLO-OCT.
 Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science, 59(1), 196–201.
- Mantokoudis, G., Korda, A., Zee, D. S., Zamaro, E., Sauter, T. C., Wagner, F., & Caversaccio, M.
 D. (2021). Bruns' nystagmus revisited: a sign of stroke in patients with the acute vestibular syndrome. *European Journal of Neurology*, 28(9), 2971–2979.
- Martínez, A., Hillyard, S. A., Dias, E. C., Hagler, D. J., Butler, P. D., Guilfoyle, D. N. & Javitt, D. C.
 (2008). Magnocellular pathway impairment in schizophrenia: evidence from functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *28*(30), 7492–7500.
- Matsumoto, H., Terao, Y., Furubayashi, T., Yugeta, A., Fukuda, H., Emoto, M. & Ugawa, Y. (2011). Small saccades restrict visual scanning area in Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders,* 26(9), 1619–1626.
- Maza, A., Moliner, B., Ferri, J., & Llorens, R. (2020). Visual behavior, pupil dilation, and ability to identify emotions from facial expressions after stroke. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 10, 484567.
- Mengoudi, K., Ravi, D., Yong, K. X., Primativo, S., Pavisic, I. M., Brotherhood, E., Alexander, D.
 C. (2020). Augmenting dementia cognitive assessment with instruction-less eye-tracking tests. *IEEE Journal of Biomedical and Health Informatics*, *24*(11), 3066–3075.

- McCrory, P., Meeuwisse, W., Johnston, K., Dvorak, J., Aubry, M., Molloy, M., & Cantu, R. (2009). Consensus statement on Concussion in Sport. *South African Journal of Sports Medicine, 21*(2).
- Nakamagoe, K., Yamada, S., Kawakami, R., Koganezawa, T., & Tamaoka, A. (2019). Abnormal saccadic intrusions with Alzheimer's disease in darkness. *Current Alzheimer Research*, *16*(4), 293–301.
- Oldham, J. R., Meehan III, W. P., & Howell, D. R. (2021). Impaired eye tracking is associated with symptom severity but not dynamic postural control in adolescents following concussion. *Journal of Sport and Health Science*, *10*(2), 138–144.
- Oliveira, J. S., Franco, F. O., Revers, M. C., Silva, A. F., Portolese, J., Brentani, H., & Nunes, F.
 L. (2021). Computer-aided autism diagnosis based on visual attention models using eye tracking. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 10131.
- Papagiannopoulou, E. A., Chitty, K. M., Hermens, D. F., Hickie, I. B., & Lagopoulos, J. (2014). A systematic review and meta-analysis of eye-tracking studies in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Social Neuroscience*, 9(6), 610–632.
- Pierrot-Deseilligny, E., & Burke, D. (2005). *The circuitry of the human spinal cord: its role in motor control and movement disorders*. Cambridge university press.
- Polden, M., & Crawford, T. J. (2021). Active visual inhibition is preserved in the presence of a distracter: A cross-cultural, ageing and dementia study. *Cortex*, 142, 169–185.
- Rantanen, M., Hautala, J., Loberg, O., Nuorva, J., Hietanen, J. K., Nummenmaa, L., & Astikainen,
 P. (2021). Attentional bias towards interpersonal aggression in depression–An eye movement study. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 62(5), 639–647.
- Rascol, O., Clanet, M., Montastruc, J. L., Simonetta, M., Soulier-Esteve, M. J., Doyon, B., & Rascol,
 A. (1989). Abnormal ocular movements in Parkinson's disease: evidence for involvement
 of dopaminergic systems. *Brain*, *112*(5), 1193–1214.
- Rieke, N., Hancox, J., Li, W., Milletari, F., Roth, H. R., Albarqouni, S., & Cardoso, M. J. (2020). The future of digital health with federated learning. *NPJ Digital Medicine*, *3*(1), 1–7.
- Rosano, C., Krisky, C. M., Welling, J. S., Eddy, W. F., Luna, B., Thulborn, K. R., & Sweeney, J. A. (2002). Pursuit and saccadic eye movement subregions in human frontal eye field: a highresolution fMRI investigation. *Cerebral Cortex*, *12*(2), 107–15.
- Russell, L. L., Greaves, C. V., Convery, R. S., Bocchetta, M., Warren, J. D., Kaski, D., & Rohrer, J. D. (2021). Eye movements in frontotemporal dementia: Abnormalities of fixation, saccades and anti-saccades. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions*, 7(1), e12218.
- Russell, L. L., Greaves, C. V., Convery, R. S., Nicholas, J., Warren, J. D., Kaski, D., & Rohrer, J. D. (2021). Novel instructionless eye tracking tasks identify emotion recognition deficits in frontotemporal dementia. *Alzheimer's Research & Therapy*, 13, 1–11.

- Schall, J. D. (2004). On the role of frontal eye field in guiding attention and saccades. *Vision Research*, 44(12), 1453–1467.
- Serra, A., Chisari, C. G., & Matta, M. (2018). Eye movement abnormalities in multiple sclerosis: pathogenesis, modeling, and treatment. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 9, 313229.
- Serra, A., Derwenskus, J., Downey, D. L., & Leigh, R. J. (2003). Role of eye movement examination and subjective visual vertical in clinical evaluation of multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology*, 250, 569–575.
- Skuratova, K. A., Shelepin, E. Y., Malashin, R. O., & Shelepin, Y. E. (2022). Image analysis and error detection in source software code. *Journal of Optical Technology*, *89*(8), 476–483.
- Sweere, D. J., Pel, J. J., Kooiker, M. J., van Dijk, J. P., van Gemert, E. J., Hurks, P. P. & Hendriksen, J. G. (2022). Clinical utility of eye tracking in assessing distractibility in children with neurological disorders or ADHD: A cross-sectional study. *Brain Sciences*, *12*(10), 1369.
- Tadokoro, K., Yamashita, T., Fukui, Y., Nomura, E., Ohta, Y., Ueno, S., & Abe, K. (2021). Early detection of cognitive decline in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease with a novel eye tracking test. *Journal of The Neurological Sciences*, 427, 117529.
- Tsang, V., & Chu, P. C. K. (2018). Comparing eye-tracking data of children with high-functioning ASD, comorbid ADHD, and of a control watching social videos. *JoVE (Journal of Visualized Experiments)*, (142), e58694.
- Vacas, J., Antolí, A., Sánchez-Raya, A., Pérez-Dueñas, C., & Cuadrado, F. (2021). Visual preference for social vs. non-social images in young children with autism spectrum disorders. An eye tracking study. *Plos One*, *16*(6), e0252795.
- Wang, Y., Lyu, H. L., Tian, X. H., Lang, B., Wang, X. Y., St Clair, D. & Zhao, J. (2022). The similar eye movement dysfunction between major depressive disorder, bipolar depression and bipolar mania. *The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry*, 23(9), 689–702.
- Zahid, A. B., Hubbard, M. E., Lockyer, J., Podolak, O., Dammavalam, V. M., Grady, M. & Master, C. L. (2020). Eye tracking as a biomarker for concussion in children. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine, 30*(5), 433–443.

Received: 19.06.2024 Revised: 15.08.2024 Accepted: 02.09.2024 Evgeny Yu. Shelepin, Ksenia A. Skuratova, Polina A. Lekhnitskaya, Konstantin Yu. Shelepin Eye Tracking as a Tool for Medical Diagnosis Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

Author Contributions

Evgeny Yu. Shelepin – work with literary sources, writing and analysis of the text of the article;

Ksenia A. Skuratova - analysis of scientific literature, writing of the text of the article;

Polina A. Lekhnitskaya – analysis of scientific literature, writing of the text of the article;

Konstantin Yu. Shelepin – analysis of scientific literature, writing of the text of the article.

Author Details

Evgeny Yu. Shelepin – Researcher, Laboratory of Speech Psychophysiology, Pavlov Institute of Physiology, Russian Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; Scopus Author ID: 57224279100; SPIN-code RINTS: 5938-7368; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.</u> <u>org/0000-0002-3124-5540</u>; e-mail: <u>ShelepinEY@infran.ru</u>

Ksenia A. Skuratova – Junior Researcher, Laboratory of Vision Physiology, Pavlov Institute of Physiology, Russian Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; Scopus Author ID: 57216979736; SPIN-code RINTS: 5940-0930; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.</u> <u>org/0000-0001-8371-4348</u>; e-mail: <u>kseskuratova@gmail.com</u>

Polina A. Lekhnitskaya – student, Federal State Autonomous Educational Institution of Higher Education Kazan (Volga Region) Federal University, Kazan, Russian Federation; Scopus Author ID: 58683671900; SPIN-code RINTS: 2796-3501; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3689-3213</u>; e-mail: <u>lekhnitskaya.polina@gmail.com</u>

Konstantin Yu. Shelepin – Cand.Sci.(Medical Sciences), research associate, Laboratory of Speech Psychophysiology, Pavlov Institute of Physiology, Russian Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; Scopus Author ID: 57148212900; RSCI SPIN code: 4250-4127; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2218-9716</u>; e-mail: <u>shelepink@yandex.ru</u>

Evgeny Yu. Shelepin, Ksenia A. Skuratova, Polina A. Lekhnitskaya, Konstantin Yu. Shelepin Eye Tracking as a Tool for Medical Diagnosis Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGY

Conflict of Interest Information

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Asya S. Berberyan, Hermine S. Berberyan Student's Adaptation to Distance Learning (on Example of Armenian and Russian Students): Psychoemotional Features Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Research article UDC 159.9 https://doi.org/10.21702/hvgkjs62

Student's Adaptation to Distance Learning (on Example of Armenian and Russian Students): Psychoemotional Features

Asya S. Berberyan^{1*^(D)}, Hermine S. Berberyan^{2^(D)}

¹Armenian-Russian (Slavonic) University, Yerevan, Armenia ²Union of Psychologists of Armenia professional public organization, Yerevan, Armenia

*Corresponding author: <a>aspsy@inbox.ru

Abstract

Introduction. The article substantiates an individually and socially significant problem that is relevant to different educational systems and countries: the recent forced transition to distance learning. Distance learning is a set of educational services, which is provided through a special information and educational environment. The current study aims to investigate the attitude of ethnic Armenians and Russians to distance learning during that affected psychoemotional condition of personality. Methods. The study investigated the experience from distance learning in students from Russia and Armenia (N=185, M age = 21.98, SD age=5.73). The study was conducted using State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (S-Anxiety scale) and authors' questionnaire to assess distance learning experience. Results. The majority of Armenian and Russian students mentioned advantages of distance learning, such as they found it convenient, were satisfied and had adequate home conditions for learning. However, some disadvantages were mentioned including the difficulty of the objective assessment of their knowledge in distance learning context. Statistical analysis allowed to observe relationship between the anxiety level and students' experience with distance learning, i.e., the adaptation level and the satisfaction value. Additionally, the association between adaptation level and the country of residence was found along with the determinants of distance learning effectivity. **Discussion.** The study revealed the main trends in students' perception of distance learning on the territory of Armenia and Russia. We showed the association between psychoemotional features and assessment of distance learning.

Keywords

distance learning, psychoemotional condition, state anxiety, adaptation, ethnic Armenians, ethnic Russians

Funding

The research was supported by the Higher Education and Science Committee of MESCS RA (Research project №10-2/24SSAH-5A039).

For citation

Berberyan, A. S., Berberyan, H. S. (2024). Student's Adaptation to Distance Learning (on Example of Armenian and Russian Students): Psychoemotional Features. *Russian Psychological Journal*, *21*(4), 195–211. https://doi.org/10.21702/hvgkjs62

Introduction

The education of the individual is the most important universal problem in the modern world. Especially in the 21st century, this has become the most significant condition, since this is the age of informatization and computerization of all spheres of life. In the recent decade, there has a considerable interest in the distance learning among researchers (e.g., Harting & Erthal, 2005; Moore, Dickson-Deane, & Galyen, 2011; Valentine, Gellman-Danley & Fetzner, 1999). These works reflected on the essence and content of distance education.

Recently, most educational structures across the world have switched to a distance learning format in connection with the epidemic of the coronavirus, the Covid-19 pandemic. The cardinal transformation of the format of education was a forced experiment for a significant number of universities, developing the higher education system in the direction of digitalization. The key problem, in our opinion, was the fact that distance learning has not become a general cultural practice. The transition to distance learning was performed in an extremely limited period of time, excessively harsh, without initial training, without training programs for subjects of educational activity. Today, it is unequivocally difficult to evaluate the forced, determined by the necessity of modern conditions, distance learning.

Due to this cardinal transformation of education affecting many countries worldwide, there has been outbreak in research on distance learning (e.g., Armstrong-Mensah, Ramsey-White, Yankey & Self-Brown, 2020; Berberyan, 2021; Danchikov, Prodanova, Kovalenko & Bondarenko, 2021; Demetriou, Keramioti & Hadjicharalambous, 2021; Gevorgyan, Berberyan & Berberyan, 2022). Despite this interest, to our knowledge, there have been no studies assessing distance learning experience in both Russian and Armenian students. In the current paper, we aim to investigate this transfer on example of Armenian and Russian students, namely, psychoemotional features and adaptation to distance learning. In the rest of introduction, we will discuss the main theoretical approaches regarding distance learning and the core conceptual approaches regarding adaptation.

The Concept and Essence of Distance Learning

In psychology, the term "distance education" has the following meaning: distance education (from the Latin word distantia - distance) is an international term that acts as a purposeful and methodically organized guide for the educational and cognitive activities of students who live at a distance from an educational institution and, as a result, do not come into contact with the teachers of this institution. Based on this, the definition of distance education is considered as a predominantly independent education (self-education) but differs from self-education in that it includes some kind of feedback from the teacher. Next, we turn to the analysis of common ideas about the concept of "distance learning" in 4 components: 1) as an equivalent of distance education; 2) as a form of education; 3) as a method of obtaining education; 4) as a form and method of teaching.

There has been an ongoing discussion considering the relation between two terms: distance learning and distance education as synonyms (King, Young, Drivere-Richmond & Schrader, 2001). Gospodarik (2001) mentions that "distance learning is an educational system based on computer telecommunications using the latest pedagogical and information technologies, such as mail, the Internet, platforms for creating video meetings, etc., which is receiving education services away from an educational institution." According to Mogilev (2014), distance learning is a method of learning, a practice that "connects a teacher, a student and sources located in different areas, using special new technologies that provide interaction."

Andreev and Soldatkin (2013) view distance learning as a synthetic, integral humanistic form of education, using both traditional methods and the latest information technologies." They believe that it is better to use the term "distance learning" rather than "distance education", because education is not classified by distance to the student, but what is its purpose, its level, field of knowledge, industry, etc. According to Moiseeva et al. (2020), distance learning is a new specific form of learning that involves the use of special approaches, methods and means of teaching, contact between the teacher and students with each other. It can be noted that these formulations do not reflect the versatility of distance learning, the fact that students can be in the nearby territory is not taken into account, along with the possible contact between students (Ovsyannikov & Gustyr, 2001).

Distance learning was formed in the middle of the 20th century, when computers and telecommunications technologies were developing, at the moment it meets the requirements, and its main value is not knowledge and skills, but the information provided (Traxler, 2018). Thus, distance learning is defined as a complex of educational services, which is provided to a wide segment of the population, using a professional information and educational environment based on the methods of exchanging educational information, being at any distance. The distance learning has a range of advantages

including detailed teaching methods that are time-tested and used for large groups of students, no restrictions on the number of students in certain courses, the possibility for students to choose a schedule of educational activities that is convenient for themselves, which is the individualization of education and the possibility for students to choose a teacher who is an expert in a particular academic discipline (Sadeghi, 2019).

In addition, in the distance learning system there is considerable experience in dealing with methodological and educational materials, tasks for self-fulfillment, descriptions of tasks in a test form. Currently, distance learning, based on the latest information achievements, is gaining more and more popularity, based on the situation of the pandemic. The goals of distance learning are actually the same as those of faceto-face learning and have the same content. However, it is characterized by other forms of studying the material, forms of contact between the teacher and students, and the interaction of students with each other is also different. A demonstration of the successful implementation of a distance form of education, according to researchers, is e-learning, based on e-learning using the Internet and multimedia practiced in South Korea, the USA, France, Japan and other countries (Jiang & Xie, 2021).

So, what is distance learning in the emerging conditions? In our opinion, with this form of education, the subjects of educational activity organize the transmission and perception of educational information through a virtual environment, which is determined by the strategy of educational activity, using special technologies for the development of academic disciplines, as well as electronic and Internet communication techniques. In terms of content, under the traditional system of distance learning, the thesis: "knowledge – ability – skills – comprehension – understanding – implementation" is transformed into a complex of didactic components of the learning and virtual model of education. This mechanism goes into the following scheme: "creative awareness of the problem – reproduction by a person using his own experience – building a hypothesis and presenting a plan – solving the problem in new ways – application – introduction to the personal system" (Bederkhanova, 2003).

Psychological Adaptation and Adaptability of the Student's Personality

Psychological adaptation is a multi-level and diverse phenomenon that affects both the personal characteristics of a person and aspects of his life, i.e., his mental health and social environment, with the inclusion of all areas of activity, primarily educational and professional, in which he is included. Psychological adaptation of a personality is a bidirectional process of interaction, in which changes occur both in the mental activity of the individual and in relationships with society: in the transformation of norms, rules, values, all spheres of a person's spiritual life. With psychological adaptation, harmonization occurs in the interaction of the individual and the environment. Changes arise in the individual and in the social environment, the nature and level of which is justified by almost all life circumstances. Psychological adaptation is the process of bringing the psychological work of the individual into line with the social and socio-psychological requirements of the environment, the conditions and content of the work of a person (Ball, 1989).

Theoretical and methodological issues of socio-psychological adaptation of the personality are presented in the works of such researchers as A.A. Ball, L.I. Bozhovich, V.A. Petrovsky, J. Piaget, Z. Freud, E. Erickson and others. The most relevant is the conceptual approach of E. Erickson, who put forward the position of the existence of mutual continuous adaptation of the individual and society (Hoare, 2002). The state of psychological comfort of the individual and adaptability appears in the adapted, ordinary environment of life and work of the individual, in the process of successful resolution of adaptation problems and contradictions. Failure to comply with this state of comfort and the process of personality destabilization leads to the actualization of the needs that encourage the personality to functional interaction with the environment in order to restore the harmonization of relations.

Psychological adaptation has the ability to act as one of the ways of the formation and self-development of the individual (Rean, 1995). Representatives of the humanistic direction of psychology consider the issues of adaptation from the perspective of the optimal interaction of the individual and the environment. A. Maslow notes that the process of adaptation is dynamic, consisting in the interaction of the individual and the environment, and the main criterion for the adaptation of the individual is the degree of its integration with the environment (Maslow, 1968). In order to emphasize the result of adaptation, such a concept as the "adaptation" of an individual or group is often used. Adaptability can be defined as such a state of the person, which allows him to feel free and uninhibited in the socio-cultural environment, to be included in the main activity, to feel changes in the usual socio-cultural environment, to deepen into intrapersonal spiritual problems, to enrich his own world through more perfect forms and ways of sociocultural interaction.

Adaptation of students implies, basically, adaptation to the lifestyle of students, to indicators of typical forms of educational activity, including educational activities, various forms of communication. Based on the results of the personality adaptation potential, a certain state of the student's personality is achieved during the period of adaptation itself - adaptability. We understand the educational adaptation of students as a part of professional adaptation, as a result of which the student acquires educational knowledge and skills for successful learning and the acquisition of professional competence, as well as the main parameters of the student's social and personal characteristics are brought into dynamic balance in accordance with the conditions of the university environment (Santrosyan, 1973). Particular attention should be paid to the adaptation of first-year students, since the subsequent experience will depend on the degree of success in completing the initial stage of adaptation to the university (Voronaya, Pronenko, 2022; Voronaya, Pronenko, 2023).

The **methodological basis** of our study is the conceptual positions on distance learning in science (A.A. Andreev, Yu.P. Gospodarik, V.P. Kolmogorov, E.S. Polat, V.P. Tikhomirov and others, as well as theoretical and methodological issues of socio-psychological adaptation of the personality (A.A. Ball, L.I. Bozhovich, V.A. Petrovsky, J. Piaget, Z. Freud, E. Erickson, etc.).

Based on the thorough theoretical analysis and methodological basis, the following **hypotheses** were formulated:

1. There is a relationship between satisfaction and adaptation with distance learning and the state anxiety level.

2. The effectiveness of distance learning depends on both teacher's work and student's work.

3. The adaptation to distance learning and, thus, the preferred form of education depend on the country of residence.

Method

Participants

The study was conducted with 194 students from various universities of Armenia and Russia. At the moment of questionnaire, all the participants were studying in distant form of education. Prior to their participation, all participants gave written informed consent. Data from four participants was removed due to implausible answers (e.g., age consisting of three digits), from two – due to repetitive answers. Additionally, because our analyses concerned ethnic characteristics, we excluded 3 participants from included only participants from Armenia and Russia due to small sample size in other groups. The final sample consisted of 185 participants (153 female) with age range from 17-48 years old (mean age = 21.98, SD = 5.73; see Table 1 for descriptive statistics).

Table 1

Decerimetive statistics

Participants	Number
Sex	
Female	153
Male	32
Age range	
17-25	150
25-48	35
Country of residence	
Armenia	86
Russia	99
Educational level	
Bachelor	160
Master	23
Doctoral	2
Total number of participants	185

Materials

The research was conducted in an online form (using google docs) and anonymously. The following questionnaires were administrated:

1. STAI (State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, S-Anxiety scale; Spielberger, 2010). This questionnaire was used to assess state anxiety level and consists of 20 items scored on a Likert scale from 1 (not at all) to 4 (very much so). These statements include, for example, "I am relaxed" or "I am presently worrying over possible misfortunes".

2. Author's questionnaire to assess students' experience with distance learning. The questionnaire consisted of 27 multiple choice questions. The questions aimed assessing students' satisfaction of distance learning, motivation level, experiences and difficulties that they encountered. It included questions like: "How did you adapt to the new conditions of distance learning?", "Is it convenient for you to study remotely?", "Are you satisfied with the distance learning process?", "How do you evaluate the work of the teaching staff in the framework of distance learning?", "Would you like to continue studying at a university remotely in the future?" and others.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analysis described in this paper was performed in R (R Development Core team, 2021). To explore the relationship between continuous variable (state anxiety level) and its predictors (adaptation and satisfaction) we fitted linear models (*Im* function). To explore the relationship between categorical variables (evaluation of effectiveness of distance learning and evaluation of teacher's and student's work; adaptation to distance learning and preferred form of education per country of residence) Pearson chi-squared test was calculated (*chisq.test* function).

Results

Assessment of Overall Experience in Distance Learning

The results on several items of author's questionnaire were combined and displayed in Figure 1. These items describe students' overall experience with distance learning depending on the country of residence (Armenia and Russia). Overall, both ethnic Armenians and Russians tend to have positive experiences related to distance learning. This includes, for example, high satisfaction with distance learning (53% of Russian participants and 48 % of Armenian participants). Additionally, most participants had adequate conditions at home to be able to follow distance learning (69% of Russian participants and 60 % of Armenian participants). Despite those positive experiences, majority of participants indicated no desire to continue studying at the university remotely (44% of Russian participants and 52% of Armenian participants). Another important question is that students did not feel

that the distance format allowed teachers to objectively assess their knowledge (40% of Russian participants and 50% of Armenian participants).

Figure 1

The overall experience in distance learning



Is There a Relationship Between Assessment of Distance Learning and the State Anxiety Level?

The state anxiety level assessed by the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for adults (Spielberger, 2010) was compared to the adaptation level assessed by the author's questionnaire. Mean values along with standard errors (Morey, 2008) were visually inspected (Figure 2A). Additionally, mean state anxiety was inspected along with the satisfaction assessment from distance learning (Figure 2B).

To statistically assess whether there is a relation between the state anxiety level and adaptation and satisfaction from distance learning, we fitted linear models. For most levels

Asya S. Berberyan, Hermine S. Berberyan Student's Adaptation to Distance Learning (on Example of Armenian and Russian Students): Psychoemotional Features Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

of adaptation as a predictor of state anxiety level, we observed statistically significant predictions (see reference "Excellent" and "Good", Table 2). Thus, people with excellent adaptation were characterized by low state anxiety level (on average 19.66). The anxiety level was significantly higher for participants with good adaptation by 5.81 and with bad and satisfactory adaptation by 11.11, consequently. Moreover, for bad compared to good adaptation there was a slight nonsignificant difference and compared to satisfactory adaptation there was no difference (0).

Figure 2

The mean values and standard errors



Note. A. The mean values and standard errors of state anxiety level for different types of adaptation to distance learning. B. The mean values of state anxiety level and standard errors for different types of satisfaction from distance learning.

Table 2

The LM results	for state anxiety	as dependent	t variable and	adaptation as a	predictor
----------------	-------------------	--------------	----------------	-----------------	-----------

Formula	State anxiety ~ Adaptation to distance learning		
Reference: Excellent	Estimate	t value	p-value
Intercept	19.61	12.87	<0.001***
Bad	11.15	3.27	<0.01**
Good	5.73	2.91	<0.01**
Satisfactory	11.29	4.99	<0.001***

Asya S. Berberyan, Hermine S. Berberyan Student's Adaptation to Distance Learning (on Example of Armenian and Russian Students): Psychoemotional Features Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Formula	State anxiety ~ Adaptation to distance learning		
Reference: Excellent	Estimate	t value	p-value
Reference: Bad			
Intercept	30.77	10.10	<0.001***
Good	-5.42	-1.64	0.10
Satisfactory	0.13	0.04	0.97
Reference: Good			
Intercept	25.35	20.25	<0.001***
Satisfactory	5.56	2.66	<0.01**

For most levels of satisfaction from distance learning as a predictor of state anxiety level, we observed statistically significant predictions (see Table 3 for overview of all comparisons). Participants satisfied from distance learning were on average less anxious (mean = 22.48) than the ones that were not satisfied (mean = 28.86) and that were hesitating to answer (mean = 27.94). There was no significant difference in state anxiety level between participants satisfied from distance learning and the ones that were hesitating.

Table 3

The LM results for state anxiety as dependent variable and satisfaction as a predictor

Formula	State anxiety ~ Satisfaction from distance learning			
Reference: Yes	Estimate	t value	p-value	
Intercept	22.32	18.96	<0.001***	
Difficult to answer	5.62	2.44	<0.05*	
No	6.54	3.46	<0.001***	
Reference: No				
Intercept	28.86	19.53	<0.001***	
Difficult to answer	-0.92	-0.37	0.71	

What Are the Determinants of Evaluation of Effectiveness of Distance Learning?

We compared the evaluation of effectiveness of distance learning to a) evaluation of teacher's work and b) evaluation of students' own work both assessed by the author's questionnaire. Mean values along with standard errors (Morey, 2008) were visually inspected (Figure 3). To evaluate these relationships statistically we calculated Pearson chisquared test. We found that there is a relationship between the evaluation of effectiveness of distance learning and the evaluation of teacher's work (X-squared = 62.89, df = 9, p-value <0.001). Next, to assess the strength of this relationship, we calculated Cramer's V that resulted in a moderate association value (V = 0.33).

Pearson chi-squared test also showed that there is a relationship between the evaluation of effectiveness of distance learning and the evaluation of own work (X-squared = 84.34, df = 9, p-value < 0.001). Additionally, Cramer's V resulted in a moderate association value (V = 0.39). Overall, this shows two import factors that influence the effectivity of distance learning: teacher's work and student's own work.

Figure 3





Note. A. The mean values and standard errors of evaluation of effectiveness linked to evaluation of teacher's work. B. The mean values and standard errors of evaluation of effectiveness linked to evaluation of students' own work.

Does Adaptation to Distance Learning and Its Preference Depend on the Country of Residence?

To evaluate an influence of country to the adaptation to distance learning, we first visually inspected them (Figure 4 A). To evaluate these relationships statistically we calculated Pearson chi-squared test. We found that there is a relationship between the adaptation to distance learning and the country of residence (X-squared = 12.93, df = 6, p-value <0.05). Next, to assess the strength of this relationship, we calculated Cramer's V that resulted in a moderate association value (V = 0.25).

To evaluate an influence of country on the preferred form of education, we also visually inspected them (Figure 4 B). Pearson chi-squared test showed no relationship between the preferred form of education and the country of residence (X-squared = 2.62, df = 4, p-value > 0.05).

To summarize, this shows that the adaptation to distance learning was determined by country of residence, namely, Russians had on average higher adaptation to new conditions of distance learning during pandemic than Armenians. Additionally, there was no difference in preferred form of education, namely, most participants in most groups preferred offline (in-person) form of education.



Figure 4

The mean values and standard errors

Note. A. The mean values and standard errors of adaptation to new conditions per country. *B.* The mean values and standard errors of preferred form of education per country.

Discussion

The current paper aimed to investigate the transition to distance learning that occurred due to recent Covid-19 pandemic on on example of Armenian and Russian students. We discussed the definition of distance learning and the core theoretical approaches that clarify its specific goals, advantages and disadvantages. Analyzing various research sources, despite some disagreements, we notice the unanimity of researchers across the main features of distance education. First of all, this concerns flexibility, i.e., students' ability to study anytime, anywhere and at any time rhythm (Oliveira, Penedo, & Pereira, 2018). Another two important features are asynchrony, i.e., when teaching takes place according to a schedule or schedule agreed upon by students and teacher, regardless of time and economic efficiency. Thus, the evidence suggests that distance learning requires less financial costs than traditional forms of education (Rumble, 1987).

Moreover, not only student's role is discussed in the literature but also teacher's perspective (Offir, Barth, Lev, & Shteinbok, 2003; Sikwibele & Mungoo, 2009). This includes the role of the teacher, who is responsible for the functions of coordinating the learning process, correcting the course being taught, advising the course for individual learning, managing learning projects, etc. Additionally, the education process is modernized and includes the need for teaches to use special technologies and teaching aids: distance learning technology acts as a set of methods, forms and means of interaction with the student in the process of independent study, but under the control of the student's assimilation of a certain amount of knowledge (Sherry, 1995; Williams, McIntosh, & Russell, 2021).

To better understand overall experience with distance learning in ethnic Armenians and Russians we investigated this with our questionnaire. We found overall positive experiences concerning distance learning including high satisfaction, adequate home conditions, convenience of distance learning and usefulness of the distance learning skills in future professional activity. Our findings add to body of literature on analysis of transition to distance learning during Covid-19 (Armstrong-Mensah et al., 2020; Churiyah, Sholikhan, Filianti, & Sakdiyyah, 2020; Danchikov et al., 2021; Poluekhtova, Vikhrova, & Vartanova, 2020). While the mentioned studies investigated this transfer in various groups, to our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate this transfer on both Armenian and Russian students.

Despite those positive experiences, majority of participants in both groups did not want to continue study remotely and were doubting the possibility of objective evaluation of their knowledge by teachers in the context of distance learning. This clearly shows that distance learning for the student has both positive and negative sides (for review, see Oliveira, Penedo, & Pereira, 2018). Since there is no direct contact in distance learning, it becomes necessary to pay special attention to the psychological characteristics of the organization of training, which to a greater extent affect the effectiveness and quality of educational activities. Additionally, in distance learning, there is an excessive need in discipline of students.

Based on our theoretical analysis, we formulated three hypothetical assumptions that were tested using visual inspection complemented with statistical analysis. To this end, we assessed whether there is a relationship between adaptation and satisfaction with distance learning and the state anxiety level. Our results showed statistically significant differences in the levels of adaptation and the state anxiety value, namely, participants with higher adaptation were characterized with lower state anxiety value. Additionally, we found statistically significant differences in the levels of satisfaction and the state anxiety value, namely, participants that were satisfied with distance learning were characterized with lower state anxiety value. Additionally, this shows an important source of state anxiety that is a low adaptation to emerging conditions of distance learning due to Covid-19 pandemic. This is consistent with the previous findings that showed high anxiety level to be related to challenges of distance learning (Demetriou et al., 2021; Savitsky, Findling, Ereli, & Hendel, 2020; Unger & Meiran, 2020).

Next, we investigated the components of effectivity of distance learning, i.e., evaluation of teachers' work and students' work. Consistent with our hypothesis, both had an equal influence on evaluation of effectiveness of distance learning. The third hypothetical assumption regarding an influence of residence country on adaptation to distance learning and the preferred form of education was partially confirmed. Thus, we found a relationship between the adaptation to distance learning and the country of residence with higher adaptation level in Russian students. Due to the fact that the adaptation level was linked earlier in this paper to the anxiety level, we could link this lower adaptation level in Armenians to their high anxiety value. In the previous work, the higher anxiety level found in Armenians than in Russians was interpreted as a result of an unexamined trauma of the Armenian Genocide (Berberyan & Berberyan, 2016).

However, we found no relationship between preferred form of education and the country of residence while most participants in both groups gave their preference to inperson education, when possible. We explain this finding due to the fact that educational system of Armenia is very close in value-semantic characteristics to the educational system of Russia, which has absorbed Orthodox values, which for centuries have been its spiritual and moral foundations. During the development of the educational system until the beginning of the twentieth century, the Christian worldview, which is based on Christian values, enriched the axiological content of education.

Conclusion

To summarize, conducting a comprehensive analysis of the essence of distance learning and education clearly shows the multidimensionality and difficulty of this phenomenon, that this problem has not been sufficiently studied in the Russian and Armenian spheres of education, but is very relevant today's reality. Moreover, distance learning methods, based on modern technological advances, covering a large area, have a huge role in vocational education at various levels. While the majority of our participants, both in Armenian and Russian groups, were satisfied with distance learning and found it convenient, they expressed some disadvantages of it, namely, the difficulty of the objective assessment of their knowledge in distance learning context. Additionally, we found a relationship between the anxiety level and students' experience with distance learning. While we found differences in the adaptation level depending on the country of residence, no differences were found in the preferred form of education.

Limitations

While our study provided important insights on perception of distance learning in Armenian and Russian students, it would be of interest to conduct a similar survey with teachers. This would enrich understanding of distance learning satisfaction and would allow to compare the evaluations of students' work from perspective of both students and teachers. Thus, further research with the comparable sample of Armenian and Russian teachers is needed.

References

- Andreev, A. A., Soldatkin, V. I. (2013). Distance learning and distance learning technologies]. *Cloud of science*, 1. (in Russ.).
- Armstrong-Mensah, E., Ramsey-White, K., Yankey, B., & Self-Brown, S. (2020). COVID-19 and Distance Learning: Effects on Georgia State University School of Public Health Students. *Frontiers in Public Health*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.576227</u>
- Ball, G.A. (1989). The concept of adaptation and its significance for personality psychology. Voprosy psihologii, 1. (in Russ.).
- Bederkhanova, V.P. (2003). Personality in the educational process. *Lichnost' i bytie: teoriya i metodologiya: Materialy Vserossijskoj nauchno-prakticheskoj konferencii [Personality and Being: Theory and Methodology: Proceedings of the All-Russian Scientific and Practical Conference].* Ed. By Z.I. Ryabikina, V.V. Znakov. Krasnodar, 41–53. (in Russ.).
- Berberyan, A. S. (2021). Kognitivnye aspekty predstavlenij i psihoemocional'noe sostoyanie studencheskoj molodezhi v period distancionnogo obucheniya v usloviyah pandemii [Cognitive aspects of representations and psycho-emotional state of youth students during distance learning under pandemic conditions]. *Modern Psychology*, 4(2(9)), 96– 104. <u>https://doi.org/10.46991/SBMP/2021.4.2.096</u>
- Berberyan, A. S., & Berberyan, H. S. (2016). Ethnopsychological aspects of the meaning-of-life and value orientations of Armenian and Russian students. *Psychology in Russia: State of the Art*, 9(1), 121–137. <u>https://doi.org/10.11621/pir.2016.0109</u>
- Churiyah, M., Sholikhan, S., Filianti, F., & Sakdiyyah, D. A. (2020). Indonesia Education Readiness Conducting Distance Learning in Covid-19 Pandemic Situation. *International Journal of Multicultural and Multireligious Understanding*. <u>https://doi.org/10.18415/ijmmu.v7i6.1833</u>
- Danchikov, E. A., Prodanova, N. A., Kovalenko, Y. N., & Bondarenko, T. G. (2021). Using different approaches to organizing distance learning during the COVID-19 pandemic: Opportunities and disadvantages. *Linguistics and Culture Review*. <u>https://doi.org/10.37028/lingcure.v5nS1.1444</u>
- Demetriou, L., Keramioti, L., & Hadjicharalambous, D. (2021). Examining the relationship between distance learning processes and university students' anxiety in times of Covid-19. *European Journal of Social Sciences Studies*. <u>https://doi.org/10.46827/ejsss.v6i2.1012</u>

- Gevorgyan, S., Berberyan, A., & Berberyan, H. (2022). Self-actualization and stress resistance: methodological and practical aspects of studying the personality of students in the process of distance learning. *Wisdom*, *21(1)*, 44–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.24234/wisdom.v21i1.621</u>
- Gospodarik, Yu. P. (2001). Distance learning and secondary school. *Distantsionnoye Obrazovaniye*, *5*, 10–17. (in Russ.).
- Harting, K., Erthal, M. (2005). History of Distance Learning. *Information Technology, Learning and Performance Journal*.
- Hoare, C. H. (2002). *Erikson on development in adulthood: New insights from the unpublished papers*. Oxford University Press on Demand. <u>https://doi.org/10.5860/choice.39-6732</u>
- Jiang, S., & Xie, J. (2021). A Shared E-Learning Resources Database Using Big Data and Cloud Environment. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3481127.3481215</u>
- King, F. B. (The U. of C., Young, M. F., Drivere-Richmond, K., & Schrader, P. G. (2001). Defining Distance Learning and Distance Education. *Educational Technology Review*.
- Maslow, A. H. (1968). Toward a psychology of being. 3rd edition. Van Nostrand.
- Mogilev, A. V. (2014). Electronic textbooks: the next agenda. *Narodnoe obrazovanie [Public education]*, (1(1434)). (in Russ.).
- Moiseeva, M. V., Bukharkina, M. Yu., Polat, E. S., Ladyzhenskaya, N. V., Petrov, A. E., Kondakova, M. L., & Podgornaya, E. Ya. (2020). *Pedagogicheskie tekhnologii distantsionnogo obucheniya* [*Pedagogical Distance Learning Technologies*]. Ed. by E.S. Polat. Yurayt. (in Russ.).
- Moore, J. L., Dickson-Deane, C., & Galyen, K. (2011). E-Learning, online learning, and distance learning environments: Are they the same? *Internet and Higher Education*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2010.10.001</u>
- Morey, R. D. (2008). Confidence Intervals from Normalized Data: A correction to Cousineau (2005). *Tutorials in Quantitative Methods for Psychology*, 4(2), 61–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.20982/tqmp.04.2.p061</u>
- Offir, B., Barth, I., Lev, Y., & Shteinbok, A. (2003). Teacher-student interactions and learning outcomes in a distance learning environment. *Internet and Higher Education*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1096-7516(02)00162-8</u>
- Oliveira, M. M. S. de, Penedo, A. S. T., & Pereira, V. S. (2018). Distance education: advantages and disadvantages of the point of view of education and society. *Dialogia*. <u>https://doi.org/10.5585/dialogia.n29.7661</u>
- Ovsyannikov, V. I., & Gustyr, A. V. (2001). *Introduction to distance education*. Sholokhov Moscow State University for Humanities. (in Russ.).
- Poluekhtova, I. A., Vikhrova, O. Y., & Vartanova, E. L. (2020). Effectiveness of Online Education for the Professional Training of Journalists: Students' Distance Learning During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Psychology in Russia: State of the Art*. <u>https://doi.org/10.11621/PIR.2020.0402</u>
- Rean, A. A. (1995). To the problem of social adaptation of the individual. *Bulletin of St. Petersburg State University*], 6, 74–79. (in Russ.).
- R Development Core team. (2021). R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Rumble, G. (1987). Why distance education can be cheaper than conventional education. *Distance Education*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0158791870080106</u>
- Sadeghi, M. (2019). A Shift from Classroom to Distance Learning: Advantages and Limitations. International Journal of Research in English Education. <u>https://doi.org/10.29252/ijree.4.1.80</u>
- Savitsky, B., Findling, Y., Ereli, A., & Hendel, T. (2020). Anxiety and coping strategies among nursing students during the covid-19 pandemic. *Nurse Education in Practice*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2020.102809</u>
- Sherry, L. (1995). Issues in distance learning. *International journal of educational telecommunications*, 1(4), 337–365.
- Sikwibele, A. L., & Mungoo, J. K. (2009). Distance learning and teacher education in botswana:

Asya S. Berberyan, Hermine S. Berberyan Student's Adaptation to Distance Learning (on Example of Armenian and Russian Students): Psychoemotional Features Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

Opportunities and challenges. International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v10i4.706</u>

- Santrosyan, K.O. (1973). On the issue of adaptation of first-year students. *Psihologicheskie i social'no-psihologicheskie osobennosti adaptacii studenta [Psychological and socio-psychological features of student adaptation].* Yerevan, 6–10.
- Spielberger, C. D. (2010). State-Trait Anxiety Inventory. In *The Corsini Encyclopedia of Psychology*. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470479216.corpsy0943</u>
- Traxler, J. (2018). Distance learning–Predictions and possibilities. *Education Sciences*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci8010035</u>
- Unger, S., & Meiran, W. (2020). Student Attitudes Towards Online Education during the COVID-19 Viral Outbreak of 2020: Distance Learning in a Time of Social Distance. *International Journal of Technology in Education and Science*. <u>https://doi.org/10.46328/ijtes.v4i4.107</u>
- Valentine, D., Gellman-Danley, B., & Fetzner, M. (1999). Distance Learning : Promises, Problems, and Possibilities. *Journal of Distance Learning Administration*.
- Voronaya, V. D., Pronenko, E. A. (2022). Adaptation of first-year students in higher education: meaning aspects and relation to ontological security. *Innovative science: psychology, pedagogy, defectology, 5*(6), 52-66. (In Russ.) <u>https://doi.org/10.23947/2658-7165-2022-5-6-52-66</u>
- Voronaya, V., Pronenko, E. (2023). Freshmen's adaptive resources to the university environment as a factor of sustainable development in the social sphere. E3S Web Conf., 371, 05058. <u>https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202337105058</u>

Williams, T. K., McIntosh, R. W., & Russell, W. B. (2021). Equity in Distance Education During COVID-19. Research in Social Sciences and Technology. <u>https://doi.org/10.46303/ressat.2021.1</u>

Received: June 28, 2024

Revised: July 16, 2024

Accepted: September 30, 2024

Author Contributions

Asya S. Berberyan – Conceptualization, investigation, methodology, data curation, funding acquisition, formal analysis, writing – original draft preparation, writing—review and editing.

Hermine S. Berberyan – Methodology, formal analysis, statistical analysis, visualization, writing - original draft preparation, writing—review and editing.

Author Details

Asya S. Berberyan – Doctor of Psychological Sciences, Professor, Head of Psychology Department, Armenian-Russian (Slavonic) University, Yerevan, Armenia; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0321-0161</u>; e-mail: <u>aspsy@inbox.ru</u>

Hermine S. Berberyan – Psychologist at "Union of Psychologists of Armenia" professional public organization, Armenia, Doctor in Cognitive Neuroscience, University of Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3889-5933</u>; e-mail: <u>hermpsy@mail.ru</u>

Conflict of Interest Information

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Valeria A. Gershkovich, Mariia Elena Zamkovaia, Nadezhda V. Moroshkina, Aleksandr V. Gulkin, Viktor M. Allakhverdov, Alexander D. Korotkov, Maxim V. Kireev, Tatiana V. Chernigovskaya Does Implicit Response Competition Cause Aftereffects? Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

Research article UDC 159.9.07 https://doi.org/10.21702/81awnj76

Does Implicit Response Competition Cause Aftereffects?

Valeria A. Gershkovich^{*1}^(b). Mariia Elena Zamkovaia¹^(b), Nadezhda V. Moroshkina¹^(b), Aleksandr V. Gulkin²^(b). Viktor M. Allakhverdov¹^(b), Alexander D. Korotkov¹^(b), Maxim V. Kireev¹^(b), Tatiana V. Chernigovskaya^{1,2}^(b)

¹N.P. Bechtereva Institute of the Human Brain, Russian Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation ²St. Petersburg State University, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation

*Corresponding author: valeria.gershkovich@gmail.com

Abstract

Introduction. Information is often ambiguous. Several theories suggest that the resolution of ambiguity involves an implicit selection of solution options, the result of which manifests itself in long-term negative and/or positive after-effects. However, in experimental studies, these effects are often mixed, leading to interpretations of the results. This study aims to identify and distinguish these effects. Methods. In this study a within-subject design was used. A total of 56 volunteers (21 males, 35 females; mean age: 25, SD = 5.8) took part in the study. In the first stage, the participants completed unambiguous and ambiguous fragmented word combinations. In the second stage, the participants completed fragmented nouns, some of which appeared in the first stage and some were alternatives not selected in the first stage of completion. Results. In the first stage of the experiment, ambiguous stimuli were completed slower and with more errors (ambiguity disadvantage effect). In the second stage, presentation of the same nouns resulted in the positive priming effect for both ambiguous and non-ambiguous stimuli. Positive and negative after-effects of resolving implicit competition have not been identified. Discussion. The results obtained can be explained by the fact that the implicit response competition has no long-term aftereffects. Another explanation is that the second stage uses tasks that do not require semantic processing and that the word is retrieved by a low-level letter processing before aftereffects of a previous choice appear. Valeria A. Gershkovich, Mariia Elena Zamkovaia, Nadezhda V. Moroshkina, Aleksandr V. Gulkin, Viktor M. Allakhverdov, Alexander D. Korotkov, Maxim V. Kireev, Tatiana V. Chernigovskaya Does Implicit Response Competition Cause Aftereffects? Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

Conclusion. Experimental data may support theories that consider only the short-term aftereffects of implicit competition. However, additional verification of the results is required using a task involving the semantic level of information processing.

Keywords

response selection, implicit response competition, ambiguity disadvantage effect, wordfragment completion task, priming

Funding

The study was supported by a grant from the Russian Science Foundation, project No. 23-18-00407, The Role of Brain Mechanisms for Inhibitory Control in the Selection of Competing Meanings of Ambiguous Information).

For citation

Gershkovich, V. A., Zamkovaia, M. E., Moroshkina, N. V., Gulkin, A. V., Allakhverdov, V. M., Korotkov, A. D., Kireev, M. V., & Chernigovskaya, T. V. (2024). Does implicit response competition cause aftereffects? *Russian Psychological Journal*, *21*(4), 212–232. https://doi.org/10.21702/81awnj76

Introduction

In life, we often encounter information that can be interpreted differently or problems that can have multiple possible solutions. The choice can be made unconsciously at different stages of solving the problem – from the choice of a representation to the choice of an action. A relevant question is whether a previously made choice can be retained for some time and affect the subsequent processing of information, or whether the choice is made again every time? If the choice is still maintained, what are the mechanisms to support its stability? This study **aims** to test the hypothesis of the long-term negative and positive after-effects of implicit choice and to distinguish their mechanisms.

It has been demonstrated with different stimulus material, that the implicit competition between answers in a problem provokes a selection process, which manifests itself in a slowdown in response time and/or an increase in the errors rate – we will call "selection cost". This cost effect in a choice situation has been demonstrated both with homonyms (so-called ambiguity disadvantage effect) (Rodd, Gaskel, & Marslen-Wilson, 2002), which involve the selection of semantic representations (Simpson & Burgess, 1985; Simpson & Krueger, 1991; Maciejewski & Klepousniotou, 2020), and with orthographic neighbors (Coltheart, Davelaar, Jonasson, & Besner, 1977; Alekseeva & Slyusar, 2017), which involve the selection of lexemes (Pollatsek, Perea, & Binder, 1999, see Experiments 2–3; Snodgrass

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

& Mintzer, 1993, see Experiment 5), as well as the word fragment completion task with two alternative completion options (Heyman, Van Akeren, Hutchison & Storms, 2016) and in the presence of a context word that suggests a relevant choice (Kireev et al., 2022; Chernigovskaya et al., 2020).

The selection mechanisms are fundamental and manifest at different stages of information processing. Consequently, the question is whether a decision in favor of one of the alternatives results in long-term after-effects, i.e. changes in the processing of the selected and not selected options.

Two groups of theories can be distinguished that approach this issue differently.

The first group of theories does not assume any long-term effects specific to the choice situation, and the choice is actually remade each time (see the local inhibition mechanism) (McClelland & Rumelhart, 1981), the reordered access model (Duffy, Morris & Rayner, 1988), and the parallel independent activation model (Dixon & Twilley, 1999). These models assume a positive priming effect from increasing the accessibility of the selected representation, but this effect is not specific to the choice situation.

In the second group, four theories can be distinguished that assume different long-term effects.

Anderson, Bjork & Bjork (1994) proposed a retrieval-induced forgetting (RIF) theory, which emphasizes that the need to selectively retrieve one of the competing representations from memory leads to active suppression of the unselected (alternative) representation (Anderson, 2003; Anderson & Bell, 2001; Shivde & Anderson, 2001). The implicit competition induced by retrieval practice leads to the suppression effect (longterm negative aftereffect), which is consistently observed for explicit memory tests. However, an alternative interpretation of some of the effects obtained in studies in terms of a blocking mechanism is also discussed (Anderson et al., 1994; Raaijmakers & Jakab, 2013; Bäuml & Kliegl, 2017). It is assumed that what occurs is not the suppression of competing options, but the enhancement of selected options, which leads to interference at the retrieval stage – selected options gain an access advantage, blocking the retrieval of irrelevant ones. For example, an argument in favor of such an interpretation can be the absence of the suppression effect in the word fragment completion task (Butler, Williams, Zacks & Maki, 2001), which is an implicit memory test and should be insensitive to interference (Schacter, 1987). However, in another study, the effect was obtained under conditions when the memory test addressed the same lexical representations that were suppressed during retrieval practice (Bajo, Gomez-Ariza, Fernandez & Marful, 2006). It is currently considered that both mechanisms of suppression and blocking can be involved (Rupprecht & Bäuml, 2016).

The Structure Building Theory was proposed by M. A. Gernsbacher to describe the processes of language comprehension (lexical/semantic access, comprehension of metaphors, anaphors, etc.) (Gernsbacher, 1990; Gernsbacher, 1997, Gernsbacher, Keysar, Robertson & Werner, 2001). According to this approach, a central selection mechanism is

Valeria A. Gershkovich, Mariia Elena Zamkovaia, Nadezhda V. Moroshkina, Aleksandr V. Gulkin, Viktor M. Allakhverdov, Alexander D. Korotkov, Maxim V. Kireev, Tatiana V. Chernigovskaya Does Implicit Response Competition Cause Aftereffects? Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

involved in ensuring choice, which implies the engagement of two different independent mechanisms – enhancement of the selected representation, as well as suppression of the alternative, non-selected meaning, which in theory is interpreted as a directed reduction in activation also extending to lower levels of processing (Gernsbacher, Robertson & Werner, 2001). Experiments have shown difficulties in retrieving the previously rejected meaning of a homonym (Gernsbacher et al., 2001), but it could appear due to the activation of a previously selected meaning and the need for its conscious rejection in order to select an alternative option or the activation of a blocking mechanism (see Gorfein, 2001).

The approach proposed by D. Gorfein for situations related to resolving ambiguity (activation-selection model) assumes that resolving competition results in an additional enhancement of the selected representation and the author recognizes the suppression mechanism as unnecessary (Gorfein, 2001; Gorfein, Brown & DeBiasi, 2007).

V. M. Allakhverdov (Allakhverdov, 1993; Allakhverdov, 2000; Allakhverdov et al., 2019) proposed a theory of the unconscious negative choice, which suggests two mechanisms of long-term aftereffects of competition resolution and their joint contribution to maintaining the choice. In this framework, it is assumed that when faced with ambiguity, a cognitive mechanism is activated that allows only one meaning to enter consciousness (a positive choice). At the same time, awareness of all other possible meanings (and even their elements) becomes difficult. The unselected option is activated, but is marked as inappropriate for the situation and is stably kept away from awareness. When encounter a similar situation again, a person will strive to repeat not only the previously made positive choice (aftereffect of a positive choice). V. M. Allakhverdov's predictions have found their empirical confirmation on the material of ambiguous figures (Filippova, 2011; Filippova & Moroshkina, 2015; Filippova & Allakhverdov, 2020; Filippova, Chernov & Gorbunov, 2023), homonyms (Mamina, 2013; Mamina, Dedova, 2013) and anagrams with two alternative solutions (Lapteva, Valueva, Belova, 2018).

Consequently, in a situation where a task requires an implicit choice between competing answer options, the choice in favor of one of the alternatives may result in long-term aftereffects - the effect of a positive choice (positive priming effect), as well as enhancing the alternative selected as a result of competition, and the effect of a negative choice (negative priming effect), i.e. the difficulty of retrieving the rejected alternative. In most studies, however, these effects may be mixed. Distinguishing between the two aftereffects is a methodological challenge, because the target stimulus for capturing the negative aftereffect is usually either the same multi-alternative stimulus or a related stimulus for which a choice has already been made. This, in turn, can provoke a mechanism for enhancing the processing of a previously chosen alternative due to the previous processing of a similar or the same stimulus. In our previous experiments on the completion of fragmented word combinations (Kireev et al., 2022, Chernigovskaya et al., 2020), we also failed to distinguish between the expected aftereffects of positive and negative choices.

Valeria A. Gershkovich, Mariia Elena Zamkovaia, Nadezhda V. Moroshkina, Aleksandr V. Gulkin, Viktor M. Allakhverdov, Alexander D. Korotkov, Maxim V. Kireev, Tatiana V. Chernigovskaya Does Implicit Response Competition Cause Aftereffects? Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

Overview of the study

The purpose of the present study was therefore to identify and distinguish between the positive and negative long-term effects of the implicit choice of solutions. To create the conditions for a choice at the first stage, the word fragment completion task was used, in which a letter was omitted in the same words in such a way that only one option for completion (unambiguous completion) or two options (orthographic neighboring words) (ambiguous completion) could be made. In order to induce an unconscious choice and, at the same time, to prevent awareness of both options to complete the stimulus, the words were presented with a contextual adjective, in which a letter was also omitted, which prevented automatic processing, but allowed the word to be completed to a single meaningful option. Thus, it was assumed that when completing ambiguous fragmented words, there is a competition of representations and, accordingly, a choice of one of them is necessary ("selection for awareness"). According to this hypothesis, we additionally control, whether the participants recognized the ambiguity of the stimuli and such trials were not included in the analysis. Since we expected the facilitation in retrieval of the chosen options / difficulty in accessing the rejected ones, the aftereffects of implicit choice were studied using a cognitive task traditionally employed to investigate implicit memory (Roediger, Weldon, Stadler & Riegler, 1992) - repeated completion of word fragments without a contextual adjective. To distinguish between the effects of positive and negative aftereffects, in the second stage, the word fragments always had only one option for completion, and either a word was presented that corresponded in meaning to the word presented in the first stage (the same word), or was an alternative to the word chosen in the first stage (a neighboring word). We assumed that the repetition of the word itself would provoke the classical priming effect (Tulving, Schacter & Stark, 1982). We expected that this priming effect would be enhanced by competition resolution (see, e.g., Gorfein, 2001; Gorfein et al., 2007) and, therefore, would be more pronounced for situations where ambiguous fragments were presented as a prime task. A negative aftereffect was also expected for the completion of an unambiguous word in the second stage (see Allakhverdov, 2000), which represented an alternative to the option chosen at the first stage. The presentation of words with only one unambiguous option of completion in the second stage should have allowed us to distinguish between the two types of aftereffects.

The following hypotheses were put forward: 1. When completing ambiguous fragments, selection mechanisms will be involved, providing an unconscious choice of one of the representation options, which will manifest in an increase of error rate and response time when completing ambiguous fragments compared to unambiguous ones (ambiguity disadvantage effect). 2. A positive priming effect will be observed, which manifests itself in faster response times and smaller number of completion errors when repeating the meaning of the previously completed word compared to a change in the meaning. 3. The resolution of the ambiguity of the fragment during its initial perception
INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

should lead, on the one hand, to a faster recognition of the repeatedly presented meanings (a positive aftereffect) and smaller number of errors, and on the other, to a slower recognition of the previously non-selected meanings (a negative aftereffect) and larger number of errors compared to the condition in which initially presented stimulus was unambiguous.

Methods

Design

To verify the hypotheses put forward, a two-factor experimental design (2x2) was developed with within-subject varying of independent variables. The first independent variable was the ambiguity/unambiguity of the completion of the fragmented nouns in the first stage; the second independent variable was repetition of the noun from the first stage to the second stage / change to its neighbor. All conditions were counterbalanced. In total eight experimental lists were created. As dependent variables in both stages, the response time was measured (from stimulus onset until pressing the space bar to pronounce the word combination), as well as its accuracy.

Participants

A total of 56 volunteers (21 males, 35 females; mean age: 25 years, SD = 5.8) participated in the study. All participants were native Russian speakers. Advertising on social networks was a means of recruitment. The study was approved by the St. Petersburg Psychological Society Ethics Committee (Protocol No. 31 of 04/18/2024).

Stimulus material

As stimulus material, word combinations containing contextual adjectives and nouns, each with one omitted letter, were used. The stimulus material was compiled as follows: on the basis of previous studies (Kireev et al., 2022; Chernigovskaya et al., 2020) we selected 36 pairs of four- and five-letter neighboring words, differing from each other only by one letter (for example, baron-baton ('baron' – 'bread'), vino-kino ('wine' – 'cinema'). The frequency of selected words is 4.9 to 99.4 ipm (Savchuk et al., 2024), and the difference between the frequency of paired neighboring nouns do not exceed 47.9 ipm. The letter omission was at the beginning, middle or end of the word, and at the same time allowing either a single completion option (as, for example, for a fragmented word "k_tel" (kotel - 'pot'), where only the letter "o" can be placed in the place of omission), or a two-alternative completion (for example, a fragmented word "ko_el" can be completed both to the word

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

"kotel" ('pot') and to the word "kozel" ('goat')) of the same noun. The number of words with a different letter omission place was balanced between unambiguous and ambiguous conditions. For each of the 72 nouns using the Rusvectōrēs service (Kutuzov & Kuzmenko, 2017), a contextual adjective was selected, suggesting a meaningful option for completing only one of neighboring words (for example, the adjective "rich" was selected to the noun "baron", and the adjective "wheat" was selected to the noun "bread"). It is the contextual adjective, unique for each noun, that indicates which variant of completing the noun is correct in the condition of ambiguous completion. Omissions in adjectives always allow the only option for completing; 30 nouns-fillers were also selected, corresponding to targeted words by frequency and number of letters and accompanied by contextual adjectives. Omissions in fillers allow the only option for completing both the adjective and the noun. The fillers were added to reduce the probability that participants will predict the presence of words with ambiguous completion and search them specifically.

At the second stage, the same 72 target nouns and 30 fillers were used. Compared to the first stage, a different letter was always omitted in the words (for example, for the noun "baron", fragmented words "_aron"/ "ba_on" were compiled at the first stage, and at the second stage "b_ron" was compiled). Therefore, fragmented words in the second stage were used without contextual adjectives and always allowed only one completion option, which differed from the completion in the first stage.

Equipment

The experiment was carried out using the Psychopy and Pavlovia software (Peirce et al., 2019). The study was conducted online, under the supervision of an experimenter, the experimenter asked participants to share their screens and observed them via video communication using Zoom / Telegram / Skype / Microsoft Teams applications.

Procedure

Before the experiment started, the experimenter and the participant called each other using a platform to make calls that had screen-sharing function, so that the participant could start a screen demonstration during the experiment. Then the experimenter sent a link to the experiment. The experiment consisted of two stages. The experimental procedure is shown in Figure 1.

In the first stage, the participants performed the task of completing fragmented word combinations composed of contextual adjectives and nouns, each with one omitted letter. The participants were informed that the experiment was devoted to studying the processing of fragmented information; they were not informed of the presence of ambiguity of completion options. Before starting the first stage, the instructions were presented as well as five training combinations, and after the end of the training, the participant could ask the experimenter questions. Then 66 word combinations for completion were presented to the participant in a random order, 36 of which were target

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

words (in 18 of them, nouns have only one completion option, in 18 – two completion options) and 30 were fillers (always have only one completion option). Word combinations were presented in the center of the screen written in black Times New Roman font on a white background. First, a fixation cross appeared on the screen for 1 or 2 seconds, then a fragmented word combination appeared for 6 seconds, and the participant's task was to complete the fragmented word combination as quickly and accurately as possible into meaningful phrase and then say his answer loud. When the participant was ready to answer, he pressed the space bar – at that moment the phrase disappeared, the microphone was turned on, and the participant pronounced the phrase.

Figure 1

Experimental procedure



After the first stage, the participant could either proceed immediately to the second stage, or take a short break (within a few minutes).

The procedure and instructions for the second stage were identical to those of the first stage, except that in the second stage only fragmented nouns were presented, which participants had to complete as quickly and accurately as possible (see Fig. 1). 66 words were presented to the participant in a random order for completion, 36 of which were target words (18 words were the same as in the first stage, 18 words were changed to their neighboring words) and 30 were fillers.

After the experiment, the participant answered questions from the post-experimental interview, where, among other things, he was shown a list of stimuli from the first stage (in the fragmented form in which they were presented) and asked to mark all the word combinations in which the participant realized several possible options for completion. The trials with these word combinations were later excluded from the analysis.

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

Results

Data preprocessing

The analysis included only trials in which in the first and second stages it was possible to decipher the participants' oral answers in the audio recordings and in which the participants did not realize the ambiguity in stimuli (95% (1745) of trials). Additionally, the analysis included only nouns for which, after exclusion of the trials with realized ambiguity and trials with errors, there remained at least three presentations in each of the experimental conditions. Thus, the analysis of the results included 33 pairs of neighboring words out of 36, in which each of the nouns was correctly completed by the participants in more than 50 % of cases (both in unambiguous and ambiguous conditions of presentation).

Next, the "error type" variable was encoded. The errors made by the participants were distributed by type as follows: omission errors (no response) – 35 trials, substitution errors (completion of the target noun to its neighboring word) - 61 trials, and all other errors – 37 trials. If the participant correctly recognized the word combination, but did not press the spacebar to pronounce it (2 % of the total number of trials with the correct answer (40 trials)), the response time was recorded as 6 seconds (the maximum time of stimulus presentations).

Results of the first stage

To test the hypothesis of the ambiguity disadvantage effect, an analysis of the proportion of correct responses aggregated by stimuli was conducted during the first stage of completing word combinations, depending on the type of stimulus (unambiguous/ ambiguous) using Student's t-test for paired samples. Significant differences were found: Participants gave less correct answers when completing ambiguous stimuli (M = 0.88, SD = 0.12), compared with unambiguous ones (M = 0.96, SD = 0.08), (t = 4.46, df = 65, p < 0.001, d = 0.549), see Fig. 2.

The analysis of stimulus completion time in the first stage included only correctly completed stimuli. Using the paired samples t-test, we compared the mean completion time of unambiguous and ambiguous stimuli (see Fig. 3). Significant differences were found: Ambiguous stimuli took longer to complete (M= 2.19 sec., SD = 0.66) than unambiguous ones (M = 2.03 sec., SD = 0.47), (df = 65, t = 2.432, p < 0.05, d = 0.299).

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

Figure 2

Comparison of the proportion of correct answers when completing stimuli in the first stage







Thus, we discovered the ambiguity disadvantage effect, i.e., the ambiguous stimuli were completed by participants more slowly and with more errors. This confirms that our stimulus material actually models the situation of answers competition and allows us to proceed with the analysis of data from the second stage.

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

Results of the second stage

To test the hypotheses about priming effects, the influence of the stimulus type in the first stage (unambiguous or ambiguous) and the factor of change in the noun at the second stage (same or "alternative") on the completion of nouns was analyzed. We expected to reveal a positive priming effect – a decrease in the number of errors and a reduction in response times in the condition where the noun was the same as in the first stage for all stimuli – both ambiguous and unambiguous. We also assumed that, for ambiguous stimuli, repeating a noun at the second stage may result in a smaller number of erroneous completions and faster response times (hypothesis of aftereffects of a positive choice), and change in the noun to an alternative, on the contrary, may lead to an increase in the number of erroneous completions and longer response times (aftereffects of a negative choice), compared to unambiguous stimuli. The analysis included only trials from the second stage that corresponded to correctly completed stimuli in the first stage. Due to the small amount of errors (participants almost always completed the nouns correctly; among 1612 trials only 60 (3.7 %) erroneous completions), we decided not to analyze the correctness of completions in the second stage.

To analyze the impact of a stimulus type factor and a factor of change in the noun on the time taken to complete nouns in the second stage, we a ran linear mixed-effects regression model (see table 1). A dependent variable was the time taken to complete the noun in the second stage; fixed factors were the type of stimulus in the first stage and a change in the noun in the second stage; the participant factor was added as a random factor.

Table **1**

Predictor	β	SE	Z	[2.5%	97.5%]	р
Intercept	1.043	0.045	23.316	0.956	1.131	< 0.001
Change in the noun	0.189	0.040	4.676	0.110	0.268	< 0.001

The influence of a stimulus factor and a factor of change in the noun on completion time (results of the mixed-effects regression model)

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

Predictor	β	SE	Z	[2.5%	97.5%]	р			
Ambiguity of the stimulus	0.003	0.042	0.065	-0.079	0.084	0.948			
Change in the noun x Ambiguity of the stimulus	-0.035	0.059	-0.597	-0.152	0.081	0.550			
Log-Likelihood	-1421.57								

Note. Intercept is an unambiguous stimulus in the first stage, repeating a noun in the second stage.

A significant influence of the factor of change in the noun (β = 0.189, SE = 0.040, Z = 4.676, p < 0.001) was observed. When the noun was the same in the second stage as in the first stage it resulted in faster response times compared to the condition of presenting an alternative noun. The influence of other factors was not found.

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to test the assumption about the presence of negative and positive long-term aftereffects of making an implicit choice and to distinguish between their effects on the material of word fragment completion with a contextual adjective in the first stage and without an adjective in the second stage.

On the basis of available data, indicating that the presence of competition between different solution options leads to slower response times in different cognitive tasks (Heymen et al., 2006; Chernigovskaya et al., 2020; Kireev et al., 2022), we assumed that the presence of implicit competition in the task of completing ambiguous word fragments leads to the need for choice, which would manifest in slower response times and an increase in error rates.

The results of the first stage confirmed the hypothesis of the involvement of selection mechanisms under the condition of the existence of alternatives. Indeed, the time taken to correctly complete word combinations containing two-alternative fragments to meaningful phrases was significantly longer than the time taken to complete unambiguous ones. Also, participants gave, on average, fewer correct answers when completing ambiguous stimuli than when completing unambiguous ones. The obtained results indicate the presence of the ambiguity disadvantage effect when performing this

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

task and are consistent with the results obtained using homonyms (Piercey & Joordens, 2000; Maciejewski & Klepousniotou, 2020; Rodd et al., 2002), using neighboring words when completing fragmented stimuli with two possible completion options (Heymen et al., 2006), and also replicate the effect we previously obtained using the same task (Chernigovskaya et al., 2020; Kireev et al., 2022). There are some differences between our design and that used by other authors. First, we recorded in our experiment, based on the post-experimental interview data, whether the participants were aware of both possible completion options and excluded those trials in which the ambiguity of the stimuli was realized. This gives us reason to assume that the resolution of competition was more likely to occur unconsciously. However, since we only retrospectively determined whether participants noticed the ambiguity, it is impossible to entirely rule out the interpretation that the slowdown is observed due to conscious competition and the selection of the appropriate option. Secondly, we also provided a contextual adjective that indicated what choice was relevant. To ensure that the choice was not completely determined by the context, the letter was omitted from the adjective. However, the ambiguity disadvantage effect in the completion of ambiguous fragments was evident even in the presence of a contextual adjective.

In our second hypothesis, we assumed that there would be a classical priming effect (Tulving et al., 1982) from word repetition on the word fragment completion task. We found a positive priming effect that manifested itself in faster response time when completing the repeatedly presented words. We should note that in the second stage, although the word itself has been repeated, the omitted letters differ from the ones omitted in the first stage. Since the long-term perceptual priming effect is traditionally most strongly manifested under conditions of identical form repetition, the result obtained cannot be explained exclusively by perceptual priming, sensitive to changes in the surface characteristics of the stimulus between the training and testing stages (Roediger & Blaxton, 1987). Consequently, we assume that the priming effect that occurred is associated with lexical processing. We should also note that the positive priming effect we obtained was observed despite the fact that the priming effect during the repeated reading of words is usually significantly less pronounced if the word was presented in context during the first reading (Levy & Kirsner, 1989; MacLeod, 1989; Smith, 1991).

However, the main assumption of our study was that as a result of resolving implicit competition, a result of the positive choice would be observed – i.e. an increase in the positive priming effect for ambiguous fragments compared to unambiguous fragments, and negative aftereffects of choice would also be observed, i.e. the negative priming effect would be more pronounced for rejected alternatives under the ambiguous condition compared to unambiguous options. Our data did not confirm this hypothesis. The magnitude of the priming effect did not depend on which fragment was completed in the first stage - ambiguous or unambiguous. Our results contradict the models of M. Anderson, M. A. Gernsbacher, D. Gorfein, and V. M. Allakhverdov discussed above, which suggested a long-term positive and/or negative aftereffects of choice in a situation of

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

implicit competition, as well as the spread of suppression to lower levels, as predicted by the model of M. A. Gernsbacher. The results are consistent with models in which the selection is made each time, depending on the task, and/or the selection is very short-lived, supported only by local inhibition mechanisms (McClelland & Rumelhart, 1981; Duffy et al., 1988; Dixon & Twilley, 1999). It is also worth noting that, in general, the effects of inhibition from neighboring words in the priming paradigm are studied for very short-term intervals (up to 600 ms) (see, e.g., Massol, Molinaro & Carreiras, 2015). In our experiment, we did not find long-term effects. This can indicate that the selection takes place very quickly and that maintaining the chosen option is not necessary in such tasks. It is possible that, since the task of identifying the word from a fragment in the unambiguous condition relies mainly on bottom-up perceptual processing (from letters to words), the word is retrieved automatically. Consequently, this level of processing is sufficient to make the appropriate choice in the second stage, and the higher-level processing required to cause the aftereffects is not engaged.

It is also possible that, although we vary the unambiguity/ambiguity of completion by omitting a letter, thus provoking competition between neighboring words in the ambiguous condition, competition between neighboring words could also arise in the unambiguous condition. Under both the unambiguous and ambiguous conditions, other neighboring words could be activated at the first stage due to the coincidence of letters that were not varied in our experiment (i.e., ba_on/_aron could provoke the activation of not only the lexical units "baron/baton", but also "baran", "barin", etc.). Their number, frequency, and the position of matching letters between the word presented and the neighboring word could affect access to the word (Slyusar, Alekseeva, 2017). For example, the influence of the number and frequency of neighboring words on the shortterm priming effect was shown in the lexical decision task. Priming from the repetition of words is more pronounced for words with a smaller number of neighbors than for words with a larger number of neighbors Perea & Rosa, 2000), which indicates the emergence of competition already at the early stages of lexical processing. However, in this study, the prime word was always presented without omitted letters. The number of other orthographic neighbors that could be activated despite the omission of a letter was not controlled in our experiment and, accordingly, competition could have arisen both in the unambiguous condition and in the ambiguous one, provoking an increase in the positive priming effect from word repetition, analogous to the predictions of D. Gorfein's model for ambiguous words (Gorfein, 2001). It is also possible that we did not find any aftereffects due to the fact that a sufficient level of competition between the response options was not achieved in the first stage. Thus, studies of retrieval-induced forgetting suggest that suppression effects depend on the strength of competition in the retrieval practice stage (Anderson, 2003) and are most pronounced for explicit memory tests (e.g., free recall). Our results are consistent with those data in which retrieval-induced forgetting has not been demonstrated in such an implicit memory test as word fragment completion (Butler et al., 2001) and are inconsistent with the results of the experiment by

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

Bajo et al., where the effect was demonstrated (Bajo et al., 2006). However, the procedure of this experiment was significantly different from ours: firstly, participants in the study performed a memory task in the first stage, and secondly, they then underwent a retrieval practice, which should have increased the competition of lexical representations. Although we demonstrated the presence of implicit competition in the first stage, it may not have been strong enough to produce the desired effect and has therefore not been manifested in implicit memory tests such as word fragment completion task.

Future research directions could focus on testing the suggested explanations, particularly the inclusion of semantic processing in the second stage of the study.

Conclusion

The aim of this study was to test the hypothesis that an unconscious choice made once between the solution options can persist and influence further processing of information related to the choice made by enhancing the processing of the selected option and inhibiting the retrieval of the rejected one. In our study, the ambiguity disadvantage effect was demonstrated on the performance of word fragment completion task with two completion options. The effect was observed in the presence of contextual adjectives and control over the awareness of the choice alternatives. However, neither positive nor negative long-term effects of resolving competition on the task of identifying a word from a fragment in the second stage, involving low-level processing mechanisms, were found.

Overall, the results tend to support models that do not imply long-term selection effects. However, future research should test the hypothesis that aftereffects will emerge in tasks requiring semantic processing.

References

- Alekseeva, S. V., & Slyusar, N. A. (2017). Orthographic neighbors: a database on Russian language and experimental studies of morphological decomposition. *Journal of Psycholinguistics*, *32*(2), 12–27. (in Russ.).
- Allakhverdov, V. M. (1993). Experience of theoretical psychology (in the genre of scientific revolution). Pechatnyi dvor Publ. (in Russ.).
- Allakhverdov, V. M. (2000). Consciousness as a paradox. DNK Publ. (in Russ.).
- Allakhverdov, V., Filippova, M. G., Gershkovich, V. A., Karpinskaia, V. Y., Scott, T. V., & Vladykina, N. P. (2019). Consciousness, learning, and control: On the path to a theory. A. Cleeremans, V. Allakhverdov, & M. Kuvaldina (Eds.). Implicit learning: 50 years on (pp. 71–107). Routledge/ Taylor & Francis Group. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315628905-4</u>
- Anderson, M. C. (2003). Rethinking interference theory: Executive control and the mechanisms of forgetting. *Journal of memory and language*, 49(4), 415–445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2003.08.006</u>
- Anderson, M. C., & Bell, T. (2001). Forgetting our facts: the role of inhibitory processes in the loss of propositional knowledge. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 130(3), 544–570. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0096-3445.130.3.544</u>

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

- Anderson, M. C., Bjork, R. A., & Bjork, E. L. (1994). Remembering can cause forgetting: retrieval dynamics in long-term memory. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory,* and Cognition, 20(5), 1063–1087. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0278-7393.20.5.1063</u>
- Bajo, M. T., Gómez-Ariza, C. J., Fernandez, A., & Marful, A. (2006). Retrieval-induced forgetting in perceptually driven memory tests. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 32(5), 1185–1194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.32.5.1185</u>
- Bäuml, K-H.T., & Kliegl, O. (2017) Retrieval-Induced Remembering and Forgetting. Wixted, J.T. (ed.). Cognitive Psychology of Memory, Vol. 2 of Learning and Memory: A Comprehensive Reference. Academic Press. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809324-5.21048-1</u>
- Butler, K. M., Williams, C. C., Zacks, R. T., & Maki, R. H. (2001). A limit on retrieval-induced forgetting. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 27(5), 1314–1319. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0278-7393.27.5.1314</u>
- Chernigovskaya, T. V., Allakhverdov, V. M., Korotkov, A. D., Gershkovich, V. A., Kireev, M. V., & Prokopenya, V. K. (2020). Human brain and ambiguity of cognitive information: A convergent approach. *Vestnik of Saint-Petersburg University. Philosophy and Conflict Studies*, 36(4), 675–686. <u>https://doi.org/10.21638/spbu17.2020.406</u> (in Russ.)
- Coltheart, M., Davelaar, E., Jonasson, J. T., & Besner, D. (2022). Access to the internal lexicon. In *Attention and performance VI* (pp. 535–555). Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003309734-29</u>
- Dixon, P., & Twilley, L. C. (1999). Context and homograph meaning resolution. *Canadian Journal of Experimental Psychology/Revue canadienne de psychologie expérimentale*, 53(4), 335–346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0087321</u>
- Duffy, S. A., Morris, R. K., & Rayner, K. (1988). Lexical ambiguity and fixation times in reading. Journal of Memory and Language, 27(4), 429–446. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-596X(88)90066-6</u>
- Filippova, M.G. (2011). Does unconscious information affect cognitive activity?: A study using experimental priming. *Spanish Journal of Psychology*, *14*(1), 20–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.5209/rev_sjop.2011.v14.n1.2</u>
- Filippova M. G., & Moroshkina N. V. (2015). Conscious and unconscious ambiguity: Two kinds of cognitive control. *Siberian Journal of Psychology*, (56), 37–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.17223/17267080/56/4</u> (in Russ.)
- Filippova, M. G., & Allakhverdov, V. M. (2020). Concretization of the chosen meaning in the process of ambiguous figures perception. *Psychology: Journal of the Higher School of Economics*, 17(2), 355–366. <u>https://doi.org/10.17323/1813-8918-2020-2-356-366</u> (in Russ.)
- Filippova M. G., Chernov R. V., & Gorbunov I. A. (2023). Unnoticed but not forgotten: eegcorrelates of ambiguous figures priming effects. *I.P. Pavlov Journal of Higher Nervous Activity*, 73(3), 348–356. <u>https://doi.org/10.31857/S0044467723030061</u> (in Russ.)
- Gernsbacher, M. A. (1990). Language comprehension as structure building. Hillsdale.
- Gernsbacher, M. A. (1997). Two decades of structure building. *Discourse processes*, *23*(3), 265–304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01638539709544994</u>
- Gernsbacher, M. A., Keysar, B., Robertson, R. R., & Werner, N. K. (2001). The role of suppression and enhancement in understanding metaphors. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 45(3), 433–450. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/jmla.2000.2782</u>

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

- Gernsbacher, M. A., Robertson, R. R. W., & Werner, N. K. (2001). The costs and benefits of meaning. In D. S. Gorfein (Ed.). On the consequences of meaning selection: Perspectives on resolving lexical ambiguity (pp. 119–137). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/10459-007</u>
- Gorfein, D. S. (2001). An activation–selection view of homograph disambiguation: A matter of emphasis? In D. S. Gorfein (Ed.). *On the consequences of meaning selection: Perspectives on resolving lexical ambiguity* (pp. 157-173). American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/10459-009</u>
- Gorfein, D. S., Brown, V. R., & DeBiasi, C. (2007). The activation–selection model of meaning: Explaining why the son comes out after the sun. *Memory & Cognition*, 35, 1986–2000. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03192931
- Heyman, T., Van Akeren, L., Hutchison, K. A., & Storms, G. (2016). Filling the gaps: A speeded word fragment completion megastudy. *Behavior Research Methods*, 48, 1508–1527. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-015-0663-3
- Kireev, M., Korotkov, A., Masharipov, R., Zheltyakova, M., Cherednichenko, D., Gershkovich, V., Moroshkina, N., Slioussar, N., Allakhverdov, V. & Chernigovskaya, T. (2022). Suppression of non-selected solutions as a possible brain mechanism for ambiguity resolution in the word fragment task completion task. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), 1829. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-022-05646-5</u>
- Kutuzov, A., & Kuzmenko, E. (2017). WebVectors: a toolkit for building web interfaces for vector semantic models. In: Analysis of Images, Social Networks and Texts: 5th International Conference. Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-52920-</u> 2_15
- Lapteva, N. M., Valueva, E. A., & Belova, S. S. (2018). Priming effects in a lexical decision task based on transposed-letter word pairs. *Psychology: Journal of the Higher School of Economics*, 15(4), 747–757. <u>https://doi.org/10.17323/1813-8918-2018-4-747-757</u> (in Russ.)
- Levy, B. A., & Kirsner, K. (1989). Reprocessing text: Indirect measures of word and message level processes. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 15(3), 407–417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.15.3.407</u>
- Maciejewski, G., & Klepousniotou, E. (2020). Disambiguating the ambiguity disadvantage effect: Behavioral and electrophysiological evidence for semantic competition. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 46(9), 1682–1700. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/xlm0000842</u>
- MacLeod, C. M. (1989). Word context during initial exposure influences degree of priming in word fragment completion. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 15(3), 398–406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.15.3.398</u>
- Mamina, T. M. (2013). The influence of non-actualized meanings of the homonym word on the effectiveness of anagram solving. *Vestnik of Saint Petersburg University. Sociology*, (1), 29–34. (in Russ.).
- Mamina, T. M., & Dedova, E. A. (2013). Features of perception and recognition of polysemy and homonymy. *Vestnik of Saint Petersburg University. Sociology*, (4), 3–9. (in Russ.).
- Massol, S., Molinaro, N., & Carreiras, M. (2015). Lexical inhibition of neighbors during visual word recognition: an unmasked priming investigation. *Brain research*, 1604, 35–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2015.01.051</u>

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

- McClelland, J. L., & Rumelhart, D. E. (1981). An interactive activation model of context effects in letter perception: I. An account of basic findings. *Psychological review*, *88*(5), 375–407. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.88.5.375
- Peirce, J., Gray, J. R., Simpson, S., MacAskill, M., Höchenberger, R., Sogo, H., Kastman E., & Lindeløv, J. K. (2019). PsychoPy2: Experiments in behavior made easy. *Behavior research methods*, 51, 195–203. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-018-01193-y</u>
- Piercey, C. & Joordens, S. (2000). Turning an advantage into a disadvantage: Ambiguity effects in lexical decision versus reading tasks. *Memory & Cognition*, 28(4), 657–666. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03201255</u>
- Perea, M., & Rosa, E. (2000). Repetition and form priming interact with neighborhood density at a brief stimulus onset asynchrony. *Psychonomic bulletin & review*, 7(4), 668–677. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03213005</u>
- Pollatsek, A., Perea, M., & Binder, K. S. (1999). The effects of "neighborhood size" in reading and lexical decision. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 25(4), 1142.
- Raaijmakers, J. G., & Jakab, E. (2013). Rethinking inhibition theory: On the problematic status of the inhibition theory for forgetting. *Journal of memory and language*, *68*(2), 98–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2012.10.002
- Rodd, J., Gaskell, G., & Marslen-Wilson, W. (2002). Making sense of semantic ambiguity: Semantic competition in lexical access. *Journal of memory and language, 46*(2), 245–266. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmla.2001.2810
- Roediger, H. L., & Blaxton, T. A. (1987). Effects of varying modality, surface features, and retention interval on priming in word-fragment completion. *Memory & cognition*, 15(5), 379–388. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03197728</u>
- Roediger, H. L., Weldon, M. S., Stadler, M. L., & Riegler, G. L. (1992). Direct comparison of two implicit memory tests: word fragment and word stem completion. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 18(6), 1251–1269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.18.6.1251</u>
- Rupprecht, J., & Bäuml, K. H. T. (2016). Retrieval-induced forgetting in item recognition: Retrieval specificity revisited. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 86, 97–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2015.09.003</u>
- Savchuk, S. O., Arkhangelsky, T. A., Bonch-Osmolovskaya, A. A., Donina, O. V., Kuznetsova Yu. N., Lyashevskaya, O. N., Orekhov B. V., & Podryadchikova, M. V. (2024). Russian National Corpus 2.0: New opportunities and development prospects. *Voprosy Jazykoznanija*, 2, 7–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.31857/0373-658X.2024.2.7-34</u> (in Russ.)
- Schacter, D. L. (1987). Implicit memory: History and current status. *Journal of experimental psychology: learning, memory, and cognition*, 13(3), 501. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.13.3.501</u>
- Shivde, G., & Anderson, M. C. (2001). The role of inhibition in meaning selection: Insights from retrieval-induced forgetting. In D. S. Gorfein (Ed.), On the consequences of meaning selection: Perspectives on resolving lexical ambiguity (pp. 175–190). American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/10459-010</u>
- Simpson, G. B., & Burgess, C. (1985). Activation and selection processes in the recognition of ambiguous words. *Journal of experimental psychology: Human perception and performance*, *11*(1), 28–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-1523.11.1.28</u>

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

- Simpson, G. B., & Krueger, M. A. (1991). Selective access of homograph meanings in sentence context. *Journal of Memory and Language*, *30*(6), 627–643. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-596X(91)90029-J</u>
- Slyusar, N. A., & Alekseeva, S. V. (2017). Substitution neighbors in the study of lexical access. *Computational Linguistics and Intellectual Technologies*, 16(23). (in Russ.).
- Smith, M. C. (1991). On the recruitment of semantic information for word fragment completion: Evidence from bilingual priming. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory,* and Cognition, 17(2), 234–244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.17.2.234</u>
- Snodgrass, J. G., & Mintzer, M. (1993). Neighborhood effects in visual word recognition: Facilitatory or inhibitory? *Memory & Cognition*, *21*(2), 247–266. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/</u> <u>bf03202737</u>
- Tulving, E., Schacter, D. L., & Stark, H. A. (1982). Priming effects in word-fragment completion are independent of recognition memory. *Journal of experimental psychology: learning, memory, and cognition*, 8(4), 336–342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.8.4.336</u>

Received: July 29, 2024 Revised: August 15, 2024 Accepted: September 14, 2024

Author Contribution

Valeria Aleksandrovna Gershkovich supervised the study, contributed to the research concept and methodology, wrote the text of the manuscript.

Mariia Elena Zamkovaia developed the research methodology, developed the experiment program, collected the data, performed statistical processing of the results, wrote the text of the manuscript.

Nadezhda Vladimirovna Moroshkina contributed to the research concept and methodology, wrote the text of the manuscript.

Aleksandr Vadimovich Gulkin developed the research methodology, collected the data, performed statistical processing of the results, created graphic illustrations, wrote the text of the manuscript.

Viktor Mikhailovich Allakhverdov contributed to the research concept and edited the text of the manuscript.

Alexander Dmitrievich Korotkov contributed to the research concept and edited the text of the manuscript.

Maxim Vladimirovich Kireev contributed to the research concept and edited the text of the manuscript.

Tatiana Vladimirovna Chernigovskaya contributed to the research concept and edited the text of the manuscript.

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

Author Details

Valeria Aleksandrovna Gershkovich – Cand. Sci. (Psychology), Senior Researcher, N.P. Bechtereva Institute of the Human Brain, Russian Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; WoS Researcher ID: N-1258-2013, Scopus Author ID: 36097387700; RSCI Author ID: 166919; RSCI SPIN code: 1719-7090, ORCID ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9540-4654; e-mail: valeria.gershkovich@gmail.com

Mariia Elena Zamkovaia – Junior Researcher, N.P. Bechtereva Institute of the Human Brain, Russian Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0009-0006-9846-199X</u>; e-mail: <u>mariaelenazamkovaya@gmail.com</u>

Nadezhda Vladimirovna Moroshkina – Cand. Sci. (Psychology), Senior Researcher, N.P. Bechtereva Institute of the Human Brain, Russian Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; WoS ResearcherID: H-3841-2015; Scopus Author ID: 57128586400; RSCI Author ID: 157210; RSCI SPIN code: 6358-1379; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4778-379X</u>; e-mail: <u>moroshkina.n@gmail.com</u>

Aleksandr Vadimovich Gulkin – student, St. Petersburg State University, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0009-0006-5064-3268</u>; e-mail: agulkin2001@mail.ru

Viktor Mikhailovich Allakhverdov – Dr. Sci. (Psychology), Professor, Chief Researcher, N.P. Bechtereva Institute of the Human Brain, Russian Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; WoS ResearcherID: N-3175-2013; Scopus Author ID: 23487699200; RSCI Author ID: 130568; RSCI SPIN code: 3831-2224; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6753-0300</u>; e-mail: <u>vimiall@gmail.com</u>

Alexander Dmitrievich Korotkov – Cand. Sci. (Medicine), Leading Researcher, N.P. Bechtereva Institute of the Human Brain, Russian Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; WoS ResearcherID: K-3652-2018; Scopus Author ID: 7103063229; RSCI Author ID: 83115; RSCI SPIN code: 6515-2014; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3527-7205</u>; e-mail: <u>korotkov@ihb.spb.ru</u>

Maxim Vladimirovich Kireev – Dr. Sci. (Biology), Leading Researcher, N.P. Bechtereva Institute of the Human Brain, Russian Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; WoS ResearcherID: I-2319-2014; Scopus Author ID: 23091140300; RSCI Author ID: 117852; RSCI SPIN code: 4699-8496; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3409-6293</u>; e-mail: <u>kireev@ihb.spb.ru</u>

Tatiana Vladimirovna Chernigovskaya – Dr. Sci. (Biology), Dr. Sci. (Philology), Professor, Academician of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Head of the Institute for Cognitive Studies; St. Petersburg State University, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; Chief Researcher; N.P. Bechtereva Institute of the Human Brain, Russian Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg, Russian Federation; WoS ResearcherID: M-5092-2013; Scopus Author ID: 6603435351; RSCI Author ID: 2463; RSCI SPIN code: 3464-8285; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6690-2627;</u> e-mail: <u>tatiana.chernigovskaya@gmail.com</u>

INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES

Conflict of Interest Information

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Svetlana S. Kuzenko, Anastasia S. Bordonosenko Overcoming Difficult Life Situations in Alcohol-Dependent Men and Women: The Potential of Psychocorrectional Group Sessions Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

MEDICAL PSYCHOLOGY

Scientific article UDC 159.99 https://doi.org/10.21702/sb8jme66

Overcoming Difficult Life Situations in Alcohol-Dependent Men and Women: The Potential of Psychocorrectional Group Sessions

Svetlana S. Kuzenko^{*©}, Anastasia S. Bordonosenko[©]

Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation

*Corresponding author: <u>kuzenko@sfedu.ru</u>

Abstract

Introduction. The article is devoted to the analysis of strategies for overcoming difficult life situations of men and women with alcohol addiction. Due to the current need to revise the concepts of rehabilitation measures and psychological impact on persons belonging to the addictive category of the population, we have developed and implemented a program of group sessions with patients and evaluated its effectiveness. Methods. The study was conducted among 120 respondents in the Lugansk Republican Narcological Dispensary: 60 patients with I-II stages of chronic alcohol addiction (30 men and 30 women), as well as 60 employees of the medical institution without alcoholism in the anamnesis (30 men and 30 women). The method of psychological testing and psychodiagnostic tools were used: Test "Overcoming Difficult Life Situations"; "Coping Behavior Questionnaire"; "Stress Susceptibility Questionnaire"; "Level of Subjective Control Questionnaire"; Michigan Alcohol Screening Test. The group psychocorrectional sessions were aimed at increasing the level of expression of adaptive strategies for overcoming difficult life situations in men and women with alcohol addiction, along with the reduction of dysfunctional and maladaptive behavioral strategies; increasing the level of internality of the locus of personality control, as well as reducing the severity of stress and actualization of resources for its overcoming. Results. Addictive men prefer to engage in confrontation with others with a clear sense of self-pity. Women are oriented towards obtaining effective and emotional support and delegating personal responsibility. Psychocorrectional group sessions contribute to the manifestation of active and goaloriented strategies of effective resolution of difficulties. The increase of self-control,

acceptance of responsibility, as well as the decrease in susceptibility to stress with the increase in internality of the personality are resources for the formation of constructive behavior of alcohol-addicted patients. **Discussion.** The externality of the addicts control locus and low stress resistance indicate a variant of the destructive manifestation of personal resources. The formation of a cognitive and practical basis for functional strategies is possible through a comprehensive rehabilitation process.

Keywords

difficult life situation, alcohol addiction, strategies for overcoming difficult life situations, coping, dysfunctional behavior, psychocorrection, training impact.

For citation

Kuzenko, S.S., Bordonosenko, A.S. (2024). Overcoming difficult life situations in alcoholdependent men and women: the possibilities of psychocorrection group classes. *Russian Psychological Journal*, *21*(4), 233–247. https://doi.org/10.21702/sb8jme66

Introduction

The realities of modern society expose people to the need to overcome difficult life situations, without losing their own effectiveness. The success of the interaction of the individual with the surrounding world lies in the assessment and relief of stress, its timely reduction. In this regard, the predominance of constructive and functional strategies in the behavioral repertoire of the individual has special significance for their personality, which is also one of the factors of integrity, stability and adaptability of the personality (Abdurakhmanov, 2019). The integral indicator of a difficult life situation is a disruption of the adaptation mechanism, an increase in the intensity of psychological stress (Evtushenko, Karnaukhov, 2018).

The impact of a difficult life situation on an individual manifests itself in obstacles to its full functioning. Under conditions of a difficult life situation, a person needs changes and restructuring (Nartova-Bochaver, 1997). Restructuring requires an increase in social activity when choosing resources and strategies to overcome a difficult life situation (Parfenova, 2009).

The focus of attention of researchers in the field of psychology of coping behavior has for the most part been concentrated on the study of general and age-related features of the behavior repertoire of an individual without pronounced pathologies and deviations(Heim, 1988; Lazarus, 1998; Nartova-Bochaver, 1997; Kryukova, 2007; Kossova, 2005; Covered, 2006). Separately, the behavior and cognitive assessment of patients with chronic alcoholism in the context of encountering with difficulties was studied (Biggs, Brough & Drummond, 2019; Kelly, Humphreys & Ferri, 2020; Spivakovskaya, Lutsenko, 2021; Tsapenko, 2021).

Constructive behavior and the acquisition of knowledge, skills, and skills for coping with difficulties not only serves as a factor of personality protection from destructive phenomena, but also as a factor that contributes to the recovery, actualization of the adaptive potential, the formation of life experience without addiction and the development of the ability to resist the influence of the external environment for persons exposed to narcological diseases (Fadeeva, Lanovaya, 2024).

The realities are characterized by a greater normalization of the lifestyle, including latent or irregular drinking regardless of gender. There is a unification of condemnation of female alcoholism in society, which leads to its universality as a disease (Mandel, 2018; Stepanova, Salimova, 2020; Shaidukova, 2005).

In addition, the data on the need to revise the concept of treatment and rehabilitation of addictive patients are mainly due to the low rehabilitation potential of patients, the severity of anosognosia (Yalton, 2017), along with the lack of stability of external and internal motivation, the weakness of the "I-concept" and the lack of environmental and internal resources to cope with difficulties (Shaidukova, 2005). The task arises of forming and subsequent implementation of a group training impact program that contributes to the corrective and auxiliary effect in terms of constructive and socially acceptable behavior in the addictive category of the population (Bordonosenko, 2023a).

Thus, the goal of the study is to research the strategies for overcoming difficult life situations among men and women with alcohol addiction, to develop a training program for accompanying addicts and to evaluate its effectiveness.

The main goals of the developed correctional measures can be highlighted as follows: formation of cognitive and practical foundations of skills for the use of effective and problem-oriented strategies in men and women with alcohol dependence, as well as reduction of dysfunctional and maladaptive behavior; increasing the level of internality of the personality control locus as well as reducing the degree of stress and actualization of resources for its overcoming (Bordonosenko, 2023b).

Methods

Sample

An experimental study of 120 respondents (resp.) was conducted on the basis of the Lugansk Republican Narcological Dispensary, where some author's studies were previously conducted (Bordonosenko, 2023a). A group of alcohol-dependent respondents (group 1) with stage I-II disease (60 reps.) was formed, of which 30 men (average age 44.6 years) and 30 women (average age 45.1 years).

After the initial presentation of psychological tests (Overcoming Difficult Life Situations (ODLS) test; questionnaire "Methods of controlling behavior" Lazarus R., Folkman S. (Kryukova, Kuftyak, 2007); questionnaire determining the tendency to develop stress

(according to T. Nemchin and S. Taylor); questionnaire "Level of subjective control" (LSC) Bazhin EF, Golynkina EA, Etkind LM; Michigan alcohol screening test), an experimental group was formed for further participation in the cycle of sessions developed within the framework of this study. The experimental group included 10 men (average age 46.2 years) and 10 women (average age 47.4 years) with I and II stages of chronic alcohol addiction. A control group was also formed to search for indicators of program effectiveness: 10 men (average age 45.9 years) and 10 women (average age 46.2 years) with stage I and II disease.

In addition, respondents without a history of alcohol dependence (Group 2) were studied, consisting of 30 men (average age 43.3 years) and 30 women (average age 38.3 years). Respondents in Group 2 are medical staff of the Lugansk Republican Clinical Psychoneurological Hospital.

Techniques

The psychodiagnostic toolkit includes:

1. Test "Overcoming Difficult Life Situations" in the adaptation of Vodopyanova N. E. (Vodopyanova, 2009);

2. Questionnaire "Methods of coping behavior" Lazarus R., Folkman S. (Krukova, Kufiak, 2007);

3. Questionnaire determining the tendency to develop stress (by Nemchin T. A. and Taylor S.) (Raigorodsky, 2001);

- 4. Questionnaire "Level of Subjective Control";
- 5. Michigan Alcoholism Screening Test (MAST).

Data processing

Statistical data processing was carried out using the Statistica program 13.3. The nonparametric U-criterion of Mann-Whitney was used to identify differences in the results of non-addicted and addicted respondents, as well as differences due to gender, differences between the control and experimental groups. The Spearman rank correlation method was used to identify features of choosing strategies to overcome difficult life situations in men and women with alcohol addiction. The Wilcoxon T-criterion was used to evaluate the effectiveness of the developed training program in the experimental group.

Results

Description of training impact

The training impact involved 8 group meetings in a mixed composition. The selection of participants in the group was carried out in compliance with the ethical regulations and voluntary consent of patients, as well as taking into account the severity of the level of their maladaptive behavior strategies in combination with stress exhaustion and predominant externality of personality.

The program was developed based on the elements of cognitive-behavioral therapy aimed at creating a cognitive and practical basis for functional skills and working with beliefs (Beerse, Van Lith, & Stanwood, 2020); gestalt approach was integrated into the therapy to build the foundaitions for recognizing, monitoring and verbalizing one's own state; elements of an existential approach were integrated to confront the boundaries of the self and explore the images of the self-concept; body-oriented therapy techniques combined with art techniques were integrated to ensure the relaxation component of the sessions (Kelly, Humphreys & Ferri, 2020).

The program of psychocorrectional sessions is presented in Appendix.

Screening test for alcoholism

According to the Michigan Alcoholism Screening Test, no alcohol dependence was detected among respondents in Group 2. The suspicion of the syndrome of heavy alcohol use in this group for 10% of men (3 respondents) and 3.3% of women (1 respondent) is an intermediate stage of abusive drinking behavior and cannot be correlated with the established diagnosis. The subjects in Group 2 do not have a history of diagnosed alcohol dependence. In Group 1, alcohol addiction was found in 100% of the subjects (60 respondents), during the period of diagnostics, the respondents were patients of narcological departments.

Overcoming difficult life situations

The application of the test "Overcoming Difficult Life Situations" in the adaptation of N.E. Vodopyanova reflects the tendency towards increased irritability, conflict behavior, and aggressive tendencies in men with chronic alcoholism (SD = 14.2). At the same time, the behavioral repertoire is characterized by a tendency towards frequent unjustified and exaggerated self-pity (SD = 10.3). The tendency to delegate responsibility to the reference group is observed in women with addiction when coping with difficulties, along with

the expectation of emotional support and interest in improving their well-being (SD = 23.4). However, negative experiences do not find their constructive resolution and lead to valuing alcohol as a means to cope with stress (SD = 24). The respondents with addiction tend to have a similar cognitive appraisal of difficulties, forming distinct negative images of possible consequences, along with a decrease in goal-oriented and problem-oriented behavior.

Training sessions can reduce maladaptive manifestations of self-pity (Temp. = 0 in men and Temp. = 5 in women). The activity-oriented component of overcoming difficulties, control over the situation becomes more pronounced in men (Temp. = 3) and women (Temp. = 10) with alcohol addiction after attending training sessions (Uemp = 98), which may indicate an increase in the ability to analyze the situation, plan and execute the necessary actions to resolve the problem.

Coping strategies

In the experimental group, the questionnaire "Ways of Adaptive Behavior" by Lazarus R. and Folkman S. indicates a marked predominance of confrontation combined with avoidance of difficulties among men (70% of respondents) with low self-control (90% of respondents), indicating impulsiveness and loss of purposefulness of behavior. Attending the training sessions reduces excessive tension of maladaptive coping strategies. Before attending the training, women had a pronounced need for social support (80% of respondents), low levels of responsibility (90% of respondents) and problem-solving planning (100% of respondents).

The impact of training sessions increases the tendency to choose constructive behavior strategies. It can be concluded that the training impact contributes to a positive dynamics and change in behavior towards greater adaptability. Moderate use of confrontation in difficult life situations indicates the formation of skills of constructive defense of one's own position, which is confirmed statistically: Temp.= 9 in men and Temp.= 3 in women. The results indicate a change in favor of a more independent and active resolution of difficulties (Temp.= 1 in men and Temp.= 0 in women).

The given sessions increase acceptance of responsibility, establish a causal link between personal contribution to the resolution of a situation, as well as the consequences of such intervention (Temp.= 0 in men and Temp.= 6 in women) and reduce the likelihood of accumulation of unresolved situations (Temp.= 3,5 in men and Temp.= 6 in women). Maladaptive manifestations are preserved in patients not involved in psychocorrection.

Tendency to develop stress

Indicators according to the scales of the questionnaire determining the tendency to develop stress (according to T. A. Nemchin and S. Taylor) in men and women with alcohol dependence before and after the training are presented in Figure 1.

Before attending the group sessions, the pronounced stress state and low stress resistance indicate insufficient stability of the alcohol-addict respondents and the development of negative consequences in the absence of appropriate measures (see Figure 1). The intensity of stress in addicted men and women may be intensified through ineffective responses to difficult life situations, thereby encouraging them to repeat alcohol consumption. Training sessions contribute to increasing patients' stress resilience. Training impact acts as a measure that prevents the development of a stressful state, and also promotes the mastery of skills of self-regulation of behavior, relaxation techniques, and reassessment of the situation (Temp.= 6.5 in men and Temp. = 0 in women). A high tendency to develop stress is characteristic of the respondents of the control group, who did not attend the sessions (Uemp = 125.5).

Figure 1

Correlation of stress resistance levels of men and women in the experimental group before and after training impact according to the questionnaire determining the tendency to develop stress (according to T.A. Nemchin and S. Taylor)



Level of subjective control

Let us consider at the results obtained by the LSC questionnaire (Bazhin E.F., Golinkina E.A., Etkind L.M.). In the absence of appropriate corrective measures, the personality of alcohol-addict men and women is characterized by a clear predominance of externality in all the studied spheres. Significant events, regardless of their scale and emotional charge, are perceived as the result of the influence of uncontrollable circumstances from the outside (100% of respondents). Building the foundation for the manifestation of internality of the personality of alcohol-addicted people will contribute to the increase in self-efficacy and the sense of control over situations, the ability to take actions to transform them. Despite the previously identified importance of receiving social support, women with alcohol addiction are not inclined to show initiative and responsibility both in the family (70% of respondents) and in interpersonal communication (100% respondents), expecting active actions from their environment. Passive position and delegation of responsibility on others is also noted in addicts, regardless of gender, in relation to health, revealing passive position in treatment and manifestations of alcoholic anosognosia (100% of men and 100% of women).

Group sessions promote responsibility in the area of emotionally positive events in 50% of men (5 respondents) and 30% of women (3 respondents), which is confirmed statistically: Temp. = 6 for men and Temp. = 5.5 for women. Respondents who attended the training sessions show a greater degree of general subjective control (Uemp = 90) and internality in the area of achievements rather than those in the control group (Uemp = 101). The training effect contributes to an increase in responsibility in situations related to family interaction in 40% of men (4 respondents) and 50% of women (5 respondents), but significant indicators were identified only in women (Temp. = 2), which is likely to be due to their greater orientation to interaction with other people, getting attention and empathy. However, externality in the area of health at this stage is not subject to correction, which is presumably due to the chronic course of addiction and the progression of the disease, along with manifestations of anosognosia and unstable internal motivation for sobriety.

Discussion

The study allows us to conclude about the distinct manifestation of maladaptive and non-constructive strategies among men and women with alcohol addiction. For patients with this narcological disease, the phenomenon of alcohol degradation is characteristic, which, most likely, has an effect on the absence of intersexual differences in preferred strategies for coping with difficult life situations (Bratus', 1988). For respondents with

Svetlana S. Kuzenko, Anastasia S. Bordonosenko Overcoming Difficult Life Situations in Alcohol-Dependent Men and Women: The Potential of Psychocorrectional Group Sessions Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

MEDICAL PSYCHOLOGY

alcohol addiction, it is characteristic to manifest hostility in combination with high levels of aggression and confrontation with reduced self-control, as well as avoiding responsibility and the need for effective resolution of the situation (Folomkin, Veprencova, 2021). Psychoactive drugs act as a leading component in coping with difficult life situations (Beerse, Van Lith & Stanwood, 2020). The social support process also has a pseudo-adaptive character: when the basic strategy of "search for social support" develops, the patient is oriented towards the local alcoholic environment, and not towards the prosocial supportive behavior (Belokolodov, Malkova, 2016).

Given that alcohol consumption has a destructive effect on the nervous system and higher nervous activity, the uncoped psychoemotional stress in maladaptive behavior also reduces the resistance to the influence of stress situations (Saunders, Degenhardt, Reed & Poznyak, 2019). Alcohol addicts, are more characterised by a high propensity to develop stress, a general depletion of internal personality resources (Castillo-Carniglia, Keyes, Hasin & Cerdá, 2019). Taking into account the data on the pathogenesis of alcohol dependence, it is noted that in addictive women this maladaptive mechanism proceeds rapidly and intensively, which is due to the high progression of the disease and more severe clinical manifestations in general (Bohan, Ankudinova, Mandel, 2013).

It is important to note the pronounced lack of resources for coping with difficulties that connect the personal characteristics of the addict and the social situation: deformed and negative "self-concept" in combination with a lack of manifestations of empathy and affiliation, externality of the locus of control, predominantly in all areas of social relations (Milayeva, 2023; Stepanova, Salimova, 2020). The mentioned characteristics are evaluated as destructive psychological factors that enhance the individual needs of addicts for alcoholic beverages (Goncharova, 2022). A distinctive feature of this model is the absence of factors that ensure the preservation and stability of the psychological well-being of patients, which can additionally enhance maladaptation (Yaltonsky, 2017). In the context of the model presented above, addiction acts as a maladaptive, stress-coping behavior. The studies of Castillo-Carniglia et al. (2019) also indicate a direct connection between the effectiveness of overcoming difficulties and a decrease in the frequency of relapses.

The addict's behavior largely depends on how the current or potential situation is perceived and assessed, the level of development of basic coping resources is also important: self-confidence, competence, degree of recognition of the presence of addiction, self-control (Barman, 2019; Khantzian, 2021). In the situation of inclusion of alcohol addicts in the process of mastering the cognitive and practical foundations of adaptive strategies, the progressive process of the disease can become controllable and correctable (Belokolodov, Malkova, 2016; Rachok, 2001).

Considering the need to form a stable inner motivation, to overcome the contradictory behavior of patients, as well as to develop adaptive and functional strategies, during the comprehensive rehabilitation process, both individual and mixed group classes can be conducted (Breuninger et al., 2020). Preference is often given to personality-oriented therapy, and the implementation of the sobriety program is also monitored (Kuhlemeier et al., 2021).

Conclusion

According to the obtained results, alcohol addicted men and women are prone to pronounced aggression and confrontation in combination with low self-control and responsibility, along with avoidance of active and proactive problem solving. In addition to these maladaptive manifestations, addicts are characterized by a pronounced orientation towards receiving social support and sympathy from their environment, orientation towards a local alcoholic social environment and evaluation of alcohol as a means of relieving psychological and emotional stress.

The developed training program demonstrates its effectiveness in the aspect of increasing the expression of active and targeted strategies for overcoming, aimed at effective problem solving, both in alcohol addicted men and in women. Increasing tendencies towards self-control, acceptance of responsibility in combination with control over the stressful situation with an increase in the internality of the individual, as well as decreasing tendency to stress development act as important intrapersonal resources, contributing to the formation of constructive behavior of alcohol-dependent patients.

The data of the conducted research may be useful not only in the situation of narcological treatment against the background of a given diagnosis, but also act as a basis for the preparation of psychoprophylactic programmes and educational events among the adolescence and youth.

References

- Abdurakhmanov, R. A. (2019). Psychological features of coping behavior of a person in a difficult life situation. *Human Capital*, (6), 333–342. (in Russ.).
- Barman, H. (2019). Coping strategies used by wives of patients with alcohol related disorders. *International Journal of Nursing Education and Research*, 7(2), 237–241.
- Beerse, M. E., Van Lith, T. & Stanwood, G. (2020). Therapeutic psychological and biological responses to mindfulness based art therapy. *Stress and Health*, (36), 419–432.

Belokolodov, V.V., & Malkova, E.E. (2016). *Psychological technologies for the formation of adherence to treatment and rehabilitation of drug addicts.* Yurayt. (in Russ.).

- Biggs, A., Brough, P., & Drummond, S. (2019). Lazarus and Folkman's psychological stress and coping theory. *The handbook of stress and health: A guide to research and practice*, 349–364.
- Bohan, N. A., Ankudinova, I. E. & Mandel, A. I. (2013). *Comorbid forms of alcoholism in women*. Science. (in Russ.).
- Bordonosenko, A.S. (2023a, April). Interdisciplinarity in modern medical knowledge: a collection of selected articles of the International Scientific and Theoretical Conference. Rostov-on-Don: Rostov State Medical University. (in Russ.).
- Bordonosenko, A.S. (2023b). Coping strategies for difficult life situations in men and women with alcohol dependence. *North Caucasian Psychological Bulletin, 21*(1), 49–57. (in Russ.).
- Breuninger, M. M., Grosso, J. A., Hunter, W., & Dolan, S. L. (2020). Treatment of alcohol use disorder: Integration of Alcoholics Anonymous and cognitive behavioral therapy. *Training* and Education in Professional Psychology, 14(1), 19.
- Brother, B. S. (1988). Personality anomalies. Thought. (in Russ.).
- Castillo-Carniglia, A., Keyes, K. M., Hasin, D. S., & Cerdá, M. (2019). Psychiatric comorbidities in alcohol use disorder. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 6(12), 1068–1080.
- Dmitriev M.G., Belov V.G., & Parfenov Yu.A. (2010). *Psychological and pedagogical diagnosis of delinquent behavior in difficult adolescents*. Pony. (in Russ.).
- Fadeeva, E.V., & Lanovaya, A.M. (2024). Study of the motivational sphere of personality and psychoemotional features in patients with narcological disorders at various stages of the treatment and rehabilitation process. *Psychology and Law, 14*(2), 199–218. (in Russ.).
- Folomkin, I. M., & Veprentsova, S. Yu. (2021). Peculiarities of copying strategies and mechanisms of psychological protection in persons with alcohol dependence. *Bulletin of the Peoples' Friendship University of Russia. Series: Psychology and Pedagogy, 4*(5), 91–102. (in Russ.).
- Goncharova, M.V. (2022). Correction of the codependent state of women with husbands with alcohol dependence. *21st century science: questions, hypotheses, answers, 2*(42), 20–30. (in Russ.).
- Heim, E. (1988). Koping and adaptavited gibtes geeignetes oder ungeeignetes koping. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 1, 8–15.
- Kelly, J. F., Humphreys, K. & Ferri, M. (2020). Alcoholics Anonymous and other 12 step programs for alcohol use disorder. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, (3), 185–196.
- Khantzian, E. J. (2021). Psychodynamic psychotherapy for the treatment of substance use disorders. *Addiction treatment: International perspectives*, (32), 383–389.
- Kryukova, T. L. & Kuftyak, E. V. (2007). Coping questionnaire (WCQ adaptation). *Journal of Practical Psychologist*, (3), 93–112. (in Russ.).
- Kuhlemeier, A., Desai, Y., Tonigan, A., Witkiewitz, K. & Jaki, T. (2021). Applying methods for personalized medicine to the treatment of alcohol use disorder. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *89*(4), 288.
- Lazarus, R. S. (1998). The stress and coping paradigm. *Fifty years of the research and theory of R.S. Lazarus: An analysis of historical and perennial Issues*, 182–220.

- Mandel, A.I. (2018). Family psychotherapy of co-dependent relatives of patients with alcoholism, taking into account the data of family genetic analysis and individual psychological diagnostics: results and evaluation of effectiveness. *Siberian Bulletin of Psychiatry and Narcology*, (98), 81–88. (in Russ.).
- Milaeva, T. V. (2023). Features of self-conception and copying behavior in people with alcohol dependence. *Society and Security Insights, 6*(1), 107–124. (in Russ.).
- Nartova-Bochaver, S.K. (1997). "Coping behavior" in personality psychology. *Psychological Journal*, (5), 20–30. (in Russ.).
- Parfenova, N. B. (2009). On approaches to the classification and diagnosis of life situations. *Bulletin of Pskov State University*, (9), 109–117. (in Russ.).
- Rachok, V.V. (2020). Coping behavior in persons with alcohol dependence: clinical case. *Youth Science and Modernity*, (13), 263–265. (in Russ.).
- Raigorodsky, D. Ya. (Ed.). (2001). *Practical psychodiagnostics. Techniques and tests*. Publishing House "Bahra-m." (in Russ.).
- Saunders, J. B., Degenhardt, L., Reed, G. M., & Poznyak, V. (2019). Alcohol use disorders in ICD-11: Past, present, and future. *Alcoholism: Clinical and experimental research*, *43*(8), 1617–1631.
- Shaidukova, L.K. (2005). The phenomenon of stigmatization in drug treatment practice. *Kazan Medical Journal*, (1), 55–58. (in Russ.).
- Spivakovskaya, A.S., Lutsenko, A.M. (2021). Resource Factors Allowing People with Alcoholaddicted Parents to Overcome Their Negative Emotions: A Latent Variable Model and Content Analysis. *Psychology in Russia: State of the Art, 14*(2), 25-41. <u>https://doi.org/10.11621/pir.2021.0203</u>
- Stepanova, N.V., & Salimova, E.A. (2020). Value-semantic content of personality and coping behavior in patients with alcoholism. *International Research Journal*, *97*(7–2), 105–109. (in Russ.).
- Tsapenko, A.V. (2021). Hidden attractions of women with alcohol addiction. *Innovative science:* psychology, pedagogy, defectology, 4(6), 64-75. <u>https://doi.org/10.23947/2658-7165-2021-4-6-64-75</u>
- Yalton, V. M. (2017). A theoretical model of motivation to treat substance dependence. *Addiction issues*, (6), 60–69. (in Russ.).
- Yevtushenko, E. A., & Karnaukhov, V. A. (2018, May). Psychology and pedagogy of the XXI century: theory, practice and prospects: materials of the V International Scientific and Practical Conference "Specifics of the protective and controlling behavior of the individual and its relationship with the psychological health of a person." Cheboksary: Interactive plus. (in Russ.).

Appendix

Group Session Program for Men and Women with alcohol addiction

Goal. To increase the level of expression of adaptive coping strategies in difficult life situations in men and women with alcohol addiction, along with a reduction in dysfunctional and maladaptive behavioral strategies; to increase the level of internality of the locus of control of the personality, as well as to reduce the severity of stress and actualisation of resources to overcome it.

Objectives: to provide general psychological education to men and women with alcohol addiction attending training sessions; to teach the skills of recognizing, monitoring, and verbalizing their own emotional state and identifying the causes of its occurrence; teach adaptive behavior skills; teach skills for dealing with aggressive behavior, expressed in confrontation and anger; develop the ability of self-regulation and strengthen the ability to differentiate personal experiences; teach skills of taking responsibility and reducing the expression of the avoidance strategy; activate positive personal resources and increase internality as a personality characteristic; investigate and integrate the "Self-concept" images of the group members, increase their level of reflection and build internal psychological supports, positive personal resources for overcoming difficult life situations; form the cognitive basis of confident behavior, open expression of feelings; form the cognitive basis of understanding psychological barriers in interpersonal communication and practical work on forming, consolidating the skills of their overcoming; consolidate skills of open expression of both positive and negative feelings of the participants of the training based on the actualization of their personal experience; activate positive intra-individual resources of the training participants, self-reflection and positive reassessment of the main aspects of the personality.

Group inclusion criteria: Alcohol-addicted men and women who show a high level of expression of maladaptive coping strategies in difficult life situations: aggression, confrontation, avoidance, seeking social support and psychoactive drugs (alcohol), along with low stress resistance and a predominance of externality of the locus of control.

Form of conducting sessions: group work of a mixed group (10 men with alcohol addiction and 10 women with alcohol addiction).

Methods and techniques used: cognitive behavioral therapy: formation of the cognitive basis of functional skills using thematic information blocks; methods of existential therapy: Methods of clarification and elaboration, methods of "life path (continuum)," methods of confrontation with existential boundaries "I" (collisions with boundaries of proximity),

methods of deepening freedom of choice and responsibility: awareness of maladaptive defenses and methods of evading responsibility, motivation letter to the future; elements of body-oriented therapy; gestalt approach in therapy: techniques "Here and Now," "Building Living Chains," "Integrating Awareness," "I Like It/I Don't Like It"; art-therapeutic techniques: Metaphorical self-portrait, "Map of my soul».

Total work time, frequency of meetings: 8 psychocorrectional meetings, 3 times a week. **Duration of the correctional session**: 8 sessions of 90 minutes each.

Expected result: Reduction of the severity of maladaptive strategies for overcoming difficult life situations, as well as an increase in indicators related to functional and adaptive behavior: acceptance of responsibility, planning for solving the problem, positive reassessment of the situation.

Received: July 07, 2024 Revised: August 12, 2024 Accepted: August 12, 2024

Author Contributions

Svetlana S. Kuzenko – formulation of the research concept, development of the research methodology; preparation of a plan and scientific editing of the text of the article; preparation of appendices of the article and description of the program of psychocorrection group classes; translation and preparation of the article in English.

Anastasia S. Bordonosenko – review of studies on the article problem, statistical processing of empirical data in the Statistica 13.3 program, interpretation of study results, formulation of conclusions, development and approbation of the group training session program, formation of methodological recommendations.

Author Details

Svetlana S. Kuzenko – Cand.Sci. (Psychology), Associate Professor, Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; Scopus ID: 57224214368; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8539-0770</u>; e-mail: <u>kuzenko@sfedu.ru</u>

Svetlana S. Kuzenko, Anastasia S. Bordonosenko Overcoming Difficult Life Situations in Alcohol-Dependent Men and Women: The Potential of Psychocorrectional Group Sessions Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

MEDICAL PSYCHOLOGY

Anastasia S. Bordonosenko – Assistant, Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0009-0005-0643-6344</u>; e-mail: <u>bordonosenko@sfedu.ru</u>

Conflict of Interest Information

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

LABOR PSYCHOLOGY

Scientific article UDC 159.9.072.43 https://doi.org/10.21702/kspyan14

Cyber Socialization Engagement and Psychological Well-Being of University Students

Igor V. Gaidamashko¹⁰, Sergey L. Lenkov²⁰, Nadezhda E. Rubtsova^{3*0}

¹Sochi State University, Sochi, Russian Federation

² Russian Academy of Education, Moscow, Russian Federation

³ Russian New University, Moscow, Russian Federation

*Corresponding author: hope432810@yandex.ru

Abstract

Introduction. The article is devoted to the problem of psychological well-being of university students under the conditions of cyber socialization and digitalization of the educational environment. The cyber socialization engagement was considered an ambivalent phenomenon. Psychological well-being was understood in a broad sense, encompassing indicators of life and study satisfaction, participation in studies, organizational identity with university faculty, and the expression of Dark Tetrad personality traits. The purpose of the study was to determine the impact of the students' cyber socialization engagement on their psychological well-being. Methods. The sample included 315 students from Russian universities. The measures used were "The Cyber Socialization Engagement Questionnaire", "The Organizational and Suborganizational Identity Questionnaire", "The Satisfaction with Life Scale", "The Short Dark Tetrad Scale", and the questionnaires "Utrecht Work Engagement Scale" and "The Brief Index of Affective Job Satisfaction" modified for the students' learning context. Results. Destructive cyber socialization engagement was found to decrease overall satisfaction with life, learning engagement, learning satisfaction, and identification with faculty, and to increase the expression of the Dark Tetrad traits such as psychopathy and sadism. Constructive cyber socialization engagement increases life satisfaction, learning engagement, learning satisfaction, and organizational identity, and decreases the expression of Dark Tetrad traits such as psychopathy and sadism. Discussion. A new and specific ambivalence of the influence of engagement on cyber socialization was revealed: constructive engagement, Igor V. Gaidamashko, Sergey L. Lenkov, Nadezhda E. Rubtsova Cyber Socialization Engagement and Psychological Well-Being of University Students Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

LABOR PSYCHOLOGY

along with an overall positive influence, increases the expression of Machiavellianism, and destructive engagement decreases the expression of narcissism. It is shown for the first time that overall cyber socialization engagement can have a significant ambivalent effect on the psychological well-being of university students. **Conclusion.** The obtained results substantiate the necessity of predicting such influence within the framework of work on ensuring psychological safety of the educational environment, creating conditions for successful personal, social, and professional development of university students in the conditions of intensive digitalization of education.

Keywords

Cyber socialization engagement, constructive engagement, destructive engagement, university students, psychological well-being, life satisfaction, learning satisfaction, learning engagement, organizational identity, Dark Tetrad of personality

For citation

Gaidamashko, I. V., Lenkov, S. L., Rubtsova, N. E. (2024). Cyber socialization engagement and psychological well-being of university students. *Russian Psychological Journal, 21*(4), 248–267. https://doi.org/10.21702/kspyan14

Introduction

University students are a part of young people, interesting in many ways. First, they form the dominant part of the future intellectual and spiritual elite of society, which determines the strategic directions and achievements of its subsequent development. Secondly, despite their young age, they are already in a certain sense an established, self-actualized part of the youth, who have achieved a high enough social status and therefore deserve a parity dialogue and interaction with representatives of older generations. Third, already at the stage of studying at university, these young people are highly socially active and often demonstrate high achievements in various fields of activity: science, technology, sports, technological among social innovations, and others. In addition, due to their normative inclusion in educational processes and educational space, university students are a fairly accessible category of respondents (compared, for example, with many categories of working professionals) to conduct heterogeneous scientific research. This list can be continued, but the reasons why heterogeneous psychological research carried out on samples of university students is very widely represented, including with regard to heterogeneous aspects of well-being: physical, mental and social health, success of personal and professional development, psychological safety of the individual, identification of risk factors for deviant behavior, etc., become clear from the arguments already given.

LABOR PSYCHOLOGY

We will limit ourselves to the direction of such studies related to psychological well-being, which we will understand in a broad sense, encompassing heterogeneous psychological manifestations of success (normativity, etc.) of mental, personal, and social development. Note that in the literature there is a point of view according to which the concepts of subjective and psychological well-being are distinguished: for example, Anglim et al. (2020) in a meta-analysis discuss in detail the differences between these concepts and provide many examples of studies of subjective and psychological well-being, performed, among others, on samples of university students. From our point of view, subjective well-being is a special case of psychological well-being, and row-by-row opposition violates the existing generic species relations between these concepts.

Thus, we will consider the psychological well-being of university students in a broad sense, including, among other things, indicators of traditionally distinguished subjective well-being (such as subjective life satisfaction). Many other authors use a similar broad understanding (see, e.g., Denisova et al., 2022). At the same time, we specify the subject of the study, considering the modern conditions of education, conditioned by the processes of informatization and associated, on the one hand, with the formation of a digital educational environment, and on the other hand, with a qualitative change in the socialization of younger generations, manifested in the expansion of cyber socialization.

In theoretical and methodological terms, cyber socialization is a construct with the help of which researchers try to explain not so much technical-technological but sociopsychological processes of information society formation. The topic of cyber socialization has become increasingly popular among researchers in recent years, including in relation to university students (Shitova & Maslakov, 2020). At the same time, along with the concept of cyber socialization, many other concepts are used for similar purposes, such as digital socialization (Podbolotova et al., 2021), virtual socialization (O'Connell et al., 2022, p. 159), web-based socialization (Haase et al., 2021), Internet socialization (Honnekeri et al., 2017), computer-mediated socialization (Asghar et al., 2021). Some authors believe that such concepts are semantic equivalents: for example, it is noted that "Internet socialization", "cyber socialization", and "digital socialization" are synonyms (Podbolotova et al., 2021). However, despite their proximity, each of these concepts has its own specificity. In other words, the disadvantage of such equivalents is their excessive specificity. Thus, computer-mediated socialization emphasizes the role of computers, but misses the role of gadgets (e.g., smartphones); virtual socialization rightly captures the virtual nature of such interactions, but misses their inextricable intertwining with the real world (e.g., paying for transportation by credit card, a student gets access to a nonvirtual service); digital socialization ignores the fact that for socialization in cyberspace, the technological nature of information signals (digital or analog) does not really matter; types such as web-based socialization, social media socialization, etc. limit the scope of cyber socialization to specific types of cyber technologies; online socialization ignores the fact that some cyber socialization processes can take place offline, etc. The term "cyber socialization" is devoid of such shortcomings: due to its obvious conventionality

(provided by the semantic prefix «cyber»), it is the most general, covering various aspects of socialization in cyberspace. At the same time, the prefix "cyber" is used in the formation of other concepts that are a wide range of virtually universally recognized, such as cybersecurity, cyberspace, cybertechnology, and others.

Thus, we will consider cyber socialization as the broadest generic concept that includes many more specific manifestations.

With this in mind, we note, first of all, that there are a large number of theoretical works that develop certain aspects of cyber socialization (e.g., Pleshakov, 2023; Soldatova & Voyskunsky, 2021). Taking into account such studies, we will rely on our own concept of cyber socialization, which substantiated the construct of "cyber socialization engagement" that has received operationalization (Lenkov et al., 2019) and empirical validation in a number of previous studies (Lenkov & Rubtsova, 2019, 2022; Rubtsova & Lenkov, 2020).

Similar to the general concept of cyber socialization, cyber socialization engagement also appears in the academic literature under many different names. With this in mind, with respect to empirical studies of cyber socialization engagement, it can be noted that many such works use primary measurement tools with untested psychometric properties such as questionnaires, single questions, etc. Other works that operate with the concept of cyber socialization (or do not operate, but in essence consider this very phenomenon), in their empirical part actually go to individual aspects, private manifestations, local indicators of cyber socialization, such as the time of Internet use, frequency of social network use, purposes and forms of ICT use, etc.

There is also a large number of works whose authors do not claim a global context for the study of cyber socialization of university students but clearly identify a specific facet of it that is under study. Many works focus on students' use of social networks and the impact of such use on academic performance and engagement in learning and related interactions (Ashraf et al., 2021; Gulzar et al., 2021; Masrom et al., 2021; Shi et al., 2020). Some such studies do not look at social networks in general, but at specific varieties of networks or communication technologies (messengers, etc.). For example, Hoi (2021) provides a review of studies on the impact of students' use of Facebook on their academic performance and engagement; Nyembe and Howard (2021) looked at the impact of WhatsApp use on students' academic performance and social interaction; Dzulkarnain et al. (2021) showed that participation in a specific online video project improves learning outcomes and is positively correlated with student engagement in a university STEM course; etc.

However, the results of such studies are often contradictory. For example, Nyembe and Howard (2021) empirically found that using WhatsApp messenger increased students' academic performance and social interaction, while Alkhalaf et al. (2018) found no such effect on academic performance; moreover, time spent using WhatsApp was found to be directly proportional to addiction symptoms. Or, for example, on the one hand, a number of studies have found positive effects of social networks: for example, Rasheed et al. (2020) found that knowledge sharing meaningfully mediated the effect of social networks

LABOR PSYCHOLOGY

use on student engagement in academic contexts. On the other hand, Koranteng et al. (2019) reported that the use of social networking sites did not predict knowledge sharing or student engagement in academic contexts. Liebherr et al. (2020) in their review showed that there is conflicting evidence on the impact of smartphone use on academic performance and cognitive functions, particularly of university students. As noted by Whelan et al. (2020), several studies show that university students are more prone to problematic social media use than others. There are also works that show the negative impact of cyberbullying and cyberstalking on students, leading to serious psychological problems (Harding et al., 2019; Metin-Orta & Demirtepe-Saygl, 2023).

Much work has also focused on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on university students: in particular, on their social and psychological well-being, as well as on changing characteristics of cyber socialization engagement, such as the transition of university learning processes to an online format (Hudimova et al., 2021). For example, it has been reported that university students find both positive aspects and negative aspects in the transition to online learning (Mishra et al., 2020); with such a transition leading university students to a "*lack of socialization*" consisting of a reduction in live (face-to-face) interactions, student participation in study groups outside the classroom, etc. (Easa & Bazzi, 2021). (Easa & Bazzi, 2021).

Thus, despite extensive research into the influence of certain aspects of cyber socialization (the use of specific cyber technologies, specific forms of behavior in cyberspace, etc.) on the psychological well-being of university students, the influence of general (nonspecific) cyber socialization engagement on such well-being has not been studied sufficiently, including its ambivalent nature, manifested in the presence of two types of such engagement, constructive and destructive.

The purpose of the study was to identify the possible impact of Cyber socialization engagement on the psychological and social well-being of university students. This objective involved answering the following research questions:

Does Cyber socialization engagement affect university students' psychological well-being as examined through the constructs of life satisfaction and the Dark Tetrad of personality?

Does Cyber socialization engagement affect university students' social well-being as examined through the constructs of learning engagement, learning satisfaction, and organizational identity?

Is there a joint influence of constructive and destructive factors of Cyber socialization engagement on the psychological and social well-being of university students?

Methods

Concepts that develop and operationalize the concepts of cyber socialization engagement, life satisfaction, the Dark Tetrad of personality, learning engagement, learning satisfaction, and organizational identity were used as methodological foundations for the study.
Cyber socialization engagement was understood in accordance with the author's concept of cyber socialization, within which the psychological structure of cyber socialization engagement includes two subsystems, constructive engagement and destructive engagement, each of which contains three components related, respectively, to constructive or destructive motivation for cyber socialization, personal position in relation to cyber socialization, and competence in the field of cyber socialization. The "The cyber socialization engagement questionnaire" was used for measurement, containing scales of constructive and destructive Cyber socialization engagement, respectively (Lenkov et al., 2019).

Life satisfaction was considered according to the concept of Diener et al. (1985). In the context of the study, we understood life satisfaction as general, nonspecific life satisfaction and considered it, on the one hand, as one of the components of psychological wellbeing and, on the other hand, as a certain, rather autonomous predictor of the latter. The 5-item "The Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS)" in the Russian-language adaptation was used for measurement (Elshansky et al., 2015).

The Dark Tetrad of personality was considered according to the concept of Paulhus et al. (2021), according to which this tetrad includes such personality traits as Machiavellianism, narcissism, psychopathy (not clinical) and sadism (domestic, everyday). The 28-item questionnaire "The Short Dark Tetrad Scale [SD4]" in its Russian-language adaptation (Kornienko et al., 2022) was used for measurement.

Engagement in learning within the framework of the study was considered by analogy with the concept of work engagement by Schaufeli and Bakker (2004). The nineitem "Utrecht Work Engagement Scale [UWES-9]", modified by the authors of the article, was used for measurement in the Russian version presented by the authors of the scale (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2004). The modification consisted of replacing the term "work" with the term "learning" in all questions (e.g., "My learning inspire me").

The study examined *job satisfaction* in a similar way to Thompson and Phua's (2012) concept of affective job satisfaction. The authors' modified 7-item questionnaire "The Brief Index of Affective Job Satisfaction", including 4 meaningful and 3 masking items, in the Russian-language adaptation (Lovakov, 2018, p. 123) was used for measurement. The modification consisted in replacing the term "job" with the term "learning" in all questions (e.g., "I am completely satisfied with my learning").

Organizational identity was considered and measured according to the concept operationalized in the 6-item "Organizational and Sub-Organizational Identity Questionnaire" (Sidorenkov et al., 2019), which allows it to be flexibly adjusted for application to different types of organizations. Accordingly, within the framework of the research, organizational identity was understood as the result of the student's identification processes with the university faculty where he or she is studying.

In all questionnaires used, responses were rated on a 5-item Likert scale (from 1 "Strongly disagree» to 5 "Strongly Agree").

LABOR PSYCHOLOGY

The study sample consisted of 315 Russian university students aged 17 to 35 years (M = 21.70, SD = 3.130). In addition to age, the controlled factors were: sex, type of educational organization, level, and subject area of education received. Accordingly, the sample included: 218 females and 97 males; 172 bachelor students and 143 master students; 107 technical students and 208 humanities students, 212 students of state universities, and 103 students of nonstate universities.

Data analysis was performed using the SPSS package. Such statistical methods as analysis of variance (one-way and two-way ANOVA), hypothesis testing methods (Mann-Whitney, Games-Howell tests, etc.), reliability of scales (Cronbach's alpha) (IBM, 2022), including methods for determining the effect size (eta-square and partial eta-square) within ANOVA and nonparametric tests (Fritz et al., 2012) were used.

Results

The scales used in the study sample showed high or satisfactory reliability, with the exception of the Machiavellianism scale, which had a reliability of only about 0.5 (Table 1). Nevertheless, for completeness of coverage of the Dark Tetrad traits, we used this scale in the further study.

The descriptive statistics (Table 1) shows that a number of scales are characterized by significant deviations from the normal distribution. For this reason, we used the nonparametric Mann-Whitney test for generality in pairwise comparisons of the groups, applying the eta-square method specific to it to determine the effect size.

Table 1

Scales	Indi	cators of d	istics	- NOI	Alpha	
Seales	М	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis		
Satisfaction with life	16,62	4,285	-0,290	-0,456	5	0,818
Machiavellianism	21,85	3,797	-0,271	0,432	7	0,463
Narcissism	20,72	4,905	-0,123	-0,292	7	0,697
Psychopathy	16,37	5,582	0,484	-0,073	7	0,791
Sadism	15,02	5,297	0,632	-0,286	7	0,766

Descriptive statistics and reliability of scales (N = 315)

Igor V. Gaidamashko, Sergey L. Lenkov, Nadezhda E. Rubtsova Cyber Socialization Engagement and Psychological Well-Being of University Students Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

Scales	Ind	icators of d	istics	– NOI	Alpha	
Seales	M SD Skewness		Kurtosis	NOT	1	
Learning engagement	26,75	7,065	0,055	-0,505	9	0,915
Satisfaction with learning	12,53	3,375	-0,347	-0,077	4	0,854
Organizational identity	20,01	4,641	-0,312	0,381	6	0,828
Constructive Cyber socialization engagement	55,18	10,044	-0,271	-0,318	21	0,799
Destructive Cyber socialization engagement	4,89	3,454	0,928	1,100	6	0,705

Source: Compiled by the authors. Note: NOI is the number of points, and Alpha is Cronbach's alpha. The standard error is equal to: 0.137 for skewness and 0.274 for kurtosis.

The following statistically significant effects were identified (see Table 2), presented in descending order of effect size:

- for the factor of sex: men, compared to women, have a higher expression of sadism, constructive Cyber socialization engagement and Machiavellianism, but lower life satisfaction at the trend level (p < 0.1);
- for the factor of education level: master's students, compared to undergraduate students, have higher expression of Machiavellianism, but lower expression of narcissism, psychopathy, learning engagement, satisfaction with learning and organizational identity;
- for the subject area factor: technical students, compared to humanities students, have a lower expression of narcissism, psychopathy, learning engagement, and constructive cyber socialization, but a higher expression of Machiavellianism at the trend level (p < 0.1);
- for the factor of type of educational organization: students of state universities, compared to students of nonstate universities, have higher expression of

LABOR PSYCHOLOGY

Machiavellianism, but a lower expression of narcissism, learning engagement, satisfaction with learning, organizational identity; as well as psychopathy at the level of tendencies (p < 0.1).

Table 2

Com	naniaona	hotucon	anouna	of	maan	values
COM	purisons	Detween	groups	υj	meun	vulues

	Mean value	s for groups	Mar	nn-Whitney	test				
Scales	Group 1	Group 2	Z	р	η^2				
Factor: sex. Groups: 1 - fem	ale (n = 218),	2 - male (n =	97)						
Satisfaction with life	16,92	15,95	-1,934	0,053	0,012				
Machiavellianism	21,48	22,69	-2,512	0,012	0,020				
Sadism	14,21	16,85	-3,979	0,000	0,050				
Constructive engagement	54,18	57,42	-2,853	0,004	0,026				
Factor: level of education. Groups: 1 - bachelor's degree (n = 172), 2 - Master's degree (n = 143)									
Machiavellianism	21,26	22,56	-2,980	0,003	0,028				
Narcissism	21,36	19,94	-2,341	0,019	0,017				
Psychopathy	17,33	15,87	-2,165	0,030	0,015				
Learning engagement	27,55	25,79	-2,257	0,024	0,016				
Satisfaction with learning	12,81	12,20	-2,212	0,027	0,016				
Organizational identity	20,46	19,46	-1,986	0,047	0,013				
Factor: subject area. Group:	s: 1 - technica	al (n = 107), 2	- humanita	rian (n = 20	8)				
Machiavellianism	22,47	21,53	-1,710	0,087	0,009				
Narcissism	19,37	21,41	-3,531	0,000	0,040				
Psychopathy	15,44	17,30	-2,698	0,007	0,023				
Learning engagement	25,59	27,35	-2,324	0,020	0,017				
Constructive engagement	56,52	54,49	-2,008	0,045	0,013				

Igor V. Gaidamashko, Sergey L. Lenkov, Nadezhda E. Rubtsova Cyber Socialization Engagement and Psychological Well-Being of University Students Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

LABOR PSYCHOLOGY

	Mean value	s for groups	Man	in-Whitney	test				
Scales	Group 1 Group 2		Z	р	η^2				
Factor: type of university. Groups: 1 - state (n = 212),									
2 - non-state (n = 103)									
Narcissism	19,37	21,41	-4,177	0,000	0,055				
Psychopathy	15,44	17,30	-1,698	0,090	0,009				
Learning engagement	25,59	27,35	-2,968	0,003	0,028				
Satisfaction with learning	12,14	13,44	-3,437	0,001	0,038				
Organizational identity	19,78	20,51	-3,136	0,002	0,031				

Source: Compiled by the authors. Note: Only results for which the significance of the differences is p < 0.1 are shown. Values of p < 0.05 are shown in bold.

The factor of age statistically significantly increases Machiavellianism, engagement in learning, satisfaction with learning and organizational identity (Table 3).

Table 3

One-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) for the age factor

Dependent		ANOVA			Mean values for groups		Post hoc test	
variable	F	р	η^2	Group	M	groups	р	
Satisfaction with life	0,778	0,460	0,007					
				1	20,77	1-2	0,059	
Machiavellianism	Machiavellianism 5,249 0,006	0,033	2	21,96	1-3	0,007		
				3	22,68	2-3	0,360	
Narcissism	1,475	0,230	0,009					
Psychopathy	0,157	0,855	0,001					
Sadism	0,845	0,431	0,005					
				1	24,90	1-2	0,092	
Learning engagement	4,335 0,014	0,014	0,027	2	26,96	1-3	0,011	
engagement				3	28,14	2-3	0,427	

LABOR PSYCHOLOGY

Dependent	ANOVA			Mean values for groups		Post hoc test	
variable	F	р	η^2	Group	M	groups	р
Satisfaction with learning	4,756	0,009	0,030	1	11,91	1-2	0,623
				2	12,36	1-3	0,010
				3	13,48	2-3	0,030
	10,750	0,000	0,064	1	17,99	4,8	0,000
Organizational identity				2	20,45	5,5	0,000
				3	21,08	6,2	0,608

Source: Compiled by the authors. Note: F is Fisher's statistic, η^2 is eta-squared. Age groups: 1 - younger than 21 years (n = 63), 2 - 21 to 23 years (n = 191), 3 - older than 23 years (n = 61). The results of multiple comparisons using the Games-Howell test are shown only for cases where ANOVA revealed a significant effect (p <0.05). Values of p <0.05 are shown in bold.

Destructive Cyber socialization engagement decreased life satisfaction, narcissism, learning engagement, learning satisfaction, and organizational identity, but increased the expression of psychopathy and sadism (Table 4).

Table 4

One-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) for the factor of destructive Cyber socialization engagement

00							
Variable	ANOVA			Mean values for groups		Post hoc test	
	F	р	η^2	Group	М	groups	р
Satisfaction with life	10,073		0,061	1	17,92	1-2	0,076
		0,000		2	16,72	1-3	0,000
				3	15,10	2-3	0,018
Machiavellianism	0,678	0,508	0,004				
			0,024	1	21,30	1-2	0,949
Narcissism	3,898	0,021		2	21,11	1-3	0,035
				3	19,48	2-3	0,049
				1	14,38	1-2	0,004
Psychopathy	18,200	0,000	0,104	2	16,56	1-3	0,000
5 1 5				3	19,21	2-3	0,002

Igor V. Gaidamashko, Sergey L. Lenkov, Nadezhda E. Rubtsova Cyber Socialization Engagement and Psychological Well-Being of University Students Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

Variable		ANOVA			Mean values for groups		Post hoc test	
	F	р	η^2	Group	М	groups	р	
				1	13,25	1-2	0,168	
Sadism	18,934	0,000	0,108	2	14,48	1-3	0,000	
				3	17,73	2-3	0,000	
	11,762	0,000		1	28,81	1-2	0,211	
Learning			0,070	2	27,19	1-3	0,000	
engagement				3	23,91	2-3	0,001	
				1	13,40	1-2	0,093	
Satisfaction with	5,313	0,005	0,033	2	12,44	1-3	0,004	
tearning				3	11,78	2-3	0,305	
				1	21,17	4,8	0,129	
Organizational identity	5,742	0,004	0,036	2	19,99	5,5	0,004	
				3	18,83	6,2	0,176	

Source: Compiled by the authors. Note: F is Fisher's statistic, η^2 is eta-squared. Groups by level of destructive engagement in cyber socializatio: 1 - low (n = 89), 2 - medium (n = 140), 3 - high (n = 86). The results of multiple comparisons using the Games-Howell test are shown only for cases where ANOVA revealed a significant effect (p <0.05). Values of p <0.05 are shown in bold.

In turn, constructive Cyber socialization engagement increases Machiavellianism, learning engagement, learning satisfaction, and organizational identity (Table 5).

Table 5

One-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) for the factor of constructive Cyber socialization engagement

Variable	ANOVA			Mean values for groups		Post hoc test	
Variable	F	р	η^2	Group	М	groups	р
Satisfaction with life	1,029	0,359	0,007				
				1	20,77	1-2	0,059
Machiavellianism	5,249	0,006	0,033	2	21,96	1-3	0,007
				3	22,68	2-3	0,360
Narcissism	1,475	0,230	0,009				
Psychopathy	0,157	0,855	0,001				

LABOR PSYCHOLOGY

Variable	ANOVA			Mean values for groups		Post hoc test	
Variable	F	р	η^2	Group	М	groups	р
Sadism	0,845	0,431	0,005				
Learning engagement	4,335		0,027	1	24,90	1-2	0,092
		0,014		2	26,96	1-3	0,011
				3	28,14	2-3	0,427
		0,009	0,030	1	11,91	1-2	0,623
Satisfaction with learning	4,756			2	12,36	1-3	0,010
J				3	13,48	2-3	0,030
			0,064	1	17,99	4,8	0,000
Organizational identity	10,750 0,000	0,000		2	20,45	5,5	0,000
lacitaty				3	21,08	6,2	0,608

Source: Compiled by the authors. Notes: F is Fisher's statistic, η^2 is eta-squared. Groups by level of constructive Cyber socialization engagement: 1 - low (n = 77), 2 - medium (n = 159), 3 - high (n = 79). The results of multiple comparisons using the Games-Howell test are shown only for cases where ANOVA revealed a significant effect (p <0.05). Values of p <0.05 are shown in bold.

As shown by two-factor analysis of variance (two-way ANOVA), the interaction between the factors of constructive and destructive Cyber socialization engagement is not significant for all the dependent variables considered: life satisfaction, Dark Tetrad traits, engagement in learning, learning satisfaction, and organizational identity (p from 0.969 to 0.185, $\eta_{\rm o}^2$ ranges from 0.002 to 0.020).

Discussion

The revealed absence of significant interfactor interaction between the indicators of constructive and destructive Cyber socialization engagement confirms the validity of our approach to considering these constructs as relatively autonomous, not additively summarized into an indicator of some general, total Cyber socialization engagement.

Some of our results are qualitatively consistent with the results of Rogowska et al. (2021) obtained in a cross-cultural study on a sample of 285 Russian university students: here, as in our study, life satisfaction was higher for women than for men, and the level of education (bachelor's or master's degree) was insignificant.

The ambivalence of the impact of cyber socialization on university students was confirmed by Shitova & Maslakov (2020): on the one hand, many students are interested in educational information in cyberspace and actively use online resources for learning; on the other hand, some students have symptoms of information stress.

The negative impact of general destructive Cyber socialization engagement on students' psychological well-being scores found in our study is qualitatively consistent with the results of many previous studies that have found a similar impact of individual, private manifestations of such engagement, such as cyberaddictions, engagement in cyberbullying, social media overload, problematic Internet use, etc. (Arpaci et al., 2020; Su et al., 2020; Tahoon, 2020). (Arpaci et al., 2020; Su et al., 2020; Tahoon, 2020). On the other hand, the alternative positive impact of constructive engagement is also qualitatively consistent with previous studies, where similar effects were found for private manifestations of such engagement, such as participation in specially designed forms of online learning, constructive online interactions between students in sharing knowledge and solving learning tasks, etc. (Arpaci et al., 2020; Su et al., 2020; Tahoon, 2020). (Hoi, 2021; Nyembe & Howard, 2021).

However, empirical evidence of the ambivalent effect of overall cyber socialization engagement on university students' psychological well-being is apparently obtained for the first time in this study.

An interesting result is also the revealed "ambivalence within ambivalence": constructive engagement with its generally positive influence increases Machiavellianism, and destructive engagement with its generally negative influence decreases, however, the expression of narcissism. However, a detailed discussion of these results requires a deep dive into the problems of the Dark Tetrad traits' identification and is therefore beyond the scope of this article.

Conclusion

The results of the conducted study clarify the role of cyber socialization engagement in shaping the psychological well-being of student youth.

It is found that the impact of overall Cyber socialization engagement is generally ambivalent:

- constructive engagement has an overall positive effect, increasing measures of psychological well-being such as engagement in learning, satisfaction with learning, and organizational identity, although it increases the expression of the Dark Tetrad trait of Machiavellianism;
- destructive engagement has an overall negative impact, decreasing life satisfaction, learning engagement and learning satisfaction, organizational identity, and increasing the expression of Dark Tetrad traits such as psychopathy and sadism, although decreasing the expression of narcissism.

LABOR PSYCHOLOGY

At the same time, the effects of constructive and destructive engagement were statistically independent, which confirms the appropriateness of the theoretical model of Cyber socialization engagement used.

The practical significance of the study lies in the fact that its results make it possible to outline expedient work to ensure psychological safety of the educational environment and psychological support of university students, aimed at ensuring their psychological well-being by adjusting the ratio of constructive and destructive Cyber socialization engagement.

Prospects for further research within the framework of the stated problem are connected, first of all, with the expansion of the range of studied indicators of psychological well-being, as well as with clarifying studies in connection with such ambiguous results as an increase in Machiavellianism under the influence of constructive Cyber socialization engagement and a decrease in narcissism under the influence of destructive Cyber socialization engagement.

References

- Alkhalaf, A. M., Tekian A., & Park Y. S. (2018). The impact of WhatsApp use on academic achievement among Saudi medical students. *Medical Teacher*, 40(1), 10–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1464652</u>
- Anglim, J., Horwood, S., Smillie, L. D., Marrero, R. J., & Wood, J. K. (2020). Predicting psychological and subjective well-being from personality: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 146(4), 279–323. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000226</u>
- Arpaci, I., Abdeljawad, T., Baloglu, M., Kesici, S., & Mahariq, I. (2020). Mediating effect of internet addiction on the relationship between individualism and cyberbullying: a cross-sectional questionnaire study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(5), Article e16210. <u>https:// doi.org/10.2196/16210</u>
- Asghar, M. Z., Iqbal, A., Seitamaa-Hakkarainen, P., & Barbera, E. (2021). Breaching learners' social distancing through social media during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(21), Article 11012. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jjerph182111012</u>
- Ashraf, M. A., Khan, M., Chohan, S., Khan, M., Rafique, W., Farid, M. F., & Khan A. U. (2021). Social media improves students' academic performance: Exploring the role of social media adoption in the open learning environment among international medical students in China. *Healthcare*, 9(10), Article 1272. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare9101272</u>
- Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsen, R. J., & Griffin, S. (1985). The satisfaction with life scale. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 49(1), 71–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa4901_13</u>
- Dzulkarnain, I., Aziz, N. A. A., Suswandari, S., & Khuluqo, I. (2021). Student engagement in university STEM course through digital video project using SAMR model. *Proceedings of the 1st Annual International Conference on Natural and Social Science Education*, (547), 49–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.2991/assehr.k.210430.008</u>

- Denisova, E. G., Ermakov, P. N., Abakumova, I. V., Sylka, N. V. (2022). Emotional-personal and metacognitive predictors of students' psychological well-being in modern conditions. *Psychological Science and Education*, 27(5), 85–96. (In Russ.) <u>https://doi.org/10.17759/ pse.2022270507</u> (In Russ.)
- Elshansky, S. P., Anufriev, A. F., Kamaletdinova, Z. F., Saparin, O. E., Semyonov, D. V. (2015). Psychometric indicators of the Russian-language version of the Life Satisfaction Scale. *Modern research on social problems* [from 2019 *Russian Journal of Education and Psychology*], (9(53)), 444–458. (In Russ.) <u>https://doi.org/10.12731/2218-7405-2015-9-33</u>
- Easa, N. F. & Bazzi, A. M. (2021). COVID-19 and lack of socialization: does service innovation become an imperative for universities? *International Journal of Disruptive Innovation in Government*, 1(2), 82–103. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJDIG-11-2020-0006
- Fritz, C. O., Morris, P. E., & Richler, J. J. (2012). Effect size estimates: Current use, calculations, and interpretation. *The Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 141(1), 2–18. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1037/a0024338</u>
- Gulzar, M. A., Ahmad, M., Hassan, M., & Rasheed, M. I. (2021). How social media use is related to student engagement and creativity: investigating through the lens of intrinsic motivation. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 41(11), 2283–2293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01449</u> 29X.2021.1917660
- Haase, K. R., Cosco, T., Kervin, L., Riadi, I., & O'Connell, M. E. (2021). Older adults' experiences with using technology for socialization during the COVID-19 pandemic: A cross-sectional survey study. *JMIR Aging*, 4(2), Article e28010. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/28010</u>
- Harding, T., Lopez, V., & Klainin-Yobas, P. (2019). Predictors of psychological well-being among higher education students. *Psychology*, 10(4), 578–594. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/ psych.2019.104037</u>
- Hoi, V. N. (2021). Augmenting student engagement through the use of social media: the role of knowledge sharing behavior and knowledge sharing self-efficacy. *Interactive Learning Environment*, *31*(7), 4021–4033. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2021.1948871</u>
- Honnekeri, B., Goel, A., Umate, M., Shah, N., & Sousa, A. (2017). Social anxiety and Internet socialization in Indian undergraduate students: An exploratory study. *Asian Journal of Psychiatry*, 27, 115–120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2017.02.021</u>
- Hudimova, A., Popovych, I., Baidyk, V., Buriak, O., & Kechyk, O. (2021). The impact of social media on young web users' psychological well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic progression. *Revista Amazonia Investiga*, 10(39), 50–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.34069/ AI/2021.39.03.5</u>
- IBM (2022). IBM SPSS Statistics Algorithms. IBM Corporation.
- Koranteng, F. N., Wiafe, I., & Kuada, E. (2019). An empirical study of the relationship between social networking sites and students' engagement in higher education. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, *57*(5), 1131–1159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633118787528</u>
- Kornienko, D. S., Vyazovkina, V. K., Gornostaev, I. S. (2022). Adaptation and psychometric validation of the Dark Tetrad Short Questionnaire technique. *Psychological Journal*, 43(5), 87–98. (In Russ.) <u>https://doi.org/10.31857/S020595920022787-1</u>

LABOR PSYCHOLOGY

- Lenkov, S. L., Rubtsova, N. E., Efremova, G. I. (2019). The cyber socialization engagement questionnaire. *Yaroslavl Pedagogical Bulletin*, (6(111)), 109–119. (In Russ.) <u>https://doi.org/10.24411/1813-145X-2019-1-0567</u>
- Lovakov, A. V. (2018). The relationship between organizational identification and employee well-being: the role of workaholism as a mediator: diss. ... candidate of sciences. National Research University Higher School of Economics (PhD HSE). (In Russ.) URL: <u>https://www. hse.ru/data/xf/842/014/1153/Lovakov_A_dissertation.pdf</u>
- Lenkov, S. L., & Rubtsova, N. E. (2019). Cyber socialization of Russian youth: Risks of professional self-determination. Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research, (321), 116–122. https://doi.org/10.2991/ispcpep-19.2019.28
- Lenkov, S., & Rubtsova, N. (2022). Social environment as a predictor of destructive behavior in cyberspace. *Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems*, (247), 711–724. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80946-1_65</u>
- Liebherr, M., Schubert, P., Antons, S., Montag, C., & Brand, M. (2020). Smartphones and attention, curse or blessing? A review on the effects of smartphone usage on attention, inhibition, and working memory. *Computers in Human Behavior Reports, 1*, Article 100005. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chbr.2020.100005</u>
- Masrom, M. B., Busalim, A. H., Abuhassna, H., & Mahmood, N. H. (2021). Understanding students' behavior in online social networks: a systematic literature review. *Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 18, Article 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-021-00240-7</u>
- Metin-Orta, I., & Demirtepe-Saygılı, D. (2023). Cyberloafing behaviors among university students: Their relationships with positive and negative affect. *Current Psychology*, 42(13), 11101–11114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-02374-3</u>
- Mishra, L., Gupta, T., & Shree, A. (2020). Online teaching-learning in higher education during lockdown period of COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Educational Research Open*, 1, Article 100012. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedro.2020.100012</u>
- Nyembe, B. Z. M., & Howard, G. R. (2021). WhatsApp, an educational computer system? In J. Bentahar, I. Awan, M. Younas (Eds) *Mobile Web and Intelligent Information Systems* (*MobiWIS 2021*). Lecture Notes in Computer Science, (12814), 135–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-83164-6_11</u>
- O'Connell, M. E., Haase, K. R., Grewal, K. S., Panyavin, I., Kortzman, A., Flath, M. E., Cammer, A., Cosco, T. D., & Peacock, S. (2022). Overcoming barriers for older adults to maintain virtual community and social connections during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Clinical Gerontologist*, 45(1), 159–171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07317115.2021.1943589</u>
- Paulhus, D. L., Buckels, E. E., Trapnell, P. D., & Jones, D. N. (2021). Screening for dark personalities: The Short Dark Tetrad (SD4). European Journal of Psychological Assessment, 37(3), 208– 222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759/a000602</u>
- Pleshakov, V. A. On the cyber socialization of man in an unstable world (2023). *Man and society in an unstable world*: Materials of the international scientific-practical conference, Omsk, March 01, 2022. Siberian Law University. (In Russ.)

- Podbolotova, M., Dmitrieva, V., Reznikova, R., & Grishaeva, Y. (2021). Digital socialization of students by means of educational media. *SHS Web Conferences*, *98*, Article 05015. <u>https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/20219805015</u>
- Rasheed, M. I., Malik, M. J., Pitafi, A. H., Iqbal, J., Anser, M. K., & Abbas, M. (2020). Usage of social media, student engagement, and creativity: The role of knowledge sharing behavior and cyberbullying. *Computer Education*, 159(3), Article 104002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. compedu.2020.104002</u>
- Rogowska, A. M., Ochnik, D., Kuśnierz, C., Jakubiak, M., Schütz, A., Held, M. J., Arzenšek, A., Benatov, J., Berger, R., Korchagina, E. V., Pavlova, I., Blažková, I., Konečná, Z., Aslan, I., Çınar, O., & Cuero-Acosta, Y. A. (2021). Satisfaction with life among university students from nine countries: a cross-national study during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. *BMC Public Health*, *21*(1), Article 2262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-12288-1</u>
- Rubtsova, N. E., & Lenkov, S. L. (2020). The impact of digital socialization on psychological well-being. *Psychology in Education*, *2*(2), 143–149. <u>https://doi.org/10.33910/2686-9527-2020-2-2-2-143-149</u>
- Schaufeli, W. B., & Bakker, A. B. (2004). Utrecht Work Engagement Scale (UWES): Preliminary Manual, Version 1.1, Dec. 2004. Unpublished manuscript. Utrecht: Occupational Health Psychology Unit of Utrecht University. URL: <u>https://www.wilmarschaufeli.nl/</u> tests/#engagement
- Shi, C., Yu, L., Wang, N., Cheng, B., & Cao, X. (2020). Effects of social media overload on academic performance: a stressor-strain-outcome perspective. Asian Journal of Communication, 30(2), 179–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01292986.2020.1748073</u>
- Sidorenkov, A. V., Shipitko, O. Y., Shtilnikov, D. E., Shtroo, V. A. (2019). Development of a toolkit for studying employee identification in an organization. *Organizational Psychology*, *9*(3), 74–102. (In Russ.) URL: <u>http://orgpsyjournal.hse.ru</u>
- Soldatova, G. U., Voiskunsky, A. E. (2021). Social-cognitive concept of digital socialization: new ecosystem and social evolution of psyche. *Psychology. Journal of the Higher School of Economics*, *18*(3), 431–450. (In Russ.) <u>https://doi.org/10.17323/1813-8918-2021-3-431-450</u>
- Shitova, N. V., & Maslakov, S. I. (2020). Investigating the psychological aspects of cyber socialization among modern students. *Propósitos y Representaciones*, 8(2), Article e512. https://doi.org/10.20511/pyr2020.v8n2.512
- Su, W., Han, X., Yu, H., Wu, Y., & Potenza, M. (2020). Do men become addicted to internet gaming and women to social media? A meta-analysis examining gender-related differences in specific internet addiction. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *113*, Article 106480. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/jxhb. 2020.106480</u>
- Tahoon, R. (2020). Mediating effects of dark personality triad and real and mediated social interaction on social media addiction and academic performance in university students. *Clinical and experimental Phycology*, 6(4), 1–10.
- Thompson, E. R., & Phua, F. T. T. (2012). A Brief Index of Affective Job Satisfaction. *Group Organ Manage*, *37*(3), 275–307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601111434201</u>

Igor V. Gaidamashko, Sergey L. Lenkov, Nadezhda E. Rubtsova Cyber Socialization Engagement and Psychological Well-Being of University Students Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

LABOR PSYCHOLOGY

Whelan, E., Islam, A. K. M. N., & Brooks, S. (2020). Applying the SOBC paradigm to explain how social media overload affects academic performance. *Computers & Education 143*, Article 103692. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.103692</u>

> Received: 02.06.2024 Revised: 30.07.2024 Accepted: 26.08.2024

Author Contributions

Igor V. Gaidamashko – ideological scientific guidance, formulation of the problem of psychological well-being of university students in the conditions of cyber socialization, theoretical generalization of the results.

Sergey L. Lenkov – disclosure of the idea of the article using the author's methodology "Cyber socialization engagement", meta-analysis of scientific domestic and foreign articles similar to the topic of the article, statistical processing of data, interpretation of results.

Nadezhda E. Rubtsova – planning of empirical research. Application of the author's methodology "Cyber socialization engagement", organization of data collection, interpretation of results.

Author information

Igor V. Gaidamashko – Dr. Sc. (Psychology), Academician of the Russian Academy of Education, Professor, Acting Rector, FSBEIU VO "Sochi State University", Sochi, Russian Federation; Web of Science Researcher ID: I-7523-2018; Scopus Author ID: 57192274957; RSCI Author ID: 682433; SPIN code RSCI 3082-9761; ORCID ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5146-0064

Sergey L. Lenkov – Dr. Sc. (Psychology), Professor, Chief Analyst, Federal State Budgetary Institution "Russian Academy of Education", Moscow, Russian Federation; Web of Science ResearcherID: AAY-2986-2021; Scopus Author ID: 57352263800; RSCI Author ID 131422; SPIN code RSCI 6618-2383; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6934-3229</u>

Nadezhda E. Rubtsova – Dr. Sc. (Psychology), Professor, General Psychology and Psychology of Work Department; Autonomous non-commercial organization "Russian New University"; Moscow, Russian Federation; Web of Science ResearcherID: AAY-3005-2021; Scopus Author ID: 57351667400; RSCI Author ID 131421; SPIN code RSCI 5496-5341; ORCID ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1323-4741

Igor V. Gaidamashko, Sergey L. Lenkov, Nadezhda E. Rubtsova Cyber Socialization Engagement and Psychological Well-Being of University Students Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

LABOR PSYCHOLOGY

Information on conflict of interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Research article UDK 376 https://doi.org/10.21702/a892kw14

Family of a child with autism spectrum disorders: analysis of inclusive potential

Vladimir A. Kudryavtsev 💿, Svetlana N. Kashtanova* 回

Minin Nizhny Novgorod State Pedagogical University, Nizhny Novgorod, Russian Federation

*Corresponding author: <u>kaslana@yandex.ru</u>

Abstract

Introduction. Working with the family of a disabled child in the context of its support combines special education, education, family psychology, and sociology. This paper is based on the analysis of measurable parameters of parental effectiveness in families raising children with autism spectrum disorders as a result of testing the mechanisms for assessing and studying inclusive potential. Methods. The study included 160 families raising children with autism spectrum disorders. The parameters of family functionality were groups of competencies, and the indication was measuring the degree of parental inclusiveness expertise. The study used the Self-Assessment of Parental Inclusiveness and the Expert Assessment of Inclusive Potential questionnaires developed by the authors. The results of the analysis were indicators of expert accordance and non-accordance in the form of overestimation or underestimation of subjective assessments. Results. Structured data on subjective expert assessments of family functionality were obtained in the context of five basic groups of competencies, including information-related, communicative, value- and meaning-related, personal, and educational competencies. Subjective attitudes towards information and communication support received from various services and departments were revealed. The problem of a unified family approach to the issue of encouraging and stimulating children was addressed. Data on the level of psychological and emotional comfort, attitudes towards the prospects for development and the specificity of attitudes towards the child and his defect were presented. The shortcomings and problems in the development of inclusive family competence are a

lack of parental awareness of the special educational needs of children and the necessary special conditions, a lack of conflict-free communication skills, a lack of family education resources and parents' personal resources. Analyzing adaptability, educational resources, personal maturity, ecological compatibility in relationships, availability and quality of channels for receiving assistance help determine priority areas and the nature of targeted psychological and educational support for families raising children with autism spectrum disorders. **Discussion.** The proposed framework for the quantitative and qualitative analysis and evaluation of parental competency enables us to reconsider the nature of interaction with families raising children with autism spectrum disorders and to change the system of their psychological and educational support.

Keywords

children with autism spectrum disorders, family inclusive potential, self-assessment of parental inclusiveness, parental competency, family functionality

Funding

Supported by Russian Science Foundation grant no. 23-28-00595, https://rscf.ru/project/23-28-00595/

For citation

Kudryavtsev, V. A., & Kashtanova, S. N. (2024).Family of a child with autism spectrum disorders: analysis of inclusive potential. *Russian Psychological Journal, 21*(4), 268–287. https://doi.org/10.21702/a892kw14

Introduction

In modern studies, the concept of "inclusive potential" is closely linked to the population of individuals with disabilities (IWDs) as a particular set of their own resources. The social environment strongly determines the system of relationships within the family, education and the broad sociocultural space. In general, the family inclusion potential is defined as its role in carrying out the tasks of education and social integration with respect to its own child. This definition and the potential for the rehabilitation of children with disabilities are considered as the basis of the paradigm of parental effectiveness for the formation of a culture of inclusion of all subjects of civil society.

Families raising children with ASD

Families raising children with autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) represent a very large group with high social activity (Tkacheva, 2023). This situation must be taken into account

as an effective tool for identifying and preventing the deep socio-psychological and socio-environmental maladaptation of high-functioning autistic children. The subjective space of families where primary socialization of children with ASDs takes place has been little studied from the point of view of creativity and inclusion (Semenova, Bozhkova, & Koneva, 2022). A comprehensive scientific study of the competency of parents, which is the potential for inclusion, is required.

Inclusive potential

In terms of terminology and substance, the concept of "inclusive potential" should be interpreted as a complex of opportunities and resources of different environments, including social ones, in combination with the established system of important relationships and the level of the potential for personal adaptation and rehabilitation of individuals with disabilities (Afonkina, 2016). In contrast to individual potential, the inclusive potential of a family that raises a child with a disability is built on intra-family resources and the abilities of all family members, their functional effectiveness and competency (Starobina, 2018). It is the level of development of certain competencies that determines the potential of the family in terms of effective active participation in the processes of education, upbringing, comprehensive development, socialization, and integration of children into various types of social activity.

Inclusive competency

The inclusive competency of parents should be considered as their general ability and readiness to perform rational and effective functional tasks and provide conditions conducive to the complete development and well-being of their children, other family members and the family as a single system of life (Smogorzewska & Osterhaus, 2023). The assessment of the inclusive potential of a family consists of aggregated indicators for individual abilities of family members. The choice of competency groups incorporated in inclusive potential assessment mechanism allows a systematic assessment of the capabilities and resources of the family from the point of view of educational and sociocultural processes. The inclusive competency of family members is revealed through the understanding and acceptance of certain functions, rational possession of knowledge and skills in the field of constructive interaction with a child with disabilities and its effective inclusion in various types of social activities (Chemerilova, Kirilova, Gavrilova, & Akieva, 2021).

Information-related competencies

A family is a relatively open social system with emotional, informational, and activity links with other members of the community (Churkina, 2023). This demonstrates the importance of considering information-related competencies (ICs) as an important component of the overall inclusive potential of the family. The following indicators should

be considered as indicators of the level of development of this group of competencies : (a) demonstration of knowledge in the fields of special education and psychology affecting the processes of education, upbringing, development and socialization of children with disabilities; (b) knowledge of the age characteristics of children in the normal and deviant development; (c) knowledge of the abilities of searching, receiving, and transmitting information to a communication partner; and (d) awareness of information on the current state of individuals belonging to important social groups, situations, events, and processes that are of objective or subjective importance in the life of a person and society (Tkacheva, 2023).

Communicative competencies

Among the most important components of the inclusive potential is a group of communication competencies (CCs), which form the basis for constructive, comfortable and productive relationships with others. These competencies determine the readiness and ability to establish and maintain contacts, build interactions and relationships with different groups of citizens, predict, prevent or effectively resolve conflict situations (Zotova, 2020). Particular importance is placed on the ability of parents to create constructive interactions with their children, taking into account their age-related, psychological, individual and typological characteristics (Kurdyumova, 2020). The nature of social interaction between the family and various social institutions in resolving urgent educational and general developmental tasks is also important (Chugaeva, 2017). Social interaction must be understood as a specific type of activity represented by following functional components: socially oriented, performing, and effective ones (Krushnaya & Pinkus, 2016).

Parents' attitudes towards the effectiveness of psychological and educational support for children with disabilities, especially ASDs, are quite sceptical, and experts' attitudes towards parents' competence and claims are unclear. Consequently, parents and teachers treat each other as part of the problem, not as a means of solving the problem (Mckenzie, Vassallo, & Dallos, 2020).

Educational competencies

The educational competence group (EC) provides parents with the ability and willingness to solve independently various problems related to the education, spiritual and moral development of children. The structure of educational competence should include rationality of educational strategies, guidance, development and implementation of educational potential, degree of involvement of the immediate environment in education, and adaptability of educational resources (Gerasimovich, 2018). In relation to the adaptability of educational resources, it is worthwhile to address the problem of theoretical awareness and practical training of parents in the area of motivating and stimulating strategies that strengthen desired behavior and stop negative behavioral

reactions. Most parents of children with ASDs believe that these skills are lacking (ladarola, Levato & Harrison, 2018).

The rational design of the object-developing environment at home, combined with appropriate tools, substantially optimizes the process of child development, its adaptation to the objective and social reality of the surrounding world. Changing the comfortable and developing environment, their modelling in the context of family education, must fully take into account the individual characteristics of the child's activity, his interests and potential for emotional response (Yaremchuk, 2019). In this case, it is necessary to consider some characteristics that determine the quality and rationality of environmental conditions, including spatial (location selection, fullness and structure of premises, design and object organization), (b) temporal (fullness of events, taking into account the child's perception, inclusion in processes, satiation with activity); (c) emotional (moderate emotional loads, use of attractive stimuli, naturalness and moderation of adults' expressive displays), and (d) meaning-related (variability of meaning levels – sensory interests, performance of activities, constructive and productive activities, emotional response).

In view of the adaptability of educational resources, it is worthwhile mentioning the problem of theoretical awareness and practical training of parents in the field of motivation and stimulating strategies to strengthen desirable behaviors and stop negative behavior reactions. Most parents raising children with ASDs believe that these skills are lacking (Galkiene & Blinkevičienė, 2019). Limited knowledge and insufficient abilities in supporting, encouraging and punishing children, effective motivation and stimulation of positive behavior are also noted (Kizilkaya & Sari, 2021).

Value- and meaning-related competencies

Parents' value- and meaning-related competencies (VMCs) determine their willingness and ability (a) to accept their own child and others as an unconditional value, regardless of specific developmental characteristics, undesirable behaviors, and inappropriate appearances, (b) to maintain a friendly environment and a favorable climate in the family and in the immediate environment of the child, and (c) to systematically participate (possibly with a long-term perspective) in the development and realization of the potential of their child, to overcome internal and external obstacles, difficulties and resistance (Bicheva, Kovchegova, & Gorshenina, 2022).

Personal competencies

The group of personal competencies (PCs) ensures the fullest possible realization of individual potential, active and productive life, effective functioning and comprehensive development. This group of competencies is the basis for maintaining mental and physical health, the need for self-knowledge, self-development, and self-realization. The most important skills include (a) adaptive and productive self-expression and self-

development, (b) high tolerance of frustration, resistance to personal deformations and stress, (c) adequate level of aspirations and internal control position, and (d) predominance of sanogenous cognitive schemes and absence of irrational attitudes (Dyachkova & Bayandina, 2021).

There are sufficient studies that confirm the existence of a wide variety of different experiences among parents of children with ASD that affect their condition, function and overall quality of life and their immediate environment. Chronic stress and a high level of neuropsychological tension, low predictability of children's behavior and conditions nourish and increase the fear of stigmatization, safety and children's overall well-being (Domalanta et al., 2017).

Problems and purpose

The existing scientific research of the authors on the problem of the culture of inclusion (Kudryavtsev, Kashtanova, 2023), modeling the assessment procedures for the inclusion potential of families raising different categories of children with disabilities (Kashtanova et al., 2023), has enabled the organization of a more detailed assessment of families of children with ASDs as a main sample of the experimental study and its presentation in the form of a detailed analysis of the measured characteristics of the aspects.

The purpose of this study is to highlight the results of an experimental assessment of the inclusive potential of families raising children with ASDs, in the context of individual competence groups and different degrees of expertise.

The analysis sample presented here defined the problematic area of this study, dedicated to the assessment and subsequent study of the inclusive potential of families raising children with ASD through the prism of parental effectiveness and the overall function of the family. An important measure in this case is the degree and nature of the expertise of parents themselves and its objectivity in relation to the characteristics obtained from support specialists.

Methods

The experimental analysis of the inclusive potential of families raising children with ASDs was based on the analysis and study of their subjective assessments, which were linked to objective data of experts carrying out training and support tasks for this contingent.

Instruments

The main methodology of research was the diagnostic complex developed by the authors, including the Self-Assessment of Parental Inclusiveness and the Expert Assessment of Inclusive Potential questionnaires.

The statistical processing was based on the analysis of contingency tables using the Pearson χ^2 criterion. The questionnaires are based on the identification of individual groups of competencies and parameters of parental effectiveness and include blank forms designed for quantitative and qualitative analysis using the R. Likert scale.

Participants

The main respondents were parents of 160 families with ASD children. The second sample included 164 experts who implemented direct psychological and educational practices in working with autistic children and their immediate environment. Factorial characteristics were individual competency groups – information-related, communicative, value- and meaning-related, personal and educational ones, which parameters constitute the family competence profile that characterizes its inclusive potential.

Results

Based on the author's approach to analyzing and assessing the inclusive potential of families raising children with disabilities of different categories, we developed diagnostic tools, including the Self-Assessment of Parental Inclusiveness and the Expert Assessment of Inclusive Potential questionnaires. These diagnostic tools are sufficiently described by the authors (Kashtanova & Kudryavtsev, 2024). In the analysis of primary data, in development, the indicator of the level of parental expertise in subjective assessments of individual parameters of their own inclusive competencies was taken into account. Differences in subjective and expert assessments of individual functional indicators were considered as result indicators. There were three categories of assessment – underestimation of subjective assessment (parents estimate the parameter lower than experts), overestimation of subjective assessment positions were fully consistent.

Table 1 presents the percentages for the designated expert indicators. The first column indicates competencies according to their belonging to a group. Values are given at the end of the table.

Vladimir A. Kudryavtsev, Svetlana N. Kashtanova Family of a child with autism spectrum disorders: analysis of inclusive potential Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

Table 1

Primary indicators of self-assessment of parental inclusiveness in relation to individual groups of competencies (%)

Nº	Parameters of functionality	Underes- timation of subjective assessment (-)	Overestimation of subjective assessment (+)	Expert accordance
IC1	Availability and quality of channels for receiving assistance	59.4	11.8	28.8
IC2	Parent awareness	53.7	13.7	32.6
CC1	Ecological compatibility in relationships	25	40.6	34.4
CC2	Culture of social interaction	36.8	15.6	47.6
CC3	Interaction with teachers/ specialists	21.2	30.6	48.2
CC4	Interaction with other parents of children with disabilities	31.2	43.7	25.1
CC5	Orientation in communication tools	28.1	33.7	38.2
VMC1	Attitude towards the "defect"	32.5	35.6	31.9

$\label{eq:VLadimir} VLadimir A. Kudryavtsev, Svetlana N. Kashtanova Family of a child with autism spectrum disorders: analysis of inclusive potential Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024$

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Nº	Parameters of functionality	Underes- timation of subjective assessment (-)	Overestimation of subjective assessment (+)	Expert accordance
VMC2	Continuity of generations	25.6	41.2	33.2
PC1	Personal maturity	26.8	50	23.2
PC2	General cultural development	17.5	57.5	25
PC3	Individual resource state	33.7	37.5	28.8
PC4	Self-education	20.6	58.7	20.7
EC1	Rationality of educational strategies	30.6	20.6	48.8
EC2	Mentoring	34.4	28.1	37.5
EC3	Educational potential	38.1	40.6	21.3
EC4	Involvement of the immediate environment in the educational process	36.2	28.7	35.1
EC5	Adaptability of educational resources	41.2	27.5	31.3

Note. Legend: IC – *information-related competency; CC* – *communicative competency; VMC* – *value- and meaning-related competency; PC* – *personal competency, EC* – *educational competency.*

The data are presented in percentages, and the row is 100 %, representing a sample of 160 families raising children with ASDs. The second column reveals the content of each competency, which may help navigate the following data tables.

Further analysis of the data enabled us to classify them not by individual competency groups, but by the statistical significance of the relationship between the factor and the result characteristics. We should note that all indicators have acceptable thresholds for the admissibility of differences in statistical data, but have different threshold values. Table 2 shows the competencies with the highest significant relationships (p < 0.001) which shows the regularity of these indicators.

L	0	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	<i>y</i> 1 1	5 (5
		Effective signs		
Factors	Underestimation of subjective assessment (-)	Overestimation of subjective assessment (+)	Expert accordance	Sum
IC1	<u>59.4</u>	11.8	28.8	100
IC2	53.7	13.7	32.6	100
CC1	25	40.6	34.4	100
CC2	<u>36.8</u>	15.6	<u>47.6</u>	100
VMC2	25.6	41.2	33.2	100
PC1	26.8	50	23.2	100
PC2	17.5	57.5	25	100
PC4	20.6	<u>58.7</u>	<u>20.7</u>	100
EC5	41.2	27.5	31.3	100
Total	306.6	316.6	276.8	900

Table 2

Competencies with the highest values of statistical significance for expert competency (%)

Note. df = 16, $\chi^2 = 146.857$, Critical value $\chi^2 = 39.3$ (p = 0.001), relationships between factors and effective signs are significant at the p < 0.001 level.

We should note that parents considerably underestimated their assessments of information-related competency (IC1 – Availability and quality of channels for receiving assistance; IC2 – Parent awareness), educational competency (EC5 – Adaptability of educational resources), and communicative competency (CC2 – Culture of social interaction). At the same time, parents have quite high values when they overestimate their own assessments of these competencies. First of all, this concerns the group of personal competencies, including PC4 – Self-education, PC2 – General cultural development, and PC1 – Personal maturity. We should also note VMC2 – Continuity of generations and CC1 – Ecological compatibility in relationships.

About 40 % of parents of children with ASDs assess ecological compatibility in relationships, ecological relations, the ability to listen, hear and understand each other, and the right to make mistakes in their own or other people's actions as very high. At the same time, 50 % of respondents expressed concern about children's inclusion in a single social and cultural space in the family.

Regarding the adaptability of educational resources, it is necessary to emphasize some of the positions that are lacking from the point of view of parents themselves. Approximately 52 % of respondents believed that in their families there was insufficient attention to equipping places for games, activities, organizing daily life and using special means. This result emphasizes the importance of implementing the environmental approach in the education of children with autism in families. 47.8 % of parents raising autistic children say they have not yet developed a unified, sustainable and effective system to stimulate and encourage children. For most highly rated indicators, a low level of agreement with experts – expert accordance – was observed.

The group of value-related and meaning competencies, in particular the Generational continuity parameter, was revealed through the level of generational conflict, the implementation of the function of spiritual communication in the family and the priority of family values. 60 % of the respondents rejected the existence of a conflict between adults and children in the family; 40 % assessed the relationship between parents and children as a conflict.

Table 3 shows the second block of indicators with a pronounced indicator of the reliability of differences scores (p < 0.01).

The lowest expert accordance value was for EC3 educational competency – Educational potential (overestimated by parents in their subjective assessments), and a relatively high expert accordance value was for EC1 – Rationality of education strategies. In the context of PC3 parameter (Individual resource state), more than 80 % of respondents expressed constant fears about their children's lives, health and well-being that they would not overcome alone.

In our study, 43.8 % of respondents felt psychologically comfortable and 27.5 % felt strongly uncomfortable; 51.3 % of parents who participated in the study indicated

the presence of toxic people and their relationships in their environment; 43.1 % of respondents reported a predominance of pessimistic attitudes and 41.3 % complained about the lack of stable and reliable sources of psycho-emotional support.

Table 3

Competencies with the highest values of statistical significance for expert competency (%)				
	Effective signs			
Factors	Underestimation of subjective assessment (-)	Overestimation of subjective assessment (+)	Expert accordance	Sum
PC3	33.7	37.5	28.8	100
EC1	30.6	20.6	48.8	100
EC2	34.4	28.1	37.5	100
EC3	38.1	40.6	21.3	100
EC4	36.2	28.7	35.1	100
Total	173	155.5	171.5	500

Note. df = 8, χ^2 = 21.410, critical value χ^2 = 20.09 (p = 0.01), relationships between factors and effective signs are significant at the p < 0.01 level.

The next parameter block has the lowest differences scores, while remaining in the acceptable value corridor (Table 4). First, we should note here the existence of the main part of the parameters relating to the group of communication competencies.

Table 4

Competencies with the minimum acceptable values of statistical significance for expert competency (%)

	Effective signs			
Factors	Underestimation of subjective assessment (-)	Overestimation of subjective assessment (+)	Expert accordance	Sum
CC3	21.2	30.6	48.2	100
CC4	31.2	43.7	25.1	100
CC5	28.1	33.7	38.2	100
VMC1	32.5	35.6	31.9	100
Total	113	143.6	143.4	400

Note. df = 6, $\chi 2 = 13.389$, critical value $\chi 2 = 12.6$ (p = 0.05), relationships between factors and effective signs are significant at the p < 0.05 level.

These results indicate that the expert compliance indicator for the CC3 parameter - Interaction with teachers/specialists - is quite high. There is also a tendency to overestimate the quality and intensity of their interaction with other parents of children with different disabilities. At the same time, only 18.7 % of respondents considered they were of a certain weight and authority in the parent community, 50 % emphasized it was difficult to respond, and 31.3 % assessed themselves negatively.

An important parameter is the attitude of parents towards their child's deficiency (VMC1), which, among other things, emphasizes the level of identification with the child and his condition. The position of "I am my child; my child is me" was shared by 41.4 % of the parents surveyed.

Discussion

Analyzing indicators should be started with information-related competency, i.e. with the IC1 parameter – Availability and quality of channels for receiving assistance. According to the survey, most parents believe that their children do not receive sufficient medical assistance and support - the average assessment score is 2 out of 4 possible. The low assessment of the availability and quality of assistance and support provided by public organizations was somewhat unexpected (only 28.8 % of respondents evaluated positively). Parents receive more tangible support from educational institutions (57.5 % of respondents evaluated positively).

Regarding the IC2 parameter – Parent awareness, there is no coincidence that close attention is currently paid to the issue of informing persons with disabilities and their family members about the nature of disabilities and the prognosis, prospects, assistance options and possible development paths and routes (Bogacheva, Ivanov, & Simashkova, 2019). The greatest involvement of parents of children with disabilities in their development, education, and socialization, based on the principles of the participative approach, will ensure the maximum effectiveness and efficiency of comprehensive support for children (Shkitina & Kasatkina, 2019; Bystray, Belova, Shtykova & Orlova, 2022).

The next indicator with a very high level of reliability of differences is CC2 - Culture of social interaction, which has the highest percentage of coincidences between subject assessments and expert assessments, and can also indicate a fairly unified understanding of the content of this competency.

Most parents focus on the development, education and socialization of their children in heterogeneous groups, among children of different categories, which is perfectly consistent with their constant focus on ensuring the maximum inclusion of children with ASDs in all areas and types of activities (Andreeva, 2021). At the same time, 36.8 % of respondents felt that this competency was not sufficiently developed, mainly due to the lack of skills in non-conflict communication, forecasting, prevention and effective conflict resolution.

Let us examine a number of indicators for which parents make higher assessments compared to specialist assessments, which also have reliable differences (p < 0.001). First, we should pay attention to three indicators of the group of personal competencies, including PC4 - Self-education, PC2 - General cultural development, and PC1 - Personal maturity. For example, 58.6 % of parents of children with ASDs overestimate their own level of education and self-education. The greatest difference in assessments is observed in relation to the level of parental awareness of knowledge deficits and the need for further education (Mohammadi, Rakhshan, Rakhshan & Gillespie, 2019).

Regarding the issue of general cultural development, attention is drawn to the relatively high parental assessment of the subjective importance of aesthetic, environmental and cultural and historical education of the child in the family. It is very difficult to overestimate the role of artistic and aesthetic education in the development and education of children, regardless of their level of development and health (Kostenko, 2014). According to the results of several studies, art therapy, which introduces children to visual arts, music, theatre and applied arts, effectively compensates and neutralizes disorders related to social relationships, language, undesirable behavior and emotional breakdown (Wypyszyńska, Zaboklicka, Stachura, Sito, & Męcik-Kronenberg, 2021). More than 72 % of parents interviewed indicated a high level of this competency. However, these assessments correspond to the opinions of experts in 15 % of cases.

The findings suggest that 50 % of respondents assess their own level of personal maturity high, while among the main criteria they highlight the critical attitude towards themselves and their actions, the willingness to speak openly about the problems of children and families (which differs considerably from the assessment of experts, who estimate that this indicator is 28.6 % lower). The same difference in assessments is observed in relation to the needs of parents in the interests that are not related to the child, which characterizes the degree of disidentification of parents with their children, parents seem to be more dependent on the situation of the child than they try to demonstrate. It should be noted that the personal maturity of parents first manifests itself in the establishment of emotional contact with the child, in the understanding of his condition, wishes and experiences, in the presence of a stable and consistent strategy of interaction with him and his immediate environment (Evlampieva, 2016).

The high assessment of the VMC2 parameter – Continuity of generations – reflects the focus on family values and the function of spiritual communication among family members. At the same time, both parents' subjective self-assessment and specialists' assessments indicated a high level of intergenerational conflict. Thus, 40% of respondents emphasized the presence of problems between adults and children in extended families.

In general, in personal competencies there are the smallest coincidences in assessments, with a clear tendency to overestimate in subjective self-assessments of parents. The main predictor of family and social negative reactions to the individual characteristics of autistic children is insufficient and distorted views on the category of

persons with disabilities and the opportunities for helping and supporting these persons (Morozov, Morozova, Tarasova, & Chigrina, 2023).

The second block of indicators with a quite pronounced indicator of the reliability of differences scores (p < 0.01) consists mainly of indicators of the group of so-called educational competencies. We should immediately note that there is a tendency to overestimate the EC3 parameter - Educational potential – with the lowest level of agreement between parents and experts, which indicates different interpretations and approaches to the content of this definition. We believe that the EC4 parameter – Involvement of the immediate environment in the educational process – deserves special attention. 36.2% of parents surveyed gave this indicator a low rating, while it is noted that parental satisfaction is 37.5% for the parameter of Involvement of the immediate environment in the educational process. We should note that even in formally complete families, almost all the activities related to an autistic child fall on the shoulders of the mother, while other family members are often excluded from direct participation in supporting an autistic child (Morozov & Chigrina, 2022). Both parents and specialists rated the ability of family members to organize activities and various forms of leisure with children, as well as to implement rational education strategies (EC1) relatively high.

The assessments of the Individual resource state parameter were distributed evenly; more than 33 % of respondents indicated that their own psychological and emotional resources are quite low. In particular, 56.8 % of respondents considered themselves to be individuals with insufficient stress resistance. In the modern literature, there are many studies confirming that parents, especially mothers, of children with ASDs report more frequent symptoms of depression and increased psychological stress (Shahbaz, Khalid, Amir, & Yaqoob, 2023).

It should be noted that parents are less critical and assess themselves quite highly in the Interaction with other parents indicator, and they themselves rate the quality and intensity of their own communication with parents of normotypical children more highly. Experts believe that parents are more successful in building relationships with parents of children who also have limited health and functioning capabilities. Parents also rated their social role position in the parent community quite low. A fairly high percentage of coincidences is noted in the assessments of the interaction of parents of children with ASD with teachers/specialists (CC3). According to experts, parents are not inclined to belittle the contribution of specialists working with the child. Parents, in turn, are not inclined to exaggerate their importance and belittle the contribution of specialists in the development of the child and overcoming existing difficulties.

Finally, let us draw attention to two parameters that are not very pronounced, but not less interesting. First, it is necessary to note the assessment of the parents' own ability to orientate in communication tools (CC5). Of the parents interviewed, 47.4 % did not assess their oral, written and non-verbal communication skills sufficiently; 69.8 % of parents reported low levels of competency in alternative communication tools. Significant

differences in parents' and experts' assessments of parental positions were observed in terms of the ability to recognize non-verbal signals (facial expressions, gestures, posture, etc.), i.e. social facial perception abilities. The experts assess them much lower than parents; the difference in assessments is 25 %. Our analytical series is closed by such a parameter as Attitude towards the "defect", related to value- and meaning-related competencies. The most important manifestations of this group of competencies are the willingness and ability to accept a child (as well as other persons) as an unconditional value, regardless of developmental characteristics, behavioral characteristics and external data (Daniel & Govender, 2022). A lack of sufficient assessment of the unconditional acceptance of a child with ASDs by family members has been revealed; 27.4 % of respondents doubted the full and unconditional acceptance of the child in the family. We should note that value- and meaning-related competencies are often referred to as the main and leading force in the development of all other types of competencies. This feature is directly linked to the phenomenon of parents' identification with their child, which determines and strengthens pathological forms of attachment in the parent-child system, preventing the child from achieving a certain level of social adaptation (Giannotti, Venuti & Falco, 2023).

The study obtained reliable characteristics of the inclusive potential of families raising children with ASDs, which can be trusted when selecting constructive strategies for psychological and educational support. In particular, more than half of parents raising children with ASDs indicated a lack of knowledge and skills in providing space and environmental conditions for children's games and activities in the context of family education. The difficulties with relationships with parents (mothers, grandfathers) were also identified, which also affects family resources and reduces the functionality of educational potential. The lack of a culture of social interaction manifests itself in the absence of stable skills in non-conflict communication and in the willingness to open and close cooperation with different categories of subjects in the educational and socio-cultural environment.

More than 50 % of parents do not have the desired level of psychological comfort, and more than 40 % of respondents are pessimistic about the prospects for child development and report the lack of stable psychological and emotional support. Personal resources are characterized by a high degree of fear for children's life, health and well-being.

The presence of a phenomenon such as parents' identification with the child and its state is observed in more than 40 % of cases. This hypertrophied attachment can also be seen as a factor in reducing the possibility of inclusion and, therefore, as a subject of psychological correction work with family members.

The simultaneous analysis of the shortcomings and potential abilities of parents and the immediate environment, which are presented differently in the structure of competency profiles, shows targets to increase parental effectiveness. Priority areas for further correction, development, counselling and education in this area are based on identified shortcomings in the competency area based on the available resources of a particular family. Technological solutions to develop the comprehensive potential of

families raising children with ASDs can be implemented within the framework of specific thematic blocks of the event activities space of psychological and educational support corresponding to the competency groups discussed in this article.

References

- Afonykina, Yu.A. (2016). Categorization of the "inclusive potential" concept. *Historical and Social Educational Ideas, 8* (6/1), 129–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.17748/2075-9908-2016-8-6/1-6/1-129-132</u> (in Russ.)
- Andreeva, E.I. (2021). Specific characteristics of the needs of parents of students with disabilities to receive guidance assistance in the Parent University project. *Society: Sociology, Psychology, Pedagogy*, (12/92), 232–236. (in Russ.).
- Bicheva, I.B., Kovchegova, M.B., & Gorshenina, N.M. (2022) The role of the value-emotional and motivational component of parents' pedagogical competency in the emotional development of children of early age. *Problems of Modern Pedagogical Education*, (74/3), 38-40. (in Russ.).
- Bogacheva, O.I., Ivanov, M.V., & Simashkova, N.V. (2019). Awareness of parents about the disease of children with autism spectrum disorders, *Autism and Developmental Disorders* 17(4/65), 3–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.17759/autdd.2019170401</u> (in Russ.)
- Bystray, E.B., Belova, L.A., Shtykova, T.V., Orlova, I.A., & Shabalina, A.A. (2022). Participation as a factor of formation skills of pedagogical communication. *International Research Journal*, (5/119), 40–43. https://doi.org/10.23670/IRJ.2022.119.5.078
- Chemerilova, I., Kirilova, O., Gavrilova, I., & Akieva, N. (2021). Development of the adaptive and rehabilitation potential of a family raising a child with disabilities in the conditions of a parent club. *Laplage em Revista*, (7), 383–394. <u>https://doi.org/10.24115/S2446-622020217Extra-C1025</u>
- Chugaeva, I.G. (2017). Communicative competency of the parent as a subject of education. *Herald of Chelyabinsk State Pedagogical University*, (4), 101–106. (in Russ.).
- Churkina, E.V. (2023). Information-related competency of adults as a condition for psychological safety of the family. Psychologically safe educational environment: design issues and development prospects: Proceedings of the V International Theoretical and Practical Conference. Tula. 267–270. (in Russ.).
- Daniel, M., & Govender, S. (2022). Parental Participation in Supporting the Development of Communication Skills in Autistic Children. International Journal of Early Childhood Special Education, (14/1), 791–801. <u>https://doi.org/10.9756/INT-JECSE/V14I1.221093</u>
- Domalanta, M., Manchin M. J., Manguhan R., Mapalo D., Marino M., Maxion D., & Mayam, J. (2017). Fears and hopes of parents in developing the social-emotional aspects of their child with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). *Intenational Journal of Research Studies in Psychology*, (6). <u>https://doi.org/10.5861/ijrsp.2017.1774</u>
- Dyachkova, E.S., & Bayandina, T.V. (2021). Psychological characteristics of mothers raising children with disabilities. *Medical Psychology in Russia, 13*(3), 8. (in Russ.).
- Evlampieva, G.A. (2016). The interrelation of parents' personal maturity with the process of socialization of autistic children. *Historical-Critical Reviews and Current Researches* 5(6/A), 30–39. (in Russ.).
- Galkiene, A., & Blinkevičienė, E. (2019). Expression of social interaction of parents raising children with autism spectrum disorder. *Pedagogika*, (132), 228–240. <u>https://doi.org/10.15823/p.2018.132.14</u>

Vladimir A. Kudryavtsev, Svetlana N. Kashtanova Family of a child with autism spectrum disorders: analysis of inclusive potential Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

- Gerasimovich, E.N. (2018). Pedagogical preparation of parents to family education in the context of the competency approach. Scientific works of the Republican Institute of Higher Education. *Historical, Psychological, and Educational Sciences,* (18/3), 201–208. (in Russ.).
- Giannotti, M., Venuti, P., & Falco, S. (2023). Child Attachment Representations and Parenting Stress in Mothers and Fathers of School-Age Children with a Diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Pilot Cross-Sectional Study. *Children*, (10), 1633. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/</u> <u>children10101633</u>
- Iadarola, S., Levato, L. & Harrison, B. et al. (2018). Teaching Parents Behavioral Strategies for Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD): Effects on Stress, Strain, and Competency. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, (48), 1031–1040. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3339-2</u>
- Kashtanova, S. N. & Kudryavtsev, V. A. (2024). Phenomenology of the inclusive potential of the family as a factor in the socialization of children with disabilities. *Perspectives of Science and Education*, (1/67), 441–455. <u>https://doi.org/10.32744/pse.2024.1.24</u> (in Russ.)
- Kashtanova S.N., Kudryavtsev V.A., Davydova Yu.P., & Romanova A.A. (2023). Inclusive culture of in the aspect of realizing the rehabilitation potential of subjects accompanying children with autism spectrum disorders. *Perspectives of Science and Education*, (6/66), 299–316. <u>https://doi.org/10.32744/pse.2023.6.17</u> (in Russ.)
- Kizilkaya, A. & Sari, H. (2021). Effectiveness of the Reinforcement Parent Education Program Designed for Parents of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder on Supporting Positive Behaviours. Asian Journal of Education and Training, (7), 103–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.20448/journal.522.2021.72.103.114</u>
- Kostenko, M.A. (2014). Social support of "atypical" children: A study of the needs of families affected by autism. *The Herald of South-Ural State Humanities-Pedagogical University*, (4), 98–108. (in Russ.).
- Krushnaya, N.A., & Pinkus, M.V. (2016). Features of psychologist work on social interaction in families raising a child with autism spectrum disorders. *The Herald of South-Ural State Humanities-Pedagogical University*, (7), 144–151. (in Russ.).
- Kudryavtsev, V.A. & Kashtanova, S.N. (2023). Approaches to the analysis and assessment of the inclusive potential of families raising children with disabilities. Special Education and Socio-Cultural Integration. 6, 121-127. <u>https://www.elibrary.ru/item.asp?id=59741220</u> (in Russ.)
- Kurdyumova, I.M. (2020). Basic assumptions, principles and peculiarities of modern educational culture in Great Britain in constantly changing world. *Domestic and Foreign Pedagogy*, 1 (4/69), 88–96. (in Russ.).
- Mckenzie, R., Vassallo, T., & Dallos R. (2020). Parent and Teacher Understandings of the Needs of Autistic Children and the Processes of Communication between the Home and School Contexts. *Autism Open Access*, (10), 262. <u>https://doi.org/10.35248/2165-7890.20.10.262</u>
- Mohammadi, F, Rakhshan, M, Molazem, Z., & Gillespie, M. (2019). Parental Competency in Parents of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Systema-tic Review. *Investigacion y Educacion en Enfermeria*, (37/3), e03. <u>https://doi.org/10.17533/udea.iee.v37n3e03</u>
- Morozov, S.A., & Chigrina, S.G. (2022). Research of characteristics of families of families raising children with autism. *Autism and Developmental Disorders, 20*(2), 78–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.17759/autdd.2022200209</u> (in Russ.)
- Morozov, S.A., Morozova, S.S., Tarasova, N.V., & Chigrina, S.G. (2023). Research on relationships within a family having a child with autism, and family relations with the social environment. *Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *21*(1), 86–93. (in Russ.).
- Semenova, L.E., Bozhkova, E.D., & Koneva, I.A. (2022). Personal resources of psychological well-being of mothers raising children with disabilities. *Minin University Bulletin, 10*(1/38). (in Russ.).

- Shahbaz, T., Khalid, S., Amir, A., & Yaqoob, S. (2023). Parenting Stress Among Parents of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Health and Rehabilitation Research*, (3), 724– 729. <u>https://doi.org/10.61919/jhrr.v3i2.214</u>.
- Shkitina, N.S., & Kasatkina, N.S. (2019). Participative teacher training in pedagogical universities. Bulletin of the Nizhnevartovsk State University, (4), 50–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.36906/2311-4444/19-4/08</u> (in Russ.)
- Smogorzewska, J., & Osterhaus, C. (2023). A matter of style? Parenting behaviors of mothers of typically-developing children, children with mild intellectual disability, and deaf or hardof-hearing children. European Journal of Developmental Psychology, 20(1), 86–106. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629.2022.2039618
- Starobina, E.M. (2018). On studying the rehabilitation potential of families raising children with disabilities. *Izvestia: Herzen University Journal of Humanities and Sciences*, 190, 63–69. (in Russ.).
- Tkacheva, V.V. (2023). The competency of parents in the field of special pedagogy and special psychology as the most important condition for the upbringing, training and socialization of a child with disabilities. *Science and School*, 2023, (3), 87–95. (in Russ.).
- Wypyszyńska, J., Zaboklicka, N., Stachura, M., Sito, Z., & Męcik-Kronenberg T. (2021). Opinions of parents of children with autism spectrum disorders on art therapy in the improvement of their functioning. *Wiadomosci lekarskie*, (74), 2452–2459. <u>https://doi.org/10.36740/WLek202110116</u>
- Yaremchuk, M.V. (2019). The Use of Environmental Approach in the Work with Children with ASD. *Autism and Developmental Disorders*, (17), 12–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.17759/autdd.2019170402</u>
- Zotova, I.V. (2020). Essence and characteristics of the concept of "social and communicative competency". *Problems of Modern Pedagogical Education*, (67/1), 111–115. (in Russ.).

Received: 24.07.2024 Revised: 15.09.2024 Accepted: 15.10.2024

Author Contribution

Vladimir A. Kudryavtsev developed the concept of the research strategy, worked with English-language sources, processed the data, and interpreted the results.

Svetlana N. Kashtanova prepared the plan and edited the text of the article, overviewed Russian studies, wrote the Abstract and Keywords, and formulated conclusions.

Author Details

Vladimir A. Kudryavtsev – Cand. Sci. (Psychology), Associate Professor, Department of Special Education and Psychology, Minin Nizhny Novgorod State Pedagogical University, Nizhny Novgorod, Russian Federation; WoS ReseacherID: K-1238-2017; Scopus Author ID: 57200442294; Author ID: 725939; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2405-4946</u>; e-mail: <u>kudvol@yandex.ru</u>

Svetlana N. Kashtanova – Cand. Sci. (Psychology), Head of the Department of Special Education and Psychology, Minin Nizhny Novgorod State Pedagogical University, Nizhny Novgorod, Russian Federation; WoS ReseacherID: K-1105-2017; Scopus Author ID: 57192685259; Author ID: 340680; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2050-345X</u>; e-mail: <u>kaslana@yandex.ru</u>

Conflict of Interest Information

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Olga V. Solovyova, Alexey S. Lukyanov, Natalia M. Borozinets, Yulia V. Prilepko, Elena L. Brakker Complex Express-Diagnostics of Rehabilitation Potential of Combatants With Disabilities Russian Psychological Journal, 21(4),2024

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Research article UDC 159.9.07 https://doi.org/10.21702/xd8egt80

Complex Express-Diagnostics of Rehabilitation Potential of Combatants With Disabilities

Olga V. Solovyova^{*©}, Alexey S. Lukyanov[®], Natalia M. Borozinets[®], Yulia V. Prilepko[®], Elena L. Brakker[®]

North Caucasus Federal University, Stavropol, Russian Federation

*Corresponding author: <u>olga.vl.soloveva@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Introduction. The article presents the development of express-methodology for diagnosing the psychological component of rehabilitation potential of persons who received disability during combat operations and special military operations. Based on the experience of diagnostic examinations of other components of rehabilitation potential (psychophysiological, professional and pedagogical, social and environmental), the indications and indicators for complex express-diagnostics were selected, the optimized structure of which formed the basis of the corresponding methodological tool. Cognitive, affective and conative representants were identified as structural elements of the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of the personality. Methods. For the purpose of approbation and formalization of the methodology, 345 respondents aged 18 to 42 years, 54% female and 46% male, took part in the study. The methods used as a basis for validation were the test "Assessment of personality adaptability" (S.I. Yakovenko), J. Endicott quality of life assessment scale, I. Schuller, A. Komuniani optimism and activity scale, "Self-assessment of conflict" test (A.Y. Antsupov, A.I. Shipilov), "Resilience test" by S. Muddy, express-diagnostics of cognitive abilities (G.S. Nikiforov). Results. The obtained instrument was tested for reliability, the optimal number of indicators presupposes 22 items. Based on confirmatory factor analysis, they are combined into a three-factor model, which has high values of verification indicators of compliance of this model with the data. High indicators of convergent and divergent validity were obtained by comparing the data with the results of existing standardized methods. Discussion. Three factors in the model of the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of the individual are represented by the factor "Behavior", including "Adaptability", "Quality
CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

of life" and "Optimism", the factor "Emotionality", including "Intrapersonal conflict" and "Neurosensory stability" and the factor "Cognition", including "Logic", "Memory" and "Attention". The levels of assessment of both individual factors and the complex indicator of the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of the individual are identified, which allows us to speak about the suitability of this tool for use by specialists when working with individuals with disabilities acquired during combat operations and special military operations.

Keywords

rehabilitation potential, psychological component of rehabilitation potential, persons with disabilities, combat operations, special military operation, express diagnostics

Funding

The study was carried out within the framework of the state assignment 1022101100016-7-5.1.1;5.3.2 Professional and psychological rehabilitation of people with disabilities acquired during the performance of official duty in the process of combat operations and special operations (FSRN 2023-0012), funded by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation.

For citation

Solovyova, O.V., Lukyanov, A.S., Borozinets, N.M., Prilepko, Yu.V., Brakker, E.L. (2024). A method for measuring the psychological characteristics of the rehabilitation potential of persons with disabilities acquired during the combat operations of special operations. *Russian Psychological Journal, 21*(4), 288–311. https://doi.org/10.21702/xd8egt80

Introduction

One of the main priorities of Russian state and social policy at the present stage is the issue of support and targeted assistance to military personnel participating in a special military operation in Ukraine, as well as their family members. The focus of special attention is on participants of warfare who have been injured, physical and psychological injuries and injuries that have led to disability. According to the researchers, this contingent is experiencing difficulties in readaptation to peaceful life due to a changed state of health, and, consequently, needs comprehensive rehabilitation, including in order to restore professional skills and normal social functioning (Bonkalo, 2023).

In this regard, the tasks of the scientific and practical plan for the development of a system of professional and psychological rehabilitation of persons with disabilities acquired in the course of hostilities and their own on the basis of theoretical and empirical research are being updated.

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Psychological rehabilitation of the disabled in the modern sense assumes its focus on the personality of the patient and is carried out based on the rehabilitation potential. Rehabilitation potential is personality traits and its resource capabilities necessary to overcome the negative consequences of disability (Gudilina, 2012; Kulagina, Senkevich, 2015; Rogacheva, 2008; Porokhina, 2004; Solovyova, 2023; Khokhlova, 2020; Burton, 2015; Goodwin & Allan, 2019; Wade, 2023).

In our understanding, professional psychological rehabilitation is a complex of psychophysiological, psychological, professional and pedagogical and socioenvironmental directions aimed at identifying and updating the rehabilitation potential in the totality of its relevant components (Borozinets et al., 2023).

The implementation of the psychological direction of professional and psychological rehabilitation, taking into account the characteristics of the individual and its resource capabilities, makes it possible to achieve success in carrying out a complex of rehabilitation measures that contribute to the return of a person to a full life, professional and social self-realization.

A theoretical and methodological analysis of the problem, as well as a thorough study of methodological tools for solving the problem of identifying and developing the rehabilitation potential of a disabled person, showed that today there is no formalized diagnostic tools that allow to quickly assess the level of rehabilitation potential and form a targeted trajectory of assistance and support to the rehabilitator (Solovyova, 2023; Rogacheva, 2008; Mosqueda, 1993; Wade, 2023). This conclusion served as the basis for the development of a methodology for rapid diagnosis of the psychological component of rehabilitation potential, based on the principles of systematic study of mental phenomena, transparency of stimuli of mental activity, brevity of the procedure, capacity and unambiguity of interpretation of the results.

Identification of the level of the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential will allow not only to determine the condition of the diagnosed object, but also to outline the content of psychological rehabilitation of the recovery period, as well as to form a forecast for the future life of a person with disabilities, the realization of his abilities in conditions of limited opportunities. In this regard, the prognostic value of determining the rehabilitation potential is important primarily for the patient himself, giving him the opportunity to realize his personal resources, based on which compensation and the most complete readaptation are carried out.

The methodology "Rehabilitation potential of personality", developed by I.Y. Kulagina and L.V. Senkevich, is a questionnaire that includes 28 closed questions (Kulagina, Senkevich, 2015). However, this technique does not meet the goals and objectives of our research, the priority of which is the task of express diagnostics for the rapid identification of strong and weak personality characteristics. The rapid and accurate identification of strength factors and risk factors in the development of psychological rehabilitation potential will allow us to develop a strategy and find the most optimal methods of

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

psychological rehabilitation, psychological correction and psychotherapeutic work with people who have received disabilities during combat operations and special military operations.

In the logic of scientific research, it is justified to study the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of persons with disabilities according to a three-component structure, which is described by A.V. Yurevich at the level of general psychology and methodology of psychology and is represented by cognitive, affective and conative representatives (Yurevich, 2005). Interpreting the listed mental representatives as parameters for assessing the psychological component of rehabilitation potential, we have identified indicators and indicators for each of them from the point of view of taking into account the strengths and weaknesses of the individual as markers of rehabilitation potential. For cognitive – the ability to solve problems based on logic, calculations, comparisons, generalizations, as well as the basic properties of attention and memorization, for affective – neuropsychic stability (resilience) and intrapersonal conflict, for conative - the general level of adaptability, subjective assessment of quality of life, optimism and activity (Borozinets et al., 2023).

Methods

The study involved 345 neurotypical respondents aged 18 to 42 years (M = 27.4, SD = 9.23), 54% of them female and 46% male.

Reflection on the experience of practical psychodiagnostics allowed us to compile an express methodology that includes indicators aimed at revealing cognitive, affective and conative parameters related to the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of persons with disabilities.

The selected indicators of the methodology were analyzed for reliability using the Cronbach's coefficient α to optimize the model.

The optimal model was subjected to a confirmatory analysis to identify the necessary number of factors explaining the overall variance of the studied trait.

The verification of convergent and divergent validity was carried out using diagnostic data according to available standardized methods, scales in which may reflect content similar to ours. The following measurement tools served as the basis for validation:

- the test "Assessment of the state of adaptation of the personality", which allows to identify integral indicators of the states of adaptation and satisfaction of the subject (Yakovenko, 1996);
- the scale of assessment of the quality of life of J. Endicott adapted by N.E. Vodopyanova, revealing the spheres of life activity that cause the greatest discomfort or dissatisfaction (Vodopyanova, 2005);
- the scale of optimism and activity I. Schuller, A. Komuniani adapted by N.E.

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Vodopyanova and M.V. Stein. The test allows you to assess the level of self-confidence and success (Vodopyanova, Stein, 2009);

- the "Self-assessment of conflict" test, reflecting the assessment of the overall level of intrapersonal conflict (Antsupov, Shipilov, 2018);
- "Resilience Test" by S. Muddy (Personal Views Survey, PVS III-R) adapted by D.A. Leontiev and E.I. Rasskazova, revealing resilience as a belief system that prevents the emergence of internal tension in stressful situations due to coping with stress and perceiving them as less significant (Leontiev, Rasskazova, 2006);
- express diagnostics of cognitive abilities, revealing the level of development of attentional, mnemic, thinking and other abilities (Nikiforov, 2005).

At the last stage of data analysis, quartile standardization was carried out, which allows us to identify the boundaries of the values of the trait reflecting the levels of its severity.

IBM SPSS Statistics 23 and Amos SPSS-23 programs were used for data processing.

Results

To verify the reliability of the methodology, a traditional analysis method was used – the Cronbach's coefficient α , which allows us to assess the contribution of each indicator to the internal consistency of the scale. Note that the initial model included 30 indicators. The analysis results for the initial set of indicators are as follows: $\alpha = 0.568$ for N = 30. This means that the coefficient can be increased by eliminating indicators that are insignificant for the methodology model. We excluded items on the scale with low and underestimated values of the correlation coefficient. For the newly obtained results of the adjusted Kronbach model, α is 0.942 for N = 22. As you can see, the fitness statistics have increased; further exclusion of any of the 22 points gives a value of α less than at 22 points. That is, the remaining points form the optimal composition of the scale. In our case, the internal consistency of the scale is close to the maximum possible (at $\alpha > 0.9$ – "excellent", according to the recommendations (Heritov, 2011).

To determine the effectiveness of differential diagnosis of the phenomenon of rehabilitation potential of a personality (its psychological component), we solved the problem of identifying and substantiating factors within the scale that evaluate different sides of the subject under study. At the same time, we applied the analysis to two variants of the methodology model – three- and one–factor - for the purpose of comparing them. We excluded the intermediate two-factor variant for this case due to the blurring of the boundaries of the two factors and the low cumulative percentage of explaining the cumulative variance (Heritov, 2011; Kenny & McCoach, 2003; Rosseel & Lavaan, 2021). Confirmatory factor analysis was used. The results are shown in table 1.

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Table 1

Factor loads of the questionnaire items on the rehabilitation potential of the individual (two models, N=345)

		Model	Model 2	
Indicators			Factor	ſS
	1	2	3	1
The behavioral component				
Adaptability				
Not knowing what I want from life	,435			,636
Feeling vulnerable	,642			,641
The unsolvability of problems	,810			,745
Feeling like a bad, worthless person	,800			,666
Meaninglessness of life, emptiness	,799			,797
Quality of life				
Feeling like an unhappy person	,776			,823
Life satisfaction	,671			,698
Dissatisfaction with loved ones	,708			,661
Lack of achieved goals	,791			,765
Optimism				
Loneliness and lack of support	,525			,734
Difficulty in achieving goals	,562			,675
Problems with the difficulties of life	,437			,733
Weak faith in anything good	,530			,743

-	Model 1	Model 2	
Indicators -	1 2	Factors	1
The affective component	<u> </u>		
Intrapersonal conflict			
Simultaneous desire for opposite things	,546		,661
Contrast of feelings towards the same person	,904		,689
The polarity of desires	,673		,681
Neuropsychic stability			
Inappropriate anger	,640		,649
Hostility to others	,625		,672
Mood swings	,622		,598
The cognitive component			
Cognition			
Difficulties with logic tasks		,536	,559
Low concentration of attention		,799	,667
Memory problems		,835	,653

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

The traditional approach and the experience of modern research shows that the compliance of models with the data obtained can be assessed on the basis of the following indicators (Aliyev, Kashirsky, Urozhenko, 2023; Gulevich, Krivoshchekov, Guseva, 2022; Suchkova, Lyusin, 2023; Nestik, Gagarina, 2022; Chen, 2007; Kenny, Kaniskan & McCoach, 2015; Kline, 2016):

- comparative model fit index (CPI) and Tucker-Lewis index (TLI), (acceptable fit = 0.90, and good fit = 0.95);
- chi-squared (chi-sq, χ 2), where significance is associated with the corresponding level (p);
- the standard error of approximation (RMSEA), where an acceptable match is between 0.05 and 0.08, and a good match is 0.05 and below;
- the standardized root of the root means square remainder (SRMR), whose values are lower than 0.08, are considered good.

The results with the corresponding symbols are presented in Table 2.

Parameters for two versions of the rehabilitation potential measurement methodology

,	,		1			02
Indicators		TU	chi-	sq		SDMD
indicators	CFI	I LI	χ²	р	RMJEA	SKMK
Model 1	0,924	0,903	59,219	0,001	0,047	0,037
Model 2	0,813	0,832	39,112	0,053	0,064	0,053

Table 2

Note. Model 1 is a three-factor version of the questionnaire; Model 2 is a one-dimensional version of the questionnaire.

In conclusion, a confirmatory factor analysis was conducted primarily for one factor, the results of which showed that such a model does not fully meet the reliability conditions: for example, slightly reduced values were found for the parameters being tested: CFI = 0.813, TLI = 0.832, χ^2 = 39.112 (p = 0.053), RMSEA (90% CI [0.064 0.085]) = 0.064, SRMR = 0.053. The adjusted model for three factors (Model 1 in Tables 1 and 2) demonstrated higher fitness indicators: CFI = 0.924, TLI = 0.903, χ^2 = 59.219 (p = 0.001), RMSEA indices = 0.047 (90% CI [0.052; 0.074]), SRMR = 0.037 at a high and good level of significance, which indicates a good agreement with the model of the methodology, which includes exactly three factors.

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

The validity (convergent and divergent) of our methodology for measuring the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of persons with disabilities acquired during combat operations and special military operations was assessed using tools that have already been tested – for adaptation, satisfaction, conflict, resilience, cognitive abilities. At the same time, in table 3, three factors are shown in columns, somewhat detailed by scales, represented by sets of scales (blocks) for each of the factors. Scales of standardized techniques are given along the lines.

Table 3

The correlation between the scales of the developed methodology for measuring the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of a person and the available standardized methods

Scales	Adap- tability	Quality of life	Opti- mism	Intra- personal conflict	Neuro- psychic stability	Cognition
Adaptation	0,513**	0,398*	0,419*	-0,170	0,201	0,123
Satisfaction	0,329*	0,498**	0,377*	-0,210	0,280	-0,079
A positive attitude to life	0,388*	0,219	0,429**	-0,291	0,255	0,276
Self- assessment of conflict	-0,102	0,019	-0,228	0,539**	-0,368*	-0,129
Resilience	0,227	0,239	0,293	-0,533**	0,644**	0,299
Cognitive abilities	-0,119	0,204	-0,018	0,113	0,172	0,532**

Note. * – *p* <0.05, ** – *p* <0.01

As can be seen in Table 3, the scales of adaptation, satisfaction and positive attitude to life directly correlate with the corresponding scales of our methodology related to the first factor "Behavior": r = 0.513, r = 0.398 and r = 0.419 in the first methodology for the scales of adaptability, quality of life and optimism, respectively; r = 0.329, r = 0.498 and r = 0.377 for the second method for the same scales, respectively; r = 0.388, r = 0.219 (no connection) and r = 0.429 for the third method for the same scales, respectively. That is, high convergent and divergent validity is visible – there are links with the corresponding

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

similar scales of the standardized methods developed by us and already available, and there are no links with other scales. The scales of self-assessment of conflict and resilience correlate with the corresponding scales of our methodology related to the second factor "Emotionality": r = 0.539 and r = -0.368 for the first methodology for the scales of intrapersonal conflict and neuropsychic stability, respectively; moreover, in the first case, this relationship is direct, in the second – reverse, i.e. the higher the self-esteem of conflict, the higher the intrapersonal conflict and the lower the neuropsychic stability; for the second method – r = -0.533 and r = 0.644 for intrapersonal conflict and neuropsychic stability, respectively, i.e. the higher the resilience, the lower the intrapersonal conflict and the higher the neuropsychic stability. There is also high convergent and divergent validity. Finally, the scale reflecting cognitive abilities directly correlates with the third factor – "Cognition" (r = 0.532), while there are no links with other scales, which also indicates high convergent and divergent validity.

To determine the general level of severity of the psychological component of a person's rehabilitation potential and its individual parameters, we used quartile standardization for the initial data, which allowed us to identify high, medium and low values of the indicator represented by specific points, which is convenient for the purposes of computerization of the methodology and the corresponding accelerated processing of the results of a psychodiagnostic examination. In general, according to the methodology, the following scale of severity of the general level of the psychological component of rehabilitation potential can be fixed:

- high level from 1 to 1.02 points;
- average level from 1.03 to 2.77 points;
- low level from 2.78 to 5.0 points.

Discussion

The results sum up that the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of persons with disabilities acquired during combat operations of special operations can be diagnosed using the original express methodology developed by us, which includes 22 indicators combined into three factors. This is justified by checking the reliability and validity of the tool.

According to the data obtained, we have the following content of three factors in the model of the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of the individual:

1. The "Behavior" factor (the conative component) includes the enlarged elements "Adaptability", "Quality of life" and "Optimism".

The allocation of this conative factor is consistent with the research data of the authors who studied the rehabilitation potential in terms of the importance of functional and behavioral activity in the subject during recovery after a traumatic event (Gudilina, 2012; Khokhlova, 2020). Special attention is paid in research to the psychological aspect

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

of rehabilitation potential associated with the choice of coping behaviors, protective mechanisms used by the subject and strategies of conflict behavior, where the subject focuses on constructive strategies, adaptive coping and productive psychological defenses with high rehabilitation potential (Porokhina, 2004; Rogacheva, 2008).

2. The factor of "Emotionality" (affective component) includes the enlarged elements "Intrapersonal conflict" and "Neuropsychic stability".

This factor, highlighted by us, becomes one of the basic explanatory elements in research models of rehabilitation potential, which emphasizes the need for emotional and volitional regulation of the subject's behavior in managing mental states associated with a traumatic event (Kulagina, Senkevich, 2015; Wade, 2023). The works of various authors note the role of certain diagnostically significant mental qualities and properties of the subject in the formation and development of an emotionally colored attitude to the situation of disability in different modalities – anxiety, aggressiveness, frustration tolerance, psychological resistance, empathic abilities (Solovyova, 2023; Mosqueda, 1993).

3. The factor "Cognition" (cognitive component) includes logic, memory and attention.

The element of knowledge as a resource of the subject's activity, according to a number of authors, plays a special role in restoring its full functioning at the stage of rehabilitation after a traumatic event. Thus, in studies of rehabilitation potential from this point of view, emphasis is often placed on the preservation of the cognitive functions of the subject, primarily at the level of intellectual development and the ability to cognitive reflection, as well as at the level of particular manifestations – stability and concentration of attention, memorization and preservation of material, stability of spatial representations, abstract-logical and inductive-deductive thinking (Boncalo, 2023; Cowley, 2021; Goodwin & Allan, 2019).

The determined three–factor structure is consistent, on the one hand, with general psychological ideas about the structure of any object of the subject's mental reality (Yurevich, 2005), and on the other, allows us to clarify the specifics of this idea for a specific subject - the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of the individual (Gudilina, 2012; Kulagina, Senkevich, 2015; Rogacheva, 2008; Porokhina, 2004; Solovyova, 2023; Khokhlova, 2020; Burton, 2015; Goodwin & Allan, 2019; Wade, 2023).

Thus, the obtained methodological tool can be used to diagnose the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of persons with disabilities acquired during combat operations of special operations, in terms of its three parameters (behavioral, affective and cognitive) with the option of allocating assessment levels for each separately and its complex indicator.

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Conclusions

Rehabilitation potential is defined by us as the characteristics of a personality and its resource capabilities necessary to overcome the negative consequences of disability, consisting of psychophysiological, psychological, professional, pedagogical and socioenvironmental components. It is advisable to study the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of persons with disabilities according to a three-component structure represented by cognitive, affective and conative representatives.

The developed rapid diagnostic technique has shown high reliability. The high constructive validity of the methodology has been established – the three-factor structure based on the confirmatory analysis has been substantiated. High convergent and divergent validity is shown by comparing the results obtained with data from existing standardized methods. Quartile standardization made it possible to distinguish between high, medium and low levels of severity separately by three factors and a general indicator of the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of the individual.

Based on the results of the testing, we can talk about the suitability of this methodological tool for use for research and practical purposes, and recommend it for use by specialists working with persons with disabilities acquired during combat operations and special military operations to assess the psychological component of rehabilitation potential.

References

- Aliyev, D. F., Kashirsky, D. V., & Urozhenko, V. V. (2023). The Big orientation test: the development and evaluation of psychometric properties. *Psychological Journal*, 44(6), 61–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.31857/S020595920029012-9</u>
- Antsupov, A. Ya., Shipilov, A. I. (2018). Conflictology. Piter.
- Bonkalo, T. I. (2023). Comprehensive rehabilitation of participants in a special military operation in Ukraine: digest January-February 2023. GBU "NIIOZMM DZM".
- Borozinets, N. M., Vodolazhskaya, M. G., Salnikova, O. D., Solovyova, O. V., & Shekhovtsova, T. S. (2023). The concept of professional and psychological rehabilitation of persons with disabilities acquired during combat operations and special military operations in the context of the resource potential of educational institutions of higher education. *Psychological Science and Education*, 28(6), 53–61. https://doi.org/10.17759/pse.2023280605
- Vodopyanova, N.E. (2005). Assessment of the level of satisfaction with the quality of life. In: Workshop on Health Psychology (pp. 148–155). Piter.
- Vodopyanova, N. E., Stein, M. V. (2009). The scale of optimism and activity. In: Psychodiagnostics of stress (pp. 119–121). Piter.
- Gudilina, O. N. (2012). The specifics of the personal rehabilitation potential of adolescents with impaired statodynamic function in connection with the time of occurrence of the disorder and the degree of its severity. *Psychological science and education psyedu.ru*, 4(4).
- Gulevich, O. A., Krivoshchekov, V. S., Guseva, V. V. (2022). A Russian-language questionnaire for measuring legal authoritarianism: validity and invariance. *Psychological Research*, *15*(85–86), 3.
- Kulagina, I. Yu., Senkevich, L. V. (2015). The rehabilitation potential of the individual in various chronic diseases. *Cultural and Historical Psychology*, 11, 1, 50–60.

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Leontiev, D. A., Rasskazova E. I. (2006). A test of resilience. Meaning.

Heritov, A. D. (2011) SPSS 19: professional statistical data analysis. Piter.

- Nestik, T. A., Gagarina, M. A. (2022). Validation of the Russian-language version of the "New Scale of Monetary Behavior" by A. Fernham, S. Grover (SHMP). *Psychological Research*, *15*(85–86), 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.54359/ps.v15i85.1272</u>
- Nikiforov, G. S. (Ed.). (2005). A workshop on health psychology. Piter.
- Porokhina, J. V. (2004). Psychological rehabilitation potential of a disabled person (on the example of patients with coronary heart disease). Dissertation for the degree of Candidate of Sciences. Moscow.
- Rasskazova, E. I., Leontiev, D. A. (2011). *Resilience as a component of personal potential. In: Personal potential: structure and diagnostics: a collection of conference materials.* Moscow.
- Rogacheva, T. V. (2008). *Problems of assessing the psychological rehabilitation potential of children with disabilities*. In: Social work and nursing in the health care system and social protection of the population: problems of professional activity and prospects of personnel training: Materials of the Interregional scientific and practical conference. Ekaterinburg.
- Solovyova, O. V. (2023). The basics of studying the rehabilitation potential of a person disabled during combat operations and special military operations. In: Inclusive processes in the international educational space: proceedings of the VIII International Internet Symposium, Stavropol.
- Solovyova, O. V. (2010). Cognitive abilities: phenomenology, diagnosis, development. Monograph. Stavropol.
- Solovyova, O. V. (2023). Psychological diagnostics of the rehabilitation potential of a person disabled during special military operations. *Applied Psychology And Psychoanalysis: Electron. Scientific Journal*, 2023, 3.
- Suchkova, E. A., Lyusin, D. V. (2023). Methods of measuring emotional differentiation: comparative analysis. *Psychological Journal*, 44(6), 77–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.31857/</u> <u>S020595920029013-0</u>
- Khokhlova, O. I. (2020). Rehabilitation potential of the personality and functional independence of persons with traumatic spinal cord disease. *Polytrauma*, (3).
- Yurevich, A.V. (2005). Psychology and Methodology (Monograph). Moscow.
- Yakovenko, S. I. (1996). Psychological maladaptation of police officers as a suicidal risk factor. *Psychopedagogy in Law enforcement*, 2(4), 30–32.
- Burton, C. R., Fischer, A., Green, T., & Booth, J. (2015). What is rehabilitation potential? Development of a theoretical model through the accounts of healthcare professionals working in stroke rehabilitation services. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 37(21), 1955–1960. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2014.991454
- Chen, F.F. (2007) Sensitivity of goodness of fit indexes to lack of measurement invariance. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 14(3), 464–504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10705510701301834</u>
- Cowley, A. et al. (2021) Exploring rehabilitation potential in older people living with frailty: a qualitative focus group study. *BMC geriatrics*, 21, 1–11. DOI: 10.1186/s12877-021-02107-y
- Goodwin, V. A., & Allan L. M. (2019) 'Mrs Smith has no rehab potential': does rehabilitation have a role in the management of people with dementia? *Age and ageing*, 48, 1, 5–7. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afy152</u>
- Kenny, D. A., & McCoach, D. B. (2023) Effect of the Number of Variables on Measures of Fit in Structural Equation Modeling. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 10(3), 333–351. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/S15328007SEM1003_1</u>
- Kenny, D. A., Kaniskan, B., & McCoach, D. B. (2015) The Performance of RMSEA in Models With Small Degrees of Freedom. *Sociological Methods and Research*, 44(3), 486–507. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1177/0049124114543236</u>

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Kline, R. (2016). *Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling*. New York. Mosqueda, L. A. (1993). Assessment of rehabilitation potential. *Clinics in geriatric medicine*, *9*(4), 689–703.

Rosseel, Y. (2021). An R package for structural equation modeling. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 48(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v048.i02</u>

Wade, D. T. (2023). Rehabilitation potential: A critical review of its meaning and validity. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *37*(7), 869–875. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02692155221147606</u>

Received: September 04, 2024 Revised: October 09, 2024 Accepted: October 12, 2024

Author Contributions

Olga V. Solovyova – description of the psychological component of the rehabilitation potential of persons with disabilities acquired during combat operations of special military operations; development of express diagnostic methods.

Alexey S. Lukyanov – implementation of secondary mathematical processing of data obtained during diagnostics; checking the diagnostic tool for validity and reliability; editing the final version of the article.

Natalia M. Borozinets – a conceptual idea and design for the study of the rehabilitation potential of persons with disabilities acquired during combat operations of special operations.

Yulia V. Prilepko – collection, processing, primary analysis and interpretation of diagnostic data; participation in the development of express diagnostic methods.

Elena L. Brakker – collection, processing and primary analysis of diagnostic data, preparation of accompanying documentation.

Author Details

Olga V. Solovyova – Doctor of Psychological Sciences, Professor, Professor of the Department of Correctional Psychology and Pedagogy, North Caucasian Federal University, Stavropol, Russian Federation; Web of Science Researcher ID: GWM-5158-2022; Scopus ID: 57223136716; RSCI Author ID: 654505; RSCI SPIN code: 3073-0484; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4210-3334</u>; e-mail: <u>osoloveva@ncfu.ru</u>

Alexey S. Lukyanov – Cand. Sci. (Psychology), Associate Professor, Associate Professor of the Department of Social Psychology and Security Psychology of the North Caucasus Federal State Educational Institution, Stavropol, Russian Federation; Web of Science Researcher ID: C-2197-2017; Scopus ID: 57224894988; RSCI Author ID: 371173; RSCI SPIN code: 5505-2824; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6799-6215</u>; e-mail: <u>alukianov@ncfu.ru</u>

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Natalia M. Borozinets – Cand. Sci. (Psychology), Associate Professor, Head of the Department of Correctional Psychology and Pedagogy of the North Caucasus Federal State Educational Institution, Stavropol, Russian Federation; Web of Science Researcher ID: GWM-4926-2022; Scopus ID: 55982134100; RSCI Author ID: 279227; RSCI SPIN code: 8853-7798; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1167-7132</u>; e-mail: <u>nborozinetc@ncfu.ru</u>

Yulia V. Prilepko – Cand. Sci. (Psychology), Associate Professor, Associate Professor of the Department of Correctional Psychology and Pedagogy, North Caucasus Federal State Educational Institution, Stavropol, Russian Federation; Web of Science Researcher ID: GWM-5134-2022; Scopus ID: 57200082220; RSCI Author ID: 414799; RSCI SPIN code: 5557-3328; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2980-0303;</u> e-mail: <u>iprilepko@ncfu.ru</u>

Elena L. Brakker – Cand. Sci. (Psychology), Associate Professor of the Department of Correctional Psychology and Pedagogy, North Caucasus Federal University, Stavropol, Russian Federation, RSCI Author ID: 846255; RSCI SPIN code: 4474-4777; ORCID ID: <u>https://orcid.org/0009-0005-7058-3074;</u> e-mail: <u>evanskova@ncfu.ru</u>

Conflict of Interest Information

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Appendix 1

Questionnaire "Rehabilitation Potential of Combatants With Disabilities"

Instructions

Dear survey participant! You are offered 22 questions regarding your psychological state. Carefully read each statement and choose to what extent it is true for you. We kindly ask you to approach the survey honestly, since the test results will help the psychologist to understand the content of psychological help and support that you can receive in order to alleviate symptoms and experiences to improve your condition.

Incentive material

- 1. I often think that I don't know what I want from life.
- 2. I often experience vulnerability, self-doubt.
- 3. Almost any problem seems to be an unsolvable task.
- 4. I am a bad, worthless person.
- 5. Sometimes life seems meaningless and empty to me.
- 6. I often want opposite things at the same time (for instance, to communicate and retire, work and loaf, etc.).
- 7. I often experience contrasting feelings towards the same person (for example, love and hate, anger and friendliness, etc.).
- 8. I can simultaneously experience polar desires (for example, to stay with a person or break up with him, change my occupation and stay in my former profession, etc.).
- 9. I often feel like an unhappy person.
- 10. At the moment, it can be said that I am completely dissatisfied with my life.
- 11. I am not satisfied with relationships with close people.
- 12. I have not achieved many goals and because of this I often feel like a failure.
- 13. I often feel inappropriate anger.
- 14. Lately, I often feel my hostility towards others.
- 15. I often have mood swings.
- 16. Lately, I have been feeling loneliness and lack of support more and more often.
- 17. I think my life goals are too difficult to achieve.
- 18. I have a hard time coping with life's difficulties.

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

- 19. It is currently impossible to believe in anything good.
- 20. I have difficulties in solving problems and problems that require logic, comparison, generalization, etc.
- 21. I have low concentration of attention I often get distracted and cannot concentrate on some business.
- 22. I notice that I do not remember and retain information well.

Кеу

School 1. BEHAVIORAL COMPONENT

- 1. High answers: No and, Perhaps, no 48-60 points.
- 2. Average answers: Sometimes 25-47 points.
- 3. Low answers: Yes and, Perhaps, yes 12-24 points.

School 1. BEHAVIORAL COMPONENT			
Indicators	Questions		
Indicator 1. Adaptability of pe	ersonality	1) I often think that I don't know what I want from life. No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point	

	2) I often experience my vulnerability, self- doubt
	No – 5 points
	Probably not – 4 points
	Sometimes - 3 points
	Perhaps yes – 2 points
	Yes – 1 point
	3) Almost any problem seems to me to be an unsolvable task
	No – 5 points
	Probably not – 4 points
	Sometimes - 3 points
	Perhaps yes – 2 points
Indicator 1.	Yes – 1 point
Adaptability of personality	
	4) I'm a bad, worthless person
	No – 5 points
	Probably not – 4 points
	Sometimes - 3 points
	Perhaps yes – 2 points
	Yes – 1 point
	5) Sometimes life seems meaningless and
	empty to me
	NO – 5 points
	Probably not – 4 points
	Sometimes - 5 points
	Pernaps yes – 2 points
	res – i point

Indicator 2. Quality of life	1) I often feel like an unhappy person No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point
	2) At the moment, I can say that I am not completely satisfied with my life No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point
	3) I am not satisfied with relationships with loved ones No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point
	4) I have not achieved many goals and because of this I often feel like a failure No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point

	1
	1) Lately, I have been feeling loneliness and lack of support more and more often No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point
Indicator 3.	2) I think my life goals are too difficult to achieve No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point
Optimism and activity	3) I have a hard time coping with life's difficulties No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point
	 4) It is currently impossible to believe in anything good No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

School 2. AFFECTIVE COMPONENT

- 1. High answers: No and, Perhaps, no 28-35 points.
- 2. Average answers: Sometimes 14-27 points.
- 3. Low answers: Yes and, Perhaps, yes 7-14 points.

School 2. AFFECTIVE COMPONENT			
Indicators	Questions		
Indicator 1. Intrapersonal conflict	1) I often want opposite things at the same time (for example, to communicate and retire; to work and loaf, etc.) No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point		
Indicator 1.	2) I often experience contrasting feelings towards the same person (for example, love and hate; anger and friendliness, etc.) No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point		
Intrapersonal conflict	3) I can simultaneously experience polar desires (for example, to stay with a person or break up with him; to change my occupation and stay in my former profession, etc.) No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point		

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

	1) I often feel inappropriate anger No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points
Indicator 2. Neuro-psychological stability (resilience)	Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point
	2) Lately, I often feel my hostility towards others No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point
	3) I often have mood swings No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point

School 3. COGNITIVE COMPONENT

- 1. High answers: No and, Perhaps, no 12-15 points.
- 2. Average answers: Sometimes 7-11 points.
- 3. Low answers: Yes and, Perhaps, yes 3-6 points.

School 3. COGNITIVE COMPONENT			
Indicators	Questions		
Indicator 1. Intelligence	1) Sometimes it is difficult for me to solve problems on logic, calculations, comparisons, generalizations, etc. No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point		

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Indicator 2. Attention	1) I have a low concentration of attention – I often get distracted and can't focus on something No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point
Indicator 3. Memory	1) I notice that I don't remember and retain information well No – 5 points Probably not – 4 points Sometimes - 3 points Perhaps yes – 2 points Yes – 1 point

Interpretation of scales

1. High level of rehabilitation potential – 88-110 points:

- high degree of adaptability;
- subjective satisfaction with the quality of life;
- a high degree of optimism and activity;
- low degree of intrapersonal conflict;
- a high degree of neuropsychic stability (resilience);
- high level of cognitive functions (logic, attention, memory).

The following are shown: psychological and pedagogical consultation on request without instrumental influences; psychological support is recommended as part of professional rehabilitation.

2. The average level of rehabilitation potential is 45-83 points:

- average degree of adaptability;
- the average degree of subjective satisfaction with the quality of life;
- a tendency to optimism and activity;
- there is a tendency to intrapersonal conflict;
- the average degree of neuropsychic stability (resilience);
- the average level of cognitive functions (logic, attention, memory).

CORRECTIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

The following are shown: psychological assistance and support in the process of vocational rehabilitation.

3. Low level of rehabilitation potential - 22-44 points:

- maladjustment;
- subjective dissatisfaction with the quality of life;
- lack of optimism and activity;
- a high degree of intrapersonal conflict;
- low indicators of neuropsychic stability (resilience);
- low level of cognitive functions (logic, attention, memory).

The following are shown: psychocorrectional and psychotherapeutic assistance in the process of professional rehabilitation.